EDGAROnline

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INC / MA

FORM 10-K

(Annual Report)

Filed 02/13/15 for the Period Ending 12/31/14

Address 50 NORTHERN AVENUE
BOSTON, MA 02210
Telephone 6173416393
CIK 0000875320
Symbol VRTX
SIC Code 2834 - Pharmaceutical Preparations
Industry  Biotechnology & Drugs
Sector Healthcare
Fiscal Year 12/31

Powere 4 &y EDGAROnline

http://www.edgar-online.com
© Copyright 2015, EDGAR Online, Inc. All Rights Reserved.
Distribution and use of this document restricted under EDGAR Online, Inc. Terms of Use.


http://www.edgar-online.com

UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2014
or

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from _to
Commission file number 000-19319

Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its @rart

Massachusetts 04-3039129

(State or other jurisdiction of (I.LR.S. Employer

incorporation or organization) Identification No.)
50 Northern Avenue, Boston, Massachusetts 02210
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area ¢6d&) 341-6100

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(bh@Exchange Act:

Title of Each Class Name of Each Exchange on Which Registered
Common Stock, $0.01 Par Value Per Share TheDWC® Global Select Market

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(¢fi@Exchange Act: None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405cobéturities Act. YesX] No O
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 ort®ecl5(d) of the Exchange Act. YdS No

Indicate by check mark whether the registranth@s filed all reports required to be filed by Sextl3 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act @4l@uring the
preceding 12 months (or for such shorter periotltti@registrant was required to file such repoesy (2) has been subject to such filing requirgsor the past
90 days. Yesx] No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant lésnstted electronically and posted on its corpokileb site, if any, every Interactive Data File riegd to be
submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Régnl&-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the precedi@gribnths (or for such shorter period that the tegi$ was
required to submit and post such files). Y& No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiilers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (82@% of this chapter) is not contained herein, &itldnot be
contained, to the best of the registrant’s knowdedyg definitive proxy or information statementsanporated by reference in Part lll of this FormKLOr any
amendment to this Form 10 K1

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlerge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, aaccelerated filer or a smaller reporting comp&@se definitions
of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated fileric“smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of techange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated fileix] Accelerated filerd Non-accelerated fileEd Smaller reporting compania
(Do not cketa smaller reporting company)
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantshell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exge Act). Yesdd No

The aggregate market value of the registrant’s comstock held by non-affiliates of the registramitfiout admitting that any person whose sharesate
included in such calculation is an affiliate) basecdhe last reported sale price of the commorkstacJune 30, 2014 (the last trading day of théstemnt's second
fiscal quarter of 2014 ) was $22.4 billion . AsJafhuary 31, 2015 , the registrant had 242,088 $8&tes of common stock outstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the definitive Proxy Statement for #4.5 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be heldwreX, 2015 are incorporated by reference intoIRaot this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.




Item 1.

Item 1A.
Item 1B.
Item 2.
Item 3.
ltem 4.

ltem 5.
ltem 6.
ltem 7.
ltem 7A.
Item 8.
Item 9.
Item 9A.
Item 9B.

Item 10.
Item 11.
ltem 12.
ltem 13.
Item 14.

Iltem 15.

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART |
Business
Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant
Risk Factors
Unresolved Staff Comments
Properties
Legal Proceedings
Mine Safety Disclosures
PART Il
Market for Registrant’'s Common Equity, Related 8tadder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity igezu
Selected Financial Data
Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Financ@bdition and Results of Operations
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MarRisk
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants @ouding and Financial Disclosure
Controls and Procedures
Other Information
PART Il
Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govaoea
Executive Compensation
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners dahagement and Related Stockholder Matters
Certain Relationships and Related TransactionsPargttor Independence
Principal Accountant Fees and Services
PART IV
Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
Signatures

Page

20
24
44
44
45
45

46
48
49
66
66
66
66
68

69
69
69
69
69

70
73

“We,” “us,” “Vertex” and the “Company” as used ihi$ Annual Report on Form 10-K refer to Vertex Phaceuticals Incorporated, a
Massachusetts corporation, and its subsidiaries.

“Vertex,” “KALYDECO™” and “INCIVEK ®” are registered trademarks of Vertex. Other brandmes and trademarks contained in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K are the property of thespective owners.




PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
OVERVIEW

We are in the business of discovering, developimgnufacturing and commercializing small moleculegdr We use precision medicine
approaches to create transformative drugs for misti@ith serious diseases in specialty markets.nDsiness is focused on developing and
commercializing therapies for the treatment of icybrosis, or CF, and advancing our researchearty-stage development programs, while
maintaining our financial strength.

Cystic Fibrosis
Our goal is twofold: to develop treatment regimtret will provide benefits to as many patients with as possible and to enhance those benefits

KALYDECO

KALYDECO (ivacaftor) was approved in 2012 in theitda States and European Union as a treatmengf@ermis with CF six years of age and
older who have the G551D mutation in their cysticdsis transmembrane conductance regulatdCAIIR, gene. In 2014, we increased the number of
patients who are being treated with KALYDECO in theited States and non-U.S. markets by expandiadgtie! for KALYDECO to include patients
with CF six years of age and older who have addfitionutations in thei€FTR gene. In addition, we have submitted applicationggulatory
authorities to further expand the label for KALYDE&Go include patients with CF two to five yearsage with specific gating mutations in th€FTR
gene and to include patients with CF 18 years efaagl older in Europe who have the R117H mutaticheir CFTR gene.

Lumacaftor in Combination with Ivacaftor

In June 2014, we announced data from two Phasei8atltrials, referred to as TRAFFIC and TRANSPQRTIlumacaftor, a CFTR corrector
compound, in combination with ivacaftor, a CFTReudtator compound. In TRAFFIC and TRANSPORT, weleated the combination regimen in
patients with CF twelve years of age and older Waee two copies (homozygous) of the F508del mutdtidheirCFTR gene, which is the most
prevalent form of CF. In November 2014, we subrditieNew Drug Application, or NDA, to the United ®tsFood and Drug Administration, or FC
and a Marketing Authorization Application, or MA#g the European Medicines Agency, or EMA, for luaiféer in combination with ivacaftor. The
FDA has granted us priority review of the NDA ahd target date for the FDA to complete its revidthe NDA under the Prescription Drug User
Act, or PDUFA, is July 5, 2015. Our request for Alerated Assessment of the MAA has been grantebwarexpect the EMA to complete its review
of the MAA in the fourth quarter of 2015.

VX-661 in Combination with Ivacaftor

In 2015, we initiated a Phase 3 development prodoandX-661 in combination with ivacaftor in patieswith CF twelve years of age and older,
including patients who are homozygous for the FeD8&tutation in theiCFTR gene and patients with CF who have one copy oF8@8del mutation
in their CFTR gene (heterozygous).

CF Research Programs

We also are seeking to identify and develop nexiegation CFTR corrector compounds that could béuated in future dual- and/or triple-
combination treatment regimens with the potentigirovide additional benefits to patients with @¥e have multiple next-generation correctors in the
lead-optimization stage of research and expecegpnbclinical development of a next-generation ecior in 2015.

Research and Early-stage Development Programs

We are engaged in a number of other research alydstage development programs, including programthe areas of oncology and neurology.
We plan to continue investing in our research mogr and fostering scientific innovation in orderdentify and develop transformative medicines
with a focus on CF and other genetic diseases,logg@nd neurology. We believe that pursuing redear diverse areas allows us to balance the risks
inherent in drug development and may provide dargl@ates that will form our pipeline in future yga




CYSTIC FIBROSIS
Background

CF is a rare, life-threatening genetic diseasectiffg approximately 75,000 people in North AmeriEarope and Australia. CF is caused by a
defective or missing CFTR protein resulting fromtations in theCFTR gene. To develop CF, children must inherit two diéfe CFTR genes, which
are referred to as alleles - one from each paféme are more than 1,900 known mutations ifdR€R gene, some of which result in CF, including
two of the most prevalent mutations, the G551D timntiegand the F508del mutation.

The G551D mutation results in a defect in the CRr&ein in which the defective CFTR protein reactiessurface of a cell but does not
efficiently transport chloride ions across the ceimbrane. The F508del mutation results in a défetie CFTR protein in which the CFTR protein
does not reach the surface of cells in sufficiergrdities. The absence of working CFTR proteinsltesn poor flow of salt and water into and out of
cells in a number of organs, including the lungs.aresult, thick, sticky mucus builds up and bfottle passages in many organs, leading to a variety
of symptoms. In particular, mucus builds up andslthe airways in the lungs, causing chronic lurigdtions and progressive lung damage. Patients
with CF often experience pulmonary exacerbatiomseriods of worsening signs or symptoms of theatlie, often requiring treatment with antibic
and/or hospitalization. Ivacaftor, a CFTR potemtiakeeps the CFTR protein channels on the celhseropen more often, to increase the flow of salt
and water into and out of the cell. CFTR correcteueh as lumacaftor and VX-661, are believed tp B&TR protein reach the cell surface.

We chose to develop KALYDECO (ivacaftor) and otrestCF drug candidates because of their potewtiahprove the function of defective
CFTR proteins in patients with CF, which is the erging cause of CF. Our research group is contijmd work to identify additional corrector
compounds that could be included in future duat/antriple-combination treatment regimens with go¢ential to provide additional benefits to
patients with CF. We have multiple next-generatiorrectors in the lead-optimization stage of resteand expect to begin clinical development of a
next-generation corrector in 2015. We hold worldwitevelopment and commercialization rights to it@calumacaftor and VX-661.

Our ivacaftor development program for additionaligations has received a Breakthrough Therapy dasan from the FDA. The FDA also has
designated the combination regimens of lumacafitr wacaftor and VX-661 with ivacaftor for the &inent of patients with CF who have the
F508del mutation on both alleles as Breakthrougérdpies.

KALYDECO (ivacaftor)

KALYDECO (ivacaftor) is an orally-administered CFTRtentiator that is approved in the United Stafestralia, Canada and the European
Union for the treatment of patients six years a&f agd older with CF who have specific mutationth@ir CFTR gene. In the United States, these
mutations are G551D, G178R, S549N, S549R, G55134@A, S1251N, S1255P, G1349D and R117H. KALYDECS®rkaeived recognition as a
significant innovation in drug development. In @iress release announcing KALYDECO's approval, thé kdentified KALYDECO as an excellent
example of the promise of personalized medicineabteakthrough therapy for the CF community, beeather existing therapies treat only the
symptoms of this genetic disease, while KALYDEC@m@@dses the underlying cause. During developmeattaftor was granted orphan drug
designation in the United States and European UaiohFast-track designation in the United States.udé the brand name KALYDECO only when
we refer to the product that has been approveduthdrespect to the indications on the approveella®therwise, including in discussions of our CF
development programs, we refer to the compoundsiscientific (or generic) name ivacaftor.

KALYDECO was initially approved in 2012 in the Uadt States and European Union as a treatment fienpatvith CF six years of age and older
who have the G551D mutation in th€@FTR gene. In February 2014, the FDA approved KALYDE@®Othe treatment of patients with CF six year
age and older who have one of eight other mutaiiotiseir CFTR gene, which were studied in our first Phase 3 talpknsion clinical trial for
ivacaftor. In July 2014, the European Commissiopraged KALYDECO for this patient group. In Decemi2814, the FDA approved KALYDECO
for the treatment of patients six years of age@ddr who have the R117H in th&FTR gene. We believe there are more than 3,100 pedpiteC#
six years of age and older in North America, Eurapé Australia who currently are eligible for traaint with KALYDECO.

We have completed a Phase 3 clinical trial to eatalivacaftor as a treatment for children with @B to five years of age with specific gating
mutations in theiCFTR gene, including the G551D mutation, and have subthén NDA to the FDA and an MAA line extension kggdion to the
EMA based on this clinical trial. The target datethe FDA to complete




its review of this NDA under PDUFA is March 17, Z0We believe there are approximately 300 childvéh CF two to five years of age who have
gating mutations in North America, Europe and Aaigir We also have submitted an MAA variation te BEMA for ivacaftor for patients with CF 18
years of age and older with the R117H mutatiom@&irtCFTR gene.

Lumacaftor in Combination with | vacaftor

Lumacaftor is an orally-administered CFTR correcharg candidate that we are developing in combimatiith ivacaftor. In November 2014, we
submitted an NDA to the FDA and an MAA to the EM# fumacaftor in combination with ivacaftor in patis with CF twelve years of age and older
who have two copies (homozygous) of the F508dehtrart in theirCFTR gene. In 2015, we submitted in Canada, and expextttimit in Australia,
regulatory applications seeking approval for lunfexxan combination with ivacaftor. These regulatapplications were based on TRAFFIC and
TRANSPORT, two Phase 3 randomized, double-blinacgtho-controlled clinical trials of lumacaftor iarabination with ivacaftor. The FDA has
granted us priority review of the NDA and the Eleap Committee for Medicinal Products has grantedenquest for Accelerated Assessment of the
MAA. The target date for the FDA to complete itgiesv of the NDA for the combination under PDUFAJigly 5, 2015. We believe that there are
approximately 22,000 patients with CF twelve yexrage and older who have two copies of the F508dgéhtion in North America, Europe and
Australia, including approximately 8,500 in the téni States and approximately 12,000 in Europe.

We completed TRAFFIC and TRANSPORT in the secorattgu of 2014. The combination treatment groupsuated lumacaftor dosed at either
600 mg once daily or 400 mg every 12 hours in coriion with ivacaftor dosed at 250 mg every 12 bolir108 patients enrolled and received at
one dose of study drug in the two clinical trifllee primary endpoint in each of TRAFFIC and TRAN$POwvas the mean absolute change from
baseline in percent predicted forced expiratoryina in one second, or ppFEVYat the end of the 2dieek treatment period as assessed by the av
change in lung function at Week 16 and at WeekA4our treatment arms within TRAFFIC and TRANSPDRhet their primary endpoint.
Additionally, statistically significant mean abst#uand relative improvements in lung function welbserved for all four treatment groups, both within
group and versus placebo, at all time-points withanclinical trials (Weeks 2, 4, 8, 16 and 24)eTasult of statistical testing is often definedeérms
of a “p-value,"with p<0.05 generally considered to represent isitally significant difference. As patients imet clinical trials continued to be trea
with their standard CF medicines, improvements okeskfor patients in the combination treatment awege in addition to any benefits experienced
with the use of other CF medicines.

Detailed data from each arm of TRAFFIC and TRANSHGRe provided below:

TRAFFIC Trial TRANSPORT Trial
_ Lumacaftor (600 | Lumacaftor (400 Lumacaftor (600 L”macalf;?{) (400
Change in ppFEV Placebo mg once daily) + mg g12h) + Placebo mg once daily) + Ivacagf]tgr (250 m
(n=184) Ivacaftor (250 mg | I vacaftor (250 mg (n=187) I vacaftor (250 mg 12h) 9
g12h) (n=183) g12h) (n=182) g12h) (n=185) q_
(n=187)
Mean
A TDrI?f"’:r’gﬁC”é N/A 4.0 (p<0.0001) 2.6 (p=0.0003) N/A (ng-go o) 3.0 (p<0.0001)
Change -

(percentage i -0.44 3.6 2.2 -0.15 25 2.9
points) | NN Group | 5 002) (p<0.0001) (p<0.0001) (p=0.7744) (p<0.0001) (p<0.0001)
Mean Relative] poment N/A 6.7% (p<0.0001) |  4.3% (p=0.0006) N/A (p:%%)m) 5.3% (p<0.0001)

Change
0 " 20.34% 6.4% 4.0% 0.0% 4.4% 5.3%
©6) Within Group | (- 7113) (p<0.0001) (p<0.0001) (p=0.9983) (p<0.0001) (p<0.0001)




Within TRAFFIC and TRANSPORT, patients who receiviee combination regimens experienced a 28 to 48pédecrease in the rate of
pulmonary exacerbations (events of worsening sagrassymptoms of the disease requiring treatmeiht avitibiotics) over the 24-week treatment

period compared to placebo. Detailed data forel gecondary endpoints from each arm of the clitizds are provided below:

TRAFFIC Trial TRANSPORT Trial |
. Lumacaftor (600 || Lumacaftor (400 Lumacaftor (600 Lu$acalf;c}>]r) (:LOO
Key Secondary Endpoints | Placebo | mgoncedaily) + || mgqi2h) + Placebo | mgonce daily) + Ivaca% tcc|>r (250m
(n=184) I vacaftor (250 mg ||l vacaftor (250 mg (n=187) I vacaftor (250 mg 12h) 9
g12h) (n=183) g12h) (n=182) g12h) (n=185) (r?=187)
Treatment N/A +0.16 +0.13 N/A +0.41 +0.36
Change in Body Mass| _Difference (p=0.1122) (p=0.1938) (p<0.0001) (p=0.0001)
Index Within Grou +0.19 +0.35 +0.32 +0.07 +0.48 +0.43
Pl (p=0.0065) (p<0.0001) (p<0.0001) (p=0.2892) (p<0.0001) (p<0.0001)
Treatment N/A +3.9 +1.5 N/A +2.2 +2.9
e CrEa | (p=0.0168) (p=0.3569) (p=0.1651) (p=0.0736)
ange in CFQ- Within Grou +1.1 +5.0 +2.6 +2.8 +5.0 +5.7
Pl (p=0.3423) (p<0.0001) (p=0.0295) (p=0.0152) (p<0.0001) (p<0.0001)
Patients with 5% or % 22% 46% 37% 23% 46% 41%
Greater Relative 538
Improvement in ppFEV | Odds Ratio N/A 2.94 (p<0.0001) 2.06 (p=0.0023 N/A 2.96QM001) (p=0.0001)
Number of
Events (rate 112 (1.07) 79 (0.77) 73 (0.71) 139 (1.18) 982 79 (0.67)
Number of Pulmonary | per 48 weeks)
Exacerbations
) 0.72 0.66 0.69 0.57
RelEIRal NIA (p=0.0491) (p=0.0169) N/A (p=0.0116) (p=0.0002)

The combination regimens were generally well taktaThe most common adverse events, regardldssadinent group, were infective
pulmonary exacerbation, cough, headache and irenlegmitum, and adverse events that occurred meayedntly in patients who received the
combination regimens than those who received plaeetye generally respiratory in nature and includgsbnea and respiration abnormal. 4.2 percent
of all patients who received combination theraggardless of dosing group, discontinued treatmecalse of adverse events compared to 1.6 percer
of those who received placebo. Across TRAFFIC aRANSPORT, elevated liver enzymes (greater tharettinees the upper limit of normal) were
observed in 5.2 percent of patients who receivedbioation therapy compared to 5.1 percent of thdse received placebo. Seven patients who
received combination therapy experienced seriousrad events related to abnormal liver functiotstesompared to zero patients who received
placebo. Following discontinuation or interruptioiithe combination treatment, liver function tegtgirned to baseline for six of the seven patiantt
the seventh patient’s liver function tests improgedstantially.

We also plan to initiate a clinical trial of lumdia in combination with ivacaftor in children withiF six to eleven years of age who have two
copies of the F508del mutation in th€F TR gene in the first half of 2015. This clinical trialexpected to evaluate the combination regimegrassof
a single-arm, open-label design in approximatelg&iiiren. The primary endpoint of this clinicabtrwill be safety and pharmacokinetics.

VX-661 in Combination with |vacaftor

VX-661 is an orallyadministered CFTR corrector drug candidate thaaredeveloping in combination with ivacaftor. Wedénitiated a Phase
development program for VX-661 in combination witacaftor in patients with CF twelve years of age alder. The initiation of this Phase 3
development program was based on safety and effitata from Phase 2 clinical trials of VX-661, inding interim data from an ongoing 12-week
Phase 2 clinical trial and a previously completigical trial of VX-661 in combination with ivacadt in patients with CF who have two copies of the
F508del mutation and in patients with CF who hawe copy of the F508del mutation and one copy 0of3661D mutation, and recent regulatory
discussions regarding the design of the Phase @ajmwent program. This Phase 3 development progr@&xpected to consist of four clinical trials
that will evaluate VX-661 as follows:




e Two Copies of the F508del Mutation. In 2015, we initiated a Phase 3 clinical trial t@kate the combination of VX-661 and ivacaftor in
patients with CF twelve years of age and older Wée two copies of the F508del mutation in ti@HTR gene. The primary endpoint of this
clinical trial is absolute change in ppFEthrough six months of treatment for patients wheeiee the combination treatment versus patients
who receive placebo. This clinical trial is expekte enroll approximately 500 patients.

e One Copy of the F508del Mutation and a Second Mutation That Resultsin a Gating Defect in the CFTR Protein . In the second quarter of 20
we plan to initiate a Phase 3 clinical trial to leraée the combination of VX-661 and ivacaftor iripats with CF who have one copy of the
F508del mutation in theltFTR gene and a second mutation in tH&fTR gene that results in a gating defect in the CFTdRgim. The
primary endpoint of this clinical trial is expectexbe absolute change in ppFENrough eight weeks of treatment for patients wéueive
the combination treatment versus patients who vedeacaftor alone. This clinical trial is expectedenroll approximately 200 patients.

e One Copy of the F508del Mutation and a Second Mutation That Resultsin Residual CFTR Function. In the second quarter of 2015, we plan to
initiate a Phase 3 clinical trial to evaluate tbenbination of VX-661 and ivacaftor in patients wiifr who have one copy of the F508del
mutation in theilCFTR gene and a second mutation in tH&HTR gene that results in residual CFTR function. Thigical trial also will
evaluate ivacaftor dosed without VX-661. The priynandpoint of this clinical trial will be absolutdange in ppFEVYthrough eight weeks of
treatment as part of a crossover design. Thiscairiial is expected to enroll approximately 3@Qignts.

e One Copy of the F508del Mutation and A Second Mutation That Resultsin Minimal CFTR Function. In the second quarter of 2015, we plan to
initiate a Phase 3 clinical trial to evaluate tbenbination of VX-661 and ivacaftor in patients wieve one copy of the F508del mutation in
their CFTR gene and a second mutation in tH&HTR gene that results in minimal CFTR function. Thisicll trial is expected initially to
enroll approximately 120 patients, and the primamgpoint will be absolute change in ppFBEWrough 12 weeks of treatment for patients
receive the combination treatment versus patiehts igceive placebo. Expansion of this clinicall tiiean additional approximately 150
patients will depend on an interim futility analysif efficacy data from the initial approximatel®Qlpatients.

HCV INFECTION

INCIVEK (telaprevir) is an orally-administered HQdfotease inhibitor for adults with genotype 1 H@¥eiction that was prescribed in
combination with pegylated-interferon and ribaviliNCIVEK achieved rapid acceptance for the treattd patients with genotype 1 HCV infection
in the United States and accounted for a majofityuo net product revenues in 2011, 2012 and 2Bb3vever, INCIVEK revenues declined rapidly
after reaching a peak in the fourth quarter of 2002013, in response to declining sales of INCKV&hd increased competition, we reduced our fi
on marketing INCIVEK and eliminated the U.S. fidddsed sales force that had been promoting INCIMEK have withdrawn INCIVEK from the
market in the United States, and we expect to wliodn any remaining activities relating to the fiefdHCV infection in 2015.

Our collaborators, Janssen Pharmaceutica NV ansubighi Tanabe Pharma Corporation, retain fullydpaenses to telaprevir and currently
market telaprevir in their respective territoriesthe fourth quarter of 2014, we provided noti€éesmination of the collaboration with Alios
BioPharma, Inc. that related to the developmem®Y/ nucleotide analogues.

RESEARCH AND EARLY-STAGE DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMS

We believe that our integrated drug design apprdashsignificantly enhanced our ability to discoged develop small molecule drug candidates
directed at biologically complex targets associatétl serious diseases. Our platform integrategties) biology, pharmacology, drug metabolism and
pharmacokinetics, toxicology, material sciencegphysics, medicinal chemistry and process chemiatriomation and information technologies in a
coordinated fashion throughout the discovery precée believe that our approach has been validatedgh our success in moving novel drug
candidates into clinical trials and obtaining mairkg approvals for KALYDECO and INCIVEK. Currentlyhe disease areas of highest priority to us
from a research perspective are: CF and other igatiseases; cancer; and neurological diseasedisodiers. We focus our research activities on
products that would be prescribed by specialissgigns for the treatment of rare or life-threatgniliseases, which are referred to as specialty
markets. In CF, our research group is working ety additional corrector compounds that couldrmuded in future dual- and/or triple-
combination treatment regimens that have the




potential to provide additional benefits to patsewith CF. We expect to begin clinical developmefr next-generation corrector in 2015.

Driven by the disease areas selected, we attenigedify multiple approaches within each indicatibat, either as a stand-alone therapy or
combination therapy, could provide treatment optitrat are transformational in nature. We selesgatie areas by mapping our research strengtt
disease areas with high unmet medical need, witmgwhasis on indications, where based on sciemtsights, we believe that we, independently ¢
collaboration with third parties, will be able tscdover, develop and commercialize important meeiifor serious diseases.

Our drug discovery efforts have produced a varétgrug candidates that have been commercializedeoin preclinical or clinical development.
We believe our ongoing research programs will corgito create value for us by generating new damgliclates in areas of significant unmet medical
need. For example, in oncology, we are developiXg8@3 and VX970, which are designed to regulate the repaiaaiabed DNA within cancer ce
through inhibition of a protein kinase known as AMRe believe that ATR inhibition may enhance thiicaty of conventional DNA-damaging agents
that are central to the efficacy of numerous eithbtl cancer therapies. As a result, we belieweAnR inhibitors could be useful agents in a number
of oncology indications either alone or in combioatwith other drugs. We are evaluating VX-803 &X}970 in open-label, Phase 1 clinical trials in
patients with advanced solid tumors. We expeatit@ate clinical development for one or more addiil compounds from our research programs in
2015.

To augment our internal research programs, we tgeeddlaborate with leading academic researchtingtns, government laboratories,
foundations and other organizations in order tcaade research in our areas of therapeutic intasesell as in areas of basic technological
enablement. We have established relationshipsavghanizations and consortia of organizations froouad the world with expertise in areas of
interest to us and intend to leverage that expeei¢n further our research efforts.

COMMERCIAL ORGANIZATION

Our commercial organization focuses on supportaigssof KALYDECO in the United States, Europe, Gimand Australia and is preparing to
support sales of lumacaftor in combination withcizftor. Our sales and marketing organizations @spansible for promoting products to health care
providers and obtaining reimbursement for prodérass third-party payors, including governmental amgzations in the United States and non U.S.
markets.

Our U.S. field-based CF commercial team includgs@pmately 20 therapeutic specialists, which wheve will be sufficient to support future
needs, including potential sales of lumacaftorambination with ivacaftor. We focus our CF markgtefforts in the United States on a relatively
small number of physicians and health care pradesés who write most of the prescriptions for CFdinmes. Many of these physicians and health
care professionals are located at a limited nurobaccredited centers in the United States focasetthe treatment of CF. In international markets, w
have a small sales force to promote KALYDECO anliivgied to increase the size of this sales forcderately as we continue to expand
geographically.

We market our products through personal interastieith individual physicians, advertising, senddigect mail, public relations activities and
other activities. In addition, our government affeand public policy group advocates for policiest promote life sciences innovation and increase
awareness of the diseases on which we are focusitigstate and federal legislatures, governmeanhaigs, public health officials and other policy-
makers. We also have established programs in tlitedJ8tates that provide our products to qualifiathsured or underinsured patients at no char
at a reduced charge, based on specific eligillityeria.

COLLABORATIONS

We have entered into collaborations with pharmaceland other companies and organizations thatigeecus financial and other resources,
including capabilities in research, developmenthufacturing and sales and marketing, and licersegellectual property. These collaborations have
provided us with drug candidates and/or importararfcial and non-financial resources that haverdmried to our products and a number of the drug
candidates in our current development pipeline.riidg seek to license or acquire drugs, drug caredatd other technologies that have the potential
to add to our pipeline or to provide us with newneoercial opportunities. In particular, we are fdogson drug candidates for the treatment of patient
with CF and other third-party drug candidates twatld be developed for specialty markets. Furtheemee may seek collaborators to support,
develop and/or commercialize some of our curreng dandidates and/or additional drug candidatastlag emerge from our research activities.




Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Therapeutics I ncorporated

We began working with CFFT in 1998. We entered th®current collaboration agreement with CFFT00£2and amended it several times to
support research and development activities refat@dtentiator compounds and corrector compoundkjding ivacaftor, lumacaftor and VX-661.
Pursuant to an April 2011 amendment to the collatimn agreement, CFFT agreed to provide financippert for development activities for VX-661,
a corrector compound discovered under the collalmorgand additional research and developmentitieswdirected at discovering new corrector
compounds. We retain worldwide rights to develog eammercialize ivacaftor, lumacaftor, VX-661 amy ather compounds discovered during the
course of the research collaboration with CFFT.aféeobligated to pay CFFT tiered royalties randing single digits to sub-teens, calculated as a
percentage of net sales, on ivacaftor, as wellimstaftor, VX-661 and compounds discovered dultiegrésearch terms of the agreement with CFFT,
the last of which concluded February 2014. We haade the two commercial milestone payments requinekkr the collaboration agreement upon
achievement of certain sales levels of KALYDECOdéenthe collaboration agreement, we also are dielibep make a total of two one-time
commercial milestone payments upon achievemengiodin sales levels for certain CFTR corrector counls.

For each compound commercialized under this cotltimn, we will have royalty obligations to CFFTtilthe expiration of patents covering that
compound. We have patents in the United State€anapean Union covering the composition-of-matfavacaftor that expire in 2027 and 2025,
respectively, subject to potential patent life esiens. We have patent applications in the UniteteS and European Union covering the composition-
of-matter of lumacaftor that expire in 2026, subjecpotential patent life extensions. The collaimn also may be terminated by either party for a
material breach by the other, subject to notice@nd provisions.

BioAxone Biosciences, Inc.

In October 2014, we entered into a license andbolation agreement with BioAxone Biosciences,, locBioAxone, a privately-held
biotechnology company. Pursuant to this agreemamntire collaborating with BioAxone on the reseaddvelopment and commercialization of VX-
210 (formerly referred to as Cethrin), a biologimtolled by BioAxone, for the treatment of patemiith spinal cord injuries. VX-210 is a Rho
inhibitor, also described as a Rho antagonist, vhie believe has the potential to block inhibitergnaling, which may result in the regrowth and/or
regeneration of axons after spinal injury. VX-2H5slbeen evaluated as a single dose applicatiom ép@n-label, non-placebo controlled Phase 1/2a
clinical trial at multiple doses in 48 patients lwthoracic and cervical acute spinal cord injuri&® expect to commence a Phase 2b clinical trial of
VX-210 in late 2015.

We paid BioAxone initial payments of $10.0 milliand BioAxone has the potential to receive up to.@®illion in milestones and fees, includ
development and regulatory milestone payments dicgr@se continuation fee. In addition, BioAxoneulreceive royalties and commercial
milestones based on future net product salesyif\&e hold an option to purchase BioAxone at a teanined price. The option expires at the eat
of (a) the day the FDA accepts a Biologics Licefpplication submission for VX210, (b) the day we elect to continue the licenséed of exercisir
the option to purchase BioAxone and (c) March 18,8 subject to our option to extend this date iy pear. We may terminate our agreement with
BioAxone upon 90 days’ notice or immediately if determine that a licensed product is unsafe foriaidtmation to humans. The agreement may also
be terminated by either party for a material breagckhe other or by BioAxone for our inactivity Witespect to VX-210, in each case subject to notice
and cure provisions. Unless earlier terminatedatireement will continue until the expiration of cayalty obligations.

Outlicense Arrangements

We have entered into various agreements pursuavhitth we have outlicensed rights to certain dragdidates to third-party collaborators.
Pursuant to these outlicense arrangements, oabooltors become responsible for all costs relaté¢ioe continued development of such drug
candidates and obtain development and commerdializeghts to these drug candidates. Dependintherierms of the arrangements, our
collaborators may be required to make upfront paymenilestone payments upon the achievement tdingoroduct research and development
objectives and/or pay royalties on future saleanif, of commercial products resulting from thdatmbration.




Janssen Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

In 2014, we entered into an agreement with JarlBeammaceuticals, Inc., or Janssen Inc. Pursudhist@agreement, Janssen Inc. has an exclusive
worldwide license to develop and commercializeaiartirug candidates for the treatment of influemzeluding VX-787. We received non-refundable
payments of $35.0 million from Janssen Inc. in 28hd have the potential to receive developmentlaggry and commercial milestone payments as
well as royalties on future product sales, if algnssen Inc. is responsible for costs relatedetadéivelopment and commercialization of the
compounds. Janssen Inc. may terminate the agregsudjiect to certain exceptions, upon six montlogice.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

We actively seek protection for our products arappietary information by means of U.S. and forgigitents, trademarks and copyrights, as
appropriate. In addition, we rely upon trade sepretection and contractual arrangements to prattain of our proprietary information and
products. We have patents and pending patent apipls that relate to potential drug targets, caimps we are developing to modulate those targets,
methods of making or using those compounds andrigtapy elements of our drug discovery platform.

Much of our technology and many of our process@&neé upon the knowledge, experience and skillegfdcientific and technical personnel. To
protect our rights to our proprietary know-how d@adhnology, we require all employees, as well asconsultants and advisors when feasible, to enter
into confidentiality agreements that require disal@ and assignment to us of ideas, developmdatswries and inventions made by these
employees, consultants and advisors in the codrein service to us.

While we have numerous issued patents and pendiggipapplications in our patent portfolio, we eedi that the patents and patent applications
in the United States and the European Union theathee most important to our business are thosectaian the composition-of-matter of our drugs and
drug candidates that have progressed at leasPhse 2 clinical trials. The following table seigli the status of such primary patents and patent
applications in the United States and the Europédon covering the composition-of-matter of theseg$ and drug candidates:

Status of United States Patent Status of European Union Patent
(Anticipated Expiration, (Anticipated Expiration,
Drug/Drug Candidate Subject to Potential Extensions) Subject to Potential Extensions)
KALYDECO (ivacaftor) Granted (2027 Granted (202&
lumacaftor Application Pending (202¢ Granted (202€
VX-661 Granted (2027 Application Pending (202°

We hold issued patents and pending patent applitatn the United States, and in foreign countiesleem appropriate, claiming intellectual
property developed as part of our research andia@went programs. In addition to the compositiosradtter patents and patent applications listed
above, our intellectual property holdings include:

* U.S. and foreign patent applications coverintggptiator compounds and corrector compounds foCRER protein, including ivacaftor,
lumacaftor and VX-661 and many other related compsuand the use of those potentiators and coreetidreat CF.

* U.S. and foreign patents and patent applicatimvering VX-803 and VX-970 and the use of VX-80®1a/X-970 to treat oncology
indications.

* U.S. and foreign patents and patent applicatimvering VX-210 and the use of VX0 to treat neurology indicatiol

« U.S. and foreign patents and patent applicattmvering the manufacture, pharmaceutical commosstirelated solid forms, formulations,
dosing regimens and methods of use of these condgpunctluding ivacaftor and lumacaftor.

We cannot be certain, however, that issued pateiitbe enforceable or provide adequate protectinthat pending patent applications will result
in issued patents.




From time to time we enter into non-exclusive lisemgreements for proprietary third-party technplaged in connection with our research
activities. These license agreements typically fg®v¥or the payment by us of a license fee, but alag include terms providing for milestone
payments or royalties for the development and/anroercialization of our drug products arising frdme related research.

Ivacaftor was granted orphan drug status in theddrfstates and the European Union. We have a dt&nfpthat covers the composition-of-matter
of ivacaftor that we expect will provide intelleafyproperty protection in the United States throiiglexpiration date in 2027. We have a European
patent that covers the composition-of-matter ofaftor that we expect will provide intellectual pesty protection in the European Union through its
expiration date in 2025, subject to potential egtem. We are entitled to orphan drug exclusivityif@caftor in the United States and the European
Union, which means that the FDA may not approveltsroapplication to market ivacaftor for the samdi¢ation for a period of seven years following
approval, and the EMA cannot accept an MAA for agdsimilar to ivacaftor for a period of ten yeasidwing approval. As a result of the orphan
drug exclusivity, even if a competitor successfualhallenges the ivacaftor patents, it could noawbapproval from the FDA to market ivacaftor fbe
treatment of patients with a G551D mutation intl@* TR gene in the United States until 2019, or submitvi@A for the treatment of patients with a
G551D mutation in thei€FTR gene in the European Union until 2022, except iy lienited circumstances.

Lumacaftor, and the fixed dose combination of luafor and ivacaftor were granted orphan drug stattise United States and the European
Union. We have a European patent that covers thipasition of matter of lumacaftor that we expedt piiovide intellectual property protection in t
European Union through its expiration date in 2G2fject to potential extension. We have pendirgiegtions in the United States covering the
composition-of-matter of lumacaftor.

VX-661 was granted orphan drug status in the UnitateS&and the European Union. We have a UnitedsSpatent that covers the compositio
matter of VX661 that we expect will provide intellectual prayeprotection in the United States through its exjgon date in 2027, subject to poter
extension. We have pending applications in the Eegia Union covering the composition-of-matter of-@&1.

MANUFACTURING
Manufacturing Approach and Philosophy

As we market and sell our approved products andraab/ our drug candidates through clinical develaogrevard commercialization, we
continue to build and maintain our supply chain guoélity assurance resources. We rely on an intierred network of third parties to manufacture
distribute our products for commercial sale andfagproval clinical trials and to manufacture aigtribute our drug candidates for clinical trials.
Wherever possible, we seek to establish multipfgbers for each raw material and step in the martufing process, however we rely on a sole
source supplier of one component of our produatiscing candidates.

We expect that we will continue for the foreseedbtare to rely on third parties to meet most of commercial supply needs and some of our
clinical supply needs. We are in the process @ftdishing our own small-scale manufacturing cajigsl, which we plan to use for clinical trial
supplies and as an additional source for commesaiaplies.

Our supply chain for sourcing raw materials and afacturing drug product ready for distribution isnalti-step international endeavor. Third-
party contract manufacturers, including some imn@hsupply us with raw materials, and convert tlhesematerials into drug substance, and convert
the drug substance into final dosage form. Estaibigsand managing this global supply chain for eafobur drugs and drug candidates requires a
significant financial commitment and the creatiow anaintenance of numerous third-party contraaelationships.

We have developed systems and processes to tracktomand oversee our third-party manufacturecivdies, including a quality assurance
program intended to ensure that our third-party ufecturers comply with current Good Manufacturirrgd®ices, or cGMP. We regularly evaluate the
performance of our third-party manufacturers wité bbjective of confirming their continuing capéisk to meet our needs efficiently and
economically. Manufacturing facilities, both foraignd domestic, are subject to inspections by deuthe authority of the FDA and other U.S. and
foreign government authorities.

Manufacture of KALYDECO (ivacaftor)

We obtain ivacaftor to meet our commercial andicéihsupply needs through a thipagrty manufacturing network. A disruption in thevcaoercial
supply of KALYDECO would have a significant effeant patients, our business and our product reveudisruption in the clinical supply of
ivacaftor could delay the completion of clinicaats and/or affect timelines




for submitting regulatory filings. Our supply chaitludes a sole-source manufacturer that hasapalility of providing its services to us from
multiple sites.

Manufacture of Co-formulated Lumacaftor/l vacaftor

We have developed several manufacturing processg®tuce commercial quantities of co-formulateddgaftor/ivacaftor, including a process
utilizing continuous manufacturing technology aghase a traditional batch manufacturing process.h&ke established manufacturing capabilities at
our third-party manufacturer in the United Kingdomhich was used to produce a portion of the cliniéal supplies for our Phase 3 clinical trials of
lumacaftor in combination with ivacaftor, and ametie process of establishing continuous manufexgtwapabilities and seeking validation for these
capabilities at our facility located in Boston, Mashusetts. The goal of continuous process marmwifagtis to reduce material waste and cycle times
and improve yield, which may result in reduced cosuced development and production timelinesetawentories and increased market response
flexibility. While continuous process manufacturings been used in many industries, we believentbatre the first company to seek approval for an
NDA using a continuous manufacturing process. Ad-party manufacturer also is producing commerciamgities of co-formulated
lumacaftor/ivacaftor using the traditional batchnuafacturing process we designed.

Manufacture of VX-661/lvacaftor

We expect to use a traditional batch manufactupiogess to obtain a supply of VX-661 to be usealinPhase 3 clinical trials of VX-661 in
combination with ivacaftor. If we successfully comntial VX-661 in combination with ivacaftor, we pléo produce our commercial supply of VX-
661 using a continuous manufacturing process.

COMPETITION

The pharmaceutical industry is characterized bgresivve research efforts, rapid technological pregeend intense competition. There are many
public and private companies, including pharmacalitompanies and biotechnology companies, engageleloping products for the indications
our drugs are approved to treat and the therapargas we are targeting with our research and dewednt activities. Potential competitors also
include academic institutions, government agencitser public and private research organizationsdmaritable venture philanthropy organizations
that conduct research, seek patent protection aedtablish collaborative arrangements for reseateielopment, manufacturing and
commercialization. Many of our competitors havestabtially greater financial, technical and humesources than we do. We face competition basec
on the safety and efficacy of our products and dardidates, the timing and scope of regulatory@amls, the availability and cost of supply,
marketing and sales capabilities, reimbursementreme, price, patent protection and other fac@us.competitors may develop or commercialize
more effective, safer or more affordable produlctsitwe are able to develop or commercialize oriobtere effective patent protection. As a result,
our competitors may commercialize products moréigpr effectively than we do, which would adveysaffect our competitive position, the
likelihood that our drug candidates, if approvedud achieve and maintain market acceptance andhility to generate meaningful revenues from
our products. Future competitive products may rende products, or future products, obsolete orcoompetitive.

Cydtic Fibrosis

An increasing number of companies are seekingentify and develop drug candidates for the treatm&QF, including publicly-traded
companies such as Novartis, Pfizer, ProQR Therag®eBtV., and Genzyme, which is a division of Sanafid several private companies. Although
are the first company to successfully develop @ dhat treats the underlying cause of CF, KALYDES@pproved to treat only a small percentage of
patients with CF. Our competitors have researchdmvelopment programs directed at identifying aedetbping CFTR potentiators, CFTR correctors
and drug candidates with other mechanisms of attianseek to address the underlying cause of @Fpar success in rapidly developing and
commercializing KALYDECO (ivacaftor) and developiagd potentially commercializing lumacaftor in candiion with ivacaftor may increase the
resources that our competitors allocate to theldpueent of these potential treatments for CF. B on more competing therapies are successfully
developed as a treatment for patients with CFrevenues from KALYDECO, lumacaftor in combinatioitiwivacaftor, and/or our other CF drug
candidates, if then approved, could face significampetitive pressure.
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GOVERNMENT REGULATION

The research, development, testing, manufactusditgeontrol, approval, labeling, packaging, sg@asafety monitoring, record keeping,
promotion, advertising, distribution and marketofgour products and drug candidates are subjesttensive regulation by United States and foreign
governmental authorities.

United States Government Regulation
New Drug Application Approval Processes

In the United States, the FDA regulates drugs uttdeFederal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, or th€APand implementing regulations. The
process of obtaining regulatory approvals and thesequent compliance with applicable federal, statal and foreign statutes and regulations rex
the expenditure of substantial time and finan@aburces. Failure to comply with the applicable. Ue§uirements at any time during the drug
development process, approval process or aftepappmay subject us to administrative or judigahctions, any of which could have a material
adverse effect on us. These sanctions could include

« refusal to approve or delay in review of pendinglegations

e withdrawal of an approval or the implementatiodimiitations on a previously approved indication e

e imposition of a clinical hold, a risk mitigatia@nd evaluation strategy or other safetiated limitations

e warning letters or “untitled letters”

e product seizure

« total or partial suspension of production or disition; o

e injunctions, fines, disgorgement, or civil or crimail penaltie:

The process required by the FDA before a drug neaparketed in the United States generally invottiesfollowing:

e completion of preclinical laboratory tests, aaimtudies and formulation studies conducted adegrid Good Laboratory Practices, or GLP,
and other applicable regulations;

e submission to the FDA of an investigational ndmwg, or IND, application, which must become effezbefore clinical trials in the United
States may begin;

« performance of adequate and well-controlledicdihtrials according to Good Clinical Practices GCP, to establish the safety and efficacy of
the proposed drug for its intended use;

* submission to the FDA of an ND

» satisfactory completion of an FDA inspectiortieé manufacturing facility or facilities at whichet product will be produced to assess
compliance with cGMP to assure that the facilitteethods and controls are adequate to preserny@didect’s identity, strength, quality and
purity; and

« FDA review and approval of the ND

Once a drug candidate is identified for developmiéminters the preclinical testing stage. Prectihtests include laboratory evaluations of product
chemistry, toxicity and formulation, as well asraal pharmacology and toxicology studies. An INDrsgar must submit the results of the preclinical
tests, together with manufacturing information andlytical data, to the FDA as part of the IND.dHrécal or nonclinical testing typically continues
even after the IND is submitted. In addition tolirtding the results of the preclinical studies, iN® also will include a protocol detailing, amonther
things, the objectives of the initial clinical trand the parameters to be used in monitoring wafdte IND automatically becomes effective 30 days
after receipt by the FDA, unless the FDA, withie 80-day time period, places the IND on clinicdbhdf an IND is placed on clinical hold, the IND
sponsor and the FDA must resolve any outstandingeros before clinical trials can begin. A clinibald may occur at any time during the life of an
IND, and may affect one or more specific cliniaéls or all clinical trials conducted under theN
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All clinical trials must be conducted under the esyision of one or more qualified investigatorsagcordance with GCP. They must be conducted
under protocols detailing the objectives of thaltrilosing procedures, subject selection and exelugiteria and the safety and effectiveness iiaite
be evaluated. Each protocol and any amendmentshaustbmitted to the FDA as part of the IND, amapess reports detailing the results of the
clinical trials must be submitted at least annutdlyhe FDA and more frequently in other situatidnsluding the occurrence of serious adverse avent
An institutional review board, or IRB, at each itgton participating in the clinical trial mustuiew and approve the protocol and any amendments
before a clinical trial commences or continuedat institution, approve the information regardihg clinical trial and the consent form that must b
provided to each trial subject or his or her lagalresentative, and monitor the clinical trial botimpleted and otherwise comply with IRB regulasi

Clinical trials typically are conducted in threejgential phases that may overlap or be combined:

e Phase 1. The drug initially is introduced into healthy humsubjects and tested for safety, dosage tolerabs®rption, metabolism,
distribution and elimination. In the case of somegdcandidates for severe or life-threatening diseasuch as cancer, especially when the
drug candidate may be inherently too toxic to etlhycadminister to healthy volunteers, the initiaiman testing is often conducted in patients.

» Phase 2. Clinical trials are initiated in a limited patiepppulation intended to identify possible adverdeat$ and safety risks, to preliminar
evaluate the efficacy of the drug candidate focHjuetargeted diseases and to determine dosagetale and optimal dosage.

* Phase 3. Clinical trials are undertaken to further evaludbsage, clinical efficacy and safety in an expargident population at
geographically dispersed clinical trial sites. TdeBnical trials are intended to establish theralleisk-benefit ratio of the drug candidate and
provide an adequate basis for regulatory appravélipgioduct labeling.

Phase 1, Phase 2 and Phase 3 testing may not Ipdetednsuccessfully within any specified periodatitill. The FDA or the sponsor may suspend
a clinical trial at any time for a variety of reasgincluding a finding that the healthy volunteergatients are being exposed to an unacceptabléhh
risk. Similarly, an IRB can suspend or terminatprapal of a clinical trial at its institution if ehclinical trial is not being conducted in accorcamvith
the IRB’s requirements or if the drug candidate Ieesn associated with unexpected serious harmelthigesolunteers or patients.

We estimate that it generally takes 10 to 15 yearppssibly longer, to discover, develop and btmmgharket a new pharmaceutical product in the
United States, as outlined below:

Phase Estimated Duration
Discovery 2 to 4 years
Preclinical 1to 2 years
Phase 1 1to 2 years
Phase 2 2 to 4 years
Phase 3 2 to 4 years
FDA approval 6 months to 2 years

During the development of a new drug, sponsorg&en opportunities to meet with the FDA at certadints. These points may be prior to
submission of an IND, at the end of Phase 2 testind before an NDA is submitted. Meetings at otimees may be requested. These meetings can
provide an opportunity for the sponsor to sharerimiation about the data gathered to date, for Bv # provide advice, and for the sponsor and FDA
to reach agreement on the next phase of develop@pansors typically use the end of Phase 2 metdidgscuss their Phase 2 clinical results and
present their plans for the pivotal Phase 3 clirtital that they believe will support approvaltbe drug candidate.

As part of the development process, companies lyst@hplete animal safety studies and also mustldgvadditional information about the
chemistry and physical characteristics of the dmd finalize a process for manufacturing the produaccordance with cGMP requirements. The
manufacturing process must be capable of consigtertducing quality batches of the drug candidate] the manufacturer must develop methods for
testing the quality, purity and potency of the fipeoducts. Additionally, appropriate packaging mioes selected and tested and stability studies be
conducted to demonstrate that the drug candidae dot undergo unacceptable deterioration ovehi-life.
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The results of drug development, preclinical stedird clinical trials, along with descriptions loé tmanufacturing process, analytical tests
conducted on the chemistry of the drug candidatgpgsed labeling and other relevant informationsatemitted to the FDA as part of an NDA
requesting approval to market the drug candidate.ADA reviews each NDA submitted to ensure thiatsufficiently complete for substantive revi
before it accepts it for filing. It may request @iohal information rather than accept an NDA fiing.

Once the submission is accepted for filing, the Ri@gins an in-depth review. The FDA may not appravé\DA if the applicable regulatory
criteria are not satisfied or may require additiaimical or other data. Even if such data arersitted, the FDA may ultimately decide that the NDA
does not satisfy the criteria for approval. The Fi2&iews an NDA to determine, among other thingsether a drug candidate is safe and effective for
its intended use and whether its manufacturingsisIB-compliant to assure and preserve the drug datels identity, strength, quality and purity. The
FDA may refer the NDA to an advisory committee fieview and recommendation as to whether the NDAulshioe approved and under what
conditions. The FDA is not bound by the recommeindadf an advisory committee, but it generally do¥s such recommendations. Before approving
an NDA, the FDA will inspect the facility or fadiles where the drug candidate is manufactured estdd.

The FDA may require, as a condition of approvadtrieted distribution and use, enhanced labelipgcgl packaging or labeling, expedited
reporting of certain adverse events, pre-approfpt@motional materials, restrictions on directelmasumer advertising or commitments to conduct
additional research post-approval. The FDA williis& complete response letter if the agency deaidie® approve the NDA in its present form. The
complete response letter usually describes ale&pecific deficiencies in the NDA identified hetFDA. If a complete response letter is issuedl, th
applicant may either resubmit the NDA, addressihgfahe deficiencies identified in the letter, withdraw the application.

Expedited Review and Approval

The FDA has various programs, including Fast Traciarity review, and accelerated approval, thatiatended to expedite or simplify the
process for reviewing drug candidates, and/or pi@¥r approval on the basis of surrogate endpoiiusn if a drug candidate qualifies for one or
more of these programs, the FDA may later decidettie drug candidate no longer meets the condifienqualification or that the time period for
FDA review or approval will not be shortened. Gextlgr drug candidates that may be eligible for thhprograms are those for serious or life-
threatening conditions, those with the potentiadddress unmet medical needs, and those thato#eningful benefits over existing treatments. For
example, Fast Track is a process designed totteilihe development, and expedite the reviewwd dandidates to treat serious diseases and fill an
unmet medical need. Priority review is designedite drug candidates that offer major advancegsiatinent or provide a treatment where no ade:
therapy exists an initial review within six montss compared to a standard review time of ten moAltisough Fast Track and priority review do not
affect the standards for approval, the FDA wileaipt to facilitate early and frequent meetings wittponsor of a Fast Track designated drug cam
and expedite review of the application for a dragdidate designated for priority review. Acceledaa@proval provides an earlier approval of drugs
that treat serious diseases, and that fill an umeetical need based on a surrogate endpoint, vid&haboratory measurement or physical sign us
an indirect or substitute measurement represeatilgically meaningful outcome. As a conditionagfproval, the FDA may require that a sponsor
product receiving accelerated approval perform-puatketing clinical trials.

In July 2012, the Food and Drug Administration $afnd Innovation Act, or FDASIA, was enacted, adieg the FDCA. As part of FDASIA,
Congress created a drug designation called “Brealtfih Therapy.” This designation is intended tadlitate expedited development and review of a
compound which, alone or in combination with onenmre other compounds, is intended to treat ag&o life-threatening disease or condition and
for which preliminary clinical evidence indicatdsat the compound may demonstrate substantial aliimgprovement over existing therapies.
Breakthrough Therapy designation may be requestdekdiling of, or as an amendment to, an IND lolase criteria established by the FDA.

Actions identified in FDASIA that may expedite thevelopment and review of a Breakthrough Theraplpite, as appropriate: holding meetings
with the sponsor and the review team throughoutitheelopment of the drug; involving senior managerd experienced review staff, as appropriate,
in a collaborative, cross-disciplinary review; assigning a cross-disciplinary project lead for FiBA review team to facilitate efficient review tife
development program and serve as a scientifiolieietween the review team and the sponsor. Wecetpa over time the FDA will develop
regulations and/or provide additional guidance reigg the development of drug candidates that vecBreakthrough Therapy designation.
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Post-approval Requirements

Once an approval is granted, the FDA may withdi@evapproval if compliance with regulatory standasdsot maintained or if problems occur
after the product reaches the market. Later disyovepreviously unknown problems with a productymesult in restrictions on the product or
complete withdrawal of the product from the marlketaddition, under the FDCA the sponsor of an aped drug in the United States may not
promote that drug for unapproved, or off-label,sysdthough a physician may prescribe a drug fasftabel use in accordance with the practice of
medicine. After approval, some types of changeabeapproved product, such as adding new indicsitioranufacturing changes and additional
labeling claims, are subject to further FDA reviemd approval. In addition, the FDA may requireitesaind surveillance programs to monitor the
effect of approved products that have been comuiléred, and the FDA has the power to prevent oit fianther marketing of a product based on the
results of these post-marketing programs.

Products manufactured or distributed by us pursteaRDA approvals are subject to continuing regafaby the FDA, including, among other
things:

» recordkeeping requiremen

« reporting of adverse experiences with the pro

« providing the FDA with updated safety and efficaafprmation

e drug sampling and distribution requireme

» notifying the FDA and gaining its approval of sgsd manufacturing or labeling chanc
« complying with certain electronic records and stgnarequirements; a

e complying with FDA promotion and advertising regurents

Drug manufacturers and other entities involvechmmanufacture and distribution of approved proglace required to register with the FDA and
certain state agencies, and are subject to perisdinonounced inspections by the FDA and some aggtiecies for compliance with cGMP and other
laws.

We rely, and expect to continue to rely, on thiadtigs for the production of our products. FutuB¥AFand state inspections may identify
compliance issues at the facilities of our contraahufacturers that may disrupt manufacture oridigion of our products, or require substantial
resources to correct.

From time to time, new legislation is enacted ttteinges the statutory provisions governing theabr manufacturing and marketing of
products regulated by the FDA. In addition, FDAukegions and guidance often are revised or reiné¢egd by the agency in ways that may
significantly affect our business and our produlits impossible to predict whether legislativeanlges will be enacted, or FDA regulations, guidance
or interpretations changed.

Patent Term Restoration and Marketing Exclusivity

Depending upon the timing, duration and specifidS[@A approval of the use of our drugs, some of dnited States patents may be eligible for
limited patent term extension under the Drug P@oenpetition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 198#rred to as the Hatch-Waxman
Amendments. The Hatch-Waxman Amendments permitenpeestoration term of up to five years as corspéian for patent term lost during product
development and the FDA regulatory review procEssvever, patent term restoration cannot extendeh®ining term of a patent beyond a total of
14 years from the product’s approval date. Therdatem restoration period is generally one-hadf tiime between the effective date of an IND, and
the submission date of an NDA, plus the time betwibe submission date of an NDA and the approv#taif application. Only one patent applicable
to an approved product is eligible for the extensiad the extension must be applied for prior fgiration of the patent. The United States Patedt an
Trademark Office, in consultation with the FDA, i@wvs and approves the application for any patent gxtension or restoration. In the future, we
may apply for restorations of patent term for saheur currently owned or licensed patents to aate it life beyond their current expiration date,
depending on the expected length of clinical trald other factors involved in the submission efrievant NDA.

Market exclusivity provisions under the FDCA alsmalelay the submission or the approval of cedpplications. The FDCA provides a five-
year period of non-patent marketing exclusivityhiitthe United States to the first applicant to
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gain approval of an NDA for a new chemical entigr a new chemical entity that qualifies for Orplizmig designation, the FDCA provides such
marketing exclusivity for a period of seven ye@sroduct is a new chemical entity if the FDA has previously approved any other new product
containing the same active moiety, which is theeuoole responsible for the action of the drug sutzsgtaDuring the exclusivity period, the FDA may
not accept for review an abbreviated new drug apfitin, or ANDA, or a 505(b)(2) NDA submitted byatner company for another version of such
product where the applicant does not own or haega right of reference to all the data requireddpproval. However, an application may be
submitted after four years if it contains a cectifion of patent invalidity or non-infringement. @RDCA also provides three years of marketing
exclusivity for an NDA, 505(b)(2) NDA or suppleméntan existing NDA if new clinical investigationsther than bioavailability studies, that were
conducted or sponsored by the applicant are deéyéte FDA to be essential to the approval of {heliaation, for example, for new indications,
dosages, or strengths of an existing drug. Thisetlyear exclusivity covers only the conditions aiged with the new clinical investigations and sloe
not prohibit the FDA from approving ANDAs for drugentaining the original active agent.

Pediatric Exclusivity

Section 505A of the FDCA, as amended by the FDA Adneents Act of 2007, permits certain drugs to obéei additional six months of
exclusivity, if the sponsor submits information uegted in writing by the FDA, or a written requestating to the use of the drug in children. THxA
may not issue a written request for clinical triafsunapproved or approved indications or whedetiermines that information relating to the use of
drug in a pediatric population, or part of the @édc population, may not produce health benefithat population.

Foreign Regulation

In addition to regulations in the United States,ame subject to a variety of foreign regulationsegaing clinical trials and commercial sales and
distribution of our products. Whether or not weaibtFDA approval for a drug candidate, we must iobdpproval by the comparable regulatory
authorities of foreign countries or economic aresash as the European Union, before we can comnuinégal trials or market products in those
countries or areas. The approval process and ergairts governing the conduct of clinical trial®durct licensing, pricing and reimbursement vary
greatly from place to place, and the time may Ingéw or shorter than that required for FDA approval

Under European Union regulatory systems, a compaay submit marketing authorization applicationb@itunder a centralized or decentralized
procedure. The centralized procedure, which is adsgpy for medicines produced by biotechnologyhmse medicines intended to treat AIDS, car
neurodegenerative disorders, or diabetes and @ptionthose medicines that are highly innovatiwavides for the grant of a single marketing
authorization that is valid for all European Unimember states. The decentralized procedure profadegproval by one or more “concerned”
member states based on an assessment of an dpplipatformed by one member state, known as tHfergace” member state. Under the
decentralized approval procedure, an applicant #skan application, or dossier, and related mdwetiathe reference member state and concerned
member states. The reference member state prepdraft assessment and drafts of the related raktevithin 120 days after receipt of a valid
application. Within 90 days of receiving the refeze member state’s assessment report, each codaasmber state must decide whether or not to
approve the assessment report and related matéfialsiember state does not recognize the maxketirthorization, the disputed points are eventt
referred to the European Commission, whose decisibinding on all member states.

Orphan Drug Designation

Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may grant orptiarg designation to drug candidates intendecdetat & rare disease or condition, which is
generally a disease or condition that affects fetwan 200,000 people in the United States, or rttae 200,000 people in the United States and for
which there is no reasonable expectation thatélseaf developing and making available in the WhiBates a drug for this type of disease or cam
will be recovered from sales in the United Statediiat drug. Orphan drug designation must be retgdebefore submitting an NDA. After the FDA
grants orphan drug designation, the identity ofttireapeutic agent and its potential orphan useéiactosed publicly by the FDA. Orphan drug
designation does not convey any advantage in oteshthe duration of the regulatory review and appt process. KALYDECO and lumacaftor have
been granted designation as orphan drugs by the FDA

If a drug candidate that has orphan drug designatibbsequently receives the first FDA approvatfiat drug for the disease for which it has such
designation, the product is entitled to orphan dragusivity, which means that the FDA may not amerany other applications to market the same
drug for the same indication, except in very lirditgrcumstances, for
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seven years. Orphan drug exclusivity, however, etadd block the approval of our drug candidatess&ven years if a competitor first obtains
approval of the same product as defined by the BDiAour drug candidate is determined to be comdiwithin the competitor's product for the same
indication or disease.

As in the United States, we may apply for desigmatif a drug candidate as an orphan drug for gragrivent of a specific indication in the
European Union before the application for marketinthorization is made. Orphan drugs in Europeyeegmnomic and marketing benefits, including
up to 10 years of market exclusivity for the apgvndication unless another applicant can showitharoduct is safer, more effective or otherwise
clinically superior to the orphan-designated praduc

The FDA and foreign regulators expect holders afuesivity for orphan drugs, such as KALYDECO, tesare the availability of sufficient
quantities of their orphan drugs to meet the neé¢gstients. Failure to do so could result in ththdrawal of marketing exclusivity for the orphan
drug.

Reimbursement

Sales of our products depend, to a large degretlyeoextent to which our products will be covergdtird-party payors, such as government
health programs, commercial insurance and managgthicare organizations. These third-party payaneasingly are reducing reimbursements for
medical products and services. Additionally, thetasment of health care costs has become a prioirfiederal and state governments, and the prices
of drugs have been a focus in this effort. The ddvernment, state legislatures and foreign govenmtshhave shown significant interest in
implementing cost-containment programs, includirigegpcontrols, restrictions on reimbursement amplirements for substitution of generic products.
Adoption of price controls and cosbntainment measures, and adoption of more rag@ipblicies in jurisdictions with existing contsoAnd measure
could limit our revenues. Decreases in third-pagtynbursement for a product or a decision by altparty payor to not cover a product could reduce
physician usage of the product.

The Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, andibtaization Act of 2003, or the MMA, established tledicare Part D program to provic
voluntary prescription drug benefit to Medicare &figiaries. Under Part D, Medicare beneficiarieyraaroll in prescription drug plans offered by
private entities, which will provide coverage oftpatient prescription drugs. Unlike Medicare Parikl B, Part D coverage is not standardized. P
prescription drug plan sponsors are not requirgzhiofor all covered Part D drugs, and each drag pan develop its own drug formulary that
identifies which drugs it will cover and at whatrtior level. However, Part D prescription drug fafaries must include drugs within each therapeutic
category and class of covered Part D drugs, thowginecessarily all the drugs in each categoryassc Any formulary used by a Part D prescription
drug plan must be developed and reviewed by a p@arand therapeutic committee. Government paynogrgdme of the costs of prescription drugs
may increase demand for products for which we weceiarketing approval. However, any negotiatedgsrfor our products covered by a Part D
prescription drug plan likely will be lower tharetiprices we might otherwise obtain. Moreover, wiike MMA applies only to drug benefits for
Medicare beneficiaries, private payors often folleledicare coverage policy and payment limitationsetting their own payment rates. Any reduc
in payment that results from the MMA may resulaigsimilar reduction in payments from non-governrakpayors.

The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 28@®ides funding for the federal government to caregthe effectiveness of different
treatments for the same illness. A plan for theaesh will be developed by the Department of Heailtti Human Services, or HHS, the Agency for
Healthcare Research and Quality and the Natiorséituites of Health, and periodic reports on théustaf the research and related expenditures will b
made to the U.S. Congress. Although the resultseotomparative effectiveness studies are notdie@io mandate coverage policies for public or
private payors, it is not clear what effect, if athe research will have on the sales of our prtsdiicis possible that comparative effectivenessarch
demonstrating benefits of a competitor's productid@dversely affect the sales of our productthitfl-party payors do not consider our products t
cost-effective compared to other available thespleey may not cover our products as a benefieutieir plans or, if they do, the level of payment
may not be sufficient to allow us to sell our protiuon a profitable basis.

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Acamended by the Health Care and Education Afforiglileconciliation Act of 2010, which is
referred to as the ACA, was enacted in March 20iDis designed to expand coverage for the uninswlélé at the same time containing overall
health care costs. With regard to pharmaceuticadyrts, among other things, the ACA is designeskfmand and increase industry rebates for drugs
covered under Medicaid programs, impose an anegabii branded pharmaceutical manufacturers and ohakgyes to the coverage requirements
under the
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Medicare Part D program. Our rebates associatddthét Medicare Part D “donut holaave not been significant. In 2014, 2013 and 20&2recorde
$10.7 million , $10.4 million and $1.8 million ,gpectively, in sales, general and administratiygeeses related to the branded prescription drug fee
established pursuant to the ACA. We were not sulbjethis fee prior to 2012. The branded presariptirug fee is not tax deductible. We cannot
predict all of the effects of the ACA on pharmadealtcompanies as many of the ACA reforms requieegromulgation of detailed regulations
implementing the statutory provisions, which hasyei occurred.

In Europe and many other foreign countries, thessg of KALYDECO and of lumacaftor in combinatioittwivacaftor, if approved, and of any
other drug candidates we may develop, dependsyangeobtaining and maintaining government reimburent, because in many foreign countries
patients are unable to access prescription phautiaabproducts that are not reimbursed by theiregpments. Negotiating reimbursement rates in
foreign countries can delay the commercializatiba pharmaceutical product and generally resulessieimbursement rate that is lower than the net
price that companies can obtain for the same ptadube United States.

In some countries, such as Germany and France, eociahsales of a new product can begin while gi@lbursement rate that a company will
receive in future periods is under discussion.theocountries, a company must complete the reisdmaent discussions prior to the commencement of
commercial sales of the pharmaceutical product.réairements governing drug pricing vary widelgrfr country to country. For example, the
European Union provides options for its memberestéd restrict the range of drugs for which thaitional health insurance systems provide
reimbursement and to control the prices of drugfifonan use. A member state may approve a specifie for the drug or it may instead adopt a
system of direct or indirect controls on the pifitity of the company placing the drug on the nearRecently, many countries in the European Union
have increased the amount of discounts requirgghammaceuticals and these efforts could continueastries attempt to manage healthcare
expenditures, especially in light of the severedisand debt crises experienced by many countriéfsei European Union. There can be no assurance
that any country that has price controls or reirsbarent limitations for pharmaceutical products afilbw favorable reimbursement and pricing
arrangements for any of our products.

Other United States Regulations

Pharmaceutical companies also are subject to vafealeral and state laws pertaining to health femed and abuse,” including anti-kickback
laws and false claims laws, and the reporting gfpents to physicians and teaching hospitals.

Anti-kickback Laws

U.S. federal laws prohibit fraud and abuse invajvitate and federal health care programs, sucheaéchte and Medicaid. These laws are
interpreted broadly and enforced aggressively liijoua state and federal agencies, including theetsifor Medicare & Medicaid Services, or CMS,
the Department of Justice, the Office of Inspe@eneral for HHS and various state agencies. Thas&iakback laws prohibit, among other things,
knowingly and willfully offering, paying, solicitig, receiving or providing remuneration, directlyindirectly, in exchange for or to induce eithee th
referral of an individual, or the furnishing, argamg for or recommending of an item or service thaeimbursable, in whole or in part, by a federal
health care program. Remuneration is broadly ddftnénclude anything of value, such as, cash payseifts or gift certificates, discounts, or the
furnishing of services, supplies or equipment. &hg-kickback laws are broad and prohibit manyrageaments and practices that are lawful in
businesses outside of the health care industry.

The penalties for violating the anti-kickback lagen be severe. The sanctions include criminal aildpenalties, and possible exclusion from the
federal health care programs. Many states haveteddgws similar to the federal anti-kickback laasd some apply to items and services
reimbursable by any payor, including third-party @as.
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Sate and Federal Prohibitions on False Claims

The federal False Claims Act imposes liability oty @erson or entity that, among other things, kmolyi presents, or causes to be presented, a
false or fraudulent claim for payment to the fetlgvernment. Under the False Claims Act, a peestia knowingly if he has actual knowledge of the
information or acts in deliberate ignorance ordokiess disregard of the truth or falsity of thiermation. Specific intent to defraud is not regdir
Provisions of the False Claims Act allow a priviagividual to bring an action on behalf of the femlegovernment and to share in any amounts paid by
the defendant to the government in connection thighaction. The number of filings under these @iovis has increased significantly in recent years.
When an entity is determined to have violated thisé-Claims Act, it may be required to pay up teéttimes the actual damages sustained by the
government, plus civil penalties for each falsénslaConduct that violates the False Claims Act raiyp lead to exclusion from the federal health care
programs. Given the number of claims likely to bessue, potential damages under the False Claich§of even a single inappropriate arrangement
could be significant. In addition, various statasdenacted similar laws modeled after the Falagr3| Act that apply to items and services reimid
under Medicaid and other state health care progrant; in several states, such laws apply to claimsnitted to all payors.

Federal Prohibitions on Health Care Fraud and False Satements Related to Health Care Matters

Under the administrative simplification provisiooisthe Health Insurance Portability and Accounigibihct of 1996, or HIPAA, and state laws
there are numerous regulations for protecting theapy and security of protected health informatiAdditional administrative simplification
provisions created the following federal crimesalttecare fraud, false statements relating to he=dte matters, theft or embezzlement in connection
with a health benefit program and obstruction @haral investigation of health care offenses. Tkalth care fraud statute prohibits knowingly and
willfully executing a scheme to defraud any healine benefit program, including a private insulére false statements statute prohibits knowingly
and willfully falsifying, concealing, or coveringpia material fact or making any materially falsetitious, or fraudulent statement in connectiomhwi
the delivery of or payment for health care bengfi&sns, or services. The theft or embezzlememttgtgrohibits knowingly and willfully embezzling,
stealing or otherwise converting or misapplying it@ney or property of a health care benefit progréine obstruction of criminal investigations of
health care offenses statute prohibits willfullgyenting, obstructing, misleading or delaying thenmunication of information and records relating to
a violation of a federal health care offense toimioal investigator. A violation of any of thessas is a felony and may result in fines, or exdasi
from the federal health care programs.

Physician Payment Sunshine Act

The Physician Payment Sunshine Act will requirerpiaceutical manufacturers to report annually toSbkeretary of HHS payments or other
transfers of value made by that entity to physigiand teaching hospitals. In February 2013, reigmsiwere released that contain detailed guidance
regarding the information that must be collected mported. We were required to collect informatiegarding such payments starting in August 2
and will be required to begin reporting such infatimn in March 2014. Over the next several yeaesywi need to continue to dedicate significant
resources to enhance our systems and processetein@ comply with these regulations. Failure aanply with the reporting requirements would
result in significant civil monetary penalties. $am laws have been enacted or are under consideriatforeign jurisdictions, including France whic
has adopted thieoi Bertrand , or French Sunshine Act, which became effectivedh3.

The Foreign Corrupt Practices Act

The Foreign Corrupt Practices Act prohibits U.Snpanies and their representatives from offeringppsing, authorizing or making payments to
foreign officials for the purpose of obtaining etaining business abroad. In many countries, th#theare professionals we regularly interact with
may meet the definition of a foreign governmentaoidd for purposes of the Foreign Corrupt Practiées

Other Regulations

In addition to the statutes and regulations desdrédbove, we also are subject to regulation irUthieed States under the Occupational Safety and
Health Act, the Environmental Protection Act, thexit Substances Control Act, the Resource Condervand Recovery Act and other federal, state,
local and foreign statutes and regulations, noweseafter in effect.
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EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 2014 , we had approximately @ g&8ployees, which was approximately the same nuoflemployees that we had on
December 31, 2013 . Of these employees, approxynb@40 were based in the United States, appraein@220 were based in Europe and
approximately 70 were based in Canada. Our sciestiff members have diversified experience angise in molecular and cell biology,
biochemistry, synthetic organic chemistry, prot&inay crystallography, protein nuclear magnetioremce spectroscopy, microbiology,
computational chemistry, biophysical chemistry, @l chemistry, clinical pharmacology and clifdiagedicine. Our clinical development personnel
have extensive expertise in designing and executingal trials. Employees in our commercial orgation have extensive experience in selling and
marketing pharmaceutical products as well as sgakimbursement from government and third-partyopsijor pharmaceutical products. Our
employees are not covered by a collective barggiagreement, except for a small number of employeEsance and Spain. Science magazine ni
Vertex as one of its top employers in the life sces in each of the last five years. We consideraations with our employees to be good.

OTHER MATTERS
Financial Information and Significant Customers

Financial information about (i) our net producteaues and other revenues generated in the prirggogiraphic regions in which we operate and
our significant customers is set forth in Note $egment Information,” to our consolidated finansi@tements included in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K, (ii) net income (loss) per share attrdtile to Vertex common shareholders and our tatsgta are provided in our consolidated financial
statements included in this Annual Report on Fo@aiKland (iii) our research and development expeirseach of the last three fiscal years and our
deconsolidation of Alios as of December 31, 201grivided in Iltem 7, “Management’s Discussion anmdlsis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations.” A discussion of the risks attendarduointernational operations is set forth in tlRésk Factors” section of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

Information Available on the I nternet

Our internet address w@mw.vrtx.com. Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly report$-orm 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K, dhd a
amendments to those reports, are available tongsudf charge through the “Investors-SEC Filingsit®n of our website as soon as reasonably
practicable after those materials have been eladctbly filed with, or furnished to, the Securitiaed Exchange Commission.

Corporate | nformation

Vertex was incorporated in Massachusetts in 1988 car principal executive offices are located@tN®rthern Avenue Boston, Massachusetts
02210.
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DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The names, ages and positions held by our execoffieers and directors are as follows:

Name Age Position

Jeffrey M. Leiden, M.D., Ph.D. 59 Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer drésident

David Altshuler, M.D., Ph.D. 50 Executive Vice President, Global Research and Choafntific Officer

Stuart A. Arbuckle 49 Executive Vice President and Chief Commercial @ffic

Jeffrey A. Chodakewitz, M.D. 59 Executive Vice President, Global Medicines Develeptrand Medical Affairs, and
Chief Medical Officer

Amit K. Sachdev, J.D. 47 Executive Vice President, Global Government Stiatdtarket Access and Value

lan F. Smith 49 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office

Paul M. Silva 48 Senior Vice President and Corporate Controller

Joshua S. Boger, Ph.D. 63 Director

Terrence C. Kearney 60 Director

Yuchun Lee 49 Director

Margaret G. McGlynn 55 Director

Wayne J. Riley, M.D. 55 Director

Bruce I. Sachs 55 Director

Elaine S. Ullian 67 Director

William Young 70 Director

Dr. Leiden is our Chairman, Chief Executive Offiegrd President. He has held the positions of Gwetutive Officer and President since
February 2012 after joining us as CEO Designeedodinber 2011. He has been a member of our Boddexftors since July 2009, the Chairman of
our Board of Directors since May 2012, and senseduw lead independent director from October 20t6ugh December 2011. Dr. Leiden was a
Managing Director at Clarus Ventures, a life sceneenture capital firm, from 2006 through Jan#$2. Dr. Leiden was President and Chief
Operating Officer of Abbott Laboratories, Pharmdimls Products Group, and a member of the Boaflirefctors of Abbott Laboratories from 2001
to 2006. From 1987 to 2000, Dr. Leiden held sevacademic appointments, including the Rawson Psofesf Medicine and Pathology and Chief of
Cardiology and Director of the Cardiovascular Redeédnstitute at the University of Chicago, the &ikR. Blout Professor of Biological Sciences at
the Harvard School of Public Health, and Profesédedicine at Harvard Medical School. He is arcedd member of both the American Academ:
Arts and Sciences, and the Institute of MedicinthefNational Academy of Sciences. Dr. Leidensgaior advisor to Clarus Ventures. Dr. Leiden has
served as a director of Quest Diagnostics Inc.edical diagnostics company, since December 2014L&den was a director and the non-executive
Vice Chairman of the board of Shire plc, a spegialbpharmaceutical company, from 2006 to Janu@f?22and was also a member of the Board of
Directors of Millennium Pharmaceuticals, Inc. fr@atober 2007 until it was acquired in June 2008.L@iden received his M.D., Ph.D. and B.A.
degrees from the University of Chicago.

Dr. Altshuler has been our Executive Vice Presidéhbbal Research and Chief Scientific Officer sidanuary 2015 and was a member of our
Board of Directors from May 2012 through Decemb@t4 Dr. Altshuler was one of four founding membafrthe Broad Institute, a research
collaboration of Harvard, MIT, The Whitehead Instit and the Harvard Hospitals. He served as thechar of the Institute’s Program in Medical and
Population Genetics from 2003 through December 20i#as the Institute’s Deputy Director and Chieddemic Officer from 2009 through
December 2014. Dr. Altshuler joined the facultyHairvard Medical School and the Massachusetts GeHerspital in 2000 and held the academic r
of Professor of Genetics and Medicine from 2008ulgh December 2014. He served as Adjunct Profegdgiology at MIT from 2012 through
December 2014. Dr. Altshuler earned a B.S. from MIPh.D. from Harvard University and an M.D. frétarvard Medical School. Dr. Altshuler
completed his clinical training in Internal Medieirand in Endocrinology, Diabetes and Metabolisnhe@ Massachusetts General Hospital.

Mr. Arbuckle is our Executive Vice President andeZiCommercial Officer, a position he has held siSeptember 2012. Prior to joining us, Mr.
Arbuckle held multiple commercial leadership raé¢#Amgen, Inc., a 17,000 person biotechnology camppfrom July 2004 through August 2012. |
Arbuckle has worked in the biopharmaceuticals itrgus
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since 1986, including more than 15 years at Glaxtiine plc, where he held sales and marketingsaf increasing responsibility for medicines
aimed at treating respiratory, metabolic, muscudtetial, cardiovascular and other diseases. Herlyris a member of the Board of Directors of the
Cancer Support Community, an international nonipovfanization dedicated to providing support, @tion and hope to people affected by cancer.
Mr. Arbuckle holds a BSc in pharmacology and phiggjg from the University of Leeds.

Dr. Chodakewitz is our Executive Vice Presidenpliall Medicines Development and Medical Affairs @tdef Medical Officer. Dr. Chodakewi
joined Vertex as a Senior Vice President in Jan@8y/ and became an Executive Vice President ink@ct2014. Prior to joining us, Dr. Chodakey
spent more than 20 years at Merck & Co., Inc., whner held a variety of roles including Vice Prestdef Clinical Research — Infectious Diseases &
Vaccines, Vice President of Clinical Pharmacologyle Stage Development, Senior Vice President ¢ [Stage Development, and Senior Vice
President of Global Scientific Strategy (Infectiddiseases, Respiratory/Immunology). Prior to hisite at Merck, he served as the Director of the
Outpatient Clinic at the Veterans Administrationdital Center in West Haven, Connecticut and heltbua academic positions at Yale University
and New York University Schools of Medicine. Dr.dglakewitz serves as a member of the Board of Qireaf Tetraphase Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a
pharmaceutical company. Dr. Chodakewitz holds Bv8iochemistry from Yale University, and an M.Doin the Yale University School of
Medicine.

Mr. Sachdev is our Executive Vice President, Poligcess and Value, a role he assumed in Octoliet. 20 this role, Mr. Sachdev manages our
global market access, health economics and outceesearch efforts for our drugs and drug candid#te2007, he joined us as a Senior Vice
President, and has led our government affairs abtigpolicy activities, as well as our patient adacy programs. From 2010 through 2013 he
established our first international commercial apiens in Canada. Prior to joining us, Mr. Sachslewed as Executive Vice President, Health of the
Biotechnology Industry Organization (BIO) and whas Deputy Commissioner for Policy at the FDA whieeealso served in several other senior
positions within the FDA. Prior to the FDA, Mr. Satev served as Majority Counsel to the Committe&ergy and Commerce in the United States
House of Representatives and practiced law at treenal Manufacturers Association, and subsequentlye law firm of Ropes & Gray LLP.

Mr. Sachdev holds a B.S from Carnegie Mellon Ursitgr and a J.D. from Emory University School ofl.a

Mr. Smith is our Executive Vice President and Cliigfancial Officer, a position he has held sincbrbary 2006. From November 2003 to
February 2006, he was our Senior Vice PresideniCinief Financial Officer, and from October 200INovember 2003, he served as our Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer. Prior tajog us, Mr. Smith served as a partner in the Sideence and Technology Practice Group of Ernst &
Young LLP, an accounting firm, from 1999 to 2001r.. @mith initially joined Ernst & Young’s U.K. firnm 1987, and then joined its Boston office in
1995. Mr. Smith currently is a member of the BoasfiBirectors of Acorda Therapeutics, Inc., a ddeyelopment company, and Infinity
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a drug development compdnySmith holds a B.A. in accounting and finanaenfrManchester Metropolitan University, U.|
is a member of the American Institute of Certiffeblic Accountants and is a Chartered Accountafingfland and Wales.

Mr. Silva is our Senior Vice President and Corpei@bntroller, a position he has held since April20Mr. Silva joined us in August 2007 as
Senior Director, Accounting Operations and was\tiae President and Corporate Controller from Sepen2008 through April 2011. Prior to joinil
us, he was the Vice President, Internal Reportiigpa Mountain Incorporated from July 2006 untildgust 2007 and a consultant to Iron Mountain’s
financing department from April 2005 until July ZDMHe was the Finance Director of the Biosciencehfielogies Division of Thermo Electron
Corporation from 2002 to April 2005. Mr. Silva held B.S. in accounting from Assumption College.

Dr. Boger is the founder of Vertex and has beeitextbr since our inception in 1989. He was oureCEixecutive Officer from 1992 through May
2009. He was our Chairman of the Board from 199# May 2006 and our President from our inceptionillDecember 2000, and from 2005 through
February 2009. He was our Chief Scientific Offifram 1989 until May 1992. Prior to founding Vertex1989, Dr. Boger held the position of Senior
Director of Basic Chemistry at Merck Sharp & DohResearch Laboratories in Rahway, New Jersey, wieereeaded both the Department of
Medicinal Chemistry of Immunology & Inflammation éithe Department of Biophysical Chemistry. Dr. Bolgelds a B.A. in chemistry and
philosophy from Wesleyan University and M.S. andPldegrees in chemistry from Harvard University.

Mr. Kearney has been a member of our Board of Direcsince May 2011. Mr. Kearney served as the f@perating Officer of Hospira, Inc., a
specialty pharmaceutical and medication delivempgany, from April 2006 to January 2011. From AR0I04 to April 2006, he served as Hospira’'s
Senior Vice President, Finance, and Chief Finar@ffiter, and he
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served as Acting Chief Financial Officer throughglist 2006. Mr. Kearney served as Vice PresidenfTaedsurer of Abbott Laboratories from 2001
to April 2004. From 1996 to 2001, Mr. Kearney wasiBlonal Vice President and Controller for Abbstthternational Division. Mr. Kearney serve:
a member of the Board of Directors at Acceleronr®laalnc., a biopharmaceutical company, and Themdnc., a royalty management company.
received his B.S. in biology from the Universitylihois and his M.B.A. from the University of Dgar.

Mr. Lee has been a member of our Board of Directorse September 2012. Mr. Lee has served as aufixe in Residence (XIR) and Partnel
General Catalyst Partners, a venture capital fsinge April of 2013. Mr. Lee was the Vice PresidehtBM’s Enterprise Marketing Management
Group from November 2010 through January 2013.Ude co-founded Unica Corporation, a provider ofwafe and services used to automate
marketing processes, in 1992, and was Unica’s teresand/or Chief Executive Officer from 1992 thgbhuNovember 2010, when Unica was acquired
by IBM. From 1989 to 1992, Mr. Lee was a seniorstdtant at Digital Equipment Corporation, a supptiegeneral computing technology and
consulting services. Mr. Lee holds a B.S. and a8.M electrical engineering and computer scienme fthe Massachusetts Institute of Technology
and an M.B.A. from Babson College.

Ms. McGlynn has been a member of our Board of Dinescsince May 2011. Since July 2011, Ms. McGlyas kerved as the President and Chief

Executive Officer of the International AIDS Vaccihgtiative, a global not-for-profit organizationh@se mission is to ensure the development of safe,
effective and accessible HIV vaccines for use thhmut the world. Ms. McGlynn served as Presideatdihes and Infectious Diseases of
Merck & Co., Inc. from 2005 until 2009. Ms. McGlyiwined Merck in 1983 and served in a variety ofke#ing, sales and managed care roles.
Ms. McGlynn serves as a member of the Board ofddams for Air Products and Chemicals, Inc., a conypspecializing in gases and chemicals for
industrial uses, and Amicus Therapeutics, Incipptarmaceutical company. She is also a membéreoNational Industrial Advisory Committee at
the University at Buffalo School of Pharmacy anéiiaceutical Sciences. Ms. McGlynn holds a B.Harmacy and an M.B.A. in Marketing from
the State University of New York at Buffalo.

Dr. Riley has been a member of our Board of Dinecgince July 2010. Dr. Riley is Clinical ProfesebMedicine, Vanderbilt University School
of Medicine and Adjunct Professor of Healthcare Eement, Owen Graduate School of Management atévhiftdUniversity. From January 2007
until July 2013, Dr. Riley was President and Cliigécutive Officer of Meharry Medical College. At Ky he held the rank of tenured Professor of
Internal Medicine and was a Senior Health Policgdksate at the Robert Wood Johnson Center for H&alticy at Meharry. From May 2004 to
December 2006, Dr. Riley served as a corporateexfind member of the executive management teaficas’resident and Vice Dean for Health
Affairs and Governmental Relations and Associatddasor of Medicine at Baylor College of Mediciaed Assistant Chief of Medicine at Ben Taub
General Hospital. Dr. Riley is a member of the Bloair Directors of HCA Holdings, Inc., the parentgmany of Hospital Corporation of America, a
leading operator of hospitals and health faciljtiebere he serves on the Audit & Compliance Conaaitind the Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee and is the Chair of the PaBafety and Quality Committee. Dr. Riley formesigrved as a Director of Pinnacle Financial
Partners and of the Nashville Branch Board of teeédral Reserve Bank of Atlanta. He is a membeh@institute of Medicine of the National
Academy of Sciences. Dr. Riley earned a B.A. froaleYUniversity, an M.P.H. in health systems managerfrom Tulane University School of Puk
Health & Tropical Medicine, an M.D. from the Moralse School of Medicine and an M.B.A. from Rice Wmsity’s Jones Graduate School of
Management.

Mr. Sachs has been a member of our Board of Diresiace 1998. He is a General Partner at Chailes Rentures, a venture capital firm he
joined in 1999. From 1998 to 1999, he served ags ke Vice President and General Manager of Asggmtimunications, Inc. From 1997 ur
1998, Mr. Sachs served as President and Chief ExedDfficer of Stratus Computer, Inc. From 19981897, he served as Executive Vice President
and General Manager of the Internet Telecom Busisup at Bay Networks, Inc. From 1993 to 1995sdmwed as President and Chief Executive
Officer at Xylogics, Inc. Mr. Sachs holds a B.S.Erelectrical engineering from Bucknell Univeysian M.E.E. in electrical engineering from Cor|
University, and an M.B.A. from Northeastern Univigrs

Ms. Ullian has been a member of our Board of Doecsince 1997. From 1996 through January 2010satved as President and Chief Exect
Officer of Boston Medical Center, a private, not-foofit, 626-bed, academic medical center wittommunity-based focus. From 1994 to 1996, she
served as President and Chief Executive OfficdBadton University Medical Center Hospital. From 798 1994, Ms. Ullian served as President and
Chief Executive Officer of Faulkner Hospital. SHeceserves as a director of Thermo Fisher Scientiit. and Hologic, Inc. Ms. Ullian holds a B.A. in
political science from Tufts University and an MdPfrom the University of Michigan.
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Mr. Young is a Venture Partner at Clarus Ventugglife sciences venture capital firm, which he @arin 2010. Prior to Clarus Ventures, Mr.
Young served from 1999 until June 2009 as the @Greirand Chief Executive Officer of Monogram Bioscies, Inc., a biotechnology company
acquired by Laboratory Corporation of America img2009. From 1980 to 1999, Mr. Young was empl@te@enentech, Inc. in positions of
increasing responsibility, including as Chief Opierg Officer from 1997 to 1999, where he was reslale for all product development, manufactu
and commercial functions. Prior to joining Genehtedr. Young was with Eli Lilly & Co. for 14 year$ir. Young currently serves at the Chairman of
the Board of Directors of NanoString Technologles,, and as a member of the Boards of DirectorBh@favance BioPharma Inc. and BioMarin
Pharmaceutical Inc. Mr. Young retired from Biogeed’'s Board of Directors in June 2014 where heeskas a director from 1997 through 2014 and
as Biogens Chairman of the Board from 2010 through 2014. ¥&ung holds a B.S. in Chemical Engineering fronnd@e University, an M.B.A. fror
Indiana University and an Honorary Doctorate in iBegring from Purdue University. Mr. Young was édetto the National Academy of Engineering
in 1993 for his contributions to biotechnology.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
RISK FACTORS

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk, and you should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below in
addition to the other information included or incorporated by reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. If any of the following risks or
uncertainties actually occurs, our business, financial condition or results of operations would likely suffer, possibly materially. In that case, the trading
price of our common stock could decline.

Risks Related to Our Business

Our business and future net product revenues depend heavily on the success of lumacaftor in combination with ivacaftor, which has not been
approved by the FDA or the European Commission. | f we are unable to obtain marketing approval for this combination therapy, if we experience
material delaysin receipt of marketing approval, or if reimbursement levels agreed to by third-party payors are unfavorable or do not meet the
expectations of investors or public equity market analysts, our businesswill be materially harmed and the market price of our common stock would
likely decline.

We believe that a significant portion of the vahtgibuted to our company by investors is basethercommercial potential of lumacaftor in
combination with ivacaftor. In November 2014, wémsiitted an NDA in the United States and an MAA ur@pe for this potential combination
regimen. Obtaining approval of an NDA or an MAAaisengthy, expensive and uncertain process, antayenot be successful. Obtaining marketing
approval for the combination of lumacaftor and afr in one country or region does not ensurereatvill be able to obtain marketing approval in
any other country or region.

Obtaining approval to market the combination of &waiftor and ivacaftor will depend on many factarsluding:

* whether or not the FDA and European regulatotherities determine that the evidence gatherewukeifrcontrolled clinical trials, other
clinical trials and nonclinical studies demonstsateat lumacaftor in combination with ivacaftosafe and effective as a treatment for patients
with CF 12 years of age and older who have twoenpf the F508del mutation in th€lIFTR gene;

« whether or not the FDA and European regulatotherities are satisfied that the manufacturinglifees, processes and controls for the
combination of lumacaftor and ivacaftor are adeguidiat the labeling is satisfactory and that pfangost-marketing studies, safety
monitoring and risk evaluation and mitigation anéfisient; and

« the timing and nature of the FDA and EMA’s commtseand questions regarding the NDA and MAA for¢benbination of lumacaftor and
ivacaftor, the scheduling and recommendations gfaalvisory committee meeting to consider the cowiom of lumacaftor and ivacaftor, t
time required to respond to the FDA or EMA’s comisesnd questions and to obtain the final labelorglie combination of lumacaftor and
ivacaftor and any other delays that may be asstiaith the NDA and MAA review process.

Even if lumacaftor in combination with ivacaftorapproved, the FDA or European regulatory auttesijtas the case may be, could require
extensive warnings on the product labeling or negekpensive and time-consuming clinical trialsk ®valuation and mitigation strategies or repgrtin
as conditions of approval. If we experience matelgdays in obtaining marketing approval for thentination of lumacaftor and ivacaftor in either or
both of the United States or Europe, our futurepnetiuct revenues and cash flows will be adversgbcted. If we do not obtain approval to market
the combination of lumacaftor and ivacaftor in Wted States and Europe, our business will be miadlieharmed.

Additionally, even if the combination of lumacafimnd ivacaftor receives marketing approval, coveratd reimbursement may not be available
and, even if it is available, the level of reimmmeent may not be satisfactory. The regulationsgbgern pricing, coverage and reimbursement for
drugs vary widely from country to country. Some ies require approval of the sale price of a dvafpre it can be marketed. In many countries, the
pricing review period begins after marketing ap@ids granted. Adverse pricing limitations or aajein obtaining coverage and reimbursement would
decrease our future net product revenues and harfousiness.
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We areincurring losses, and we may not become profitable in future periods.

We have incurred significant operating losses thex the last three years. In the short-term,reuenues will be dependent on continued sales of
KALYDECO and over the longer-term, we expect owereues will be dependent on both continued sal&Abfy DECO and our ability to obtain
regulatory approval for, and successfully comméimealumacaftor in combination with ivacaftor. Evé we are successful in obtaining marketing
approval for lumacaftor in combination with iva@afbn a timely basis, we currently do not expecgetmognize revenue from lumacaftor in
combination with ivacaftor until at least mid-2013ur net losses are having an adverse effect oongrmther things, our shareholders’ equity, total
assets and working capital. Because of the numeisksand uncertainties associated with pharma=@ytroduct development, we cannot predict
when we will become profitable, if ever.

We are currently substantially dependent on revenues from KALYDECO, and future revenues from KALYDECO are dependent, among other
factors, on our ability to increase the number of patients eligible for treatment with ivacaftor.

Until we obtain regulatory approval for lumacaftercombination with ivacaftor, we expect to be gahsally dependent on revenues from
KALYDECO. In 2012, we obtained approval to markeSIkYDECO for the treatment of patients with CF sieays of age and older with the G551D
mutation in theCFTR gene. S ince this time, we have sought to expamddimber of patients eligible for treatment with KYDECO. In February
2014, the FDA approved KALYDECO for the treatmehpatients with CF six years of age and older wheehone of eight other mutations in their
CFTR gene, which were studied in our first Phase 3 falzsphnsion clinical trial for ivacaftor. In July 29, the European Commission approved
KALYDECO for this patient group. In December 201de FDA approved KALYDECO for the treatment of patis six years of age and older who
have the R117H in the€FTR gene.

In order to further expand the market for ivacaftee need to demonstrate that ivacaftor is safecffiedtive in additional patient populations. We
have completed a Phase 3 clinical trial to evaliveteaftor as a treatment for children with CF twdive years of age with specific gating mutatiam
their CFTR gene, including the G551D mutation, and have subthian NDA to the FDA and an MAA line extension kigggion to the EMA based on
this clinical trial. We also have submitted a MAAriation to the EMA for ivacaftor for patients wi@F 18 years of age and older with the R117H
mutation in theilCFTR gene.

These clinical trials and our discussions with fagpry authorities are subject to the same riskswarcertainties that are described in these risk
factors with respect to the development of our draigdidates. There can be no assurance that thiesrsem our clinical trials of ivacaftor or theth
included in our submissions to regulatory authesitivill be sufficient to obtain approval for useiafcaftor in additional indications or that we Mike
successful in obtaining reimbursement for the d4€Ad YDECO in additional indications, if approved.

If our competitors bring drugs with superior product profiles to market, our drugs may not be competitive and our revenues could decline.

KALYDECO and any drugs we develop in the future may be able to compete effectively with marketashd or new drugs that may be
developed by competitors. There are many other eoiep developing drugs for the same indicationswieaare pursuing. In order to compete
successfully in these areas, we must demonstrgirad safety, efficacy and/or tolerability, andeaf manufacturing, and gain and maintain market
acceptance over competing drugs. Many of our coitopgtincluding major pharmaceutical companieshsag Abbvie, Bristol-Myers Squibb, Gilead,
Johnson & Johnson, Merck, Novartis, Pfizer, Saanfl Roche, possess substantially greater finane@ipical and human resources than we possess
Potential competitors also include other public pridate companies, academic institutions, govemntragencies, other public and private research
organizations and charitable venture philanthromanizations that conduct research, seek patetegtion and/or establish collaborative arrangen
for research, development, manufacturing and comialeration. As an example, we experienced a rdpitline in the number of patients being tre:
with INCIVEK in 2013 and 2014 as new medicinestfte treatment of HCV infection neared approval wede ultimately approved and became the
accepted standard of care. Despite the initialesgof INCIVEK, INCIVEK only resulted in significanet product revenues during 2011, 2012 and
2013.

Mergers and acquisitions in the pharmaceuticaltaotdchnology industries may result in even moedueces being concentrated among a sir
number of our competitors. Smaller and other estdgte companies also may prove to be significamipeditors, particularly through collaborative
arrangements with large and established compahiese third parties compete with us in recruitind eetaining qualified scientific and management
personnel, establishing clinical trial
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sites and patient registration for clinical triads, well as in acquiring technologies complementarpr necessary for, our programs.

A number of companies are seeking to identify agwektbp drug candidates for the treatment of CRuding Novartis, Pfizer, Genzyme, which is
a division of Sanofi, and ProQR Therapeutics BaWid several private companies. Our competitors hesearch and development programs directed
at identifying CFTR potentiators, CFTR correctonsl @rug candidates with other mechanisms of adtiahseek to address the underlying cause ¢
and our success in rapidly developing and commiézitig KALYDECO and developing and potentially corarpializing lumacaftor in combination
with ivacaftor may increase the resources thatouampetitors allocate to the development of thesergi@l treatments for CF. If one or more
competing therapies are successfully developed=satment for patients with CF, our revenues fiOi YDECO, lumacaftor in combination with
ivacaftor, if approved, and/or other compoundthéhn approved, could face competitive pressures.

If we discover safety issueswith any of our products or if we fail to comply with continuing U.S. and applicable foreign regulations,
commercialization efforts for the product could be negatively affected, the approved product could loseits approval or sales could be suspended, and
our business could be materially harmed.

Our products are subject to continuing regulatagrsight, including the review of additional safe@tjormation. Drugs are more widely used by
patients once approval has been obtained and thersitleeffects and other problems may be observed affgoagl that were not seen or anticipa
or were not as prevalent or severe, during preey@gbiclinical trials or nonclinical studies. Forample, in December 2012, we updated the INCIVEK
label in the United States to include a Boxed Wagrsitating that fatal and non-fatal serious skactiens have been reported in patients taking
INCIVEK combination treatment. The subsequent disty of previously unknown problems with a prodeetld negatively affect commercial sales
of the product, result in restrictions on the pratdur lead to the withdrawal of the product frore tharket. The reporting of adverse safety events
involving our products or public speculation absuth events could cause our stock price to deolirxperience periods of volatility.

If we or our collaborators fail to comply with apable continuing regulatory requirements, we ar@allaborators may be subject to fines,
suspension or withdrawal of regulatory approvaissfzecific products, product recalls and seizuspsrating restrictions and/or criminal prosecutions
In addition, the manufacturers we engage to mak@mducts and the manufacturing facilities in whour products are made are subject to periodic
review and inspection by the FDA and foreign retpriaauthorities. If problems are identified duriting review or inspection of these manufacturers
or manufacturing facilities, it could result in daability to use the facility to make our prodaeta determination that inventories are not safe fo
commercial sale.

If physicians, patients and third-party payors do not accept our drugs, we may be unable to generate significant revenues in future periods.

Our drugs may not gain or maintain market accegameong physicians and patients. Effectively mamgedur drugs and any of our drug
candidates, if approved, requires substantial &ffdoth prior to launch and after approval. Phigsis may elect not to prescribe our drugs, anepts
may elect not to request or take them, for a wanétreasons including:

» prevalence and severity of adverse sffects

* lack of reimbursement availability from thiphrty payors

« lower demonstrated efficacy, safety and/or tolditgiompared to other drug

* lack of costeffectivenes:

* adecision to wait for the approval of other thégapn development that have significant perceaedantages over our dri
» convenience and ease of administra

« other potential advantages of alternative treatmesthods; ar

« ineffective sales, marketing and/or distributiopsort
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If our drugs fail to achieve or maintain marketetance, we will not be able to generate significamenues in future periods.

Government and other third-party payors seek to contain costs of health care through legislative and other means. If they fail to provide coverage
and adequate reimbursement rates for our products, our revenues will be harmed.

In both domestic and foreign markets, our salggodlucts depend in part upon the availability @taursement from third-party payors. Third-
party payors include government health programh ssdViedicare and Medicaid in the United Statesthadhational health care systems in many
international markets, managed care providersaggifiealth insurers and other organizations. Tératm the U.S. health care industry and elsewhere
is cost containment and efforts of third-party payto contain or reduce health care costs thatadagrsely affect our ability to establish or maimta
appropriate prices for our products or any drugs ¥e may develop and commercialize. In certairifpr markets, pricing or profitability of
therapeutic and other pharmaceutical productshifestito governmental control. Reimbursement agenici Europe are often more conservative than
those in the United States and the reimbursemexeps is often slower since reimbursement decisiomsade on a country-by-country basis. In the
United States, there have been, and we expedtira will continue to be, a number of federal atade proposals to implement similar governmental
control as currently exists in Europe. The ACA iieggl discounts under the Medicare drug benefit anmgand increased the rebates paid by
pharmaceutical companies on drugs covered by Mieditae ACA also imposes an annual fee, which iases annually, on sales by branded
pharmaceutical manufacturers.

In addition, third-party payors attempt to conta@alth care costs by demanding price discountshmates and limiting both the types and variety
of drugs that they will cover and the amounts thay will pay for drugs. As a result, they may nover or provide adequate payment for our products.
We might need to conduct post-marketing studiexder to demonstrate the cost-effectiveness opoadtucts or any other future products to such
payors’ satisfaction. Such studies might requiréousommit a significant amount of management’stand our financial and other resources. Our
products might not ultimately be considered cofgaive. Adequate third-party reimbursement mighttlme available to enable us to maintain price
levels sufficient to realize an appropriate retonnour investment in product development.

Reimbursement rates vary according to the useeofithhg and the clinical setting in which it is usety be based on payments allowed for lower-
cost products that already are reimbursed, mapdegporated into existing payments for other prdsloc services and may reflect budgetary
constraints and/or imperfections in the data ueeathlculate these rates. Net prices for produetseduced by mandatory discounts or rebates rehuire
by government health care programs and privatefjeti@ted discounts. While we have implemented pgiin an effort to comply with mandated
reimbursement rates, the U.S. federal governmatg governments and private payors frequentlyymastions against pharmaceutical and
biotechnology companies alleging that the compamée® overstated prices in order to inflate reirmborent rates. Any such action could adversely
affect the pricing of and revenues from our produddditionally, in the United States and someifymgurisdictions, there have been a number of
legislative and regulatory proposals and initisgit@ change the health care system in ways théd ediect our ability to sell products. Some ofghe
proposed and implemented reforms have resultechudd result, in reduced reimbursement rates forcawrent or future products, which would
adversely affect our business, operations and iahresults.

Specialty pharmaceuticals are drugs that are pbestby specialist physicians to treat rare ortlifeeatening conditions and typically address
smaller patient populations. Each of our produgts $pecialty pharmaceutical product, and our rebend development programs are primarily
focused on developing additional specialty pharmtcal products. The increasing availability ane o$ innovative specialty pharmaceuticals,
combined with their relative higher cost as comgdoeother types of pharmaceutical products, isriyegg to generate significant third-party payor
interest in developing cost-containment stratetfiggeted to this sector. Government regulatiorisoth non-U.S. and U.S markets could limit the
prices that can be charged for our products andlmmatyour commercial opportunity. The increasirgewf health technology assessments in markets
around the world and the financial challenges famethany governments may lead to significant adveffects on our business.

Any legislation or regulatory changes or relaxatiéfaws that restrict imports of drugs from otleeuntries also could reduce the net price we
receive for our products.
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If we market any of our productsin a manner that violates applicable health care laws, including fraud and abuse laws, laws prohibiting off-label
promotion, disclosure laws or other similar laws, we may be subject to civil or criminal penalties.

We are subject to health care fraud and abuse kwb, as the federal False Claims Act and thekdckback provisions of the federal Social
Security Act, laws prohibiting off-label productgmotion and other similar laws and regulations bietbnited States and in non-U.S. markets. While
we have a corporate compliance program designadtieely identify, prevent and mitigate risk thrduthe implementation of compliance policies and
systems and the promotion of a culture of compkaifove are found not to be in full compliancewihese laws our business could be materially
harmed.

The federal anti-kickback law prohibits knowinglydawillfully offering, paying, soliciting, receivipor providing remuneration, directly or
indirectly, in exchange for or to induce either teéerral of an individual, or the ordering, furhisg, arranging for or recommending of an item or
service that is reimbursable, in whole or in pbayta federal health care program, such as Medmakedicaid. The federal statute has been integd
to apply to arrangements between pharmaceuticalifaeiurers on the one hand and prescribers, patipatchasers and formulary managers on the
other hand, and therefore constrains our marketiagtices and our various service arrangementsphigisicians, including physicians who make
clinical decisions to use our products. Althougéréhare a number of statutory exemptions and regylaafe harbors protecting certain common
activities from prosecution, the exemptions ane $efrbors are drawn narrowly and courts generéllyapply a “one purpose teséind find a violatiol
of the law if any part of the intent in providingetremuneration was to induce referrals, everaifsib was intended to compensate for professional
services or other legitimate purposes.

Federal false claims laws prohibit any person fiorawingly presenting, or causing to be presentddlsa claim for payment to the federal
government, or knowingly making, or causing to kedey a false statement to get a false claim paarrRaceutical companies have been prosecuted
under these laws for a variety of alleged promati@nd marketing activities, such as providing fpeeduct to customers with the expectation that the
customers would bill federal programs for the pidteporting to pricing services inflated averagelesale prices that were then used by federal
programs to set reimbursement rates; engagingom@tion for uses that the FDA has not approvedwknas “off-label’uses, that caused claims to
submitted to Medicaid for non-covered off-label sisubmitting inflated “best price” information tiee Medicaid Rebate Program; and certain
manufacturing-related violations. The scope of #nid other laws may expand in ways that make camgd more difficult and expensive.

Although physicians are permitted, based on theidical judgment, to prescribe products for indmasi other than those approved by the FDA,
manufacturers are prohibited from promoting theaducts for such offabel uses. We market KALYDECO for patients sixngeaf age and older wi
CF who have specific mutations in th€FTR gene and provide promotional materials and traipiragrams to physicians regarding the use of
KALYDECO in these patient populations. If the FDAtdrmines that our promotional materials, trairon@ther activities constitute off-label
promotion, it could request that we modify ourniag or promotional materials or other activitiesnduct corrective advertising or subject us to
regulatory enforcement actions, including the issgaof a warning letter, injunction, seizure, cfiile and criminal penalties. It also is possilbiatt
other federal, state or foreign enforcement autiesrimight take action if they believe that theeg#d improper promotion led to the submission and
payment of claims for an of&tbel use, which could result in significant firmspenalties under other statutory authoritieshsaglaws prohibiting fals
claims for reimbursement. Even if it is later datgred we were not in violation of these laws, weyrba faced with negative publicity, incur
significant expenses defending our actions and ladévert significant management resources froneotnatters.

Also applicable to some of our practices is HIPA# dés implementing regulations, which created fatleriminal laws that prohibit executing a
scheme to defraud any health care benefit programe&ing false statements relating to health caatters and which also imposes certain regulatory
and contractual requirements regarding the priveegurity and transmission of individually iderafile health information.

The majority of states also have statutes or réiguissimilar to the federal anti-kickback law gatse claims laws, which apply to items and
services reimbursed under Medicaid and other praigrams, or, in several states, apply regardieseqgayor. In addition, certain states have laws
governing the privacy of certain health informatiarich may differ from each other in significanays and often are not preempted by HIPAA,
complicating compliance efforts. Sanctions undeséhfederal and state laws may include civil magegianalties from private causes of action,
exclusion of a pharmaceutical manufacturer’s prégifrom reimbursement under government programscemndnal fines. Even if we are not
determined
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to have violated these laws, government investigatinto these issues typically require the expgareliof significant resources and generate negative
publicity, which could harm our business.

In recent years, several states and localities bageted legislation requiring pharmaceutical camgzato establish marketing compliance
programs, file periodic reports with the state @k periodic public disclosures on sales, markepniging, clinical trials, health care provider
payments and other activities. Additionally, astpéithe ACA, the federal government recently eaddhe Physician Payment Sunshine Act
provisions. The Physician Payment Sunshine Actipians require pharmaceutical manufacturers tontepmually to the Secretary of HHS payments
or other transfers of value made by that entitghygsicians and teaching hospitals. We were requédxgin reporting certain information with resg
to such payments in June 2014. We also now havilasiraporting obligations in certain European coi@s and Medicines Australia and the Eurog
Federation of Pharmaceutical Industries and Astioomrecently adopted codes that will requireaubdgin reporting such information in Australia in
2015 and throughout the European Union in 2016 eWrended significant efforts to establish, andcarginuing to devote significant resources to
maintain and enhance, systems and processes intorciemply with these regulations. Failure to ctynpith the reporting requirements would result
in significant civil monetary penalties. The AC/Asalincludes various provisions designed to streargtlignificantly fraud and abuse enforcement,
as increased funding for enforcement efforts aeddtvering of the intent requirement of the fedewatikickback statute and criminal health care fi
statute such that a person or entity no longerseetiave actual knowledge of this statute or $jgdatent to violate it.

On January 1, 2015, the EMA adopted a new policpusiication of clinical data whereby it will pubh clinical reports submitted as part of
MAAs for drugs. The policy applies to all clinicaports submitted after January 1, 2015 and thertewill be released as soon as a decision on the
application has been made by the EMA. In additmthe general compliance cost associated with ¢hepolicy, the ability of third-parties to review
the raw data from our clinical trials may incre#tse risk of patient confidentiality breaches andldaesult in enhanced scrutiny of our clinicahlsi
results. Such scrutiny could result in misconcemibeing spread about our drugs and drug candjdates if the underlying analysis of such review
turns out to be flawed. These publications coutt aésult in the disclosure of information to oampetitors that we might otherwise deem
confidential, which could harm our competitive piasi.

If our past or present operations are found tabegdlation of any such laws or any other governtakregulations that may apply to us, we may
be subject to penalties, including civil and crialipenalties, damages, fines, exclusion from fdderalth care programs and/or the curtailment or
restructuring of our operations. The risk of ouingefound in violation of these laws is increasgdtie fact that many of them have not been fully
interpreted by the regulatory authorities or thertxy and their provisions are subject to a vardtyterpretations. Any action against us for a&i@n
of these laws, even if we successfully defend agaivem, could cause us to incur significant leggdenses and divert our management’s attention
from the operation of our business.

The sales and marketing practices of our indusimetbeen the subject of increased scrutiny fronegovental entities in the United Sates and
other countries in which we market our products] &e believe that this trend will continue. We havelace policies to govern how we may retain
health care professionals as consultants thattefie current climate on this issue and are piogitraining on these policies. Any action agaimst
for violation of these laws, even if we succesgfdiéfend against them, also could cause us to siguaificant legal expenses and divert our
management’s attention from the operation of owir®ss.

Theincreasing use of social media platforms presents new risks and challenges.

Social media increasingly is being used by thirdipa to communicate about our products and druglidates and the diseases our therapies are
designed to treat. We believe that members of tfhed@@nmunity may be more active on social mediaoaspared to other patient populations due to
the demographics of this patient population. Satiatlia practices in the pharmaceutical and biotelodgy industries are evolving, which creates
uncertainty and risk of noncompliance with regulasi applicable to our business. For example, patieay use social media platforms to comment on
the effectiveness of, or adverse experiences witliug or a drug candidate, which could resuleporting obligations. In addition, there is a rigk
inappropriate disclosure of sensitive informatiomegative or inaccurate posts or comments aboah sy social networking website. If any of these
events were to occur or we otherwise fail to convath applicable regulations, we could incur lidtlyil face restrictive regulatory actions or inctiner
harm to our business.
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Risks Related to Development, Clinical Testing anBegulation of Our Products and Drug Candidates

Our drug candidates remain subject to clinical testing and regulatory approval. If we are unable to successfully develop additional drug candidates,
our business will be materially harmed.

Our business depends upon the successful develdamémrommercialization of drug candidates. Thesg dandidates are in various stages of
development and must satisfy rigorous standardafetty and efficacy before they can be approveddt® by the FDA or comparable foreign
regulatory authorities. To satisfy these standakgsmust allocate resources among our various dprednt programs and must engage in expensive
and lengthy testing of our drug candidates. Disopaad development efforts for new pharmaceuticatipcts, including new combination therapies,
are resource-intensive and may take 10 to 15 yedosnger for each drug candidate. Despite ourrtff@ur drug candidates may not:

» offer therapeutic or other improvement over exgtiompetitive drug:

* be proven safe and effective in clinical tri

¢ meet applicable regulatory standa

* be capable of being produced in commercial quastai acceptable costs

» if approved for commercial sale, be successfullykeizd as pharmaceutical produ

We have recently completed and/or have ongoindasmed clinical trials for ivacaftor, ivacaftor @@mbination with lumacaftor, and ivacaftor in
combination with VX-661. The strength of our comparmproduct portfolio and pipeline will depend erge part upon the outcomes of these clinical
trials and our ability to develop and commerciatipenbination treatments for CF that include ivamaiit combination with (i) lumacaftor or VX-661
and/or (ii) a next-generation CFTR corrector commblResults of our clinical trials and findingsrr@ur nonclinical studies, including toxicology
findings in nonclinical studies conducted concutlsewith clinical trials, could lead to abrupt chges in our development activities, including the
possible cessation of development activities assediwith a particular drug candidate or prograrorédver, clinical data are often susceptible of
varying interpretations and analyses, and many eoieg that have believed their drug candidate®pred satisfactorily in clinical trials have
nonetheless failed to obtain marketing approvaheir drug candidate. Furthermore, results fromadmical trials may not meet the level of statisfi
significance required by the FDA or other regulatauthorities for approval of a drug candidate.

Many companies in the pharmaceutical and biotedgyoindustries, including our company, have suflesiginificant setbacks in later-stage
clinical trials even after achieving promising riésin earlier-stage clinical trials. Accordingtfe results from completed preclinical studies and
clinical trials may not be replicated in later atial trials, and ongoing clinical trials for ourudy candidates may not be predictive of the resudtsnay
obtain in later-stage clinical trials or of thedlihood of approval of a drug candidate for comrzgale. In addition, from time to time we report
interim data from our clinical trials. Interim d&t@m a clinical trial may not be predictive of &ihresults from the clinical trial.

If we are unable to obtain regulatory approval, we will be unable to commercialize our drug candidates.

The time required to complete clinical trials andsatisfy the FDA and other countries’ regulatayiew processes is uncertain and typically takes
many years. Our analysis of data obtained from liv@inal and clinical activities is subject to camfiation and interpretation by regulatory authositie
which could delay, limit or prevent regulatory apyal. We also may encounter unanticipated delaysaveased costs due to government regulation
from future legislation or administrative actionairanges in governmental policy during the peribdrag development, clinical trials and
governmental regulatory review.

Any failure to obtain regulatory approvals for aigicandidate would prevent us from commercializivag drug candidate. Any delay in obtaining
required regulatory approvals could materially adely affect our ability to successfully commerizela drug candidate. Furthermore, any regulatory
approval to market a drug may be subject to linutet that we do not expect on the indicated usewliich we may market the drug. Any such
limitations could reduce the size of the markettfar drug.

We also are subject to numerous foreign regulatguirements governing the conduct of clinicallsriananufacturing and marketing
authorization, pricing and third-party reimburseméon-U.S. jurisdictions have different approval
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procedures than those required by the FDA, anctjugsdictions may impose additional testing reguients for our drug candidates. The foreign
regulatory approval process includes all of thksrigssociated with the FDA approval process desgrdbove, as well as risks attributable to the
satisfaction of foreign requirements. Approval bg FDA does not ensure approval by regulatory aittb® outside the United States and approval by
a foreign regulatory authority does not ensure eygdrby the FDA. In addition, although the FDA regcept data from clinical trials conducted
outside the United States, acceptance of thisidatabject to conditions imposed by the FDA. Faxraple, the clinical trial must be well designed and
conducted and performed by qualified investigaio@ccordance with ethical principles. The triapplation also must adequately represent the U.S.
population, and the data must be applicable tdJtise population and U.S. medical practice in wénd the FDA deems clinically meaningful. In
addition, while these clinical trials are subjextie applicable local laws, FDA acceptance ofddia will depend on its determination that thdgria
also complied with all applicable U.S. laws andulagons. If the FDA does not accept the data femy trial that we conduct outside the United St

it would likely result in the need for additionailetls, which would be costly and time-consuming dethy or permanently halt our development of the
applicable drug candidate.

We have developed multiple manufacturing process for co-formulated lumacaftor/ivacaftor, and any failure to validate our manufacturing process
could adversely affect our ability to commercially launch lumacaftor in combination with ivacaftor.

We have developed several manufacturing processg®tiuce commercial quantities of co-formulatadagaftor/ivacaftor. In addition to a
traditional batch manufacturing process, we haweld@ed a continuous manufacturing process thatexis the processes used in traditional batch
manufacturing. We have not previously designed)emented or utilized a continuous manufacturingpss to produce commercial quantities of a
pharmaceutical product and believe that we arditsiecompany to seek approval for an NDA or an MAging this method of manufacturing. As a
result, it may be more difficult to satisfy regued that our process is capable of consistentlgdyeimg commercial quantities of co-formulated
lumacaftor/ivacaftor and that our methods for testhe quality, purity and potency of the final guets are sufficient. While we believe that we doul
manufacture sufficient co-formulated lumacaftordigtior using either of our manufacturing procesadsjlure to establish and validate our
manufacturing processes for co-formulated lumac@ftaftor or any disruption in our supply chaoutd increase costs or adversely affect our ability
to commercially launch lumacaftor in combinatiortwivacaftor in a timely manner.

If clinical trials are prolonged or delayed, our development timelines for the affected development program could be extended, our costs to develop
the drug candidate could increase and the competitive position of the drug candidate could be adversely affected.

We cannot predict whether or not we will encoupteblems with any of our completed, ongoing or pkohclinical trials that will cause us or
regulatory authorities to delay or suspend clinidals, or delay the analysis of data from our pteted or ongoing clinical trials. Among the fastor
that could delay our development programs are:

* ongoing discussions with the FDA or comparableign authorities regarding the scope or desigvuofclinical trials and the number of
clinical trials we must conduct;

e delays in enrolling volunteers or patients iolioical trials, including as a result of low nunmb®f patients that meet the eligibility criteria f
the trial;

« alower than anticipated retention rate of volurge® patients in clinical trial
» the need to repeat clinical trials as a resulhobnclusive results, unforeseen complicationsstirig or clinical investigator errc
» inadequate supply or deficient quality of drug ddate materials or other materials necessary ®rctinduct of our clinical trial

« unfavorable FDA or foreign regulatory authoiitgpection and review of a manufacturing facilttat supplied clinical trial materials or its
relevant manufacturing records or a clinical tsig or records of any clinical or preclinical iistigation;

* unfavorable scientific results from clinical tri;
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* serious and unexpected drug-related side-eféeqisrienced by participants in our clinical triatsby participants in clinical trials being
conducted by our competitors to evaluate drug caids with similar mechanisms of action or struetuo drug candidates that we are
developing;

« favorable results in testing of our competitaiglg candidates, or FDA or foreign regulatory autly approval of our competitors’ drug
candidates; or

« action by the FDA or a foreign regulatory authoto place a clinical hold or partial clinical kdoon a trial or compound or deeming the
clinical trial conduct as problematic.

Our ability to enroll patients in our clinical ti&in sufficient numbers and on a timely basisuisjsct to a number of factors, including the size o
the patient population, the nature of the protottw, proximity of patients to clinical sites, theadability of effective treatments for the relevan
disease, the number of other clinical trials onga@nd competing for patients in the same indicatiod the eligibility criteria for the clinical tlian
addition, patients may drop out of our clinicaatsi or may be lost to follow-up medical evaluatiter treatment ends, and this could impair the
validity or statistical significance of the triaBelays in patient enroliment or unforeseen droprates may result in increased costs and longer
development times.

We, our collaborators, the FDA or other applicallgulatory authorities may suspend clinical trizfls& drug candidate at any time if we or they
believe the healthy volunteers or patients paditiiig in such clinical trials are being exposedniacceptable health risks or for other reasons. For
example, in July 2013, the FDA placed a partialichl hold on VX-135, a drug candidate we were ¢igyiag for the treatment of patients with
hepatitis C virus infection. Any such suspensionldonaterially adversely affect the developmena glarticular drug candidate and our business.

If our processes and systems are not compliant with regulatory requirements, we could be subject to restrictions on marketing our products or could
be delayed in submitting regulatory filings seeking approvals for our drug candidates.

We have a number of regulated processes and sy#tatare required to obtain and maintain reguadmproval for our drugs and drug
candidates. These processes and systems are doljeatinual review and periodic inspection by Bi2A and other regulatory bodies. In addition,
clinical research organizations and other thirdipsithat we work with in our non-clinical studisd clinical trials and our oversight of such pesti
are subject to similar reviews and periodic insjpecby the FDA and other regulatory bodies. If cdiamre issues are identified at any point in the
development and approval process, we may experiglags in filing for regulatory approval for ourud) candidates, or delays in obtaining regulatory
approval after filing. Any later discovery of preuisly unknown problems or safety issues with appiladrugs or manufacturing processes, or failu
comply with regulatory requirements, may resultéstrictions on such drugs or manufacturing preegssithdrawal of drugs from the market, the
imposition of civil or criminal penalties or a resfal by the FDA and/or other regulatory bodies torape pending applications for marketing approval
of new drugs or supplements to approved applicatiany of which could have a material adverse effemur business. In addition, we are a party to
agreements that transfer responsibility for compywith specified regulatory requirements, suckle® and maintenance of marketing authorizati
and safety reporting or compliance with manufacwirequirements, to our collaborators and thirdyparanufacturers. If our collaborators or third-
party manufacturers do not fulfill these regulatobligations, any drugs for which we or they obtafproval may be subject to later restrictions on
manufacturing or sale, which could have a matadlierse effect on our business.

Risks Related to Collaborations and other Busined3evelopment Activities

Our ability to execute on our long-term strategy dependsin part on our ability to acquire rights to additional drugs, drug candidates and other
technologies that have the potential to add to our pipeline or provide uswith new commercial opportunities.

In order to achieve our long-term business objestiour strategy is to supplement our internallpipéy acquiring rights to additional drugs,
drug candidates and other technologies that havpdtential to provide us with new commercial opoities. In particular, we are focusing on drug
candidates for the treatment of patients with Cé ather thirdparty drug candidates that could be developeddeciglty markets. We may not be a
to acquire, in-license or otherwise obtain rigbtadditional drugs, drug candidates or other teldyies on acceptable terms or at all. We have faced
and will continue to face significant competitiar these types of drugs, drug candidates and tglhnologies from a variety of other companies with
interests in the specialty pharmaceutical markeglenany of which have significantly more finaneiedources and experience in business
development activities than we have. In additiam-profit organizations may be
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willing to provide capital to the companies thahtol additional drugs, drug candidates or techgiels, which may provide incentives for companies
to advance these drugs, drug candidates or teajieslmdependently. Because of these competitiesspires, the cost of acquiring, in-licensing or
otherwise obtaining rights to such drugs, drug @atés or other technologies has grown dramatidgalhgcent years and may be at levels that we
cannot afford or that we believe are not justifigdmarket potential. This competition is most irsterfior approved drugs and latge drug candidat
which have the lowest risk and would have the rnmostediate effect on our financial performance.

We may not realize the anticipated benefits of potential acquisitions or licenses to businesses, drugs, drug candidates and other technologies, and the
integration following any such acquisition or license may disrupt our business and management.

If we acquire a business or the rights to additiainags, drug candidates or other technologiesmag not realize the anticipated benefits of any
such transaction, each of which involves numer@ksr These risks include:

» failure to successfully further develop the dceg or licensed drugs or technology or to achigvategic objectives, including successfully
developing and commercializing the drugs, drug @atds or technologies that we acquire or license;

* inadequate or unfavorable data from clinical tralaluating the acquired or licensed drug or draugd@dates
« entry into markets in which we have no or limitegedt prior experience or where competitors in songrkets have stronger market positi
« disruption of our ongoing business and distractibaur management and employees from other oppitigsrand challenge

e potential failure of the due diligence procedseislentify significant problems, liabilities other shortcomings or challenges of an acquired
company, or acquired or licensed product or teamglincluding but not limited to, problems, ligtiés or other shortcomings or challenges
with respect to intellectual property, product giyakafety, accounting practices, employee, custoon third party relations and other known
and unknown liabilities;

< liability for activities of the acquired company licensor before the acquisition or licenseluding intellectual property infringement claims,
violations of laws, commercial disputes, tax ligkgk, and other known and unknown liabilities;

» exposure to litigation or other claims in conti@t with, or inheritance of claims or litigatioisk as a result of an acquisition or license,
including but not limited to, claims from termindtemployees, customers, former equity holderstograhird-parties;

« difficulty in integrating the drugs, drug candidgtéechnologies, business operations and persohaal acquired company; &

« difficulties in the integration of the acquiredmpany’s departments, systems, including accogntinman resource and other administrative
systems, technologies, books and records, and guoeg, as well as in maintaining uniform standacdstrols, including internal control over
financial reporting required by the Sarbanes-OxXeyof 2002 and related procedures and policies.

Acquisitions and licensing arrangements are inhigreisky, and ultimately, if we do not complete announced acquisition or license transaction
or integrate an acquired business, or an acquirédemsed drug, drug candidate or other technokgycessfully and in a timely manner, we may not
realize the benefits of the acquisition or licettséhe extent anticipated and the perception oeffertiveness of our management team and our
company may suffer in the marketplace. Additionally may later incur impairment charges relatealstsets acquired in any such transaction. For
example, we acquired or licensed several drug dates for the treatment of HCV infection, but do@dverse clinical data regarding these drug
candidates and competitive pressures, we incurgadfisant costs and impairment charges but didreatize the expected benefits from these
transactions. In addition, even if we achieve tirgtterm benefits associated with strategic tratitsas, our expenses and short-term costs may
increase materially and adversely affect our ligyidnd short-term net income (loss). Future ligansr acquisitions could result in potentially tite
issuances of equity securities, the incurrence
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of debt, the creation of contingent liabilities gairment expenses related to goodwill, and impaitroe amortization expenses related to other
intangible assets, which could harm our financialdition.

We facerisksin connection with existing and future collaborations with respect to the development, manufacture and commercialization of our
products and drug candidates.

The risks that we face in connection with our cari@nd any future collaborations include the foilogv

*  Our collaborators may change the focus of theuwelopment and commercialization efforts or mayehiasufficient resources to effectively
develop our drug candidates. The ability of somewfproducts and drug candidates to reach théémpial could be limited if collaborators
decrease or fail to increase development or comalation efforts related to those products orgdeandidates. Our collaboration
agreements provide our collaborators with a leveliscretion in determining the amount and timiriggfforts and resources that they will
apply to these collaborations.

« Any future collaboration agreements may haveefffect of limiting the areas of research and deelent that we may pursue, either alone or
in collaboration with third parties.

* Collaborators may develop and commercializéegiblone or with others, drugs that are similasrtcompetitive with the drugs or drug
candidates that are the subject of their collalmmatwith us.

« Disagreements with collaborators, including gre@ments over proprietary rights, contract intetation or the preferred course of
development, might cause delays or terminatiomefresearch, development or commercialization od dandidates, might lead to additio
responsibilities for us with respect to drug camatiéd, or might result in litigation or arbitratiolny such disagreements would divert
management attention and resources and be timesmamg and expensive.

» Collaborators may not properly maintain or defewr intellectual property rights or may use orgppietary information in such a way as to
invite litigation that could jeopardize or invaligsour intellectual property or proprietary infortioa or expose us to potential litigation.

» Collaborators may infringe the intellectual progerghts of third parties, which may expose ustigdtion and potential liability

» Investigations and/or compliance or enforcenaations against a collaborator, which may expode udirect liability as a result of our
partnership with such collaborator.

e Our collaboration agreements are subject to tertioinander various circumstanc

Additionally, if a collaborator were to be involvéda business combination, it might deemphasizeroninate the development or
commercialization of any drug candidate licenseit by us. If one of our collaborators terminatissagreement with us, we may find it more difficult
to attract new collaborators and our perceptiothébusiness and financial communities could benkdr

We may not be able to attract collaborators or external funding for the development and commercialization of certain of our drug candidates.

As part of our ongoing strategy, we may seek anldti collaborative arrangements or external fundamgertain of our development programs
and/or seek to expand existing collaborations tecadditional commercialization and/or developreetivities. We have a number of research
programs and early-stage clinical development puog; some of which are being developed in collafwravith a third party. For example, in June
2014, we granted Janssen Pharmaceuticals, Inxciusive worldwide license to develop and comméimeaV/X-787, a drug candidate discovered by
us for the treatment of influenza. At any time, mvay determine that in order to continue developroéatdrug candidate or program or successfully
commercialize a drug we need to identify a collabmr or amend or expand an existing collaborat@hether we reach a definitive agreement for a
collaboration will depend, among other things, upanassessment of the collaborator’s resourceggpertise, the terms and conditions of the
proposed collaboration and the proposed collabosagwaluation of a number of factors. Those faxtoay include the design or results of clinical
trials, the likelihood of approval by the FDA omslar regulatory authorities outside the Unitedt&tathe potential market for the subject drug
candidate, the costs and complexities of manufaxfiand delivering such drug candidate to patiehes,
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potential of competing products, the existencermmfentainty with respect to our ownership of theligaple intellectual property, which can exist if
there is a challenge to such ownership withoutnieg@mthe merits of the challenge, and industry anadket conditions generally. Potentially, and
depending on the circumstances, we may desiratballaborator either agree to fund portions ofiggdlevelopment program led by us, or agree to
provide all of the funding and directly lead thevdl®pment and commercialization of a program. Nsugsnce can be given that any efforts we ma
seek additional collaborative arrangements wilsbecessfully completed on a timely basis or atfalle elect to fund and undertake development or
commercialization activities on our own, we maydhé&eobtain additional expertise and additionalitshpvhich may not be available to us on
acceptable terms or at all. If we are unable tereinto acceptable collaborative relationships, onmore of our development programs could be
delayed or terminated and the possibility of owereing a return on our investment in the programld be impaired.

Risks Related to Third-Party Manufacturing and Reliance on Third Parties

We depend on third-party manufacturersto manufacture our products and the materials we require for our clinical trials. We may not be able to
maintain these relationships and could experience supply disruptions outside of our control.

We rely on a worldwide network of third-party maactfurers to manufacture and distribute our drugsdomercial use and our drug candidates
for clinical trials. As a result of our reliance trese third-party manufacturers and supplierdudicg a sole source supplier of one of the comptme
in our products, we could be subject to significauppply disruptions outside of our control. Ourmypchain for sourcing raw materials and
manufacturing drug product ready for distributisraimulti-step international endeavor. Third-padptract manufacturers, including some in China,
supply us with raw materials, and convert thesemeaterials into drug substance and convert the gabgtance into final dosage form. Establishing
and managing this global supply chain requiregaitant financial commitment and the creation amaintenance of numerous thipasty contractus
relationships. Although we attempt to manage tre@rass relationships with companies in our suppbirg we do not have control over their
operations.

Supply disruptions may result from a number ofdastincluding shortages in product raw materialsor or technical difficulties, regulatory
inspections or restrictions, shipping or customayeor any other performance failure by any thgedty manufacturer on which we rely. Any supply
disruptions could disrupt sales of our productdanthe timing of our clinical trials. Furthermorge may be required to modify our production
methods to permit us to economically manufacturedougs for sale and our drug candidates for dintigals. These modifications may require us to
re-evaluate our resources and the resources ahidsparty manufacturers, which could result imugdd changes in our production methods and
supplies.

We require a supply of ivacaftor for commerciaks@s KALYDECO), and if we successfully obtain netikg approval for lumacaftor in
combination with ivacaftor, we will require a commi@l supply of lumacaftor in combination with iaftor. We also require a supply of ivacaftor,
lumacaftor, VX-661 and our other drug candidatesufe in our clinical trials. We obtain ivacafterddumacaftor (and the combinations thereof) to
meet our commercial and clinical supply needs thhoa third-party manufacturing network. Our supgiain for KALYDECO and lumacaftor in
combination with ivacaftor includes a sole soungepdier of one of the components in our productsligkuption in the commercial supply of
KALYDECO, or lumacaftor in combination with ivacaft if we successfully obtain marketing approvaldach combination, would have a signific
effect on patients, our business and our prodwetmaes. A disruption in the clinical supply of dqugducts could delay the completion of clinical
trials and affect timelines for regulatory filingehere can be no assurance that we will be ab#stablish and maintain secondary manufactureralffor
of our ivacaftor or lumacaftor supply needs omaety basis or at all.

In the course of providing its services, a contraahufacturer may develop process technology tlatéhe manufacture of our products or drug
candidates that the manufacturer owns, either imgegntly or jointly with us. This would increase oeliance on that manufacturer or require us to
obtain a license from that manufacturer in orderdee our products or drug candidates manufactoyesther suppliers utilizing the same process.

We rely on third partiesto conduct certain pre-clinical work and clinical trials, and those third parties may not perform satisfactorily, including
failing to meet established deadlines for the completion of such studies and/or trials or failing to satisfy regulatory requirements.

We rely on third parties such as contract researganizations to help manage certain pre-cliniaadkvand our clinical trials and on medical
institutions and clinical investigators to enraliajfied patients and conduct our clinical triar
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reliance on these third parties for clinical deypatent activities reduces our control over theswities but does not relieve us of our respondiksi.
For example, we remain responsible for ensuringahah of our clinical trials is conducted in adamce with the general investigational plan and
protocols for the clinical trial. Moreover, the FDAquires us to comply with standards, commonlgmrefd to as good laboratory practices and good
clinical practices for conducting, recording angdaeing the results of pre-clinical and clinicahts to assure that data and reported resultsradgbte
and accurate and that the rights, integrity andidentiality of trial participants are protectedltiese third parties do not successfully carrytbatr
contractual duties or meet expected deadlines, aelma required to replace them. Although we belibe¢ there are a number of other third-party
contractors we could engage to continue theseiesivit may result in a delay of the affectedhidal trial or drug development program. If clinica
trials are not conducted in accordance with outre@itual expectations or regulatory requiremerndspa by regulatory authorities might significantly
and adversely affect the conduct or progress afetledinical trials or in specific circumstances htigesult in a requirement that a clinical trial be
redone. Accordingly, our efforts to obtain regutsitapprovals for and commercialize our drug cangisi@ould be delayed.

Risks Related to Intellectual Property
If our patents do not protect our drugs, or our drugsinfringe third-party patents, we could be subject to litigation and substantial liabilities.

We have numerous issued patents and pending giplications in the United States, as well as cenpatrts in other countries. Our success will
depend, in significant part, on our ability to dbtand defend U.S. and foreign patents coveringdougs, their uses and our processes, to presarve o
trade secrets and to operate without infringingpttaprietary rights of third parties. We cannotceetain that any patents will issue from our pegdin
patent applications or, even if patents issue e lissued, that the issued claims will provide ith &ny adequate protection against competitive
products or otherwise be commercially valuable.

Due to evolving legal standards relating to theeptbility, validity and enforceability of paterasvering pharmaceutical inventions and the scope
of claims made under these patents, our abilightain, maintain and enforce patents is uncertaihiavolves complex legal and factual questions.
Recent patent reform legislation could increaseautieertainties and costs surrounding the prosetuofiour patent applications and the enforceme
defense of our issued patents in the U.S. The L-&high America Invents Act, or the Leahy-Smith Aagludes a number of significant changes to
United States patent law. These include provisibasaffect the way patent applications are prosecand may also affect patent litigation. The
United States Patent Office recently developed regulations and procedures to govern administratfdhe Leahy-Smith Act, and many of the
substantive changes to patent law associated gthéahy-Smith Act, and in particular, the firsfite provisions, only became effective in March
2013. The first to file provisions limit the right$ an inventor who is the first to invent an intien but is not the first to file an applicatiorashing
that invention. U.S. and foreign patent applicatitypically are maintained in confidence for a pdrof time after they initially are filed with the
applicable patent office. Consequently, we caneatdrtain that we were the first to invent, orfilh& to file patent applications on, our produets
drug candidates or their use. If a third party &lae filed a U.S. patent application relating to duwgs or drug candidates, their uses, or a simila
invention, we may have to participate in interfere@proceedings to determine priority of inventiow @ould lose our patent position. For applications
governed by the Lahey-Smith Act, if a third-pargstan earlier filed U.S. patent application retatim our drugs or drug candidates, their uses, or a
similar invention, we may be unable to obtain auél patent from our application.

The issuance of a patent is not conclusive as tiovientorship, scope, validity or enforceabili®ur patents may be challenged by third parties,
resulting in the patent being deemed invalid, uosrgable or narrowed in scope, or the third pary circumvent any such issued patents. Also, our
pending patent applications may not issue, and & mot receive any additional patents. Our patenght not contain claims that are sufficiently
broad to prevent others from utilizing our techigiés. For instance, the issued patents relatimgitarugs or drug candidates may be limited to a
particular molecule or molecules and may not ceumilar molecules that have similar clinical prapes. Consequently, our competitors may
independently develop competing products that danfionge our patents or other intellectual pragem addition, if the breadth or strength of
protection provided by our patents and patent appiins is threatened, it could dissuade compdroes collaborating with us to license, develop or
commercialize current or future products.

The laws of many foreign jurisdictions do not paitietellectual property rights to the same extnin the United States and many companies in
our segment of the pharmaceutical industry havewmtered significant difficulties in protecting addfending such rights in foreign jurisdictions. If
we encounter such difficulties in protecting or ateerwise
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precluded from effectively protecting our intellgat property rights in foreign jurisdictions, ourdiness could be substantially harmed.

Because of the extensive time required for theodisry, development, testing and regulatory reviéarag candidates, it is possible that, a patent
may expire before a drug candidate can be comniigemiaor a patent may expire or remain in foraedoly a short period following
commercialization of such drug candidate resulting minimal, if any, period of patent exclusiviiyo the extent our drug candidates are not
commercialized significantly ahead of the expimatilate of any applicable patent, or to the extenheve no patent protection on such drug
candidates, then, to the extent available we woelidon other forms of exclusivity, such as regotgtexclusivity provided by the FDCA and its
counterpart agencies in various jurisdictions, andfphan drug exclusivity.

Uncertainty over intellectual property in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industry has been the source of litigation and other disputes, which
isinherently costly and unpredictable.

There is considerable uncertainty within our indusbout the validity, scope and enforceabilitymany issued patents in the United States and
elsewhere in the world, and, to date, the law aadtjce remains in substantial flux both in therages that grant patents and in the courts. Weatann
currently determine the ultimate scope and validitpatents which may be granted to third partiethée future or which patents might be asserted as
being infringed by the manufacture, use and satgioproducts.

There has been, and we expect that there may ceritinbe, significant litigation in the industrygezding patents and other intellectual property
rights. Litigation, arbitrations, administrativeqeeedings and other legal actions with privateigaend governmental authorities concerning patents
and other intellectual property rights may be @otied, expensive and distracting to managementpéttors may sue us as a way of delaying the
introduction of our drugs or to remove our drugsrirthe market. Any litigation, including litigatioelated to Abbreviated New Drug Applications, or
ANDA, interference proceedings to determine prjoat inventions, derivations proceeding#®er partes review, oppositions to patents in foreign
countries, litigation against our collaboratorsionilar actions, may be costly and time consumimd @ould harm our business. We expect that
litigation may be necessary in some instancest@raiéne the validity and scope of certain of owpietary rights. Litigation may be necessary in
other instances to determine the validity, scopeonr-infringement of certain patent rights claintgcthird parties to be pertinent to the manufacgture
use or sale of our products. Ultimately, the outearfisuch litigation could adversely affect theidi&y and scope of our patent or other proprietary
rights, hinder our ability to manufacture and maiker products, or result in the assessment offgignt monetary damages against us that may
exceed amounts, if any, accrued in our financetkesbhents.

To the extent that valid present or future thpaity patents or other intellectual property rigtdser our drugs, drug candidates or technologie
or our strategic collaborators may seek licenseglwr agreements from the holders of such rightsder to avoid or settle legal claims. Such gz
may not be available on acceptable terms, which hivager our ability to, or prevent us from beindeatn, manufacture and market our drugs.
Payments under any licenses that we are able &nolvbuld reduce our profits derived from the cageproducts.

We may be subject to claims by third parties asserting that our employees or we have misappropriated their intellectual property, or claiming
ownership of what we regard as our own intellectual property.

Many of our employees were previously employedrétersities or other biotechnology or pharmaceultompanies, including our competitors
potential competitors. Although we try to ensuratthur employees do not use the proprietary inftionar know-how of others in their work for us,
we may be subject to claims that these employeeg&drave used or disclosed intellectual propengiuiding trade secrets or other proprietary
information, of any such employee’s former employgtigation may be necessary to defend againseotaims.

In addition, while it is our policy to require oemployees and contractors who may be involvederdévelopment of intellectual property to
execute agreements assigning such intellectuakptpfo us, we may be unsuccessful in executing smcagreement with each party who in fact
develops intellectual property that we regard asomn. Our and their assignment agreements mapeself-executing or may be breached, and we
may be forced to bring claims against third partiegdefend claims they may bring against us, terdgine the ownership of what we regard as our
intellectual property.
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If we fail in prosecuting or defending any suchirtls, in addition to paying monetary damages, we losg valuable intellectual property rights
personnel. Even if we are successful in prosecuimdgfending against such claims, litigation cawsult in substantial costs and be a distraction t
management.

Risks Related To Our Operations
If we fail to manage our operations effectively, our business may suffer.

We have expanded and are continuing to expandlobalgoperations and capabilities, which has plaaed will continue to place, significant
demands on our management and our operationadrobsand development and financial infrastructliceeffectively manage our business, we need
to:

« implement and clearly communicate our corpoveite strategie:
e enhance our operational and financial infrastrigtimcluding our controls over records and infoiinrg

« enhance our operational, financial and manageprecesses, including our cross-functional denisiaking processes and our budget
prioritization systems;

« train and manage our global employee

« transition from a U.S.-centric company into agamization capable of developing and commerciadiznultiple drug candidates in
international markets; and

¢ enhance our compliance and legal resou
Risks associated with operating in foreign countries could materially adver sely affect our business.

We have expanded our international operations theepast several years in order to market KALYDE@f@pare to market lumacaftor in
combination with ivacaftor, if approved, and expanud research and development capabilities. In 2@Btbstantial portion of our revenues and
expenses were associated with our foreign opematidew laws and industry codes in the European tJaia elsewhere have recently expanded
transparency requirements regarding payments andférs of value as well as patient-level clinicial data, which will add to our compliance costs
and expose us to potential sanctions for failingneet the enhanced reporting demands in thesdigtiems. In addition, a significant portion of our
commercial supply chain, including sourcing of naaterials and manufacturing, is located in Chinditéwe European Union. Consequently, we are,
and will continue to be, subject to risks relatedperating in foreign countries. Risks associatiéld conducting operations in foreign countries
include:

» differing regulatory requirements for drug appravahd regulation of approved drugs in foreign coes
» collectibility of accounts receivab

* unexpected changes in tariffs, trade barriers agdlatory requiremen

* economic weakness, including inflation, or politicestability in particular foreign economies aneukets

« complying with local laws and regulations, whinte interpreted and enforced differently acrossdictions and which can change
significantly over time;

« foreign taxes, including withholding of payroll &s

» foreign currency fluctuations, which could resolreduced revenues or increased operating eegeasd other obligations incident to doing
business or operating in another country;

» workforce uncertainty in countries where labor shie more common than in the United St
* import and export licensing requirements, tariffisg other trade and travel restrictic

* production shortages resulting from any eventscéiffg raw material supply or manufacturing capébsi abroad; ar
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¢ business interruptions resulting from gaalitical actions, including war and terroris

Our revenues are subject to foreign exchange lattuftions due to the global nature of our opereti Although we have foreign currency
forward contracts to hedge forecasted product neegidenominated in foreign currencies, our effart®duce currency exchange losses may not be
successful. As a result, currency fluctuations agnour reporting currency, the U.S. dollar, anddbgencies in which we do business will affect our
operating results, often in unpredictable ways.

In addition, our international operations are sabjfe regulation under U.S. law. For example, tbeelgn Corrupt Practices Act prohibits U.S.
companies and their representatives from offengmising, authorizing or making payments to fonedficials for the purpose of obtaining or
retaining business abroad. In many countries, #adth care professionals we regularly interact withy meet the definition of a foreign government
official for purposes of the Foreign Corrupt Praeti Act. We also are subject to import/export adnaws. Failure to comply with domestic or foreign
laws could result in various adverse consequetinesiding the possible delay in approval or refusahpprove a product, recalls, seizures, withdrawa
of an approved product from the market, the impasiof civil or criminal sanctions, the prosecutiohexecutives overseeing our international
operations and corresponding bad publicity and tngaerception of our company in foreign countries

Our business has a substantial risk of product liability claims. |f we do not obtain appropriate levels of insurance, product liability claims could
adversely affect our business.

Our business exposes us to significant potentadywet liability risks that are inherent in the dieyenent, clinical testing, manufacturing and sales
and marketing of drugs and drug candidates. We peaauct liability insurance and clinical trial smance in amounts that we believe are adequate to
cover this risk. However, our insurance may notje adequate coverage against all potential lissl If a claim is brought against us, we migat b
required to pay legal and other expenses to ddfendlaim, as well as pay uncovered damage awaststing from a claim brought successfully
against us and these damages could be significantave a material adverse effect on our finar@adition. Furthermore, whether or not we are
ultimately successful in defending any such claiwes might be required to direct significant finaal@and managerial resources to such defense and
adverse publicity is likely to result.

A breakdown or breach of our information technology systems could subject usto liability or interrupt the operation of our business.

We maintain and rely extensively on informationhtealogy systems and network infrastructures foretffective operation of our business. A
disruption, infiltration or failure of our inform@tn technology systems or any of our data centesr@sult of software or hardware malfunctions,
computer viruses, cyber attacks, employee theftisuse, power disruptions, natural disasters, 8amdaccidents could cause breaches of data securit
and loss of critical data, which in turn could miethy adversely affect our business and subjedbusoth private and governmental causes of action.
While we have implemented security measures int@mat to minimize these risks to our data andrimfation technology systems, there can be no
assurance that our efforts will prevent breakdoamisreaches in our systems that could adversedgadfur business.

If we fail to attract and retain skilled employees, our business could be materially harmed.

Because our drug discovery and development aetivare highly technical in nature, we require grgises of highly qualified and trained
scientists who have the skills necessary to conithese activities. In addition, we need to atteam retain employees with experience in marketimd
commercialization of medicines. We face intense patition for our personnel from our competitors atider companies throughout our industry. We
also experience competition for the hiring of stifemand clinical personnel from universities amdearch institutions. Moreover, the growth of loca
biotechnology companies and the expansion of njarmaceutical companies into the Boston area imaveased competition for the available pool
of skilled employees, especially in technical feglend the high cost of living in Massachusettsesakdifficult to attract employees from othertgar
of the country to Massachusetts. In addition, octoBer 2013 restructuring activities may make irendifficult to attract and retain qualified
employees. Our ability to commercialize our produend achieve our research and development olgsctiepends on our ability to respond
effectively to these demands. If we are unablar® d&nd retain qualified personnel, there could lmeaterial adverse effect on our business.
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The loss of the services of key employees or the failure to effectively integrate key employees could negatively affect our business.

Our future success will depend in large part onahility to retain the services of our key scidotdnd management personnel and to integrate
scientific and management personnel into our bgsing loss of key personnel or a failure to properegrate new personnel could be disruptive. We
have entered into employment agreements with so@euéves and provide compensation-related benefigdl of our key employees that vest over
time and therefore induce them to remain with uswelver, the employment agreements can be termitgtéue executive on relatively short notice.
The value to employees of stock-related benefishst over time—such as options and restricetkstis significantly affected by movements in
our stock price, and may at any point in time tsfficient to counteract more lucrative offers frother companies. A failure to retain, as well &s,|
train and effectively integrate into our organieata sufficient number of qualified scientists, fpesionals, sales personnel and senior management
would negatively affect our business.

If we do not comply with laws regulating the protection of the environment and health and human safety, our business could be adversely affected.

Our research and development efforts involve theleted use of hazardous materials, chemicals aridus controlled and radioactive
compounds. Although we believe that our safety @doces for handling and disposing of these maseciainply with the standards prescribed by s
federal and foreign regulations, the risk of lo§soo accidental contamination or injury from, thewsaterials cannot be eliminated. If an accident
occurs, we could be held liable for resultotgmages, which could be substantial. We also dnjesuto numerous environmental, health and wokeg
safety laws and regulations, including those gowertaboratory procedures, exposure to blood-bpateogens and the handling of biohazardous
materials. Although we maintain workers’ comperwatnsurance to cover us for costs we may incurtduejuries to our employees resulting from
the use of these materials, this insurance mapmide adequate coverage against potential ltadsliWWe maintain insurance to cover pollution
conditions or other extraordinary or unanticipateednts relating to our use and disposal of hazardmterials that we believe is appropriate based on
the small amount of hazardous materials we genekduitional federal, state and local laws and tatjons affecting our operations may be adopte
the future. We may incur substantial costs to cgmpth, and substantial fines or penalties if welaie, any of these laws or regulations.

If our facilities were to experience a catastrophic loss, our operations would be serioudly harmed.

Most of our operations, including our research dedelopment activities, are conducted in a limitechber of facilities. If any of our major
facilities were to experience a catastrophic ldsg, to a fire, earthquake or similar event, ouragens could be seriously harmed. For example, our
corporate headquarters, as well as additional desygace that we use for certain logistical andriatooy operations and manufacturing, are locate in
flood zone along the Massachusetts coast. Any Essles at our facilities could disrupt our operagiand result in a significant disruption in our
research, development, manufacturing and/or comalexctivities, the loss or critical data and/aigka expenses to repair or replace the facility ciwhi
would have a material adverse effect on our busines

Risks Related to Holding Our Common Stock and Finacing Activities

Our indebtedness could materially and adversely affect our financial condition, and the terms of our credit agreement impose restrictions on our
business, reducing our operational flexibility and creating default risks.

In July 2014, we entered into a credit agreemeattpghovides for a $300.0 million senior secureditévan. We are required to repay principal on
the loan in installments of $15.0 million per qearfrom October 1, 2015 through July 1, 2016 andstallments of $60.0 million per quarter from
October 1, 2016 through July 9, 2017.

Our indebtedness could have important consequeaaas business, including increasing our vulndityttio general adverse financial, business,
economic and industry conditions, as well as othetors that are beyond our control. In October®2@le will be required to begin repayment of the
principal amount of our indebtedness, thereby rieduthe availability of future cash flows to funarking capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions,
research and development efforts and other gecerabrate purposes.

The credit agreement requires that we maintairg quarterly basis, a minimum level of KALYDECO mevenues. Further, the credit agreement
includes negative covenants, subject to excepti@ssricting or limiting our ability and the abitibf our subsidiaries to, among other things, incur
additional indebtedness, grant liens, engage iiceinvestment,
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acquisition and disposition transactions, pay diads, repurchase capital stock and enter intoactiosis with affiliates. As a result, we may be
restricted from engaging in business activities thay otherwise improve our business. Failure togy with the covenants could result in an ever
default that could trigger acceleration of our ibgkeiness, which would require us to repay all art®awing under the credit agreement and/or our
capital leases and could have a material advefseten our business.

Additionally, our obligations under the credit agimeent are unconditionally guaranteed by certaiouofdomestic subsidiaries. All obligations
under the credit agreement, and the guaranteé®sé bbligations, are secured, subject to certaiapions, by substantially all of our assets drd t
assets of all guarantors, including the pledgelafraa portion of the equity interests of certafrour subsidiaries. If we fail to satisfy our @ations
under the credit agreement or are unable to obtéfitient funds to make payments, the lendersdtfareclose on our pledged collateral.

Our stock price may fluctuate.

Market prices for securities of companies suchuas are highly volatile. From January 1, 2014 te®eber 31, 2014, our common stock traded
between $59.79 and $124.35 per share. The manketifastock, like that of other companies in thetéthnology industry, has experienced significant
price and volume fluctuations. The future markétgof our securities could be significantly andedely affected by factors such as:

e the information contained in our quarterly eags releases, including our net product revenuéoparating expenses for completed periods
and guidance regarding future periods;

« announcements of FDA actions with respect todougs or our competitorsirugs, or regulatory filings for our drug candidate those of ou
competitors, or announcements of interim or fimalults of clinical trials or nonclinical studiedating to our drugs, drug candidates or those
of our competitors;

e prescription data and other information disclosgdhird parties regarding our business or prod
« technological innovations or the introduction ofwérugs by our competitol
e government regulatory actic
* public concern as to the safety of drugs develdpeds or our competitol
e developments in patent or other intellectual propeghts or announcements relating to these g
« developments in domestic and international goventaigolicy or regulation, for example, relatingimbellectual property right
» developments relating specifically to other comparand market conditions for pharmaceutical antebimology stocks or stocks in gene
* business development, capital structuring or fiiragectivities; an
» general worldwide or national economic, politicatlacapital market conditior
Our quarterly operating results are subject to significant fluctuation.

Our operating results have fluctuated from quadejquarter in the past, and we expect that thelyowiitinue to do so in the future. Factors that
have caused quarterly fluctuations in the pastishelvariable amounts of revenues, impairment cisadgrges for excess and obsolete inventories,
changes in the fair value of derivative instrumeartd the deconsolidation of Alios. We cannot adelygredict our future revenues from our prodt
and our revenues from our products could vary qoaterly basis. Our revenues from our products beagffected by, among other factors, the tin
of orders from our significant customers. Our raxenalso are subject to foreign exchange rateutiticins due to the global nature of our operations.
Although we have foreign currency forward contraotbedge forecasted product revenues denominatiedgign currencies, our efforts to reduce
currency exchange losses may not be successfal résult, currency fluctuations among our reportingency, the U.S. dollar, and the currencies in
which we do business may affect our operating tesoften in unpredictable ways. Our quarterly lssalso could be materially affected by signifit
charges, which may or may not be similar to chargesave experienced in the past. Most of our djpgy@xpenses relate
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to our research and development activities, dovant directly with the amount of revenues and afigcdlt to adjust in the short term. As a resitt,
revenues in a particular quarter are below expecistwe are unlikely to reduce operating expepsegortionately for that quarter. These examples
are only illustrative and other risks, including@$le discussed in these “Risk Factors,” could adase fluctuations in our reported financial resultsr
operating results during any one period do not seadly suggest the results of future periods.

We expect that results from our clinical development activities and the clinical development activities of our competitors will continue to be released
periodically, and may result in significant volatility in the price of our common stock.

Any new information regarding our products and decagdidates or competitive products or potentiedignpetitive drug candidates can
substantially affect investors’ perceptions regagdiur future prospects. We, our collaborators@mdcompetitors periodically provide updates
regarding drug development programs, typically tigfopress releases, conference calls and presergtati medical conferences. These periodic
updates often include interim or final results frolimical trials conducted by us or our competitangl/or information about our or our competitors’
expectations regarding regulatory filings and sdsions as well as future clinical development affmeducts or drug candidates, competitive
products or potentially competitive drug candidalé®e timing of the release of information by ugaeling our drug development programs is often
beyond our control and is influenced by the timafigeceipt of data from our clinical trials and thye general preference among pharmaceutical
companies to disclose clinical data during medicalferences. In addition, the information discloabdut our clinical trials, or our competitors’
clinical trials, may be based on interim rathentfiaal data that may involve interpretation ditfites and may in any event not accurately prefitiet
results.

We could be negatively affected by securities class action complaints.

On May 28, 2014, a purported shareholder classractcal No. 8 IBEW Retirement Plan & Trust v. Vertex Pharmaceutical s Incorporated, et al.
was filed in the United States District Court fhetDistrict of Massachusetts, naming us and cedfagur current and former officers and direct@ss a
defendants. The lawsuit alleged that we made nahtmisrepresentations and/or omissions of mat&adlin our disclosures during the period from
May 7, 2012 through May 29, 2012, all in violatiohSection 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act@34, as amended, and Rule 10b-5 promulgated
thereunder. The purported class consists of afiqrer (excluding defendants) who purchased our canmstuzk between May 7, 2012 and May 29,
2012. The plaintiffs seek unspecified monetary dggsacosts and attorneys’ fees as well as disgageai the proceeds from certain individual
defendantssales of our stock. On October 8, 2014, the Cqpta@ved Local No. 8 IBEW Retirement Fund as leadnpiff, and Scott and Scott LLP
lead counsel for the plaintiff and the putativesslaWe filed a motion to dismiss the complaint @c@nber 8, 2014 and the plaintiffs filed their
opposition to our motion to dismiss on January2f5. We believe that this action is without maritl intend to defend it vigorously. This actionlwil
take time and money to defend and may distractams more productive activities. No assurance caprbeided that we will be successful in
defending this claim or that insurance proceedkheilsufficient to cover any liability under sudaims.

We may need to raise additional capital that may not be available.

We expect to incur losses in 2015 and may in theréuneed to raise additional capital. We havedveed $300.0 million under a credit agreement
that we entered into in the third quarter of 20b4ecent periods, we also have received signifipaoceeds from the issuance of common stock under
our employee benefit plans, but the amount anchtinoif future proceeds from employee benefits plansicertain. Any potential public offering,
private placement or debt financing may or maybesimilar to the transactions that we enteredimtbe past. Any debt financing may be on terms
that, among other things, include conversion festtinat could result in dilution to our then-exigtsecurity holders and restrict our ability to pay
interest and dividends—although we do not intengdatp dividends for the foreseeable future. Addaibn our pledge of our assets as collateral to
secure our obligations under our credit agreemexyt limit our ability to obtain additional debt fineing. Any equity financings would result in
dilution to our then-existing security holdersatfequate funds are not available on acceptablestemnat all, we may be required to curtail
significantly or discontinue one or more of ouragash, drug discovery or development programsudint clinical trials, incur significant cash exit
costs, or attempt to obtain funds through arrangegsnith collaborators or others that may requseairelinquish rights to certain of our technoéxg
drugs or drug candidates. Based on many factarkiding general economic conditions, additionaafining may not be available on acceptable te
if at all.
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I ssuances of additional shares of our common stock could cause the price of our common stock to decline.

As of December 31, 2014 , we had 241.8 million shaf common stock issued and outstanding. As oébBer 31, 2014 , we also had
outstanding options to purchase 12.0 million shafesmmon stock with a weighted-average exercigz pf $56.81 per share. Outstanding vested
options are likely to be exercised if the markétgof our common stock exceeds the applicablecesesprice, and, in the future, we expect to issue
additional options and restricted stock to direstmd employees. In addition, we may issue additioommon stock or restricted securities in the
future as part of financing activities or busindsselopment activities and any such issuances raag & dilutive effect on our then-existing
shareholders. Sales of substantial amounts of@anwn stock in the open market, or the availabditguch shares for sale, could adversely affext th
price of our common stock. The issuance of regtliciommon stock or common stock upon exercise ybatstanding options would be dilutive, and
may cause the market price for a share of our comstuxk to decline.

We have adopted anti-takeover provisions and are subject to Massachusetts corporate laws that may frustrate any attempt to remove or replace our
current management or effectuate a business combination involving Vertex.

Our corporate charter and by-law provisions andddelsusetts state laws may discourage certain dfgesnsactions involving an actual or
potential change of control of Vertex that mightdemeficial to us or our security holders. Our tdraprovides for staggered terms for the members of
the Board of Directors. Our by-laws grant the dives a right to adjourn annual meetings of shamdrs| and certain provisions of our by-laws may be
amended only with an 80% shareholder vote. We ssyei shares of any class or series of preferred stahe future without shareholder approval
and upon such terms as our Board of Directors neségrohine. The rights of the holders of common steitkbe subject to, and may be adversely
affected by, the rights of the holders of any clarsseries of preferred stock that may be issueberfuture. Massachusetts state law prohibitsams f
engaging in specified business combinations, urtfessombination is approved or consummated ireaqribed manner, and prohibits voting by any
shareholder who acquires 20% or more of our vategk without shareholder approval. As a resulirsholders or other parties may find it more
difficult to remove or replace our current manageme

SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K and, in particuthe description of our Business set forth in Itgnthe Risk Factors set forth in this Item 1A
and our Management's Discussion and Analysis odfidral Condition and Results of Operations sehfortitem 7 contain or incorporate a number of
forward-looking statements within the meaning oft®m 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended Section 21E of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, including statements dogr

» expectations regarding the result and timing ofprmding applications for marketing approval fanacaftor in combination with ivacaft

e our expectations regarding the amount of, tinuhgnd trends with respect to our revenues, @sisexpenses and other gains and losses,
including those related to net product revenuem fikALYDECO and potential net product revenues flomacaftor in combination with
ivacaftor;

e our expectations regarding clinical trials, depenent timelines and regulatory authority filirgysd submissions for ivacaftor, lumacaftor, VX-
661 and combinations thereof;

« our ability to successfully market our productsany of our other drug candidates for which we gbtagulatory approve

e our expectations regarding the timing and stmecof clinical trials of our drugs and drug carad&s, including, ivacaftor, lumacaftor, V661,
VX-210, VX-803 and VX-970, and the expected timofgour receipt of data from our ongoing and planaclucal trials;

« the data that will be generated by ongoing dadmed clinical trials and the ability to use tHata to advance compounds, continue
development or support regulatory filings;

» our beliefs regarding the support provided byicl trials and preclinical and nonclinical stesliof our drug candidates for further
investigation, clinical trials or potential useafreatment;
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e our plan to continue investing in our reseanctl development programs and our strategy to devaloprug candidates, alone or with third
party-collaborators;

» the establishment, development and maintenancellaborative relationship
» potential business development activit
» potential fluctuations in foreign currency exchamgees

« our ability to use our research programs toftifieand develop new drug candidates to addressisediseases and significant unmet medical
needs; and

« our liquidity and our expectations regarding thegibility of raising additional capit:

Any or all of our forward-looking statements ingnnual Report on Form 10-K may turn out to bengrorhey can be affected by inaccurate
assumptions or by known or unknown risks and uaagies. Many factors mentioned in this Annual Reépo Form 10-K will be important in
determining future results. Consequently, no fodsanking statement can be guaranteed. Actual éutesults may vary materially from expected
results. We also provide a cautionary discussiatiskf and uncertainties under “Risk Factors” abiouvihis Item 1A. These are factors and
uncertainties that we think could cause our actesllts to differ materially from expected resuligher factors and uncertainties besides thossllist
there could also adversely affect us.

Without limiting the foregoing, the words “believé&anticipates,” “plans,” “intends,” “expects” arglmilar expressions are intended to identify
forward-looking statements. There are a numbeactbis and uncertainties that could cause act@altsor results to differ materially from those
indicated by such forward-looking statements, mafwhich are beyond our control, including the astand uncertainties set forth under “Risk
Factors” above in this Item 1A. In addition, theviard-looking statements contained herein represenéstimate only as of the date of this filinglan
should not be relied upon as representing our agtims of any subsequent date. While we may @egidate these forward-looking statements at
some point in the future, we specifically disclamy obligation to do so to reflect actual resudts®anges in assumptions or changes in other factors
affecting such forward-looking statements.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

We did not receive any written comments from theuides and Exchange Commission prior to the d&8@&days before the end of the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2014 regarding our filings utideSecurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendat heave not been resolved.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
Corporate Headquarters

In the first quarter of 2014, we relocated our cogbe headquarters from Cambridge, Massachusetistoonnected buildings that were built in
Boston, Massachusetts. We lease approximately lllibmsquare feet of office and laboratory spaté¢hiese two buildings pursuant to two leases that
we entered into in May 2011. The leases comment&gcember 2013 and will extend until December 2028 have an option to extend the term of
the leases for an additional ten years. In addifioconnection with our relocation to Boston, weezed into a lease in June 2012 for approximately
100,000 square feet of space in the Boston Maridadtrial Park, in close proximity to our corporagadquarters. We are using this additional space
for certain logistical and laboratory operationsl amnufacturing equipment that will complementaffece and laboratory facilities at our corporate
headquarters.

Existing Facilitiesin Cambridge, Massachusetts

We currently lease approximately 100,000 squaredekboratory and office space for our formerpmate headquarters, which were located at
130 Waverly Street, and approximately 192,000 sgjtest of laboratory and office space at 200 Siddieget, located adjacent to our former corporate
headquarters. The 130 Waverly Street and 200 SiStregt leases expire on December 31, 2015. We fgwoximately 21,000 square feet at 21 Erie
Street, Cambridge, Massachusetts under a leasexpia¢s in May 2017. We have completed decommigsipof our existing laboratory facilities at
these locations.
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The lease for our Kendall Square, Cambridge, Mdmssatts facility will expire in 2018. We have suded approximately 267,000 square feet of
the approximately 290,000 square feet of the Kdi@tghare facility under subleases each with tennaling in 2018.

Additional United Sates and Worldwide Locations

In addition to our facilities in Massachusetts, le@se an aggregate of approximately 252,000 sdear®f space in facilities located in California,
Washington D.C., lowa, Canada, Switzerland, theédhKingdom, France, Germany, Australia, Irelanghi8, Italy and the Netherlands. This inclu
laboratory and office space to support our reseanchdevelopment organizations in San Diego, Qalifop Montreal, Canada, and Milton Park,
Abingdon, England.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

On May 28, 2014, a purported shareholder classractical No. 8 IBEW Retirement Plan & Trust v. Vertex Pharmaceutical s Incorporated, et al.
was filed in the United States District Court fhetDistrict of Massachusetts, naming us and cedfgur current and former officers and directass a
defendants. The lawsuit alleged that we made nahtmisrepresentations and/or omissions of matéadlin our disclosures during the period from
May 7, 2012 through May 29, 2012, all in violatiohSection 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act@34, as amended, and Rule 10b-5 promulgated
thereunder. The purported class consists of afiqrer (excluding defendants) who purchased our canmstuzk between May 7, 2012 and May 29,
2012. The plaintiffs seek unspecified monetary dggsacosts and attorneys’ fees as well as disgageai the proceeds from certain individual
defendantssales of our stock. On October 8, 2014, the Cqpta@ved Local No. 8 IBEW Retirement Fund as leadnpiff, and Scott and Scott LLP
lead counsel for the plaintiff and the putativesslaWe filed a motion to dismiss the complaint @c@nber 8, 2014 and the plaintiffs filed their
opposition to our motion to dismiss on January2Zf,5. We believe the claims to be without merit ariénd to vigorously defend the litigation.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER PURCHASES Of
EQUITY SECURITIES

Market I nformation

Our common stock is traded on The NASDAQ Globaé&eMarket under the symbol “VRTX.” The followinglile sets forth for the periods
indicated the high and low sale prices per shamottommon stock as reported by NASDAQ Stock MithkeT:

Year Ended December 31, 2014: High Low

First quarter $ 87.71 $ 67.4¢
Second quarter 98.8( 59.7¢
Third quarter 116.8¢ 84.41
Fourth quarter 124.3¢ 96.4:%
Year Ended December 31, 2013: High Low

First quarter $ 55.9: $ 42.7:
Second quarter 87.47 51.2¢
Third quarter 89.9¢ 73.45
Fourth quarter 78.3¢ 58.0¢

Shareholders
As of January 30, 2015 , there were 1,708 holdereocmrd of our common stock.

Performance Graph

CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
Based on Initial Investment of $100 on December2BD9
with dividends reinvested (fiscal years ended Ddum31)
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We became part of the Standard & Poor’s 500 (“S&P% ) Stock Index in 2013.
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Dividends

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsiocommon stock, and we currently expect thgtfature earnings will be retained for use
in our business. Any future determination to dexlzash dividends will be subject to the discretbour board of directors and applicable law anti
depend on various factors, including our resultsg#rations, financial condition, prospects and @thyer factors deemed relevant by our board of
directors. In addition, our credit agreement linaits ability to pay cash dividends on our commatlst

I ssuer Repurchases of Equity Securities

The table set forth below shows all repurchaseseofirities by us during the three months ended fideee 31, 2014 :

Total Number of Shares Maximum Number of
Purchased as Part of Shares that May Yet
Total Number Average Price Publicly Announced be Purchased Under
Period of Shares Purchased Paid per Share Plans or Programs the Plans or Programs
Oct. 1, 2014 to Oct. 31, 2014 38,12. % 0.01 — —
Nov. 1, 2014 to Nov. 30, 2014 2191 % 0.01 — —
Dec. 1, 2014 to Dec. 31, 2014 16,25¢ $ 0.01 — —

The repurchases were made under the terms of oended and Restated 2006 Stock and Option Plan.rilmdeplan, we award shares of
restricted stock to our employees that typically subject to a lapsing right of repurchase by us.nidy exercise this right of repurchase if a retstd
stock recipient’s service to us is terminated. & @ercise this right, we are required to repayptirehase price paid by or on behalf of the reaipier
the repurchased restricted shares, which typicsilliye par value per share of $0.01. Repurchass@siheturned to the Amended and Restated 2006
Stock and Option Plan are available for future awamder the terms of the plan.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following unaudited selected consolidated foiahdata are derived from our audited consolidditezhcial statements and have been revised
to reflect discontinued operations. These dataldhmeiread in conjunction with our audited consatiéd! financial statements and related notes tleat ar
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on ForrKl&nd with “Management’s Discussion and Analydi§imancial Condition and Results of
Operations” included in Item 7.

Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012 2011 20
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:
Product revenues, net

KALYDECO product revenues, net $ 463,75( $ 371,28 $ 171,64 $ — %
INCIVEK product revenues, net 24,07 466,36( 1,161,81: 950,88¢
Total product revenues, net 487,82: 837,64! 1,333,45! 950,88
Royalty revenues 40,91¢ 156,59: 141,49t 50,01t
Collaborative revenues (1) 51,67¢ 217,73t 52,08¢ 409,72.
Total revenues 580,41! 1,211,97! 1,527,04. 1,410,621
Total costs and expenses (2) 1,272,82 1,821,98: 1,480,31! 1,277,35!
(Loss) income from continuing operations attriblgato
Vertex (737,64) (503,62) 32,27: 109,79 (
(Loss) income from discontinued operations atteble to
Vertex (3) (912) 58,59: (139,30)) (80,229
Net (loss) income attributable to Vertex $ (738,55) % (445,029 $ (107,03) $ 29,57 $ (
Diluted (loss) income from continuing operations
attributable to Vertex per common share $ 319 $ (229 $ 015 $ 05 $
Shares used in per diluted share calculations 235,30° 224,90t 215,26: 208,80

As of December 31,
2014 2013 2012 2011 20
(in thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities $ 1,387,100 $ 1,465,070 % 1,321,210 $ 968,92 $
Total assets 2,334,67! 2,319,04. 2,759,28! 2,204,28I
Total current liabilities 368,25 397,82¢ 432,62 392,34t
Long-term debt obligations, excluding current pamt{(4) 280,56¢ — 400,00( 400,00(
Construction financing lease obligation, excludaugrent

portion (5) 473,07: 440,93° 268,03: 55,95(
Other long-term obligations 116,60( 123,87( 424,25 390,47(

(1) In 2013, we recorded $203.4 million of colladtive revenues from Janssen NV, which were prigatiributable to a 2013 amendment to our collabion
agreement with Janssen NV. In 2011, we recogni3d8.$ million in milestone revenues from Janssenadd Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma Corporation. See Note
B, “Collaborative Arrangements.”

(2) Total costs and expenses included (i) in 28182012, an aggregate of $10.4 million and $188li®n , respectively, of write-offs for excesschabsolete
inventories, (ii) in 2013 and 2012, total costs ardenses included intangible asset impairmengesanf $412.9 million and $105.8 milliomespectively and (iii
in 2014 and 2013, $50.9 million and $40.5 milliaespectively, of restructuring charges primaréiated to the relocation of our corporate headgusend a
strategic restructuring in 2013. See Note H, “Irteeies,” Note J, “Intangible Assets and GoodwillidaNote Q, “Restructuring Expenses.”

(3) (Loss) income from discontinued operationgtaitable to Vertex relates to our collaboratiothamlios BioPharma, Inc., in 2011 through 2013, ethive
deconsolidated as of December 31, 2013. See Ndtediaborative Arrangements.”

(4) In 2014, we borrowed $300.0 million in therfoof a senior secured term loan that matures yw2d.7. In 2013, our convertible senior subordidatetes (due
2015) with an aggregate principal amount of $4@0illon was converted into common stock or redeen8= Note L, “Long Term Obligations.”

(5) In 2011, we entered into two leases for oupomate headquarters, which we occupied in Dece@®&8. We are deemed for accounting purposes toebewner
of the buildings. See Note L, “Long Term Obligasch
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’ S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
OVERVIEW

We are in the business of discovering, developimgnufacturing and commercializing small moleculegdr We use precision medicine
approaches to create transformative drugs for matigith serious diseases in specialty markets.iDsiness is focused on developing and
commercializing therapies for the treatment of icybrosis, or CF, and advancing our researchearty-stage development programs, while
maintaining our financial strength.

We have marketed KALYDECO (ivacaftor) since it vegeproved in 2012 for the treatment of patientsysirs of age and older with CF who h
specific genetic mutations in their cystic fibrogsnsmembrane conductance regulatoGETR, gene. In June 2014, we announced data from two
Phase 3 clinical trials, referred to as TRAFFIC aRANSPORT, of lumacaftor, a CFTR corrector comphun combination with ivacaftor, a CFTR
potentiator compound. In TRAFFIC and TRANSPORT ,evaluated the combination regimen in patients @ithtwelve years of age and older who
have two copies (homozygous) of the F508del mutdtiaheirCFTR gene, which is the most prevalent form of CF. Irvélober 2014, we submittec
New Drug Application, or NDA, to the United Statésod and Drug Administration, or FDA, and a MarkgtAuthorization Application, or MAA, ti
the European Medicines Agency, or EMA, for lumaaaft combination with ivacaftor.

Cystic Fibrosis

Our plan is to (i) continue to increase the nunmdfgratients eligible for treatment with ivacafti) obtain marketing approval for lumacaftor in
combination with ivacaftor for the treatment ofipats with CF twelve years of age and older whoehawo copies of the F508del mutation in their
CFTR gene and (iii) research and develop earlier-staggpounds for the treatment of CF.

lvacaftor

KALYDECO (ivacaftor) was approved in 2012 in theitéd States and European Union as a treatmenttmgs with CF six years of age and
older who have the G551D mutation in theéFTR gene. Our KALYDECO net product revenues have beereasing over the last several years due to
the increased number of patients who are beingetlesith KALYDECO in the United States and ex-Unfarkets as we have expanded the label for
KALYDECO and completed reimbursement discussiomsfportion of the patients eligible for treatmeiith KALYDECO in ex-U.S markets. We
expect our KALYDECO net product revenues to incegfasther in 2015 as a result of additional labglansions and an increase in the number of
patients with CF for whom reimbursement is avadgahlex-U.S. markets.

Lumacaftor in Combination with Ivacaftor

In November 2014, we submitted an NDA to the FDA an MAA to the EMA for lumacaftor in combinatiorittvivacaftor in patients with CF
twelve years of age and older who are homozygouth®&F508del mutation in theBFTR gene. In 2015, we submitted in Canada, and expexthimi
in Australia, regulatory applications seeking apatdor lumacaftor in combination with ivacaftorh@se regulatory applications were based on two
Phase 3 randomized, double-blind, placebo-conttalimical trials of lumacaftor in combination withacaftor referred to as TRAFFIC and
TRANSPORT. All four treatment arms in TRAFFIC anBANSPORT met their primary endpoints of mean aliedlmprovement in percent predic
forced expiratory volume in one second, or ppRE¥s compared to placebo.

The FDA has granted us priority review of the ND#dahe European Committee for Medicinal Productdfoman Use has granted our request
for Accelerated Assessment of the MAA. The targgedor the FDA to complete its review of the ND& fumacaftor in combination with ivacaftor
under the Prescription Drug User Fee Act, or PDUBAlUly 5, 2015. Accordingly, we expect to beginagnizing net product revenues from
lumacaftor in combination with ivacaftor in the ted States in mid-2015. We do not expect signiice product revenues from lumacaftor in
combination with ivacaftor from ex-U.S. market2idil5 due to the reimbursement discussions thabwillequired in these markets following the
potential approval of the combination in the fougtharter of 2015. We believe that there are apprately 22,000 patients with CF twelve years of
and older who are homozygous for the F508del martati North America, Europe and Australia, incluglapproximately 8,500 in the United States
and approximately 12,000 in Europe.
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VX-661 in Combination with Ivacaftor

In 2015, we initiated a Phase 3 development prodoandX-661 in combination with ivacaftor in patieswith CF twelve years of age and older,
including patients who are homozygous for the Fed8&tlutation in theiCFTR gene and patients who have one copy of the F508dltion in their
CFTR gene (heterozygous).

Nextgeneration CETR Corrector Compounds

We also are seeking to identify and develop nexiegation CFTR corrector compounds that could béueted in future dual- and/or triple-
combination treatment regimens with the potentigirovide additional benefits to patients with @¥e have multiple next-generation correctors in the
lead-optimization stage of research and expecegpnbclinical development of a next-generation ector in 2015.

Research and Early-Stage Devel opment

We are engaged in a number of other research alydstage development programs, including programtke areas of oncology and neurology.
We plan to continue investing in our research pogr and fostering scientific innovation in orderdentify and develop transformative medicines
with a focus on CF and other genetic diseases,logg@nd neurology. We believe that pursuing redear diverse areas allows us to balance the risks
inherent in drug development and may provide dargdates that will form our pipeline in future yga

HCV Infection

In 2012 and 2013, we recognized significant netipeb revenues based on sales of INCIVEK (telapyeaiproduct for the treatment of genoty;
HCYV infection that we marketed in North America.Otober 2013, in response to declining sales GIVNEK and increased competition, we reduced
our focus on marketing INCIVEK and eliminated theSUfield-based sales force that had been promdtt@IVEK. We have withdrawn INCIVEK
from the market in the United States, and we exfgeatind-down any remaining activities relatingthe field of HCV infection in 2015.

In addition, we incurred an intangible asset impaint charge of $412.9 million in the first quaé2013 related to VX-222 a drug candidate for
the treatment of HCV infection. In the fourth quartf 2014, we provided notice of termination of oallaboration with Alios BioPharma, Inc., or
Alios, related to the development of HCV nucleotéf®logues. Our financial statements reflect thigiies related to Alios as discontinued
operations.

Drug Discovery and Development

Discovery and development of a new pharmaceuticalyzt is a difficult and lengthy process that ieggisignificant financial resources along
with extensive technical and regulatory expertisg ean take 10 to 15 years or more. Potential damglidates are subjected to rigorous evaluations,
driven in part by stringent regulatory considenasiodesigned to generate information concernirigafy, side-effects, proper dosage levels and a
variety of other physical and chemical charactesghat are important in determining whether gydrandidate should be approved for marketing as a
pharmaceutical product. Most chemical compoundsdteinvestigated as potential drug candidatesmgnogress into development, and most drug
candidates that do advance into development neceive marketing approval. Because our investniamisug candidates are subject to considerable
risks, we closely monitor the results of our diseyy research, clinical trials and nonclinical $ésdand frequently evaluate our drug development
programs in light of new data and scientific, bessnand commercial insights, with the objectivealancing risk and potential. This process canli
in abrupt changes in focus and priorities as ndarination becomes available and as we gain additionderstanding of our ongoing programs and
potential new programs, as well as those of ourpsiitors.

If we believe that data from a completed registrafprogram support approval of a drug candidateswiznit an NDA to the FDA requesting
approval to market the drug candidate in the Unetes and seek analogous approvals from compamedplilatory authorities in foreign jurisdictions.
To obtain approval, we must, among other thingmatestrate with evidence gathered in nonclinicadligsiand well-controlled clinical trials that the
drug candidate is safe and effective for the diséas intended to treat and that the manufacgufaeilities, processes and controls for the mactufe
of the drug candidate are adequate. The FDA amdgioregulatory authorities have substantial dismnen deciding whether or not a drug candidate
should be granted approval based on the benefitsisks of the drug candidate in the treatment p@wicular disease, and could delay, limit or deny
regulatory approval. If regulatory delays are digaint or regulatory
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approval is limited or denied altogether, our ficiahresults and the commercial prospects for thig dandidate involved will be harmed.
Regulatory Compliance

Our marketing of pharmaceutical products is sullieeixtensive and complex laws and regulationsh@ie a corporate compliance program
designed to actively identify, prevent and mitigasé through the implementation of compliance gie and systems, and through the promotion of a
culture of compliance. Among other laws, regulasiand standards, we are subject to various U.8rdkend state laws, and comparable foreign laws
pertaining to health care fraud and abuse, incydinti-kickback and false claims statutes, and lpregibiting the promotion of drugs for unapproved
or off-label uses. Anti-kickback laws make it ilEdor a prescription drug manufacturer to solioffer, receive or pay any remuneration to indunee t
referral of business, including the purchase osgription of a particular drug. False claims lawshibit anyone from presenting for payment to third
party payors, including Medicare and Medicaid, sifor reimbursed drugs or services that are fal$eudulent, claims for items or services not
provided as claimed, or claims for medically unresesy items or services. We expect to continuetoi@ substantial resources to maintain,
administer and expand these compliance prograntsijo

Reimbursement

Sales of our products depend, to a large degretlyeoextent to which our products will be covergdhird-party payors, such as government
health programs, commercial insurance and managgthicare organizations. We dedicate substanaalagement and other resources in order to
obtain and maintain appropriate levels of reimbuoneset for our products from third-party payors, irtihg governmental organizations in the United
States and ex-U.S. markets. If lumacaftor in comtddm with ivacaftor is approved, in the Unitedt8sawe will engage in discussions with numerous
commercial insurers and managed health care org#onis, along with government health programs aéhattypically managed by authorities in the
individual states. In Europe and many other for@igantries, we will need to focus on obtaining amaintaining government reimbursement for
lumacaftor in combination with ivacaftor on a cayrby-country basis, because in many foreign coesfpatients are unable to access prescription
pharmaceutical products that are not reimbursetthdy governments. Consistent with our experienite tWWALYDECO when it was first approved, \
expect reimbursement discussions in ex-U.S. markeistake a significant period of time followingtalming marketing approval for the combination
therapy.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

2014/2013 2013/2012
Comparison Comparison
Increase/(Decrease) Increase/(Decrease)
2014 2013 2012 $ % $ %
(in thousands) (in thousands, except percentages)
Revenues $ 580,41' $ 1,211,977 $ 1527,04 $ (631,56() (52% $ (315,06) (21)%
Operating costs and expenses 1,272,82 1,821,98 1,480,31! (549,156 (30)% 341,66 23%
Other items, net (45,23)) 106,38t (14,45¢) n/e n/e nle n/e
(Loss) income from continuing operations
attributable to Vertex (737,64 (503,62 32,27: 234,02: 46 % nle nle
(Loss) income from discontinued operations
attributable to Vertex (912) 58,59« (139,309 n/e n/e n/e n/e
Net loss attributable to Vertex $ (73855) $ (445,02 $ (107,03) g 293,52 66% $ 337,99 316 %

Net Loss Attributable to Vertex

Net loss attributable to Vertex has been affeciethbreasing KALYDECO net product revenues, rapidiéclining INCIVEK net product revent
and royalty revenues, significant intangible agsgairment charges, inventory write-offs, restruictg charges and income (loss) from discontinued
operations during the three year period ended Dbeefil, 2014.

Comparison of Net Loss Attributable to Vertex 2014 vs. 2013

Net loss attributable to Vertex was $738.6 millinr2014 compared to net loss attributable to Veae®445.0 million in 2013 . Our revenues
decreased in 2014 as compared to 2013 due to a3bvMilon decrease in INCIVEK revenues, a $166illiom decrease in collaborative revenues and
a $115.7 million decrease in royalty revenues,igiirtoffset by a $92.5 million increase in KALYDEZrevenues. Our operating costs and expenses
decreased in 2014 as compared to 2013 primarilytalaa intangible asset impairment charge relaied®-222 of $412.9 million recorded in 2013
and decreases in cost of product revenues, rogafignses, research and development expenses asdgealeral and administrative expenses. In
2014, the $45.2 million loss reflected in othenite net was primarily due to interest expense @ssatwith the leases for our corporate headquarter
In 2013 the $106.4 million gain reflected in otitems, net was primarily due to a benefit from imeotaxes we recorded related to the VX-222
impairment charge. The income (loss) from discargthoperations in 2014 and 2013 related to a amlédion with Alios that was terminated in 2014.
In 2015, we expect that our net income (loss) bélllargely dependent on the timing of potentiautatpry approval of lumacaftor in combination with
ivacaftor in the United States and on our sucagssinmercializing this combination therapy follogithe potential approval.

Comparison of Net Loss Attributable to Vertex 2013 vs. 2012

Net loss attributable to Vertex was $445.0 millinr2013 compared to net loss attributable to Veae®107.0 million in 2012 . Our revenues
decreased in 2013 as compared to 2012 due to a3s@8lion decrease in INCIVEK net product revenpestially offset by a $199.6 million increase
in KALYDECO net product revenues and a $165.7 willincrease in collaborative revenues. Our opegatasts and expenses increased in 2013 as
compared to 2012 primarily due to an intangibleeasapairment charge related to VX-222 of $412.9iom recorded in 201and an increase resea
and development expenses, partially offset by aedee in sales, general and administrative expemskan aggregate of $133.2 million in cost of
product revenues related to charges for excesslasulete INCIVEK inventories that we incurred inl20The income (loss) from discontinued
operations in 2013 and 2012 related to a collabmratith Alios that was terminated in 2014.

Earnings Per Share

In 2014 , 2013 and 2012, net loss attributabMedex was $3.14 , $1.98 and $0.50 , respectiymy diluted share. In 2014 and 2013, net loss
from continuing operations attributable to Verteasn$3.14 and $2.24 , respectively, per dilutedesHar2012 , net income from continuing operations
attributable to Vertex was $0.15 per diluted share.
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Common Shares Outstanding

Our shares of outstanding common stock increasedi(gnillion shares from 233.8 million shares orc®aber 31, 2013 to 241.8 million shares
on December 31, 2014 due to our issuance in 20apmioximately 8.0 million shares of common stoukspant to our employee equity programs.
Our shares of outstanding common stock increasekb®y/million shares from 217.3 million shares cecBmber 31, 2012 to 233.8 million shares on
December 31, 2013 due to our issuance in 2013mbapnately 8.3 million shares of common stock ugonversion of our convertible senior
subordinated notes and 8.2 million shares of comstock issued pursuant to our employee equity progr

Sock-based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense was $177.5 mifia#6.8 million and $113.8 million in 2014 , 204:3d 2012 , respectively. Our stock-based
compensation expense has been increasing due ittctiease in our stock price and the associateéase in the grartate fair value of equity awarc

Revenues
2014/2013 2013/2012
Comparison Comparison
Increase/(Decrease) Increase/(Decrease)
2014 2013 2012 $ % $ %
(in thousands) (in thousands, except percentages)
Product revenues, net $ 487,82: $ 837,64 $ 1,33345 $ (349,82) (42% $  (495,81) (37)%
Royalty revenues 40,91¢ 156,59; 141,49¢ (115,677 (74)% 15,09: 11%
Collaborative revenues 51,67¢ 217,73t 52,08¢ (166,069 (7€)% 165,65: 31€ %
Total revenues $ 58041 $ 1,21197 $ 1,527,04 $ (631,560 52% $ (315,06) 1%
Product Revenues, Net
2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)
KALYDECO $ 463,75( $ 371,28" $ 171,64!
INCIVEK 24,07: 466,36( 1,161,81:
Total product revenues, net $ 487,82: $ 837,64' $ 1,333,45:

Our total net product revenues have been decreasiag annual basis due to significant decreas@¢GVEK (telaprevir) net product revenues
partially offset by increases in KALYDECO (ivacaftmet product revenues. In 2015, we expect nefymbrevenues to increase due to (i) expected
increases in KALYDECO net product revenues ando@ifential net product revenues in the seconddf&b15 in the United States from sales of
lumacaftor in combination with ivacaftor.

We began marketing KALYDECO in the United Stated eertain international markets in 2012. In 20h4, EDA approved multiple label
expansions for KALYDECO, and in July 2014 we obgairihe first label expansion for KALYDECO in therBpean Union. In 2014, KALYDECO r
product revenues were $463.8 million , includin@%$2 million of net product revenues from ex-U.&rkets, compared to KALYDECO net product
revenues of $371.3 million , including $154.7 noitliof net product revenues from ex-U.S. marke®0ih3. The increase in KALYDECO net product
revenues in 2014 , compared to 2013 , was primdtig/to additional patients being treated with KALYCO as we completed reimbursement
discussions in various jurisdictions and increabedchumber of patients eligible to receive KALYDE®@®ough label expansions. In 2015, we expect
further increases in KALYDECO net product revenagssve continue to increase the number of patibatsare treated with KALYDECO.

INCIVEK net product revenues were $24.1 millior2idl4, a significant decrease from $466.4 millio2@13. We have withdrawn INCIVEK
from the market in the United States, and we dcemrpect significant INCIVEK net product revenuedtiture periods.

We believe our total net product revenues for 20ilBbe dependent on the timing of potential regoitg approval of lumacaftor in combination

with ivacaftor in the United States and on our gssdn commercializing this combination therapyofwing the potential approval. We submitted an
NDA to the FDA and an MAA to the EMA for lumacaftior
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combination with ivacaftor in November 2014. Thegtt date for the FDA to complete its review of Mi2A under PDUFA is July 5, 2015.
Accordingly, we expect to begin recognizing netdqutt revenues from lumacaftor in combination withdaftor in the United States in mid-2015. We
do not expect significant net product revenues fhamacaftor in combination with ivacaftor in 2061h ex-U.S. markets due to the reimbursement
discussions that will be required in these marka@tswing the potential approval of the combinatiorthe fourth quarter of 2015.

Royalty Revenues

Our royalty revenues were $40.9 million , $156.8io1 and $141.5 milliorin 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Since thénpéug of 2014, oL
royalty revenues have consisted of (i) revenuegedl|to a cash payment we received in 2008 whesoldeour rights to certain HIV royalties and (ii)
revenues related to certain third-party royaltiaggble by our collaborators on sales of HIV drugs telaprevir that also result in corresponding
royalty expenses. In 2012 and 2013, we receivetfgignt royalties from Janssen NV based on INCI{&aprevir) net product sales. Our rights to
receive royalties on INCIVO sales ended at therm@gg of 2014, and Janssen NV currently has a-fpdligl license to market INCIVO in its territorit
subject to the continued payment of certain thiadiyproyalties.

Collaborative Revenues

Our collaborative revenues have fluctuated sigaiftty on an annual basis. This variability has bees to, among other things: the recognition of
payments from Janssen Inc. related to our outleend/X-787 in 2014; the 2013 amendment of ouratmdration agreement with Janssen NV that
resulted in significant collaborative revenues®12; and revenues we received from services wegedwo Janssen NV and Mitsubishi Tanabe
through our third-party manufacturing network irt20

The table presented below is a summary of our lootktive revenues for 2014 , 2013 and 2012 :

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)

Collaborative revenues:

Janssen Inc. $ 35,000 $ — % —
Janssen NV 7,10 203,43 16,17¢
CFFT 6,45t 14,32: 16,96(
Mitsubishi Tanabe — — 18,87¢
Other 3,11¢ (21) 69

Total collaborative revenues $ 51,67 $ 217,73t % 52,08¢

In 2014 , the majority of our collaborative reveauelated to $35.0 million in payments we receifrech Janssen Inc. related to our outlicense of
VX-787.

In 2013, we recognized $203.4 million in Janss&hchllaborative revenues, which were primarily igtttable to the $152.0 million payment we
received pursuant to our amendment to the JansgeroMaboration agreement. These collaborative mees also included the acceleration of the
remaining deferred revenues related to the up-fsagiment we received from Janssen NV in 2006. i¥20ur collaborative revenues from Janssen
NV decreased t$7.1 million , and we do not expect significantlabbrative revenues from Janssen NV in future jplstio

Collaborative revenues from CFFT decreased from3bddllion in 2013 to $6.5 million 2014 due to the completion of the reimbursabkearcl
activities pursuant to our collaboration with CFiRTFebruary 2014. Collaborative revenues from CEEGreased slightly in 2012 as compared to
2013. We do not expect significant collaborativeeraues from CFFT in future periods.
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In 2012 , we recognized $9.6 million in collabovatrevenues related to a one-time payment thatagived from Mitsubishi Tanabe in 2009 and
recognized over a period of time, and also recaghievenues related to manufacturing services adged to Mitsubishi Tanabe through our third-
party manufacturing network. We have not recognemeyl collaborative revenues from Mitsubishi Tansioee the first half of 2012 and will not
recognize any future collaborative revenues pursigaour collaboration agreement with Mitsubishin@be.

Operating Costs and Expenses

2014/2013 2013/2012
Comparison Comparison
Increase/(Decrease) Increase/(Decrease)
2014 2013 2012 $ % $ %
(in thousands) (in thousands, except percentages)
Cost of product revenues $ 39,728 % 88,97¢ $ 236,74: $ (49,259 BE% $ (147,769 (62)%
Royalty expenses 21,26: 41,29¢ 43,14 (20,03¢) (49)% (1,84%) (4)%
Research and development expenses 855,50t 882,09 765,90! (26,597 3)% 116,19: 15%
Sales, general and administrative expenses 305,40¢ 356,18t 432,68: (50,779 (14)% (76,497 (18)%
Restructuring expenses 50,92¢ 40,52: 1,844 10,40¢ 26 % 38,67" 2,097 %
Intangible asset impairment charges — 412,90( — (412,900 (100)% 412,90( n/e

Total costs and expenses $ 127282 $ 1,82198 $ 1,480,311 $ (549,156 (30)% $ 341,66¢ 23%

Cost of Product Revenues

Our cost of product revenues includes the costadyring inventories that corresponded to prodexénues for the reporting period, plus the
third-party royalties payable on our net sales ALKDECO and INCIVEK. In 2014, cost of product rewess consisted primarily of third-party
royalties for KALYDECO. Pursuant to our agreemeittvCFFT, our tiered third-party royalties on KALMETO, and lumacaftor in combination with
ivacaftor, if approved, calculated as a percentigest sales, range from the single digits to thie-teens. In 2015, we expect our cost of product
revenues to increase as compared to 2014 dueriased net product revenues, together with anaseri the third-party royalty rate payable to
CFFT as we begin to pay royalties at the top enti®@foyalty range.

Cost of product revenues in 2013 and 2012 incladedggregate of $10.4 million and $133.2 millisaspectively, in write-offs for excess and
obsolete inventories.

Our cost of product revenues decreased in 2014 amdpo 2013 as a result of decreased product negeand the charges incurred in 2013 for
excess and obsolete INCIVEK inventories and a $8lBon commercial milestone payment to CFFT thatsweflected in cost of product revenues in
2013. Our cost of product revenues decreased i 20thpared to 2012 due to decreased product resemekthe charges incurred for excess and
obsolete INCIVEK inventories that we incurred inl2Q

Royalty Expenses

Royalty expenses include third-party royalties fdgaipon net sales of telaprevir by our collabasatnd royalty expenses related to a subroyalty
payable to a third party on net sales of an HI\tgaese inhibitor sold by GlaxoSmithKline. Royaltypexses in 2014 decreased by $20.0 million , or
49% , as compared to 2013 as a result of decrébsHYO sales by Janssen NV. Royalty expenses irB2Ekreased slightly compared to 2012 . Our
royalty expenses in future periods will be dependenour collaborators’ net sales of telaprevithair territories. Our royalty expenses with respgec
telaprevir and the HIV protease inhibitor are dffsg corresponding royalty revenues.
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Research and Development Expenses

2014/2013 2013/2012
Comparison Comparison
Increase/(Decrease) Increase/(Decrease)
2014 2013 2012 $ % $ %
(in thousands) (in thousands, except percentages)

Research expenses $ 257,48. $ 233,65. $ 21355( $ 23,83 10% $ 20,10: 9%
Development expenses 598,02: 648,44¢ 552,35! (50,427 8)% 96,09: 17%
Total research and development expenses $ 855,50t $ 882,090 $ 765,90! $ (26,597 Q% % 116,19: 15%

Our research and development expenses includeahtand external costs incurred for research amdldpment of our drugs and drug candide
We do not assign our internal costs, such as satahbenefits, stock-based compensation experfs®atary supplies and other direct expenses and
infrastructure costs, to individual drugs or dragndidates, because the employees within our rdseart development groups typically are deployed
across multiple research and development progréhese internal costs are significantly greater thamnexternal costs, such as the costs of services
provided to us by clinical research organizatioms ether outsourced research, which we allocatiediyidual program. All research and development
costs for our drugs and drug candidates are exgeassacurred.

Over the past three years, we have incurred $Riérbin research and development expenses assdoidth drug discovery and development.
The successful development of our drug candidatbghly uncertain and subject to a number of risksddition, the duration of clinical trials may
vary substantially according to the type, complerind novelty of the drug candidate and the disgatieation being targeted. The FDA and
comparable agencies in foreign countries imposstanbal requirements on the introduction of therdjz pharmaceutical products, typically requil
lengthy and detailed laboratory and clinical tegfimocedures, sampling activities and other caatly time-consuming procedures. Data obtained from
nonclinical and clinical activities at any steptlie testing process may be adverse and lead tondisaation or redirection of development actiwstie
Data obtained from these activities also are sudtepf varying interpretations, which could deldiynit or prevent regulatory approval. The duratio
and cost of discovery, nonclinical studies andicéihtrials may vary significantly over the life afproject and are difficult to predict. Therefore,
accurate and meaningful estimates of the ultimas¢sdo bring our drug candidates to market areanailable.

In 2013 and 2014, costs related to our CF programesented the largest portion of our developroests. In 2012, our HCV programs
represented the largest portion of our developroestis. Additionally, any estimates regarding dewelent and regulatory timelines for our drug
candidates are highly subjective and subject toaghaln November 2014, we submitted an NDA to thénd an MAA to the EMA for lumacaftor
in combination with ivacaftor. The target date tloe FDA to complete its review of the NDA under PEAJis July 5, 2015. Accordingly, if we obtain
approval on a timely basis, we expect to beginga@ing net product revenues from lumacaftor in boration with ivacaftor in the United States in
mid-2015. We do not expect significant net prodeeenues from lumacaftor in combination with ivdcafn 2015 from ex-U.S. markets due to the
reimbursement discussions that will be requireth@se markets following the potential approvalh&f tombination in the fourth quarter of 2015. We
cannot make a meaningful estimate when, if evarpther clinical development programs will genengeenues and cash flows.
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Research Expenses

2014/2013 2013/2012
Comparison Comparison
Increase/(Decrease) Increase/(Decrease)
2014 2013 2012 $ % $ %
(in thousands) (in thousands, except percentages)
Research Expenses:

Salary and benefits $ 82,97t % 80,957 $ 72,81 $ 2,01¢ 2% $ 8,14¢ 11%
Stock-based compensation expense 40,53: 27,42¢ 24,91« 13,10¢ 48 % 2,51z 10%
Laboratory supplies and other direct expenses 38,08: 35,98: 31,36" 2,101 6% 4,61¢ 15%
Outsourced services 17,40: 20,16¢ 13,98: (2,76¢) (14)% 6,18¢ 44 %
Infrastructure costs 78,49¢ 69,11¢ 70,477 9,37¢ 14 % (1,359 (2%
Total research expenses $ 257,48. $ 233,65 $ 213,55( $ 23,830 10% $ 20,10: 9%

Over the past three years we have maintained dasulad investment in research activities resulfimg 10% increase in research expens@9id
as compared to 2013 and a 9% increase in resegoenges in 2013 as compared to 2012 . We expeontinue to invest in our research programs
with a focus on identifying drug candidates forcipkty markets.

Development Expenses

2014/2013 2013/2012
Comparison Comparison
Increase/(Decrease) Increase/(Decrease)
2014 2013 2012 $ % $ %
(in thousands) (in thousands, except percentages)
Development Expenses:

Salary and benefits $ 161,71t $ 167,94 $  146,25( $ (6,227) % $ 21,69t 15%
Stock-based compensation expense 76,46 53,75’ 46,32¢ 22,71 42% 7,42¢ 16%
Laboratory supplies and other direct expenses 34,68¢ 38,52¢ 33,53( (3,837 (10)% 4,99¢ 15%
Outsourced services 197,74: 238,90¢ 203,60( (41,167 A7)% 35,30¢ 17%
Drug supply costs 10,02¢ 38,76% 14,04 (28,74) (74)% 24,72: 176¢%
Infrastructure costs 117,38 110,54! 108,60: 6,83% 6 % 1,943 2%
Total development expenses $ 598,02: $ 648,44t $ 552,35! $ (50,427 (8% $ 96,09: 17%

Our development expenses decreased by $50.4 mjiltio8% , in 2014 as compared to 2013 and incoebhg&96.1 million , or 17% , in 2013 as
compared to 2012 . The decrease in 2014 compar2il® was principally due to decreased outsoureedces expenses and drug supply costs,
partially offset by increased stock-based compémsatxpense. The significant decrease in outsowseedces expenses in 2014 was largely
attributable to decreased clinical trial expensssiiting from the completion of the TRAFFIC and TRBPORT clinical trials in the first half of 2014.
We expect our development expenses for outsoutedti@s to increase in 2015 as compared to 2Qieltd activities related to clinical trials,
including the Phase 3 clinical development progfany/X-661 in combination with ivacaftor.

The increased development expenses in 2013 in atsopao 2012 were principally due to the expansibaolinical development programs in CF,
including the conduct of the Phase 3 program ferdbmbination of lumacaftor and ivacaftor, and éased drug supply costs primarily related to
lumacaftor.
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Sales, General and Administrative Expenses

2014/2013 2013/2012
Comparison Comparison
Increase/(Decrease) Increase/(Decrease)
2014 2013 2012 $ % $ %
(in thousands) (in thousands, except percentages)
Sales, general and administrative expenses ¢  305,40¢ $ 356,18/ $ 432,68 $ (50,779 19% $ (76,499 (18)%

Sales, general and administrative expenses dedreégse1% in 2014 compared to 2013 , primarily dudecreased headcount following our
October 2013 restructuring activities. Sales, galreend administrative expenses decreased by 18%li8 compared to 2012 , primarily due to
decreased INCIVEK commercial expenses and our @cte®l13 restructuring activities, partially offéstincreased KALYDECO commercial
expenses.

Restructuring Expense

In 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , we recorded restructuekmenses of $50.9 million , $40.5 million and $hilion , respectively. Our restructuring
expenses in 2014 primarily related to the reloecatibour corporate headquarters in MassachuseBsgton from Cambridge. Our restructuring
expenses in 2013 primarily related to our Octolidr@reduction in headcount. As of December 31, 2@i# accrued restructuring liability related to
our lease obligations in Cambridge was $45.0 millidhese lease obligations primarily expire onddeber 31, 2015 and April 30, 2018.

Intangible Asset Impairment Charges

In 2013, we recorded a $412.9 million impairmerdrge related to VX-222, a non-nucleoside HCV polsase inhibitor. In connection with this
impairment charge, we recorded a credit of $127lBomin our provision for income taxes, resultimga net effect on net loss attributable to Vertex
related to this impairment charge of $285.3 millior2013. There were no corresponding intangibetisnpairment charges recorded related to
continuing operations in 2014 or 2012.

In 2013, we recorded a $250.6 million impairmerdrge related to the Alios HCV nucleotide analogragmm and a benefit for income taxes of
$102.1 million that is included in loss from distioned operations attributable to noncontrollinggnest for 2013.

Other Items, Net
Interest Expense, Net

In 2014 , 2013 and 2012, interest expense, neh&Aa® million , $22.9 million and $15.0 milliomespectively. The increaseinterest expense
2014 compared to 2013 was primarily due to intezgpense of $60.2 million associated with the Isdseour corporate headquarters and interest
expense of $10.4 million related to the $300.0iorillwe borrowed in July 2014 pursuant to our craditement. The increase in interest expense, net
in 2013 compared to 2012 was primarily due to egeexpense associated with the leases for ouo@gpheadquarters commencing in the fourth
quarter of 2013.

Other Income (Expense), Net

In 2014 , net other income was $30.4 million priityadue to a credit of $36.7 million related to medime cash payment we received in 2014 f
our landlord pursuant to leases for our corporatedquarters. In 2013 , we recorded net other incufr$6.9 million primarily related to foreign
exchange gains. In 2012 , our net other incomenmasignificant.

Income Taxes

In 2014 , we recorded a provision for income taode®7.0 million . In 2013 , we recorded a benefith income taxes of $122.4 million . This
benefit from income taxes was primarily due to adji of $127.6 million related to our impairmeritacge for the VX-222 intangible asset. In 2012 ,
our benefit from income taxes was not significant.
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Discontinued Operations

As of September 30, 2014, we concluded that wengdr had significant continuing involvement witho&, a variable interest entity that we
consolidated from June 2011 through December 2@E3a result, the effect of the Alios collaboratisrpresented as discontinued operations in our
consolidated statements of operations.

In 2014, we recorded a loss from discontinued dfmers attributable to Vertex of $0.9 million. 1923, we recorded income from discontinued
operations of $58.6 million and in 2012 we recordddss from discontinued operations of $139.3iamll Our income (losses) from discontinued
operations in these periods related to gains asgbbdue to the deconsolidation of Alios, an intdagsset impairment charge, a benefit from income
taxes related to this charge and changes in thgdhie of contingent consideration we estimateidAWould receive under the collaboration
agreement. For additional information regardingAties collaboration please refer to “Critical Aagating Policies and Estimates - Collaborations;
Variable Interest Entities.”

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As of December 31, 2014 , we had cash, cash eguitsahnd marketable securities of approximatelgShillion , which represented a decreate
$78.0 million from approximately $1.47 billion aB@ecember 31, 2013 . This decrease was due toecgmnditures we made during 2014 related to,
among other things, research and development egpemal sales, general and administrative expense®182.9 million for capital expenditures,
largely offset by cash receipts from product se§26€0.0 million we borrowed pursuant to a credieagnent we entered into in the third quarter of
2014, $274.6 million in cash we received from isges of common stock pursuant to employee benafispthe payments of $35.0 million that we
received from Janssen Inc. and a one-time cash guatyofi $36.7 million from our landlord pursuanttie terms of the leases for our corporate
headquarters. We expect to continue to incur logsesquarterly basis until we can substantialtyéase revenues as a result of potential future
regulatory approvals, the timing of which are uteier

Sources of Liquidity

We intend to rely on our existing cash, cash edeita and marketable securities together with flasés from product sales as our primary soi
of liquidity. Our cash flows from product sales kalecreased on an annual basis during each oa#tévpo years. In the near-term, we expect cash
flows from sales of KALYDECO to increase as we @omé to increase the number of patients that asged with KALYDECO. If we obtain approval
on a timely basis, we expect to begin recognizieigpnoduct revenues from lumacaftor in combinatidth ivacaftor in the United States in mid-2015.
We do not expect significant net product revenuesflumacaftor in combination with ivacaftor in Zftom ex-U.S. markets due to the
reimbursement discussions that will be requireth@se markets following the potential approvalh& tombination in the fourth quarter of 2015.

We have borrowed $300.0 million under a credit egrent that we entered into in the third quarte2@if4 and, subject to certain conditions, we
may request up to an additional $200.0 million parg to that credit agreement. In recent perio@salso have received significant proceeds from the
issuance of common stock under our employee beplefis, but the amount and timing of future prosefedm employee benefits plans is uncertain.
Other possible sources of liquidity include strategpllaborative agreements that include reseanclics development funding, commercial debt, pt
and private offerings of our equity and debt sei@sgj development milestones and royalties on sHlpsoducts, software and equipment leases,
strategic sales of assets or businesses and fadarasisactions. Negative covenants in our cregfité@ment may prohibit or limit our ability to acses
these sources of liquidity.

Future Capital Requirements

We incur substantial operating expenses to conasearch and development activities and operaterganization. In addition, we must repay
the principal amount on the $300.0 million we bareal in the third quarter of 2014 as follows: $1million in the second half of 2015, $105.0 million
in 2016 and $180.0 million in 2017. We also haviessantial facility and capital lease obligations;luding leases for two buildings in Boston,
Massachusetts that continue through 2028. We expatctash flows from KALYDECO together with ourrgent cash, cash equivalents and
marketable securities will be sufficient to fund @perations for at least the next twelve montte @dequacy of our available funds to meet ourd
operating and capital requirements will depend amyrfactors, including the amounts of future rexengenerated by KALYDECO, potential
revenues from lumacaftor in combination with ivdogfand the potential introduction or one or
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more of our other drug candidates to the market,tae number, breadth, cost and prospects of seareh and development programs.
Financing Strategy

In the third quarter of 2014, we borrowed $300.0iom pursuant to a credit agreement. In additiubhject to certain conditions, we may request
that the lenders loan us up to an additional $260lidon under the credit agreement. Although wendd have any plans to do so in the near term, we
may raise additional capital through public offgsror private placements of our securities. In taldi we may raise additional capital through
securing new collaborative agreements or other oustlof financing. We will continue to manage ouita structure and to consider all financing
opportunities, whenever they may occur, that cetidengthen our long-term liquidity profile. Negaigovenants in our credit agreement may prohibit
or limit our ability to obtain future financing arldere can be no assurance that any such finaopipgrtunities will be available on acceptable terif
at all.

CONTRACTUAL COMMITMENTS AND OBLIGATIONS
The following table sets forth our commitments aibtigations as of December 31, 2014 :

Payments Due by Period

2015 2016-2017 2018-2019 2020 and later Total
(in thousands)
Fan Pier Leases $ 67,20¢ $ 134,41 $ 139,79 $ 680,20¢ $ 1,021,62:
Facility operating leases, excluding Fan Pier Lease 48,58¢ 65,50¢ 28,53¢ 78,61 221,24
Capital lease obligations 20,79 27,38:¢ 16,07« — 64,24¢
Senior secured term loan 36,60( 305,51¢ — — 342,11¢
Research, development and drug supply costs 20,71° — — — 20,71%
Other 7,58¢ 3,48¢ — 6,591 17,66¢
Total contractual commitments and obligations $ 201,49 $ 536,30( $ 184,400 $ 765,41 $ 1,687,61.

Leases

We lease two buildings that are located at FaniRiBoston, Massachusetts. We commenced lease paymie these two buildings in December
2013 and the initial lease periods end in Decer2b2s.

Our future minimum commitments under our Kendall&g lease are included in “Facility operating ésagxcluding Fan Pier Leases.” We have
entered into three subleases for a portion ofeéhéable square footage at the Kendall Square tiatdlioffset our orgoing contractual lease obligatio
The future minimum committed income from the subésais $11.4 million for 2015 , $30.7 million fod@16 and 2017 and $5.1 million for 2018 ,
including amounts related to a sublease executéelimuary 2015. These amounts are not offset agaimn®obligations set forth in the table above.

The table also reflects leases of equipment, leddemprovements and software licenses that arewatted for as capital leases.
Senior Secured Term Loan

In July 2014, we entered into a credit agreemetit thie lenders party thereto, and Macquarie USifigadLC, or Macquarie, as administrative
agent. The credit agreement provides for a $30@lmsenior secured term loan. The interest rate utdeterm loan is subject to adjustment anc
table above assumes a mid-2015 approval of lun@daftombination with ivacaftor. The Company irnbds estimates for interest in “Senior secured
term loan”, which are equivalent to managementfseetations for the probable outcome of variablergst rates that are dependent on various future
events and market interest rates.

Research, Development and Drug Supply Costs

“Research, development and drug supply costs,” doesclude certain payments we are obligated a&erto clinical research organizations, or
CROs because these contracts are cancelable, eptiom, with notice. However, we historically havet cancelled such contracts. As of
December 31, 2014 , we had accrued $22.4 millitatad to these contracts for
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costs incurred for services provided through Deaam3i, 2014 , and we have approximately $96.9 anilin cancelable future commitments based on
existing contracts as of December 31, 2014 . Thasaunts reflect planned expenditures based orirgisbntracts and do not reflect any future
modifications to, or terminations of, existing c@uts or anticipated or potential new contracts.

Collaborative Arrangements

We have entered into certain research and developroéaboration agreements with third parties thalude the funding of certain development,
manufacturing and commercialization efforts witk ghotential for future milestone and royalty paytsdsy us upon the achievement of pstablishe
developmental, regulatory and/or commercial targets obligation to fund these efforts is contingepon continued involvement in the programs
and/or the lack of any adverse events that couldethe discontinuance of the programs. Pursuandrtoollaboration with BioAxone, BioAxone has
the potential to receive up to $90.0 million indhgla license continuation fee and developmentregdlatory milestone payments; and commercial
milestone payments as well as royalties on futuoelyct sales, if any. We also have royalty and stiiee obligations to the CFFT. Contingent
payments under these agreements become due artdepagy upon achievement of certain milestonesarechot included in the contractual
obligations table above.

Tax-related Obligations

We exclude liabilities pertaining to uncertain fgositions from our summary of contractual obligai@s we cannot make a reliable estimate of
the period of cash settlement with the respectixeng authorities. As of December 31, 2014 , weeh®®.9 million of liabilities associated with
uncertain tax positions. As of December 31, 2044 cannot reasonably estimate the amount we ekp@ety within the next twelve months in
connection with such settlements.

Other Funding Commitments

Our table detailing contractual commitments andgaltions does not include severance payment oligsato certain of our executive officers in
the event of a not-fotause employment termination under existing empknneontracts. We provide information regardings¢hebligations annual
in our proxy statement for our annual meeting @frsholders.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Our discussion and analysis of our financial cdoditind results of operations is based upon ousa@ated financial statements prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipteecin the United States. The preparation ofgHfegncial statements requires us to make certain
estimates and assumptions that affect the repartexints of assets and liabilities, the disclos@ieatingent assets and liabilities at the datthef
consolidated financial statements and the rep@meounts of revenues and expenses during the repmetéods. These items are monitored and
analyzed by management for changes in facts andmstances, and material changes in these estigmikboccur in the future. Changes in estim
are reflected in reported results for the period/inch the change occurs. We base our estimatésstorical experience and various other assumptions
that we believe to be reasonable under the ciramss. Actual results may differ from our estiméaftesist experience or other assumptions do not
turn out to be substantially accurate.

We believe that our application of the followingcaanting policies, each of which requires significudgments and estimates on the part of
management, are the most critical to aid in fuligerstanding and evaluating our reported finaneigllts:

. revenue recognitio

. intangible asset

. collaborations and variable interest entif
. research and development accrt

. commercial supplies and inventori

. income taxe:

. leases; ar

. restructuring expenst
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Our accounting policies, including the ones diseddselow, are more fully described in the Notesupconsolidated financial statements,
including Note A, “Nature of Business and AccougtPolicies,” included in this Annual Report on Fot®K.

Revenue Recognition
Product Revenues, Net

We generate product revenues from sales in theetd§itates and in international markets. We selpooducts principally to a limited number of
specialty pharmacy providers and selected regiwhalesalers in North America as well as governnmmtied and supported customers in
international markets, collectively, our customésr customers in North America subsequently resallproducts to patients and health care
providers. Separately, we have arrangements witlenous third-party payors in North America thatyide for government-mandated and privately-
negotiated rebates, chargebacks and discountse®dgmize net product revenues from sales of oudymts upon delivery to our customers as long as:

. there is persuasive evidence that an arrangemests éetween us and our custor
. collectability is reasonably assured;
. the price is fixed or determinak

In order to conclude that the price is fixed oredetinable, we must be able to calculate our grosdyzt revenues from our customers and
reasonably estimate our net product revenues. fogsgroduct revenues are based on the fixed fmicaur products that we charge our customers.
We estimate our net product revenues by deductorg bur gross product revenues (i) trade allowarsgsh as invoice discounts for prompt payment
and customer fees, (ii) estimated government aivdgrpayor rebates, chargebacks and discounjsgiimated reserves for expected product returns
and (iv) estimated costs of incentives offeredeidain indirect customers, including patients. Wakensignificant estimates and judgments that
materially affect our recognition of net producteaues. Changes in our estimates of net produenhtes could have a material effect on net product
revenues recorded in the period in which we deteerttiat change occurs.

In certain instances, we may be unable to reaspmralpiclude that the price is fixed or determinadiléhe time of delivery, in which case we defer
the recognition of revenues. Once we are able teriahkine that the price is fixed or determinable,reeognize the revenues associated with the umits i
which revenue recognition was deferred.

The value of the rebates, chargebacks and discpunigled to third-party payors per course of tmeatt vary significantly and are based on
government-mandated discounts and our arrangemhtsther third-party payors. Typically, governntenandated discounts in the United States
and Canada are significantly larger than discoprasided to other third-party payors in those caest In order to estimate our total rebates,
chargebacks and discounts, we estimate the pegeeafarescriptions that will be covered by eadtdtparty payor, which is referred to as the payor
mix. We track available information regarding chasgf any, to the payor mix for our products, tw oontractual terms with third-party payors and to
applicable governmental programs and regulatiodderels of our products in the distribution chdnkiée adjust our estimated rebates, chargebacks
and discounts based on new information, includirigrmation regarding actual rebates, chargebacttsiezounts for our products, as it becomes
available. Claims by third-party payors for rebat¥smrgebacks and discounts frequently are suldriittels significantly after the related sales,
potentially resulting in adjustments in the perindvhich the new information becomes known.

We have withdrawn INCIVEK from the market in theitddl StatesA s of December 31, 2014, we maintained a reserepmfoximately $16.2
million for government rebates for INCIVEK. Thesgtcally is no deadline by which government paywoisst submit claims, and as a result we expect
to monitor this reserve at least through 2016nl&djustment to this reserve is required, we expp@abuld be reflected as either an increase oredesz
to net product revenues in the period in whichatgistment is made.

Our customers generally have the right to returmpemed unprescribed packages subject to contrdichigtions. To date returns have been
minimal and, based on inventory levels held byaustomers and our distribution model, we beliewa thturns of products will continue to be
minimal. We track actual returns by individual puation lots and will continue to monitor inventdeyels in the distribution channel. If necessarg, w
will adjust our estimated product returns based@n information as it becomes available.
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Collaborative Revenues

We recognize revenues generated through collaberegsearch, development and/or commercializatipeeanents. The terms of these
agreements typically include payment to us of aneare of the following: nonrefundable, up-frorddnse fees; development and commercial
milestone payments; funding of research and/orldgeweent activities; payments for services we prewisrough our third-party manufacturing
network; and royalties on net sales of licensedlpects. Each of these types of payments resultsliaborative revenues, except for revenues from
royalties on net sales of licensed products, whrehclassified as royalty revenues.

For each collaborative research, development amdfomercialization agreement that results in reeepwe determine (i) whether multiple
deliverables exist, (ii) whether the undeliveregheénts have value to the customer on a sédowke basis, (iii) how the deliverables should &gasater
and (iv) how the consideration should be allocateithe deliverables. For arrangements enteredointoaterially modified after January 1, 2011, we
allocate consideration in an arrangement usingelaive selling price method based on our begtnasé of selling price of deliverables if we do not
have vendor-specific objective evidence or thirdypavidence. As part of the accounting for thegeeements, we must develop assumptions that
require judgment to determine the best estimatellihg price. We utilize key assumptions to detemthe best estimate of selling price, which may
include patient enrollment requirements from retpriaauthorities, development timelines, reimbursetirates for personnel costs, discount rates, anc
estimated third-party development costs.

In the fourth quarter of 2013, we amended our bolfation agreement with Janssen NV, and were redu@ make significant estimates regarding
(i) the determination of whether or not the agreemeas materially modified and (ii) the estimatetlisg price for the remaining telaprevir
development activities. We recognized $182.4 millid collaborative revenues pursuant to the colation agreement in the fourth quarter of 2013.
This amount was primarily attributable to (i) theanconsideration received from Janssen NV, inclgidire $152.0 million fourth quarter 2013
payment and the remaining deferred revenues refatéee 2006 up-front payment less (ii) our besineste of selling price for the remaining telaprevi
development activities. As of December 31, 201k, remaining deferred revenue balance relatedigsda NV was not material.

I ntangible Assets

We maintain an indefinite-lived in-process reseamtl development asset on our consolidated bakdress until either the research and
development project underlying it is completediar asset becomes impaired. When we determineritegset has become impaired or we abandon a
project, we write down the carrying value of thiated intangible asset to its fair value and takéngairment charge in the period in which the
impairment occurs.

We assess the fair value of assets, including giltdenassets such as in-process research and gewehb assets, using a variety of methods,
including present-value models that are based opdtiple probability-weighted scenarios involvirfietdevelopment and potential commercialization
of the acquired drug candidates. The present-vahdels require us to make significant assumptieganding the estimates that market participants
would make in evaluating a drug candidate, inclgdhre probability of successfully completing cliali¢rials and obtaining regulatory approval to
market the drug candidate, the timing of and thgeeted costs to complete in-process research amdogenent projects, future net cash flows from
potential drug sales, which are based on estintdit®e sales price of the drug, the number of p&igvho will be diagnosed and treated and our
competitive position in the marketplace, and appeabe discount and tax rates.

We test our intangible assets for impairment oammual basis as of October 1, and more frequehitiglicators are present or changes in
circumstance suggest that impairment may existn&uhat could result in an impairment, or triggarinterim impairment assessment, include the
receipt of additional clinical or nonclinical datgarding our drug candidate or a potentially cdtitipe drug candidate, changes in the clinical
development program for a drug candidate or newarimétion regarding potential sales for the drugcdnnection with each annual impairment
assessment and any interim impairment assessmempare the fair value of the asset as of the afahe assessment with the carrying value of the
asset on our consolidated balance sheet.

In 2013, we incurred intangible asset impairmemtrghs of $412.9 million and $250.6 million relatedcontinuing operations and discontinued
operations, respectively, that related to drug hatds for the treatment of HCV infection. As ofd@enber 31, 2014 , we had $29.0 million of
indefinite-lived intangible assets recorded onlmalance sheet related to a VIE.
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Collaborations; Variable I nterest Entities

Our collaborations require us to apply accountialicies that involve significant judgments and thave a material effect on our consolidated
financial statements. Under applicable accountingance, as a result of the relationships estaddishrough collaboration agreements, our
collaborators may be deemed to be variable intemrggies, or VIEs, our licenses may result in dalkzde interest in collaborators as a whole and our
being the primary beneficiary of VIEs. As a resulg are required to consolidate VIEs financialestants into our financial statements for the period
during which we have a variable interest in the ¥Hgl are the VIE's primary beneficiary, and if vaéer determine that we no longer have a variable
interest or are no longer the primary beneficiaeyare required to deconsolidate the VIE. In addjtibwe determine that we no longer have
significant continuing involvement with a VIE, itgerations and direct expenses incurred by useflected in our discontinued operations
presentation.

We believe that the following effects of the coidation and deconsolidation of VIEs on our consatiédl financial statements are the most
significant:

. Beginning in the fourth quarter of 2014, we epasolidating all of BioAxone’s expenses and rewninto our consolidated statements of
operations, eliminating all intercompany balanaed siansactions. As of December 31, 2014, our dataed balance sheet includes
BioAxone’s balances.

. As of September 30, 2014, we concluded that evenger had significant continuing involvementhwilios due to our intent and ability to
terminate the Alios Agreement, which we terminadedng the fourth quarter of 2014; therefore, tpemtions of Alios, including
collaboration expenses reimbursed by Vertex aregmted as discontinued operations for the periogisepted in these consolidated financial
statements.

. In 2013, the deconsolidation of Alios resultediigain of $68.2 million attributable to Vertexhel$68.2 milliongain was approximately eqt
to the difference between (i) losses we recorde2Ditll and 2012 based on increases in the fair dloentingent milestone payments and
royalties payable by us to Alios and (ii) the aggrte of $120.0 million in up-front and milestone/meents that we made to Alios pursuant to
the Alios collaboration.

. In each period, we recorded net loss (incontepatable to the Alios noncontrolling interest.imet loss (income) reflected Alios’ net loss
(income) for the period as adjusted for gains asdds in the fair value of the contingent milestoagments and royalties payable by us to
Alios. Determining the fair value of the contingemilestone payments and royalties payable by édits required us to make significant
estimates regarding the probability and potenitaing of achieving each of the milestones purstanie agreement, future potential net s
of the HCV nucleotide analogues licensed from Alosl appropriate discount and tax rates. Theslssts (income) attributable to the Al
noncontrolling interest are included in loss froimcontinued operations for 2012 and 2013.

Research and Development Accruals

Research and development expenses, including asyfuntted through research and development colltibog are expensed as incurred. When
third-party service providers’ billing terms do retincide with our period-end, we are required skenestimates of our obligations to those third
parties, including clinical trial and pharmaceutidavelopment costs, contractual services costtsdor drug supply, marketing expenses and
infrastructure expenses incurred in a given acéogmeriod and record accruals at the end of thegeWe base our estimates on our knowledge of
the research and development programs, servicésped for the period, experience with relatedwdittis and the expected duration of the thpatty
service contract, where applicable.

Commercial Suppliesand Inventories

We began capitalizing the costs of our KALYDECOeéntories on January 1, 2012 and the costs of ouadaftor inventories on July 1, 2014."
capitalize inventories produced in preparationifidiating sales of a drug candidate when the eelatrug candidate is considered to have a high
likelihood of regulatory approval and the relatedts are expected to be recoverable through sdfedfiventories. In determining whether or not to
capitalize such inventories, we evaluate, amongrdtctors, information regarding the drug canditfasafety and efficacy, the status of regulatory
submissions and communications with regulatory @ities and the outlook for commercial sales, idatg the existence of current or anticipated
competitive drugs and the availability of reimbumat. In addition, we evaluate risks associatetl mianufacturing the drug candidate and the
remaining shelf life of the inventories. After wedin capitalizing inventories, we
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perform an assessment of the recoverability oftapéd inventory during each reporting period, anide down any excess and obsolete inventori
their net realizable value in the period in whibk tmpairment is first identified.

In 2013 and 2012, following periodic assessmentbi®fecoverability of our inventories, we recoradthin cost of product revenues an aggre
of $10.4 million and $133.2 million , respectivétycharges primarily related to excess and obsd@#VEK inventories based on our analysis of our
inventory levels in relation to our commercial @atk for INCIVEK. As of December 31, 2014, all ofrdaventories are related to KALYDECO and
lumacaftor in combination with ivacaftor. Periodissessments of the recoverability of capitalizedscmvolve significant estimates and judgments on
the part of management.

Income Taxes

We maintain a valuation allowance on our net ofirggdbsses and other deferred tax assets becausaweean extended history of annual losses.
Our U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwaadaled approximately $3.6 billion as of DecemberZ114 . On an annual basis, we reassess the
valuation allowance for deferred income tax asgdter consideration of all the evidence, both fgsiand negative, we continue to maintain a
valuation allowance on the deferred tax asset &eoémber 31, 2014 because it is more likely thatrthrat the deferred tax asset will not be realized
In future periods, if we determine that it is mtikely than not that the deferred tax asset wilkealized, (i) the valuation allowance would be
decreased, (ii) a portion or all of the deferredaaset would be reflected on our consolidatedntalaheet and (iii) we would record non-cash benefi
in our consolidated statements of operations relttehe reflection of the deferred tax asset ancomsolidated balance sheet.

Leases

In 2011, we entered into two leases for our corgon@adquarters. Our corporate headquarters wételbring the period from 2011 through
December 2013. We lease our corporate headquatiessant to leases that expire in 2028, subjestitaight to extend the leases for an additional 10
years. Because we were involved in the construgiiofect, we were deemed for accounting purposeeg tihve owner of the buildings during the
construction period. Accordingly, we recorded peojeonstruction costs incurred by the landlordraasset and a related financing obligation in
“Property and equipment, net” and “Constructiorafining lease obligation,” respectively, on our adidsited balance sheets.

Upon completion of the construction of the buildingre evaluated the leases and determined th&dbkes did not meet the criteria for “sale-
leaseback” treatment. Accordingly, we depreciateabset and incur interest expense related tartaeding obligation recorded on our balance sheet.
We bifurcate our lease payments pursuant to treegemto (i) a portion that is allocated to thddings and (ii) a portion that is allocated to thed on
which the buildings were constructed. The portibthe lease obligations allocated to the landésated as an operating lease. In connection with the
leases for our corporate headquarters, in 2015expect to incur approximately $60 million in irgst expense, $13 million in depreciation expense
and $7 million in operating expenses.

Restructuring Expenses

We have adopted several plans to restructure ailityaoperations for which we have incurred resturing expenses in the three years ended
December 31, 2014. In particular, in 2014, we rdedr$50.9 million in costs associated with exit digposal activities related to the relocation of o
headquarters in Massachusetts from Cambridge tmBa@®d maintained a liability related to thesevitats of $33.4 million as of December 31, 2014.
Our initial estimate of our liabilities for net ooigg costs associated with these facility obligagiare recorded at fair value. In estimating theeeses
and liabilities related to these facilities, weiné probability-weighted discounted cash-flowsof ongoing lease obligations. In estimating the
expense and liability under our lease obligatieves estimate (i) the costs to be incurred to satisfital and build-out commitments under the lease
(including operating costs), (ii) the lead-time egsary to sublease the space, (iii) the projecibitase rental rates and (iv) the anticipated thrsiof
subleases. We use a credit-adjusted risk-fredoatscount the estimated cash flows.

We review our estimates and assumptions on atdeqsarterly basis. We intend to continue suchesesiuntil the termination of these facility
lease obligations and will make whatever modifimasi we believe are necessary, based on our beghgmd, to reflect any changed circumstances
estimates have changed in the past, and may climtige future, resulting in additional adjustmetatshe estimate of these liabilities. Changes to ou
estimate of these liabilities are recorded as aufdit restructuring expenses (credits). In addjtlmecause our estimate of these liabilities inciuitie
application of
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a discount rate to reflect the time-value of momveg record imputed interest costs related to thabdities each quarter. These costs are included
restructuring expenses on our consolidated statsnoéioperations.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Refer to Note A, “Nature of Business and Accounfdlicies,” in the accompanying notes to the cadated financial statements for a discussion
of recent accounting pronouncements. There wergemoaccounting pronouncements adopted during 2@dtsad a material effect on our financial
statements.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

As part of our investment portfolio, we own finaaldnstruments that are sensitive to market rigk& investment portfolio is used to preserve our
capital until it is required to fund operations;lunding our research and development activitiendNaf these market risk-sensitive instruments afé h
for trading purposes. We do not have derivativariirial instruments in our investment portfolio.

Interest Rate Risk

We invest our cash in a variety of financial ingtents, principally securities issued by the U.Segoment and its agencies, investment-grade
corporate bonds and commercial paper, and moneletfamds. These investments are denominated inddlf&rs. All of our interest-bearing
securities are subject to interest rate risk anddcdecline in value if interest rates fluctuatabStantially all of our investment portfolio cortsif
marketable securities with active secondary orleesarkets to help ensure portfolio liquidity, amd have implemented guidelines limiting the term-
to-maturity of our investment instruments. Duehte tonservative nature of these instruments, weotlbelieve that we have a material exposure to
interest rate risk.

Foreign Exchange Market Risk

As a result of our foreign operations, we face axpe to movements in foreign currency exchange ratémarily the Euro, Swiss Franc, British
Pound, Australian Dollar and Canadian Dollar agdims U.S. dollar. The current exposures arise aniignfrom cash, accounts receivable,
intercompany receivables, payables and inventdBieth positive and negative affects to our net news from international product sales from
movements in foreign currency exchange rates atajwamitigated by the natural, opposite affdeat foreign currency exchange rates have on our
international operating costs and expenses.

We have a foreign currency management programtitobjective of reducing the impact of exchande flaictuations on our operating results
and forecasted revenues and expenses denomindt@dign currencies. The change in fair value ektnforeign currency forward contracts included
in accumulated other comprehensive loss and thesdair value of foreign currency forward assets iabilities included on the consolidated balance
sheet as of December 31, 2014 were not material.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
The information required by this Item 8 is contairen pages F-1 through F-48 of this Annual ReporEorm 10-K.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
Not applicable.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(1) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedure The Company’s chief executive officer and chiegfinial officer, after evaluating the
effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure contald procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) ahel Fad-15(e) promulgated under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) as of the etftegieriod covered by this Annual Report on ForaKl@ave concluded that, based on such
evaluation, the Company’s disclosure controls aodgdures were effective. In designing and evaigatie disclosure controls and procedures, the
Company’s management recognized that any contnaleocedures, no matter how well designed andab@ercan provide only reasonable
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assurance of achieving the desired control objestiand the Company’s management necessarily wased to apply its judgment in evaluating the
cost-benefit relationship of possible controls anocedures.

(2) Management’s Annual Report on Internal ControlOver Financial Reporting. The management of the Company is responsible for
establishing and maintaining adequate internalrobover financial reporting. Internal control oviarancial reporting is defined in Rule 13a-15(fida
Rule 15d-15(f) promulgated under the Securitiesnarge Act of 1934, as amended, as a process dddigner under the supervision of, the
Company'’s principal executive and principal finata@fficers and effected by the Company’s Boar®wéctors, management and other personnel, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the réjabilfinancial reporting and the preparation mfancial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting iptee The Company’s internal control over finahegporting includes those policies and
procedures that:

. pertain to the maintenance of records thate@sonable detail, accurately and fairly reflecttthasactions and dispositions of the assets of the
Company;
. provide reasonable assurance that transactien®eorded as necessary to permit preparationafdial statements in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles, andréipts and expenditures of the Company are beadg only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of tgany; and

. provide reasonable assurance regarding preveatimely detection of unauthorized acquisitiose or disposition of the Company’s assets
that could have a material effect on the finansiatements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @etmisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgect to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedunay deteriorate.

The Company’s management assessed the effectivehémsCompany’s internal control over financia@borting as of December 31, 2014 . In
making this assessment, it used the criteria s#t fio the Internal Control—Integrated Frameworkuisd by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 &aork)(COSO). Based on its assessment, the Compamnagement has concluded that, as of
December 31, 2014 , the Company’s internal comivel financial reporting is effective based on thosteria.

The Company’s independent registered public acé@ogifirm, Ernst & Young LLP, issued an attestatieport on the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting. See Section 4 below.

(3) Changes in Internal Controls.During the quarter ended December 31, 2014 , there no changes in the Company’s internal contret o
financial reporting that materially affected, oe aeasonably likely to materially affect, the Comypa internal control over financial reporting othe
than the continued implementation of a new humaources software platform and the upgrade of theg2amy’s Oracle enterprise resource planning
system, together with related adjustments to the@2my’'s systems controls, that began in the thisatigr of 2014.
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(4) Report of Independent Registered Public Accouintg Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated

We have audited Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorpoateternal control over financial reporting asiz@écember 31, 2014 , based on criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framdwssued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organinatif the Treadway Commission (2013
framework) (the COSO criteria). Vertex Pharmacelsidncorporated’s management is responsible fantaiaing effective internal control over
financial reporting, and for its assessment ofeffiectiveness of internal control over financigbeeting included in the accompanying Management’s
Annual Report on Internal Control Over FinanciapBeing. Our responsibility is to express an opindm the company'internal control over financ
reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadgdof the Public Company Accounting Oversight@d&nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to abteasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal cordwelr financial reporting, assessing the risk that
material weakness exists, testing and evaluatiaglésign and operating effectiveness of internaifrobbased on the assessed risk, and performing
such other procedures as we considered necesstéugy dircumstances. We believe that our audit pleia reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonableassuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statetsiéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A company’s
internal control over financial reporting includé®se policies and procedures that (1) pertaiheéaraintenance of records that, in reasonablel detai
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions disgositions of the assets of the company; (2) idpxeasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation ofi¢iahstatements in accordance with generally aecegccounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made ordg@ordance with authorizations of management ardtdirs of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or tidetgction of unauthorized acquisition, use, opatstion of the company’s assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohbver financial reporting may not prevent or @etmisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgect to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedunay deteriorate.

In our opinion, Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporatedntained, in all material respects, effectivieinal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2014 , based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the consolidated
balance sheets of Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incomaiad of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and thedetainsolidated statements of operations,
comprehensive income (loss), shareholders’ equityreoncontrolling interest, and cash flows for eatthe three years in the period ended
December 31, 2014 of Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incatpd and our report dated February 13, 2015 esedesn unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
Boston, Massachusetts
February 13, 2015
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Not applicable.
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PART Il

Portions of our definitive Proxy Statement for 2.5 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, or 2015 Pigtatement, are incorporated by reference
into this Part Il of our Annual Report on Form KO-

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

The information regarding directors required by tém 10 will be included in our 2015 Proxy Stagésnand is incorporated herein by reference.
We expect this information to be provided undertEion of Directors,” “Corporate Governance andkRiEanagement,” “Shareholder Proposals for
the 2015 Annual Meeting and Nominations for Dire¢ttSection 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reportingr@pliance” and “Code of Conduct.” The
information regarding executive officers requirgdtbis Item 10 as well as certain information retiag our directors is included in Part | of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item 11 will becinded in the 2015 Proxy Statement and is incotpdrherein by reference. We expect this
information to be provided under “Compensation Catiee Interlocks and Insider Participation,” “Conmgation Discussion and Analysis,”
“Compensation and Equity Tables,” “Director Compsgian,” “Management Development and Compensatiom@ittee Report” and/or “Corporate
Governance and Risk Management.”

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

The information required by this Item 12 will becinded in the 2015 Proxy Statement and is incotpdrierein by reference. We expect this
information to be provided under “Security Ownepsbf Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” ‘@&glity Compensation Plan Information.”

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item 13 will becinded in the 2015 Proxy Statement and is incotpdrherein by reference. We expect this
information to be provided under “ Election of Diters,” “Corporate Governance and Risk ManageméApproval of Related Person Transactions”
and “Transactions with Related Persons.”

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item 14 will becinded in the 2015 Proxy Statement and is incotpdrherein by reference. We expect this
information to be provided under “Ratification bktAppointment of Independent Registered Publicodoting Firm.”

69




PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a)(1) The Financial Statements required to bel filg ltems 8 and 15(c) of Form 10-K, and filed nétl, are as follows:

Report of Independent Registered Public Accourf&imm

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yermded December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Incomss{Lfor the years ended December 31, 2014, 20122

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,012013

Page Number in
this Form 10-K

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ EquityNamtontrolling Interest for the years ended Deocen®i, 2014, 2013 and 2012

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the ye@ded December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

F-1
F-2
F-3
F-4
F5
F-6
F-7

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules have beerteahbiecause they are either not applicable orefeired information is included in the

consolidated financial statements or notes thdigted in (a)(1) above.

(a)(3) Exhibits.

The following is a list of exhibits filed as paiftthis Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Incorporated by
Reference herein

Exhibit from—Form Filing Date/ SEC File/
Number Exhibit Description or Schedule Period Covered Reg. Number
3.1 Restated Articles of Organization of Vertex Phareudicals Incorporated, as 10-Q August 11, 2008 0009319
amended. (Exhibit 3.1)
3.2 By-laws of Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporatecaraended and restated as of 8-K February 5, 2014 0009319
February 5, 2014. (Exhibit 3.1)
4.1 Specimen stock certificate. S-1 July 18, 1991 330966
(Exhibit 4.1)
Collaboration Agreements
10.1 Research, Development and Commercialization Agregrdated as of May 24, 2004, 10-Q/A August 19, 2011 0009318
between Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated antlddyibrosis Foundation (Exhibit 10.2)
Therapeutics Incorporated.
10.2 Amendment No. 1 to Research, Development and Couoiatieation Agreement, 10-K March 16, 2006 00@9319
dated as of January 6, 2006, between Vertex Phautieals Incorporated and Cystic (Exhibit 10.9)
Fibrosis Foundation Therapeutics Incorporated.t
10.3 Amendment No. 2 to Research, Development and Couniatieation Agreement, 10-Q/A August 19, 2011 0009318
dated as of March 17, 2006, between Vertex Phamiae¢s Incorporated and Cystic (Exhibit 10.6)
Fibrosis Foundation Therapeutics Incorporated.
10.4 Amendment No. 5 to Research, Development and Couniatieation Agreement, 10-Q August 9, 2011 0009319
effective as of April 1, 2011, between Vertex Phatceuticals Incorporated and Cystic (Exhibit 10.3)
Fibrosis Foundation Therapeutics Incorporated.t
Leases
10.5 Lease, dated May 5, 2011, between Fifty NortherarAwe LLC and Vertex 10-Q August 9, 2011 0009319
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated.t (Exhibit 10.4)
10.6 Lease, dated May 5, 2011, between Eleven Fan Bigleard LLC and Vertex 10-Q August 9, 2011 0009319
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated. (Exhibit 10.5)
10.7 Lease, dated as of January 18, 2001, between KeSgladre, LLC and Vertex 10-K March 26, 2001 0009319

Pharmaceuticals Incorporated.t
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Incorporated by
Reference herein

Exhibit Filed with from—Form Filing Date/ SEC File/
Number Exhibit Description this report or Schedule Period Covered Reg. Number
Financing Agreements
10.8 Credit Agreement, dated as of July 9, 2014, amoagex Pharmaceuticals 10-Q July 31. 2014 00019319
Incorporated, Macquarie US Trading LLC and the otéeders party thereto. (Exhibit 10.2) y b,
Equity Plans
10.9 1996 Stock and Option Plan, as amended and restatedMarch 14, 2005.* 10-K March 16, 2005 00@9319
(Exhibit 10.3)
10.10Form of Stock Option Grant under 1996 Stock andddgd®lan.* 8-K February 9, 2005 0009319
(Exhibit 10.1)
10.11 Amended and Restated 2006 Stock and Option Plan.* 10-Q August 8, 2012 00@9319
(Exhibit 10.3)
10.12 Form of Stock Option Grant under 2006 Stock andddgd®lan (granted prior to July 8-K May 15, 2006 00a9319
30, 2013).* (Exhibit 10.2)
10.13Form of Restricted Stock Award under 2006 Stock@pton Plan (granted prior to 8-K May 15, 2006 00a9319
July 30, 2013).* (Exhibit 10.3)
10.14 Form of Restricted Stock Award (Performance Aceaabt Restricted Stock) under 8-K May 15, 2006 00a9319
2006 Stock and Option Plan (granted prior to JOly2913).* (Exhibit 10.4)
10.15 Form of Stock Option Grant-Performance Acceler@@@d Stock-Options.* 10-K February 19, 2010 0009318
(Exhibit 10.33)
10.16 2013 Stock and Option Plan, as amended .* DEF 14A March 28, 2014 00@9319
(Appendix A)
10.17 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement ungei3 Stock and Option Plan.* X
10.18 Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under 2013 SémeckOption Plan.* X

10.19 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under 281k and Option Plan.*
10.20 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement underended and Restated 2006 X
Stock and Option Plan (granted on or after July28d.3).*

10.21 Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under AmendedRestated 2006 Stock and X
Option Plan (granted on or after July 30, 2013).*

10.22 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under Anezhdnd Restated 2006 Stock X
and Option Plan (granted on or after July 30, 2013)

10.23 Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated Employee SRarkhase Plan, as amended and 10-Q August 8, 2012 00@9319
restated.* (Exhibit 10.4)
Agreements with Executive Officers and Directors
10.24 Agreement between Jeffrey M. Leiden and Vertexedi@ecember 14, 2011.* 10-K February 22, 2012 00D9318
(Exhibit 10.34)
10.25 First Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated Bsez 10, 2014, by and 8-K December 15, 2014 0Qm319
between Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated ariceye¥l. Leiden.* (Exhibit 10.1)
10.26 Employee Non-disclosure, Non-competition and Inieergt Agreement between 10-K February 22, 2012 00D9319
Jeffrey M. Leiden and Vertex, dated December 14120 (Exhibit 10.35)
10.27 Employment Agreement, dated as of August 27, 2B&8yeen Vertex 10-Q November 6, 2012 0009319
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated and Stuart Arbuckle.* (Exhibit 10.1)
10.28 Change of Control Agreement, dated as of AugusRQ@T2, between Vertex 10-Q November 6, 2012 0009319
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated and Stuart Arbuckle.* (Exhibit 10.2)
10.29 Employment Agreement, dated as of June 11, 2012glea Vertex Pharmaceuticals 10-Q August 8, 2012 0009319
Incorporated and Kenneth L. Horton.* (Exhibit 10.1)
10.30 Change of Control Agreement, dated as of June@2,between Vertex 10-Q August 8, 2012 00@9319
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated and Kenneth L. Horton. (Exhibit 10.2)
10.31 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datefiN@vember 8, 2004, 10-Q November 9, 2004 0009319
between Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated ané.|&mith.* (Exhibit 10.13)
10.32 Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employigrgement between lan F. 10-K February 17, 2009 0009318
Smith and Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated ddaezember 29, 2008.* (Exhibit 10.66)
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Incorporated by
Reference herein

Exhibit Filed with from—Form Filing Date/ SEC File/
Number Exhibit Description this report or Schedule Period Covered Reg. Number
10.33Form of Employee Non-Disclosure and Inventions Agnent.* S-1 May 30, 1991 3310966
(Exhibit 10.4)
10.34 Vertex Employee Compensation Plan.* X
10.35Vertex Pharmaceuticals Non-Employee Board Compiemsét 10-K February 22, 2012 00D9318
(Exhibit 10.57)
Subsidiaries
21.1 Subsidiaries of Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated X
Consent
23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing, Ernst & Young LLP. X
Certifications
31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer undgection 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley X
Act of 2002.
31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer und8ection 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley X
Act of 2002.
32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer ancet€hief Financial Officer under X
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101.INS XBRL Instance X
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema X
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation X
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels X
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation X
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition X

* Management contract, compensatory plan oreagest.

tConfidential portions of this document have beéedfseparately with the Securities and Exchanger@@ission pursuant to a request for confidentialttresnt
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto dutha@nized.
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February 13, 2015 By: Isl Jeffrey M. Leiden

Jeffrey M. Leiden
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélpthe following persons on behalf of the
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Jeffrey M. Leiden Officer) February 13, 2015

/s/ lan F. Smith
lan F. Smith

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi(ferincipal Financial Officer) February 13, 2015

/s/ Paul M. Silva
Paul M. Silva

Senior Vice President and Corporate Controllem@pial Accounting Officer) February 13, 2015

/s/ Joshua S. Boger i
Director

Joshua S. Boger February 13, 2015
/sl Terrence C. Kearney )
Director
Terrence C. Kearney February 13, 2015
/s/ Yuchun Lee )
Director
Yuchun Lee February 13, 2015
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Director
Margaret G. McGlynn February 13, 2015
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- Director
Wayne J. Riley February 13, 2015
/sl Bruce I. Sachs Direct
Bruce I. Sachs rector February 13, 2015
/sl Elaine S. Ullian Direct
irector
Elaine S. Ullian February 13, 2015
/s/ William D. Young Director
William D. Young February 13, 2015
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balgineets of Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated Becember 31, 2014 and 2013 , and
the related consolidated statements of operatamprehensive income (loss), shareholders’ equityreoncontrolling interest, and cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended Dece®ih@014 . These financial statements are theoresbility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on thesarftial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighamigUnited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaeasonable assurance about whether the finastaieinents are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidsnpporting the amounts and disclosures in then&i@h statements. An audit also includes assessing
the accounting principles used and significaninesties made by management, as well as evaluatirgy#rall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable asisur opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referr@aove present fairly, in all material respedis, ¢onsolidated financial position of Vertex
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated at December 31, 26d2@13 , and the consolidated results of its djprsiand its cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2014 ,rifocmity with U.S. generally accepted accountinggiples.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@’nited States), Vertex
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated’s internal controlrdvencial reporting as of December 31, 2014 elasn the criteria established in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSpiong Organizations of the Treadway Commissid@igframework) and our report dated
February 13, 2015 expressed an unqualified opitiiereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Boston, Massachusetts

February 13, 2015
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VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Consolidated Statements of Operations

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Revenues:
Product revenues, net $ 487,82:  $ 837,64! $ 1,333,45!
Royalty revenues 40,91¢ 156,59: 141,49¢
Collaborative revenues 51,67¢ 217,73t 52,08¢
Total revenues 580,41! 1,211,97! 1,527,04:
Costs and expenses:
Cost of product revenues 39,72t 88,97¢ 236,74:
Royalty expenses 21,26: 41,29¢ 43,14
Research and development expenses 855,50¢ 882,09 765,90
Sales, general and administrative expenses 305,40¢ 356,18t 432,68:
Restructuring expenses 50,92¢ 40,52: 1,84¢
Intangible asset impairment charges _ 412,90( _
Total costs and expenses 1,272,82 1,821,98 1,480,31!
(Loss) income from operations (692,417 (610,009 46,727
Interest expense, net (72,867 (22,926 (15,040
Other income, net 30,40( 6,89( 30¢
(Loss) income from continuing operations beforevigion for (benefit from) income taxes (734,879 (626,049 31,99¢
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 6,95¢ (122,42) (279)
(Loss) income from continuing operations (741,83) (503,627 32,27:
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax (fi§ngrovision of $0, $(166,145) and $39,029, rejwely (912) (183,929 (83,406
Net loss (742,74) (687,55() (51,13%)
Loss (income) from discontinued operations attabig to noncontrolling interest — 242,52. (55,897
Loss attributable to noncontrolling interest 4,19( — —
Net loss attributable to Vertex $ (738,55) $ (445,02) $ (107,03)
Amounts attributable to Vertex:
(Loss) income from continuing operations $ (737,64) $ (503,62) $ 32,27:
(Loss) income from discontinued operations 912 58,59¢ (139,30
Net loss attributable to Vertex $ (738,55) $ (445,02 $ (107,03
Amounts per share attributable to Vertex commonmedtaders:
Net (loss) income from continuing operations:
Basic $ 3819 $ 229 $ 0.1¢
Diluted $ (319 $ (229 $ 0.1%
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations:
Basic $ — 3 0.2¢ $ (0.65)
Diluted $ — % 0.2¢ $ (0.65)
Net loss:
Basic $ 3819 $ 1.99 $ (0.50
Diluted $ (319 $ (199 $ (0.50
Shares used in per share calculations:
Basic 235,30° 224,90t 211,94t
Diluted 235,30° 224,90t 215,26:

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofémsolidated financial statements.
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VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (ks)
(in thousands)

Year ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Net loss $ (742,74 $ (687,55() $ (51,13%)
Changes in other comprehensive loss:

Unrealized holding (losses) gains on marketablergges (165) (154) 30¢E

Unrealized gains (losses) on foreign currency foda@ntracts 2,03¢ 23 —

Foreign currency translation adjustment (64€) 421 19¢
Total changes in other comprehensive loss 1,22: 244 50:3
Comprehensive loss (741,52) (687,30¢) (50,637)
Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrollimgriest 4,19C — —
Comprehensive loss attributable to Vertex $ (737,33) $ (687,300 $ (50,63:)

The accompanying notes are an integral part o€tinsolidated financial statements.
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VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

December 31,

2014 2013
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 625,25¢ $ 569,29¢
Marketable securities, available for sale 761,84 895,77
Accounts receivable, net 75,96¢ 85,51
Inventories 30,84¢ 14,147
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 52,59: 23,83¢
Total current assets 1,546,51 1,588,571
Property and equipment, net 715,81. 696,91:
Intangible assets 29,00( —
Goodwill 39,91¢ 30,99:
Other assets 3,441 2,562
Total assets $ 2,334,670 $ 2,319,04
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 71,19 $ 49,327
Accrued expenses 209,67t 271,07
Deferred revenues, current portion 17,46¢ 21,51(
Accrued restructuring expense, current portion 33,107 14,28¢
Capital lease obligations, current portion 17,80¢ 16,89
Senior secured term loan, current portion 14,20¢ —
Other liabilities, current portion 4,797 24,73¢
Total current liabilities 368,25: 397,82¢
Deferred revenues, excluding current portion 27,80¢ 49,45¢
Accrued restructuring expense, excluding currentiqro 12,74¢ 14,067
Capital lease obligations, excluding current partio 39,29¢ 48,75¢
Deferred tax liability 15,04< _
Construction financing lease obligation, excludugrent portion 473,07: 440,93
Senior secured term loan, excluding current portion 280,56¢ —
Other liabilities, excluding current portion 21,700 11,59(
Total liabilities 1,238,49 962,63t
Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 1,000,000 shar#®rized; none issued and outstanding at Dece®ih&@014 and 2013 _ _
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 300,000,000 shatb®rdzed at December 31, 2014 and 2013; 241,7848€ 233,788,852 shares
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2014 art] 28dpectively 2,38t 2,32(
Additional paid-in capital 5,777,15. 5,321,28i
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 917 (30€)
Accumulated deficit (4,705,45i) (3,966,89)
Total Vertex shareholders’ equity 1,075,001 1,356,40!
Noncontrolling interest 21,177 —
Total shareholders’ equity 1,096,18: 1,356,40!
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 2,334,67 $ 2,319,04

The accompanying notes are an integral part o€tinsolidated financial statements.
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VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity antloncontrolling Interest

(in thousands)

Accumulated

Common Stock Other Total Vertex Total Redeemable
Additional Comprehensive Accumulated Shareholders’ Noncontrolling Shareholders’ Noncontrolling
Shares Amount Paid-in Capital Loss Deficit Equity Interest Equity Interest
Balance, December 31, 2011 209,300 $ 2,072 $ 4,20065 $ (2,059 $ (3,41483) $ 786,84 $ 141,63. $ 92847t $ 37,03¢
Unrealized holding gains on
marketable securities 30¢ 30E 30E
Foreign currency translation
adjustment 19¢ 19¢ 19¢
Net (loss) income (107,03)) (107,03)) 55,891 (51,13
Issuance of common stock under
benefit plans 7,98% s 201,76( 201,83 15E 201,99:
Stock-based compensation expense 115.05¢ 115.05¢ 481 115.53¢
Tax benefit from equity compensati 1,971 1,971 1,971
Change in liquidation value of
noncontrolling interest (1,499 (1,499 1,49¢
Balance, December 31, 2012 217,28 $ 2,14¢ $ 451944 % (550 $ (3,521,86) $ 999,18 $ 196,67 $ 1,19585 $ 38,53(
Unrealized holding losses on
marketable securities (159 (159 (154)
Unrealized losses on foreign curren
forward contracts (23 (23 (23
Foreign currency translation
adjustment 421 421 421
Net loss (445,029 (445,029 (242,52)) (687,55()
Issuance of common stock under
benefit plans 8,22¢ 88 271,71 271,80: (63) 271,73t
Convertible senior subordinated not
(due 2015) conversion 8,27¢ 83 402,18: 402,26! 402,26!
Stock-based compensation expense 127.88: 127.88: 46€ 128.35:
Restructuring expense related to
benefit plans 1,317 1,317 1,31z
Tax benefit from equity compensation (1,252) (1,252) (1,252)
Noncontrolling interest upon
deconsolidation 45,44 45,44¢ (38,53()
Balance, December 31, 2013 233,78¢ $ 2,32 $ 5,321,281 $ (306) $ (3,966,89) $ 1,356,40 $ — $ 135640 $ —_
Unrealized holding losses on
marketable securities (165) (165) (165)
Unrealized gains on foreign currency
forward contracts 2,03¢ 2,03¢ 2,03¢
Foreign currency translation
adjustment (64¢€) (64¢€) (64¢€)
Net loss (738,55Y (738,55Y (4,190 (742,74Y)
Issuance of common stock under
benefit plans 7,97¢ 65 274,74: 274,80t 274,80t
Stock-based compensation expense 178.96! 178.96! 178.96!
Tax benefit from equity compensati 2,16( 2,16( 2,16(
Noncontrolling interest upon R B
consolidation 25,36 25,36
Balance, December 31, 2014 241,76: $ 2388 $ 577715 $ 917 $ (4,705,45) $ 1,075,000 $ 21,177 $ 1,096,18 $ =

The accompanying notes are an integral part o€timsolidated financial statements.




VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $ (742,74)  $ (687,55) $ (51,139
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash (irgegorovided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization expense 63,257 48,36" 38,19:
Stock-based compensation expense 177,54; 127,30: 114,28!
Other non-cash based compensation expense — 5,86( 10,26:
Intangible asset impairment charges _ 663,50( _
Deferred income taxes 281 (285,05) 36,66(
Impairment of property and equipment 1,68¢ 7,59¢ =
Deconsolidation of variable interest entity — 55,11( —
Write-downs of inventories to net realizable value — 10,35¢ 133,18¢
Excess tax benefit from share-based payment anmzaergs (2,160 1,252 (1,979
Other non-cash items, net — 6,74% 17¢
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, exutpthe effects of the acquisition and deconsaitiedf variable
interest entities:
Accounts receivable, net 7,42¢ 53,36¢ 39,91:
Inventories (16,469 7,14 (29,925
Prepaid expenses and other assets (15,779 (12,067 (23,619
Accounts payable 25,04¢ (49,239 14,89:
Accrued expenses and other liabilities (3,270 43,72¢ 29,23:
Accrued restructuring expense 17,50: 5,02t (2,98%)
Deferred revenues (25,53)) (53,01 (39,329
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (513,199 (51,570 267,84
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of marketable securities (1,424,17) (2,412,41) (1,705,82)
Sales and maturities of marketable securities 1,557,93 2,348,29! 1,367,92'
Payment for acquisition of variable interest entity (10,000 — —
Expenditures for property and equipment (51,207 (51,399 (71,140
Decrease in restricted cash and cash equivalents _ 31,80« 2,15¢
Decrease (increase) in restricted cash and casvedents (VIE) 1,63¢ 27,88¢ (18,10%)
(Increase) decrease in other assets (244 1,69¢ (826)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 73,95¢ (54,13() (425,81)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Excess tax benefit from share-based payment amagmjs 2,16( (1,252 1,971
Issuances of common stock under benefit plans 274.,61! 265,87¢ 191,72:
Payments to redeem secured notes — (15¢) —
Payments on capital lease obligations (21,449 (16,057 (2,615
Payments on construction financing lease obligation (60,249 (67,527 (18,879
Proceeds from senior secured term loan 294,24: — —
Payments returned related to construction finankgage obligation 8,05( = =
Net cash provided by financing activities 497,37t 180,88: 172,20:
Effect of changes in exchange rates on cash (2,176 4,70¢ (142)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 55,96( 79,89: 14,087
Cash and cash equivalents—beginning of period 569,29¢ 489,40 475,32(
Cash and cash equivalents—end of period $ 625,25¢ % 569,29¢ $ 489,40
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest $ 8,712 $ 11,01t $ 13,40(
Cash paid for income taxes $ 1,21 $ 284C % 9,31¢
Conversion of convertible senior subordinated n¢des 2015) for common stock $ — 3 399,84: $ —



Unamortized deferred debt issuance costs exchanged $ — 3 423 $ _
Capitalization of construction in-process relatedanstruction financing lease obligation $ 2556: $ 21501: $ 235,50
Assets acquired under capital lease obligations $ 9,18¢ $ 50,97: $ 31,10:
Issuances of common stock exercises from emplogeefit plans receivable $ 637 $ — 3 —

The accompanying notes are an integral part o€timsolidated financial statements.




VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A. Nature of Business and Accounting Policit
Business

Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated (“Vertex” a tRompany”) is in the business of discovering,eleping, manufacturing and
commercializing small molecule drugs for patient§wgerious diseases in specialty markets. The Gomfs focused on developing and
commercializing therapies for the treatment of icybrosis (“CF”) and advancing its research aadyestage development programs. The Company
has marketed KALYDECO (ivacaftor) since it was apyad in 2012 for the treatment of certain patievitt CF and is seeking approval to market
lumacaftor in combination with ivacaftor in orderihcrease the number of patients with CF who wdeleligible for treatment with the Company’s
drugs. In addition, in 2011, the Company obtaingpraval in the United States for INCIVEK (telapmgvior the treatment of adults with genotype 1
hepatitis C virus (“HCV”) infection and actively miated INCIVEK from 2011 through 2013. In the fdugquarter of 2013, the Company reduced its
focus on marketing INCIVEK and in 2015 expects damplete the wind-down of any remaining activitiefated to HCV. The Compars/tollaborator
Janssen Pharmaceutica NV (“Janssen NV”), has nethetaprevir in its territories under the brandhed NCIVO since 2011.

The Company'’s net loss attributable to Vertex fot2was $738.6 million , or $3.14 per share. ABetember 31, 2014 , the Company had cash,
cash equivalents and marketable securities of $ilB& . The Company expects that cash flows it sales of its products, together with the
Company'’s cash, cash equivalents and marketableises, will be sufficient to fund its operatioftg at least the next twelve months.

Vertex is subject to risks common to companiessiindustry including, but not limited to, the dagence on revenues from KALYDECO, the
dependence on obtaining approval and reimburseaidmiacaftor in combination with ivacaftor, comitien, uncertainty about clinical trial
outcomes and regulatory approvals, uncertaintiesimg to pharmaceutical pricing and reimbursemiagid technological change, uncertain protec
of proprietary technology, the need to comply vgtivernment regulations, share price volatility, egpence on collaborative relationships and
potential product liability.

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements reflect gherations of (i) the Company, (ii) its wholly-ownedbsidiaries and (iii) consolidated variable
interest entities (VIES). In addition, the consatied financial statements reflect the operatiomlios BioPharma, Inc. (“Alios”), as well as direct
expenses Vertex incurred as a result of the Aliggesdment, as discontinued operations. All matértercompany balances and transactions have beel
eliminated. The Company operates in one segmeatngteuticals. Please refer to Note T, “Segmentrimdtion,” for enterprise-wide disclosures
regarding the Company’s revenues, major custonmetdaag-lived assets by geographic area.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statesé@naccordance with accounting principles gengiatcepted in the United States of America
(“GAAP") requires management to make certain edmand assumptions that affect the reported amatirtssets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date efcthnsolidated financial statements, and the amsafrrevenues and expenses during the reported
periods. Significant estimates in these consoliléiteancial statements have been made in connewgiibinthe calculation of revenues, inventories,
research and development expenses, stock-baseensatipn expense, restructuring expense, thedaiewof intangible assets, noncontrolling
interest, the consolidation of VIEs and deconsatiideof a VIE, leases and the provision for or @rieom income taxes. The Company bases its
estimates on historical experience and variousr@ssumptions, including in certain circumstaneggre projections, that management believes to be
reasonable under the circumstances. Actual resoltisl differ from those estimates. Changes in egtisare reflected in reported results in the derio
in which they become known.
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VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contirad)

Revenue Recognition
Product Revenues, Net

The Company sells its products principally to aitéd number of specialty pharmacy providers andctet! regional wholesalers in North Ame
as well as government-owned and supported custamerternational markets (collectively, its “Custers”). The Company’s Customers in North
America subsequently resell the products to patiantl health care providers. The Company recognizeevenues from product sales upon delivery
as long as (i) there is persuasive evidence thatmmgement exists between the Company and the@es (ii) collectibility is reasonably assured
(iii) the price is fixed or determinable.

In order to conclude that the price is fixed oredetinable, the Company must be able to (i) caleutatgross product revenues from sales to
Customers and (ii) reasonably estimate its netywrbevenues upon delivery to its Customer’s laceti The Company calculates gross product
revenues based on the price that the Company chasgéustomers. The Company estimates its neuptodvenues by deducting from its gross
product revenues (a) trade allowances, such agcmdiscounts for prompt payment and Customer f@@estimated government and private payor
rebates, chargebacks and discounts, (c) estimasedves for expected product returns and (d) etgtthosts of incentives offered to certain indirect
customers, including patients.

The Company makes significant estimates and jud¢gribat materially affect the Company’s recognitidmet product revenues. In certain
instances, the Company may be unable to reasonabbjude that the price is fixed or determinablthattime of delivery, in which case it defers the
recognition of revenues. Once the Company is abtketermine that the price is fixed or determinaibleecognizes the revenues associated with the
units in which revenue recognition was deferred.

Trade Allowances. The Company generally provides invoice discountprmaluct sales to its Customers for prompt payraadtpays fees for
distribution services, such as fees for certaia izt Customers provide to the Company. The payteans for sales to Customers in the United
States generally include a discount for paymertiwi80 days. The Company expects that, based expisrience, its Customers will earn these
discounts and fees, and deducts the full amoutitesie discounts and fees from its gross produetngs and accounts receivable at the time suck
revenues are recognized.

Rebates, Chargebacks and Discounts: The Company contracts with government agenciesvaridus private organizations (collectively, its
“Third-party Payors”) so that products will be dlilp for purchase by, or partial or full reimbursamhfrom, such Third-party Payors. The
Company estimates the rebates, chargebacks aralidtsdt will provide to Third-party Payors and dets these estimated amounts from its gross
product revenues at the time the revenues are mezamly For each product, the Company estimateadbeegate rebates, chargebacks and
discounts that it will provide to Third-party Pagdrased upon (i) the Company’s contracts with tiésel-party Payors, (ii) the government-
mandated discounts applicable to government-fupdegrams, (iii) information obtained from the Compa Customers regarding the payor mix
for such product and (iv) historical experience.

Product Returns: The Company estimates the amount of each prodatifi be returned and deducts these estimatediatadrom its gross
revenues at the time the revenues are recogniredCodmpany’s Customers have the right to returpened unprescribed packages, subject to
contractual limitations. To date product returngehbeen minimal and, based on inventory levels hglils Customers and its distribution model,
the Company believes that returns of its produdfiscantinue to be minimal.

Other Incentives: Other incentives that the Company offers includgpayp mitigation rebates provided by the Compangaimmercially
insured patients who have coverage and who resigiates that permit co-pay mitigation programs Tompany’s co-pay mitigation programs
are intended to reduce each participating patigrtttion of the financial responsibility for a prart's purchase price to a specified dollar amount.
Based upon the terms of the Company’s co-pay ntitiggrograms, the Company estimates average conitiyation amounts for each of its
products in order to establish its accruals fopag-mitigation rebates and deducts these estinsatedints from its gross product revenues at the
later of the date (i) the revenues are recognizdi)ahe incentive is offered. The Company’s caypmitigation rebates are subject to expiration.
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VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contirad)

The following table summarizes activity in eachtted product revenue allowance and reserve categimnig¢he three years ended December 31,
2014 :

Rebates,
Trade Chargebacks Product Other
Allowances and Discounts Returns Incentives Total
(in thousands)
2014
Beginning Balance $ 153 % 68,24 $ 15,79¢ $ 1558 % 87,13¢
Provision related to current period sales 8,46¢ 35,71¢ 2,47¢ 1,347 48,00¢
Adjustments related to prior period sales (43) 32¢ 3,05¢ (72 3,27(
Credits/payments made (8,497) (75,189 (16,620) (2,08¢) (102,38¢)
Ending Balance $ 146: $ 29,10: $ 471 3 745 $ 36,02:
2013
Beginning Balance $ 541¢ $ 63,56( $ 285: $ 356 $ 75,39:
Provision related to current period sales 31,39t 204,45¢ 5,79¢ 9,29t 250,94«
Adjustments related to prior period sales 34z 4,47 15,14¢ (22¢) 19,73¢
Credits/payments made (35,619 (204,249 (7,999 (11,077 (258,949
Ending Balance $ 153 % 68,24 $ 15,79¢ $ 1558 % 87,13t
2012
Beginning Balance $ 11,16:  $ 52,65¢ $ 34C % 520: $ 69,36
Provision related to current period sales 55,91¢ 216,94: 2,067 19,10:¢ 294,02!
Adjustments related to prior period sales 29 3,88¢ 1,49¢ 72 5,482
Credits/payments made (61,68¢) (209,929 (1,059 (20,817) (293,47
$ 541¢ $ 63,56( $ 285 % 3,568 $ 75,39:

Ending Balance

The Company adjusts its estimated rebates, chagigelaamd discounts based on new information, inolydiformation regarding actual rebates,
chargebacks and discounts for its products, asciofmes available. Claims by third-party payorgétrates, chargebacks and discounts frequently are
submitted to the Company significantly after thiatexd sales, potentially resulting in adjustmentthie period in which the new information becomes
known. During the fourth quarter of 2014, the Compwithdrew INCIVEK from the market in the Uniteda$es and maintained an accrual of $16.2
million for government rebates for INCIVEK. If adjastment to this reserve is required, the Commpects it would be reflected as either an
increase or decrease to net product revenues jettied in which the adjustment is made. Basecherctrrent information available to the Company,
cumulative adjustments related to prior periodsadpresent 0.3% , 0.7% and 1.3% , respectivelheofross product revenues that were recorded in
the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2@%pectively.

During the fourth quarter of 2014, the Company ted notice that it would accept final returns NOIVEK from its customers in the United
States until December 31, 2014. As a result, thmgzmy’s accrual for INCIVEK returns was not sigoéint as of December 31, 2014.

Royalty Revenues

The Companygs royalty revenues on commercial sales of INCIVEeftrevir) by Janssen NV are based on net saliceoted products in licens
territories as provided by Janssen NV. The Compeaoggnizes royalty revenues in the period the sadesr.

The Company has sold its rights to receive cer@aalties on sales of an HIV protease inhibitosé@mprenavir) and recognizes the revenues
related to this sale as royalty revenues. In thmupistance where the Company has sold its righisttioe royalties under a license agreement aral als
maintains continuing involvement in the royaltyaargement (but not significant continuing involvermienthe generation of the cash flows payable to
the purchaser of the future royalty rights), therany defers recognition of the proceeds it recefoethe royalty stream and recognizes these
deferred revenues over
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VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contirad)

the life of the license agreement pursuant to tiitstof-revenue method. The Compasigstimates regarding the estimated remaining tsopalyment:
due to the purchaser have changed in the past apatinange in the future.

Collaborative Revenues

The Company recognizes revenues generated thralighaerative research, development and/or commierateon agreements. The terms of tr
agreements typically include payment to the Comprone or more of the following: nonrefundable;fumnt license fees; development and
commercial milestone payments; funding of researafior development activities; payments for ses/ibe Company provides through its third-party
manufacturing network; and royalties on net safdeensed products. Each of these types of paysnesults in collaborative revenues, except for
revenues from royalties on net sales of licenseduymts, which are classified as royalty revenues.

For each collaborative research, development amdfomercialization agreement that result in reventiee Company determines (i) whether
multiple deliverables exist, (ii) whether the urideted elements have value to the customer onna-stkone basis, (iii) how the deliverables showdd b
separated and (iv) how the consideration shoulallbeated to the deliverables. For arrangementesredtinto or materially modified after January 1,
2011, the Company allocates consideration in eangement using the relative selling price methaktan management’s best estimate of selling
price of deliverables if it does not have vendoegesfic objective evidence or third-party evidena&s.part of the accounting for these agreements, the
Company must develop assumptions that require jedgto determine the best estimate of selling pH@sy assumptions utilized by the Company to
determine the best estimate of selling price majuite forecasted revenues, patient enrollment remunts from regulatory authorities, development
timelines, reimbursement rates for personnel cd&spunt rates, and estimated third-party devetogrosts.

The Company evaluates amendments to its existiaggements to determine whether they have beermriaitenodified. In making its
determination that an arrangement has been mayematified, the Company considers whether thereehzeen significant changes to the
consideration under the arrangement, the delivesalbhder the arrangement, the timing of delivesaatel the period of the arrangement. If the
arrangement is determined to have been materiallyified, the Company allocates fixed consideratioder the arrangement using its best estima
selling price to the remaining undelivered elemextthe date of material modification. Any consatem remaining after the allocation is recognized
as revenue.

Collaborative research, development and/or commlkzation agreements entered into prior to Jan@ia®011 that contained multiple elements of
revenue were divided into separate units of acéogrift certain criteria were met, including whettike delivered element had stand-alone value to the
collaborator and whether there was objective alidhle evidence of the fair value of the undeliveobligation(s). The Company allocated
consideration it received among the separate eittisr on the basis of each unit’s fair value angshe residual method, and applied the revenue
recognition criteria to each of the separate units.

F-10




VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contirad)

Up-front License Fees: If the license to the Company’s intellectual prapevas determined to have stand-alone value frarother
deliverables identified in the arrangement, the Gany recognized revenues from nonrefundable, upt-ficense fees upon delivery. If these
licenses did not have stand-alone value, the Coynpaoognized revenues from nonrefundable, up-fiioahse fees on a straight-line basis over
the contracted or estimated period of performafbe. Company evaluated the period of performanchk egmorting period and adjusted the pe
of performance on a prospective basis if there whemnges to be made.

Milestone Payments: At the inception of each agreement that includeéaech and development milestone payments, the @oyrgvaluated
whether each milestone was substantive. The Compeognized revenues related to substantive miesto full in the period in which the
substantive milestone was achieved if payment wasanably assured. If a milestone was not conslderestantive, the Company recognized the
applicable milestone payment over the period ofgoerance.

Research and Development ActivitiesManufacturing Services: If the Company was entitled to reimbursement fresrcollaborators for
specified research and development expenses amdgoentitled to payments for specified manufactuservices that the Company provided
through its third-party manufacturing network, tbempany determined whether the research and dewelupfunding would result in
collaborative revenues or an offset to researchdawélopment expenses.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject@@mpany to concentration of credit risk consishg@ipally of money market funds and markete
securities. The Company places these investmethshigihly rated financial institutions, and, by gyl limits the amounts of credit exposure to any
one financial institution. These amounts at timey mxceed federally insured limits. The Company aisiintains a foreign currency hedging program
which includes foreign currency forward contractdwgeveral counterparties. The Company has naréxpced any credit losses related to these
financial instruments and does not believe it igased to any significant credit risk related tosthanstruments.

The Company also is subject to credit risk fromaitsounts receivable related to its product saldscallaborators. The Company evaluates the
creditworthiness of each of its customers and letsrchined that all of its material customers aeglitworthy. To date, the Company has not
experienced significant losses with respect tactiikection of its accounts receivable. The Compamgteivables from Greece, Italy and Spain were
not material in 2014, and the Company had no re&éds from Portugal in 2014. The Company beliekiasits allowance for doubtful accounts was
adequate at December 31, 2014 . Please refer @ TNdSegment Information,” for further information

Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid investmenith original maturities of three months or lesstee date of purchase to be cash equivalents.
Marketable Securities

The Company’s marketable securities consist ofgtments in government-sponsored enterprise sexsjriorporate debt securities and
commercial paper that are classified as availatresfle. The Company classifies marketable seearétvailable to fund current operations as current
assets on its consolidated balance sheets. Matkedaturities are classified as long-term asseti®consolidated balance sheets if (i) they haenb
in an unrealized loss position for longer than pear and (ii) the Company has the ability and internold them (&) until the carrying value is
recovered and (b) such holding period may be lotiggar one year. The Company’s marketable secudtiestated at fair value with their unrealized
gains and losses included as a component of acetedubther comprehensive loss, which is a sepeoat@onent of shareholders’ equity, until such
gains and losses are realized. The fair valueeddlsecurities is based on quoted prices for ichdrgr similar assets.

The Company reviews investments in marketable #@sifor other-than-temporary impairment wheneberfair value of an investment is less
than the amortized cost and evidence indicatesathatvestment’s carrying amount is not recoverahibin a reasonable period of time. To determine
whether an impairment is other-than-temporary Gbenpany
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considers whether it has an intent to sell, or ¥vbeit is more likely than not that the Companyl wé required to sell, the investment before recpve
of the investment’s amortized cost basis. Evidexmwesidered in this assessment includes reasomisé@mpairment, compliance with the Company’s
investment policy, the severity and the duratiothefimpairment and changes in value subsequemaieend. If a decline in the fair value is
considered other-than-temporary, based on avaitalteence, the unrealized loss is transferred fotimer comprehensive income (loss) to the
consolidated statements of operations.

Realized gains and losses are determined usimgpific identification method and are includeaiher income (expense), net in the
consolidated statements of operations.

Accounts Receivable

The Company deducts trade allowances for prompinpay and fees for distribution services from itscamts receivable based on its experience
that the Company'’s customers will earn these distsoand fees. The Comparyestimates for its allowance for doubtful accouwtsich have not bee
significant to date, are determined based on exjsiontractual payment terms and historical payrpatierns.

Sock-based Compensation Expense

The Company expenses the fair value of employexk stptions and other forms of stock-based emplageepensation over the associated
employee service period on a straight-line basckSbased compensation expense is determined baste fair value of the award at the grant date,
including estimated forfeitures, and is adjustechgaeriod to reflect actual forfeitures and thecoutes of certain performance conditions.

For awards with performance conditions that aceédevesting of the award, the Company estimatebkigléhood of satisfaction of the
performance conditions, which affects the periodravhich the expense is recognized, and recogttieesxpense using the accelerated attribution
model. For awards with performance conditions imclvhihe award does not vest unless the performemedition is met, the Company recognizes
expense only if the Company estimates that achienéwf the performance condition is probable. & @ompany concludes that vesting is probable it
recognizes expense from the date it reaches thidusion through the estimated vesting date.

Effective for equity awards granted on or afterrsely 5, 2014, the Company provides to employeas l@ve rendered a certain number of years’
to the Company and meet certain age requiremeatialor full acceleration of vesting of these iggawards, subject to certain conditions, upon a
termination of employment other than for causesltean 5% of the Company’s employees were eliddi@artial or full acceleration of any of their
equity awards as of December 31, 2014. The Compenngnizes stock-based compensation expense rétetieelse awards over a service period
reflecting qualified employees eligibility for pat or full acceleration of vesting.

Research and Devel opment Expenses

The Company expenses as incurred all researchearedoppment expenses, including amounts fundeddsareh and development collaborations.
The Company capitalizes nonrefundable advance patgnmeade by the Company for research and develdpacéuities and expenses the paymen
the related goods are delivered or the relatedcsare performed.

Research and development expenses are comprisedtsfincurred by the Company in performing redeard development activities, including
salary and benefits; stock-based compensation sgp&aboratory supplies and other direct experméspurced services, including clinical trial and
pharmaceutical development costs; expenses asbeidh drug supplies that are not being capitdtizend infrastructure costs, including facilities
costs and depreciation expense.

Advertising Expenses

The Company expenses the costs of advertisingyditay promotional expenses, as incurred. Advedisixpenses, recorded in sales, general and
administrative expenses, were $16.2 million , $18ilion and $58.6 million in 2014 , 2013 and 20r2spectively.
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Inventories

The Company values its inventories at the lowecast or market. The Company determines the cas$ ofventories, which includes amounts
related to materials and manufacturing overhead first-in, first-out basis. The Company perforamsassessment of the recoverability of capitalized
inventory during each reporting period, and wrilesin any excess and obsolete inventories to teelizable value in the period in which the
impairment is first identified. Shipping and hamdjicosts incurred for inventory purchases are abip#d and recorded upon sale in cost of product
revenues in the consolidated statements of opegt®hipping and handling costs incurred for prodh@oments are recorded as incurred in cost of
product revenues in the consolidated statemergpefations.

The Company capitalizes inventories produced ipamation for initiating sales of a drug candidateew the related drug candidate is considered
to have a high likelihood of regulatory approvatidhe related costs are expected to be recovettaiolegh sales of the inventories. In determining
whether or not to capitalize such inventories,Goenpany evaluates, among other factors, informatgarding the drug candidate’s safety and
efficacy, the status of regulatory submissions @rdmunications with regulatory authorities anddbéook for commercial sales, including the
existence of current or anticipated competitivegdrand the availability of reimbursement. In addifithe Company evaluates risks associated with
manufacturing the drug candidate and the remaisiiradf-life of the inventories.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Digi@t expense is recorded using the straight+ive¢hod over the estimated useful life of the
related asset, generally seven to ten years faitfwe and equipment, three to five years for cotagsuand software, 40 years for buildings and for
leasehold improvements, the useful life of the iowements or the estimated remaining life of th@eissed lease. Maintenance and repairs to an asse
that do not improve or extend its life are chargedperations. When assets are retired or othemggmsed of, the assets and related accumulated
depreciation are eliminated from the accounts arydr@sulting gain or loss is reflected in the Compsa consolidated statements of operations. The
Company performs an assessment of the fair valtigeodissets if indicators of impairment are idésditduring a reporting period and records the a
at the lower of the net book value or the fair eahi the assets.

The Company capitalizes internal costs incurredieteelop software for internal use during the appian development stage. The Company
expenses costs related to the planning and podeingmtation phases of development of softwarerfiarnal use as these costs are incurred.
Maintenance and enhancement costs (including do#ite post-implementation stages) are expenséttased, unless such costs relate to substantial
upgrades and enhancements to the software resirtamded functionality, in which case the costesaapitalized. Amortization of capitalized
internally developed software costs is recordedeipreciation expense over the useful life of theted asset.

The Company recorded certain construction costaiiad by a landlord as an asset and corresponitiagding obligation on the Company’s
consolidated balance sheets as the owner of thairms for accounting purposes.

Capital Leases

The assets and liabilities associated with cafstede agreements are recorded at the presentofalue minimum lease payments at the inception
of the lease agreement. The assets are amortizegiths straight-line method over the estimateduldiée of the related asset or the remaining tife
the associated lease. Amortization of assets llea€bmpany leases pursuant to a capital leaseligled in depreciation expense. The Company
performs an assessment of the fair value of theta#fsndicators of impairment are identified dwgia reporting period and records the assets at the
lower of the net book value or the fair value of Hissets. Assets recorded under capital leasescareled within “Property and equipment, net” and
liabilities related to those assets are recordékinviCapital lease obligations, current portiomda‘Capital lease obligations, excluding current
portion” on the Company’s consolidated balance tshee
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Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognfeethe expected future tax consequences of tempdifierences between the financial statement
carrying amounts and the income tax bases of assdtBabilities. A valuation allowance is appliegainst any net deferred tax asset if, based on the
available evidence, it is more likely than not thaine or all of the deferred tax assets will notdzgized.

The Company records liabilities related to uncartak positions by prescribing a minimum recogmitibreshold and measurement attribute for
the financial statement recognition and measurewfeatax position taken or expected to be takemtigx return. The Company does not believe any
such uncertain tax positions currently pending héll’e a material adverse effect on its consolidfitehcial statements.

Variable Interest Entities

The Company reviews each collaboration agreemesupat to which the Company licenses assets owypadcbllaborator in order to determine
whether or not the collaborator is a VIE. If thdlaborator is a VIE, the Company assesses whetheotahe Company is the primary beneficiary of
that VIE based on a number of factors, includingvtich party has the power to direct the actigitileat most significantly affect the VIE's economic
performance, (ii) the parties’ contractual rightsl aesponsibilities pursuant to the collaboratigreament and (iii) which party has the obligation t
absorb losses or the right to receive benefits fitmenVIE. If the Company determines it is the pniynbeneficiary of a VIE at the onset of the
collaboration agreement, the collaboration is géats a business combination and the Company ¢datss the financial statements of the VIE into
the Company’s consolidated financial statemente. Tbmpany evaluates whether it continues to beriheary beneficiary of any consolidated VIEs
on a quarterly basis. If the Company determinesitligno longer the primary beneficiary of a colidated VIE, or no longer has a variable inteiest
the VIE, it deconsolidates the VIE in the periodttthe determination is made.

Assets recorded as a result of consolidating Viiggincial condition into the Company’s consolidabsdance sheet do not represent additional
assets that could be used to satisfy claims agdiastompany’s general assets. The Company retieedsash and cash equivalents of consolidated
VIEs, if any, as prepaid expenses and other cuags#ts because the Company does not have covgrahe VIES' cash and cash equivalents.

Business Combinations

The Company assigns the value of consideratiotydiveg contingent consideration, transferred inibess combinations to the appropriate
accounts on the Company’s consolidated balance based on their fair value as of the effectiveeddtthe transaction. If a collaboration has been
treated as a business combination and there atgent payments, increases in the fair value efabntingent payments pursuant to collaborations
accounted for as business combinations resulteceease in net income attributable to Vertex (oinarease in net loss attributable to Vertex) on a
dollar-for-dollar basis. Transaction costs and @sfructuring costs associated with these trarmactire expensed as incurred.

Fair Value of In-process Research and Devel opment Assets and Contingent Payments in Business Combinations

The present-value models used to estimate thedaies of research and development assets andhgentipayments pursuant to collaborations
incorporate significant assumptions, includinguasgtions regarding the probability of obtaining keting approval and/or achieving relevant
development milestones for a drug candidate; egtisn@garding the timing of and the expected dostievelop a drug candidate; estimates of future
cash flows from potential product sales and/omtbiential to achieve certain commercial mileston#b respect to a drug candidate; and the
appropriate discount and tax rates.

In-process Resear ch and Devel opment Assets

The Company records the fair value of in-processaech and development assets as of the transdetierof a business combination. Each of
these assets is accounted for as an indefinite-livangible asset and is maintained on the Conipamnsolidated balance sheet until either the
project underlying it is completed or the assebees impaired. If
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the asset becomes impaired or is abandoned, theéntpvalue of the related intangible asset istenitdown to its fair value, and an impairment clkarg
is recorded in the period in which the impairmeedws. If a project is completed, the carrying eatdi the related intangible asset is amortized as a
part of cost of product revenues over the remaiestgnated life of the asset beginning in the gkhowhich the project is completed. In-process
research and development assets are tested foiringpe on an annual basis as of October 1, and fnegeently if indicators are present or change
circumstances suggest that impairment may exist.

Goodwill

The difference between the purchase price andaihe@dlue of assets acquired and liabilities asslime business combination is allocated to
goodwill. Goodwill is evaluated for impairment on annual basis as of October 1, and more frequéritigicators are present or changes in
circumstances suggest that impairment may exist.

Noncontrolling Interest

The Company records noncontrolling interest, witiiah historically related to consolidated VIEs, mconsolidated balance sheets.
Noncontrolling interest is reflected on two sepalates if the consolidated VIE has both commorraihalders and preferred shareholders tha
entitled to redemption rights in certain circumstag The Company records net loss (income) atsifbeitto noncontrolling interest on its consolidated
statements of operations, reflecting the VIES'lnes (income) for the reporting period, adjustedcfranges in the fair value of contingent milestone
payments and royalties payable by the Companyaedinsolidated VIEs, which is evaluated each rampperiod.

Deconsolidation and Discontinued Operations

Upon the occurrence of certain events and on daebasis, the Company evaluates whether it nodohgs a controlling financial interest in its
subsidiaries, including deemed subsidiaries sudoasolidated VIEs. If the Company determines itoxmer has a controlling interest, the subsidiary
is deconsolidated. The Company records a gainssrda deconsolidation based on the difference @délconsolidation date between (i) the aggregate
of (a) the fair value of any consideration receiv@&] the fair value of any retained noncontrollingestment in the former subsidiary and (c) the
carrying amount of any noncontrolling interesthe subsidiary being deconsolidated, less (ii) #meying amount of the former subsidiary’s assets an
liabilities.

The Company assesses whether a deconsolidatiequged to be presented as discontinued operatidgtsconsolidated financial statements on
the deconsolidation date. This assessment is lwasadhether or not (i) the operations and cash flamthe former subsidiary have been or will be
eliminated from the Company’s ongoing operationa assult of the deconsolidation event and (ii)@menpany will have any significant continuing
involvement in the operations of the former sulsiglafter the deconsolidation event. If the Compaetermines that a deconsolidation requires
presentation as a discontinued operation on therdetidation date, or at any point during the oearyperiod following such date, it will present the
former subsidiary as a discontinued operation mesu and comparative period financial statements.

Derivative Instruments, Embedded Derivatives and Hedging Activities

The Company has entered into financial transaciiovaving free-standing derivative instruments @amlbedded derivatives in the past.
Embedded derivatives are required to be bifurchted the host instruments because the derivativesat clearly and closely related to the host
instruments. The Company determines the fair vafteach derivative instrument or embedded deriedtiat is identified on the date of issuance and
at the end of each quarterly period. The estimaftéise fair value of the derivatives include sigraht assumptions regarding the estimates market
participants would make in order to evaluate thiesdvatives.

The Company recognizes the fair value of hedgistriments that are designated and qualify as hgdgatruments pursuant to GAAP, primarily
foreign currency forward contracts, as either assetiabilities on the consolidated balance she@iisnges in the fair value of hedging instrumeangs
recorded each period in accumulated other compsérefoss as unrealized gains and losses untfbtieeasted underlying transaction occurs.
Unrealized gains and losses on these foreign ooyriemward contracts are included in (i) “Prepaighenses and other current assets” and (ii) “Other
liabilities, current portion,” respectively, on t®mpany’s consolidated balance sheets. Realized gad losses for the effective
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portion of such contracts are recognized in “Prodeeenues, net” in the consolidated statemenpefations when the contract is settled with the
counterparty. The Company classifies the cash fioora hedging instruments in the same categorhasash flows from the hedged items.

Certain of the Company’s hedging instruments abgest to master netting arrangements to reduceskarising from such transactions with its
counterparties. The Company presents unrealizet gaid losses on its foreign currency forward @mtéron a gross basis within its consolidated
balance sheets.

The Company assesses, both at inception and ongaing basis, whether the foreign currency forwadtracts used in hedging transactions are
highly effective in offsetting the changes in céisiws of the hedged items. The Company also asséestge ineffectiveness quarterly and, if
determined to be ineffective, records the gaiross Irelated to the ineffective portion to earnimy$ther income (expense), net” in its consolidate
statements of operations.

Restructuring Expenses

The Company records costs and liabilities assatiaith exit and disposal activities based on edimaf fair value in the period the liabilities are
incurred. In periods subsequent to the initial meament, the Company measures changes to thatjialsing the credit-adjusted risk-free discount
rate applied in the initial period. The Companylesges and adjusts these liabilities as appropftatehanges in circumstances at least on a qlarter
basis.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) consists of net incass) and other comprehensive income (loss), winickudes foreign currency translation
adjustments and unrealized gains and losses oigfiocarrency forward contracts and certain marketabcurities. For purposes of comprehensive
income (loss) disclosures, the Company does notdeex provisions or benefits, as the Companynuiteto permanently reinvest undistributed
earnings in its foreign subsidiaries.

Foreign Currency Trandation and Transactions

The Company primarily operates with entities theatérthe U.S. dollar as their functional currencgnNJ.S. dollar functional currency
subsidiaries have assets and liabilities transliatedU.S. dollars at rates of exchange in effétha end of the year. Revenue and expense amarents
translated using the average exchange rates fqrettied. Net unrealized gains and losses resultorg foreign currency translation are included in
accumulated other comprehensive loss, which igparaée component of shareholders’ equity. Includextcumulated other comprehensive loss are
net unrealized losses related to foreign curreranystation of $1.0 million , $0.3 million and $0wllion at December 31, 2014 , 2013, and 2012,
respectively. Net foreign currency exchange tratisagains or losses are included in “net loss'tlemCompany’s consolidated statement of
operations. Net transaction losses were $6.4 milliod $0.4 million for 2014 and 2012 , respectivalyd net transaction gains were $5.1 million in
2013.

Net Income (Loss) Per Share Attributable to Vertex Common Shareholders

Basic and diluted net income (loss) per sharebatizble to Vertex common shareholders are presémtzhformity with the two-class method
required for participating securities. Under thetglass method, earnings are allocated to (i) Wertenmon shares, excluding unvested restricted
stock, and (ii) participating securities, basedtair respective weighted-average shares outstgridirthe period. Shares of unvested restrictecksto
granted under the Company’s Amended and Resta@®l 2@ck and Option Plan have the non-forfeitalgletito receive dividends on an equal basis
with other outstanding common stock. As a reshéisé unvested shares of restricted stock are ayesligharticipating securities under the two-class
method. Potentially dilutive shares result from éissumed exercise of outstanding stock optiongpftheeeds of which are then assumed to have been
used to repurchase outstanding stock using theurgatock method) and the assumed conversionmfectible notes.

Basic net income (loss) per share attributablegdéx common shareholders is based upon the weligiverage number of common shares
outstanding during the period, excluding restritemtk that has been issued but is not yet veBiddted net income (loss) per share attributable to
Vertex common shareholders is based upon the vweglggnterage number

F-16




VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contirad)

of common shares outstanding during the period gflastional weighted-average common equivalenteshautstanding during the period when the
effect is dilutive.

The Company utilizes income (loss) from continuapgrations attributable to Vertex to determine \Wwhepotentially outstanding stock options
and the assumed conversion of convertible notedikutive.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Bo&fdEB”) issued amended guidance applicable to reearcognition that will be effective for
the year ending December 31, 2017. Early adop$ioi permitted. The new guidance applies a maneipte based approach to recognizing reve
The new guidance must be adopted using eithet eetobspective approach for all periods preseoteal modified retrospective approach. The
Company is in the process of evaluating the newlande and determining the expected effect on itsaalated financial statements.

In 2014, the FASB issued amended requirementsefmrting discontinued operations and requires fdit disclosures about discontinued
operations. Under the new guidance, only dispasgigesenting a strategic shift in operations ot llaae a major effect on the Company’s operations
and financial results should be presented as diseged operations. This new accounting guidanedfective for annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2014 for only those operations thet imat previously been reported as discontinuedatio®s. Early adoption is permitted. The
Company does not expect the new guidance to haigndicant effect on its consolidated financiadtsiments.

In 2014, the FASB issued new guidance on managesmesponsibility in evaluating whether or not thés substantial doubt about a company’s
ability to continue as a going concern within oraryfrom the date the financial statements aredsach reporting period. This new accounting
guidance is effective for annual periods endingrditecember 15, 2016. Early adoption is permifiéee Company does not expect the new guidance
to have a significant effect on its consolidatedficial statements.

The Company did not adopt any new accounting prooements during 2014 that had a material effeétsoronsolidated financial statements.
B. Collaborative Arrangements
Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Therapeutics I ncorporated

In April 2011, the Company entered into an amendr{tee “April 2011 Amendment”) to its existing caboration agreement with Cystic Fibrosis
Foundation Therapeutics Incorporated (“CFFT”) parguo which CFFT agreed to provide financial supfar (i) development activities for VX-661,
a corrector compound discovered under the colldlooraand (i) additional research and developnaatitvities directed at discovering new corrector
compounds.

Under the April 2011 Amendment, CFFT agreed to gethe Company with up to $75.0 million in fundiager approximately five years for
corrector-compound research and development aetivithe Company retains the right to develop amdmercialize KALYDECO (ivacaftor),
lumacaftor, VX-661 and any other compounds discedeturing the course of the research collaboratitin CFFT. The Company recognized
collaborative revenues from this collaboration 6f3million , $14.3 million and $17.0 million in 2@ , 2013 and 2012 , respectively.

In the original agreement, as amended prior téArd 2011 Amendment, the Company agreed to pay Théted royalties calculated as a
percentage, ranging from single digits to sub-teehannual net sales of any approved drugs disedvauring the research term that ended in 2008,
including KALYDECO, lumacaftor and VX-661. The Apei011 Amendment provides for a tiered royaltylie same range on net sales of corrector
compounds discovered during the research termetiggtd in February 2014. In each of 2012 and 20E8,TGarned a commercial milestone payment
of $9.3 million from the Company upon achievementeartain sales levels for KALYDECO. These milestenwere reflected in the Company’s cost of
product revenues. There are no additional commlergiastone payments payable by the Company to Qfeled to sales levels for KALYDECO.
The Company also is obligated to make up to twoetane commercial milestone payments to CFFT updnieaement of certain sales levels for
corrector compounds such as lumacaftor or VX-661.

The Company began marketing KALYDECO in the Unidtes and certain countries in the European Uni@912 and is seeking approval to
market lumacaftor in combination with ivacaftortire United States and European Union. The
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Company has royalty obligations to CFFT for eacmpound commercialized pursuant to this collaboratintil the expiration of patents covering that
compound. The Company has patents in the Uniteg<Sgad European Union covering the compositiomatter of ivacaftor that expire in 2027 and
2025, respectively, subject to potential pateneéesions. The Company has patent applications ittiited States covering the composition-of-matter
of lumacaftor that would, if granted, expire in B08ubject to potential extension. The Companyahpatent in the European Union covering the
composition-of-matter of lumacaftor that expire026, subject to potential extension. The collabon also may be terminated by either party for a
material breach by the other, subject to notice@mnd provisions.

Janssen Pharmaceutica NV

In 2006, the Company entered into a collaboratgmeement (the “Janssen HCV Agreement”) with JanB$emmaceutica NV (“Janssen NV”) for
the development, manufacture and commercializatfdalaprevir, which Janssen NV began marketingeuride brand name INCIVO in certain of its
territories in September 2011. Under the Janssevi Agteement, Janssen NV agreed to be responsibEOfbof the drug development costs incur
under the development program for the partiesitteres (North America for the Company, and the méshe world, other than specified countries in
Asia, for Janssen NV) and has exclusive rightotormercialize telaprevir in its territories includikEurope, South America, the Middle East, Africa
and Australia. In November 2013, the Company amdskn NV amended the collaboration agreement g0&3' Janssen HCV Amendment”).

Janssen NV made a $165.0 million up-front licersgnpent to the Company in 2006. The Company amartize up-front license payment over
the Company’s estimated period of performance utidedanssen HCV Agreement through November 2083fAlovember 2013, the effective date
of the 2013 Janssen HCV Amendment, there was $8®lidn remaining in deferred revenues relatedhis tip-front license payment.

Janssen NV paid the Company a tiered royalty ausgdag the mid-20% range as a percentage of nessdlINCIVO in Janssen NV’s territories
through 2013. Janssen NV was, and continues teebponsible for certain third-party royalties o sedes of INCIVO in its territories.

Pursuant to the 2013 Janssen HCV Amendment, (§s&anNV made a payment of $152.0 million to the Gamy in the fourth quarter of 2013;
(i) Janssen NV'’s obligations to pay the Companyatties on net sales of INCIVO (telaprevir) ternteghafter the fourth quarter of 2013; and (iii)
Janssen NV received a fully-paid license to comiabze INCIVO in its territories, subject to therdmued payment of certain third-party royalties on
its net sales of INCIVO.

The Company determined that the 2013 Janssen HC®hAment was a material modification to the JankKe¥ Agreement because there was a
material change to the consideration and delivesabhder the agreement and determined that theremeaundelivered element under the Janssen
HCV Agreement, as amended, which was the contionati certain telaprevir development activitieseT®ompany recognized $182.4 million of
collaborative revenues pursuant to the Janssen Ag¥ement in the fourth quarter of 2013. This antauais primarily attributable to (i) the residual
consideration received from Janssen NV, includirgg$152.0 million fourth quarter 2013 payment drelremaining deferred revenues related to the
2006 up-front payment less (ii) the best estimétgeting price for the remaining telaprevir devateent activities. As of December 31, 2014, the
remaining deferred revenue balance related toghss&n NV collaboration was not material. In addito the collaborative revenues, the Company
will continue to record royalty revenues and cqumegling royalty expenses related to third-partyattigs that Janssen NV remains responsible for
based on INCIVO net sales.

The Janssen HCV Agreement will continue in effettldhe expiration of Janssen NV’s third-party atty obligations, which expire on a country-
by-country basis on the later of (a) the last-tpiexpatent covering INCIVO or (b) the last reqdigayment by Janssen NV to the Company pursuant
to the agreement. In the European Union, the Cognpas a patent covering the composition-of-mattéNE€IVO that expires in 2026.
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During the three years ended December 31, 20EICtimpany recognized the following revenues attaible to the Janssen HCV collaboration:

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)

Royalty revenues $ 13,48. % 130,72:  $ 117,59:
Collaborative revenues:

Up-front and amendment payments revenues $ — % 190,34¢ $ 12,42¢

Net reimbursement (payment) for telaprevir develephtosts 7,104 2,797 (3,507)

Reimbursement for manufacturing services — 10,29¢ 7,254

Total collaborative revenues attributable to thesdan HCV collaboration $ 7,10¢ $ 203,43 % 16,17¢

Total revenues attributable to the Janssen HC\abofiation $ 20,58 $ 334,16. $ 133,771

Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma Corporation

The Company has a collaboration agreement withutdishi Tanabe Pharma Corporation (“Mitsubishi Taiapursuant to which Mitsubishi
Tanabe has a fully-paid license to manufacturecamimercialize TELAVIC (the brand name under whichsMbishi Tanabe is marketing telaprevir)
in Japan and other specified countries in Asia. Campany did not recognize collaborative revenues fthis collaboration in 2014 or 2013. In 2012,
the Company recognized collaborative revenues troscollaboration of $18.9 million .

Alios BioPharma, Inc.

In June 2011, the Company entered into a licendecaltaboration agreement (the “Alios AgreementihwAlios, a privately-held biotechnology
company. Pursuant to the Alios Agreement, the Campad Alios collaborated on the research, devetapirand commercialization of HCV
nucleotide analogues discovered by Alios throughil/2014. In April 2014, Vertex and Alios amendéxtAlios Agreement to eliminate the
Company'’s obligations to conduct further developtreativities with respect to VX-135. The Agreemgarminated in accordance with its terms in
December 2014.

Under applicable accounting guidance, the Compangdaidated Alios as a VIE for the period from J3e 2011 through December 31, 2013.
The Company deconsolidated Alios as of Decembe2@13 because the Company no longer had a vaiigblest in Alios as a whole and did not
possess the power to direct the activities thatt sigsificantly affect the economic performanceMibs based on, among other factors, the decline in
significance to Alios of the licensed HCV nucleetidnalogue program. As a result, in the fourth tguanf 2013, the Company recorded a full
impairment charge of $250.6 million related to H@V nucleotide analogue program and a benefitrfoome taxes of $102.1 million was recorded
attributable to Alios. The deconsolidation resulie@ gain of $68.2 million recorded in loss fromabntinued operations, net of tax, in the
consolidated statement of operations for the yedeé December 31, 2013. The gain of $68.2 milli@s wpproximately the difference between (i)
losses the Company recorded in 2011 and 2012 lmesedreases in the fair value of contingent mdastand royalty payments payable by the
Company to Alios and (ii) the aggregate of $120illion in up-front and milestone payments that @@mpany made to Alios pursuant to the Alios
Agreement.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company determinetdtthantinued to have significant continuing inveinent with Alios due to the Alios
Agreement; therefore, in 2013 the deconsolidatioalies was not presented as discontinued operationthe Company’s consolidated financial
statements. However, the Company determined thadtitd evaluate whether it continued to have sigaift continuing involvement with Alios for a
period of one year from the December 31, 2013 demlatation date. As of September 30, 2014, the Gomroncluded that it no longer had
significant continuing involvement with Alios due its intent and ability to terminate the Alios Agment; therefore, the operations of Alios, inahigg
collaboration expenses reimbursed by Vertex aregmted as discontinued operations for the perioglsepted in these consolidated financial
statements.
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Prior to the deconsolidation, the Company recortedoss (income) attributable to noncontrollingenest on its consolidated statements of
operations. A summary of Alios’ net loss (incom#jilutable to noncontrolling interest for 2012 &2@fL3 is as follows:

2013 2012
(in thousands)
Loss before provision for (benefit from) incomedax $ 283,747 % 20,04
Decrease (increase) in fair value of contingenestdne and royalty payments 124,92( (114,970
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes (166,14!) 39,02¢
Net loss (income) attributable to noncontrollinteirest (Alios) $ 242,52; % (55,897

In 2013, the fair value of the contingent milestpagments and royalties payable by Vertex to Alelated to the in-licensed HCV nucleotide
analogue program increased by $124.9 million dubeémdvancement of the Company’s HCV nucleotidgam. As of December 31, 2013, the
Company concluded that the fair value of the cairt milestone and royalty payments was zero basedmong other things, additional data
regarding VX-135 and compounds being developedtbgracompetitors.

The Company used present-value models to detertiménestimated fair value of the contingent milestand royalty payments until it
deconsolidated Alios, based on assumptions regattiprobability of achieving the relevant milests, estimates regarding the time to develop drug
candidates, estimates of future product salestendppropriate discount and tax rates. The Compasgd its estimate of the probability of achieving
the relevant milestones on industry data for simaksets and its own experience. The discount ustes in the valuation model represented a measure
of credit risk associated with settling the liatyiliSignificant judgment was used in determining #ppropriateness of these assumptions at each
reporting period.

BioAxone Biosciences, Inc.

In October 2014, the Company entered into a licamskcollaboration agreement (the “BioAxone Agreetfjewnith BioAxone Biosciences, Inc.
(“BioAxone”), a privatelyheld biotechnology company. The Company has detemnthat BioAxone is a VIE. Accordingly, the Compaonsolidate
BioAxone’s financial statements with the Compamgosisolidated financial statements beginning on Batd, 2014 as a business combination. The
Company paid BioAxone initial payments of $10.0limil in the fourth quarter of 2014.

BioAxone has the potential to receive up to $90illan in milestones and fees, including developteagulatory and milestone payments and a
license continuation fee. In addition, BioAxone Wbteceive royalties and commercial milestonesudarg net product sales, if any. On the date o
business combination, the fair value of the comtitigpayments payable by the Company pursuant tBit#xone Agreement was $26.6 million . The
Company recorded an in-process research and dewefdpntangible asset of $29.0 million for VX-21fidea corresponding deferred tax liability of
$11.3 million attributable to BioAxone. As of Decbear 31, 2014, there were no significant changése¢@mounts included in the Company’s
consolidated balance sheet other than $8.4 miifarash and cash equivalents, which is includgatépaid and other current assets. Vertex has no
rights to BioAxone’s cash and accordingly this cdeks not affect Vertex’s liquidity or cash positi?Noncontrolling interest was $25.4 million as of
the date of the business combination. Net losibatable to noncontrolling interest related to Bimhe was $4.2 million for the year ended December
31, 2014, which included a $0.5 million increasedatingent consideration for the fourth quarte@14 and resulted in noncontrolling interest of
$21.2 million as of December 31, 2014.

Vertex holds an option to purchase BioAxone atelptermined price. The option expires at the edrtie(a) the day the FDA accepts the
Biologics License Application submission for VX-210) the day the Company elects to continue tenbe instead of exercising the options to
purchase BioAxone and (c) March 15, 2018, subjette Company’s option to extend this date by azery
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Outlicense Arrangements

In the ordinary course of the Company’s busindssdompany has entered into various agreementagnirto which it has outlicensed rights to
certain drug candidates to third-party collabommtédthough, the Company does not consider anhede outlicense arrangements to be material, the
most notable of these outlicense arrangementssiritded below. Pursuant to these outlicense arraagts, our collaborators become responsible for
all costs related to the continued developmentiohglrug candidates. Depending on the terms dcdittemgements, the Company'’s collaborators may
be required to make upfront payments, milestonengsys upon the achievement of certain product reBead development objectives and/or pay
royalties on future sales, if any, of commerciadrcts resulting from the collaboration.

Janssen Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

In June 2014, the Company entered into an agreeftentJanssen Influenza Agreement”) with JansdarRaceuticals, Inc. (“Janssen Inc.”),
which was amended in October 2014 to clarify certales and responsibilities of the parties. Purst@the Janssen Influenza Agreement, Jansse
has an exclusive worldwide license to develop ardroercialize certain drug candidates for the treatnof influenza, including VX-787. The
Company received a non-refundable up-front payra#i80.0 million from Janssen Inc. in the third geaof 2014 upon expiration of the waiting
period under the Hart—ScoRedino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976. Pursuanthe amendment to the Janssen Influenza AgregethenCompan
received an additional non-refundable payment dd $llion in the fourth quarter of 2014 and has the potetdiaéceive development, regulatory :
commercial milestone payments as well as royattiefuture product sales, if any. Janssen Inc.gpaesible for costs related to the development and
commercialization of the compounds. Janssen Ing.teraninate the Janssen Influenza Agreement, sutgjeertain exceptions, upon six months’
notice.

The Company evaluated the deliverables, consistifigenses to intellectual property and the olilgato complete certain fully-reimbursable
research and development activities as directethbgsen Inc., pursuant to the Janssen InfluenzzeAgmt under multiple element arrangement
guidance for collaborative arrangements. The Compancluded that the license has stand-alone \fedue the research and development activities
and determined the relative selling price of thaeléverables based on the Companlyést estimate of selling price. The Companyz&tilia discounte
cash flow model to determine its best estimatesthing price for the licenses to intellectual prayeand determined the best estimate of sellingepri
for the research and development activities tcheesstimated cost to complete the activities plasramercially reasonable margin. The Company
determined the license had stand-alone value basé#te resources and know-how possessed by Jdmssdine Company concluded that the Janssen
Influenza Agreement and the amendment to the Jars8eenza Agreement should be accounted for para¢ge contracts due to the fact that the
amendment did not impact the Company’s obligatiomder the original agreement. Based on this argl{fs8 Company recognized $30.0 million in
collaborative revenues related to the up-front payhupon delivery of the license and $5.0 milliggon execution of the amendment. The Company
recorded the reimbursement for the research anel@f@went activities of $9.1 million as a reducttordevelopment expense in the Company’s
consolidated statements of operations primarilytduée fact that Janssen Inc. directs the adidind selects the suppliers associated with these
activities.
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C. Earnings Per Shar

The following table sets forth the computation asiz and diluted (loss) income from continuing @piens per share attributable to Vertex
common shareholders for the three years ended Demedi, 2014 :

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Basic (loss) income from continuing operations per share attributable to Vertex common shareholder

calculation:
(Loss) income from continuing operations attriblgaio Vertex common shareholders $ (737,64) $ (503,629 $ 32,27:
Less: Undistributed earnings allocated to partidigasecurities — — (322)
(Loss) income from continuing operations attriblgaio Vertex common shareholders—basic $ (737,64) $ (503,629 $ 31,94¢
Basic weighted-average common shares outstanding 235,30° 224,90t 211,94¢
Basic (loss) income from continuing operations g@nmon share attributable to Vertex $ 319 $ (229 $ 0.1¢
Diluted (loss) income from continuing operations per share attributable to Vertex common shareholder

calculation:
(Loss) income from continuing operations attriblgai Vertex common shareholders $ (737,64) $ (503,629 $ 32,27
Less: Undistributed earnings allocated to partibigasecurities — — (317)
(Loss) income from continuing operations attriblgai Vertex common shareholders—diluted $ (737,64) $ (503,62) $ 31,95
Basic weighted-average common shares outstanding 235,30° 224,90t 211,94¢
Effect of potentially dilutive securities:

Stock options — — 3,21¢

Other — — 97
Diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding 235,30° 224,90¢ 215,26:
Diluted (loss) income from continuing operations pemmon share attributable to Vertex $ 8319 $ (229 $ 0.1¢

The Company did not include the securities desdribehe following table in the computation of tiiéuted net loss attributable to Vertex per
common share calculations because the effect weaid been anti-dilutive during each period:

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)
Stock options 12,00: 15,72¢ 16,507
Convertible senior subordinated notes — — 8,192
Unvested restricted stock and restricted stocksunit 3,091 2,16t 2,25:

D. Fair Value Measurement:

The fair value of the Company’s financial assets lzbilities reflects the Company’s estimate ofcamts that it would have received in
connection with the sale of the assets or pai®imection with the transfer of the liabilities in arderly transaction between market participahthe
measurement date. In connection with measurindgih@alue of its assets and liabilities, the Compaeeks to maximize the use of observable inputs
(market data obtained from sources independent fhenCompany) and to minimize the use of unobséeviaputs (the Company’s assumptions about
how market participants would price assets andliligs). The following fair value hierarchy is uséo classify assets and liabilities based on the
observable inputs and unobservable inputs usedier ¢o value the assets and liabilities:

Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for ideaitassets or liabilities. An active market foraaset or liability is a market in which
transactions for the asset or liability occur vgtlfficient frequency and volume to provide pricinfprmation on an ongoing basis.

Level 2: Observable inputs other than Level 1 tapExamples of Level 2 inputs include quoted priceactive markets for similar assets or
liabilities and quoted prices for identical assmtiabilities in markets that are not active.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs based on the Comsaggsessment of the assumptions that market partisi would use in pricing the asset or
liability.

The Company’s investment strategy is focused oitalggeservation. The Company invests in instrutaéimat meet the credit quality standards
outlined in the Company’s investment policy. Thidigy also limits the amount of credit exposuretty one issue or type of instrument. As of
December 31, 2014 , the Company’s investments imer®ney market funds, short-term government-spatsenterprise securities, corporate debt
securities and commercial paper.

As of December 31, 2014 , all of the Company’sritial assets that were subject to fair value messents were valued using observable inputs.
The Company’s financial assets valued based onlllewguts consisted of a money market funds anc&gonent-sponsored enterprise securities. The
Company’s financial assets valued based on Leirgh@s consisted of corporate debt securities antheercial paper, which consisted of investments
in highly-rated investment-grade corporations. Tdievalue of the Company’s foreign currency fordi@ontracts was based on Level 2 inputs using
third party pricing services. During 2014 , 2018 @912 , the Company did not record an other-tleampbrary impairment charge related to its



financial assets.

The following table sets forth the Company’s fin@hassets (excluding VIE cash and cash equivglentsject to fair value measurements:

Fair Value Measurements as
of December 31, 2014

Fair Value Hierarchy
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

(in thousands)
Financial assets carried at fair value:

Cash equivalents:

Money market funds $ 290,53: $ 290,53: $ — % =
Marketable securities:

Government-sponsored enterprise securities 463,75( 463,75( — =
Commercial paper 51,74¢ — 51,74¢ —
Corporate debt securities 246,35: — 246,35 —
Prepaid and other current assets:
Foreign currency forward contracts 2,011 — 2,011 —
Total $ 1,054,38' $ 754,28. % 300,10¢ % —

BioAxone’s cash equivalents of $8.4 million as afd@mber 31, 2014 consisted of money market fundighware valued based on Level 1 inputs.
The Company’s noncontrolling interest includesftievalue of the contingent payments, which arei@d based on Level 3 inputs. Please refer to
Note B,“Collaborative Arrangements,” for further informearti.

As of December 31, 2014 , the fair value and cagyialue of the Company’s Term Loan was $294.8anil] which was recorded on its
consolidated balance sheet based on Level 3 impotputed using the effective interest rate of teenTLoan. The effective interest rate considers the
timing and amount of estimated future interest payts and the discount on the Term Loan. The Lewah@ts related to the Term Loan are the
amounts of the estimated future interest payméti¢sase refer to Note L, “Long Term Obligations,f forther information regarding the Company’s
Term Loan.
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E. Marketable Securities

A summary of the Company'’s cash, cash equivalemdssarketable securities is shown below:

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

(in thousands)
December 31, 2014
Cash and cash equivalents:

Cash and money market funds $ 625,25¢ $ — % — % 625,25¢
Total cash and cash equivalents $ 625,25¢ $ — % — % 625,25¢
Marketable securities:

Government-sponsored enterprise securities (duennit year) $ 463,78t $ 14 % (52 $ 463,75(

Commercial paper (due within 1 year) 51,67« 72 — 51,74¢

Corporate debt securities (due within 1 year) 196,06! 2 (66) 196,00:

Corporate debt securities (due after 1 year thrdugears) 50,44 — (93) 50,35(
Total marketable securities $ 761,97 $ 88 % (211) $ 761,84
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable sesurit $ 1,387,220 $ 88 $ (211) $ 1,387,101

December 31, 2013
Cash and cash equivalents:

Cash and money market funds $ 569,29¢ $ — % — % 569,29
Total cash and cash equivalents $ 569,29¢ % — % — 8 569,29¢
Marketable securities:

Government-sponsored enterprise securities (ddenit year) $ 600,49t $ 7 $ 53 $ 600,45(

Commercial paper (due within 1 year) 83,38 10¢ — 83,49!

Corporate debt securities (due within 1 year) 189,67- 14 (34) 189,65«

Corporate debt securities (due after 1 year thrdugears) 22,18: 6 (7) 22,18(
Total marketable securities $ 895,73! $ 136  $ 94 $ 895,77
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable sexsurit $ 1,46503 $ 13¢  $ (94) $ 1,465,07

Cash and cash equivalents of $8.4 million relatetthé Company’s VIE as of December 31, 2014 isndembon the Company’s consolidated
balance sheet in “Prepaid expenses and other t@seats,” and is not included in the above tafile. Company did not have any VIEs recorded in its
consolidated financial statements as of Decembg2@13.

The Company has a limited number of marketablerg@siin insignificant loss positions as of DecemnB1, 2014 , which the Company does not
intend to sell and has concluded it will not beuieed to sell before recovery of the amortized sdst the investment at maturity.

There were no charges recorded for other-than-teempdeclines in fair value of marketable secusiti®r gross realized gains or losses
recognized in 2014 , 2013 or 2012 .

F. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Los
The following table summarizes the changes in actated other comprehensive loss by component:

Unrealized holding  Unrealized (losses)

Foreign currency gains (losses) on gains on foreign
translation marketable currency forward
adjustment securities contracts Total

(in thousands)

Balance at December 31, 2013 $ (32) $ 42 $ 23) $ (30¢€)
Other comprehensive (loss) income before reclassifins (64¢€) (165) 3,591 2,78(C
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comgnelve loss — — (1,557 (1,557

Net current period other comprehensive (loss) ireom (64€) (165) 2,03¢ 1,22t

Balance at December 31, 2014 $ 97) % (129 $ 2,011 % 917

G. Hedging



In 2013, the Company initiated a hedging progratrarided to mitigate the effect of changes in exchaatges for a portion of the Company’s
forecasted product revenues denominated in cefidegign currencies. The program includes foreigmency forward contracts that are designated as
cash flow hedges under GAAP having contractual tthira from one to twelve months. To date, the exisé of operational sites in markets outside
United States has generally minimized the degreehioh the Company seeks to hedge its revenuesriain foreign currencies.

The Company formally documents the relationshipvieen foreign currency forward contracts (hedgirggriments) and forecasted product
revenues (hedged items), as well as the Compaisi sranagement objective and strategy for undertpkarious hedging activities, which includes
matching all foreign currency forward contractst thiie designated as cash flow hedges to forectsteshctions. The Company also formally asse
both at the hedge’s inception and on an ongoings patether the foreign currency forward contraets highly effective in offsetting changes in cash
flows of hedged items on a prospective and retrcispebasis. If the Company determines that (9reifyn currency forward contract is not highly
effective as a cash flow hedge, (i) it has cedsdzk a highly effective hedge or (iii) a forecasstensaction is no longer probable of occurrihg, t
Company would discontinue hedge accounting treatmerspectively. The Company measures effectivebassd on the change in fair value of the
forward contracts and the fair value of the hyptitaé foreign currency forward contracts with terthat match the critical terms of the risk being
hedged. As of December 31, 2014 , all hedges wetesmined to be highly effective and the Compars/rinat recorded any ineffectiveness related to
the hedging program.

The following table summarizes the notional amafrthe Company s outstanding foreign currency forward contractsigieated as cash flow
hedges:

As of December 31, 2014 As of December 31, 2013
Foreign Currency (in thousands)
Euro $ 20,20¢ $ 17,46¢
British pound sterling 13,51t —
Total foreign currency forward contracts $ 33,72¢ % 17,46¢

The following table summarizes the fair value af @ompany’s outstanding foreign currency forwardtarcts included on the Company’s
consolidated balance sheets:

As of December 31, 2014 As of December 31, 2013
(in thousands)
Fair value - assets $ 2,011 $ =
Fair value - liabilities — (23
Net carrying value $ 2,011 $ (29)

H. Inventories

Inventories consisted of the following:

As of December 31,

2014 2013
(in thousands)
Raw materials $ 8,50¢ $ 48¢
Work-in-process 20,50¢ 9,981
Finished goods 1,83¢ 3,671
Total $ 30,84¢ % 14,14%

As of December 31, 2014 , the Company has captali 1.8 milliornof inventory costs for lumacaftor manufactured iegaration for its planne
product launch in 2015 based on its evaluatiomipng other factors, information regarding lumamrédtsafety and efficacy. In periods prior to July
1, 2014, the Company expensed costs associateduwiticaftor's raw materials and work-in-process @evelopment expense. In November 2014,
the Company submitted a New Drug Application toltheted States Food and Drug Administration andaakdting Authorization Application to the
European Medicines Agency for lumacaftor in comborawith ivacaftor. The FDA has granted the Comppriority review of the NDA and the
European Committee for Medicinal Products for Hurbkse has granted the Company’s request for Acdekbrassessment of the MAA. The target
date for the FDA to complete its review of the Nk the combination under the Prescription Drugifsee Act, or PDUFA, is July 5, 2015. The
Company plans to continue to monitor the statubi@ede regulatory processes and the other factetstosdetermine whether or not to capitalize the
lumacaftor inventory and, if there are significapgative developments regarding lumacaftor in coatimn with ivacaftor, the Company could be
required to impair previously capitalized costs.

In 2013, the Company recorded within cost of patdavenues $10.4 million of write-offs for exces®l obsolete inventories. In 2012 , the
Company recorded within cost of product revenue3#Lmillion of write-offs for excess and obsol¥€CIVEK inventories related to declining sales.
The write-offs for excess and obsolete inventooie$10.4 million and $133.2 million in 2013 and 20Irespectively, affected the net loss attribwgabl
to Vertex per share, net of tax, by $0.05 and $th&D13 and 2012 , respectively. The Company didecord any write-offs for excess and obsolete



inventories during the year ended December 31, 2014
I. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment, net consisted of the fafigw

As of December 31,

2014 2013
(in thousands)

Buildings $ 531,64 $ 506,05¢
Furniture and equipment 202,84t 190,55
Software 113,87 102,52(
Leasehold improvements 99,94 163,01¢
Computers 45,89: 43,09¢
Total property and equipment, gross 994,19¢ 1,005,241
Less: accumulated depreciation (278,38¢) (308,33)

Total property and equipment, net $ 715,81. $ 696,91

Total property and equipment, gross, as of Decerdbge?014 and 2013 , included $85.6 million and.&7#8illion , respectively, for property and
equipment recorded under capital leases. Accuntuligpreciation, as of December 31, 2014 and 2@43uded $13.1 million and $3.8 million,
respectively, for property and equipment recordeden capital leases.

Included in property and equipment, net as of Ddmem31, 2014 were $11.2 million and $1.2 milliorcapitalized internally developed software
costs and related amortization, respectively. laetlin property and equipment, net as of
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December 31, 2013 were $5.5 million and $0.5 millio capitalized internally developed software sastd related amortization, respectively.
The Company recorded depreciation expense of $6i8n , $47.3 million and $35.7 million in 20142013 and 2012 , respectively.

In 2014, in connection with the relocation of then@pbany’s headquarters in Massachusetts from CagetaBoston, the Company wrote off
certain leasehold improvements that were fully defated and no longer utilized. There was no effecthe Company's net property and equipment at
the time of the write off because the Company hagtipusly adjusted the useful lives of these agsetsincide with its relocation when it concluded
that the relocation was probable.

J. Intangible Assets and Goodwi
Intangible Assets

As of December 31, 2014 , the Company had $29.lomibf intangible assets recorded on its constdiddalance sheet related to the
consolidation of a VIE, BioAxone.

BioAxone Collaboration

In October 2014, the Company recorded $29.0 milliban in-process research and development intengéset on its consolidated balance sheet
based on the Company'’s estimate of the fair vafué&Xe210, a drug candidate for patients with spioaid injuries that is licensed from BioAxone by
the Company. The Company used a 7.5% discounirréite present-value models used to estimate thedhie of the in-process research and
development asset. The Company also conductedamnation of BioAxone's other programs and determitieat market participants would not have
ascribed value to those assets because of theaftdgeelopment of those assets.

ViroChem Acquisition

In 2013, the Company determined that there wereamals that the value of the VX-222 intangiblesassquired from ViroChem in 2010 of
$412.9 million reflected on its consolidated balasbeet had become impaired. The Company evaltladdir value of VX-222 from the perspective
of a market participant and based on this anafjsisrmined that the fair value of VX-222 was zeasddl on, among other things, additional data
regarding VX-222 and compounds being developedthgracompetitors. Accordingly, the Company recordeg#12.9 million impairment charge in
2013. In connection with this impairment charge, @ompany recorded a credit of $127.6 million snptovision for income taxes. In 2013, the
increase to the Company’s net loss attributabMeidex related to this impairment charge, net efttix credit, was $285.3 million , and the net
increase to the Company’s net loss per share aithifife to Vertex common shareholders was $1.2eme.

Goodwill

As of December 31, 2014 , goodwill of $39.9 millimas recorded on the Company’s consolidated balsimeet. The Company allocated $8.9
million to goodwill related to the BioAxone collatagion during the year ended December 31, 2014heNid the goodwill related to the BioAxone
collaboration is expected to be deductible for medax purposes. As of December 31, 2013, $31ldmwas recorded on the Company’s
consolidated balance sheet.
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K. Additional Balance Sheet Deta
Prepaid and other current assets consisted obtlosving:

As of December 31,

2014 2013
(in thousands)
Prepaid expenses $ 17,56¢ $ 15,35!
Taxes receivable 14,09: 7,95¢
Restricted Cash (VIE) 8,41¢ —
Deferred tax asset 3,50( —
Fair value foreign currency forward contracts 2,011 _
Other 7,002 524
Total
$ 52,59 $ 23,83¢

Accrued expenses consisted of the following:

As of December 31,

2014 2013
(in thousands)
Payroll and benefits $ 91,17t $ 76,78t
Research, development and commercial contract costs 38,14: 52,46¢
Product revenue allowances 34,55 85,51(
Royalty payable 12,21¢ 18,33«
Taxes payable and reserves (including VIE taxealpay 10,03¢ 11,14¢
Professional fees 7,00¢ 10,59:
Interest 5,44¢ —
Other 11,10( 16,24
Total
$ 209,67¢ $ 271,07

Other liabilities, current portion consisted of fodowing:

As of December 31,

2014 2013
(in thousands)
Deferred rent $ 4,01t $ 16,65
Customer deposits — 7,692
Other 782 392
Total
$ 4,797 % 24,73¢

L. Long Term Obligations
Fan Pier Leases

In 2011, the Company entered into two lease agretanpursuant to which the Company leases apprdglynd.1 millionsquare feet of office ar
laboratory space in two buildings (the “Buildingsit) Fan Pier in Boston, Massachusetts (the “FanlLii@ses”). The Company commenced lease
payments in December 2013, and will make lease patsipursuant to the Fan Pier Leases through Deze20R8. The Company has an option to
extend the term of the Fan Pier Leases for aniaddit10 years.

Because the Company was involved in the constmugtioject, the Company was deemed for accountimggses to be the owner of the Buildir
during the construction period and recorded prajeastruction costs incurred by the landlord.
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Upon completion of the Buildings, the Company estdd the Fan Pier Leases and determined that th®iEaLeases did not meet the criteria for
“sale-leaseback” treatment. Accordingly, the Conmyplaegan depreciating the asset and incurring istengpense related to the financing obligation in
2013. The Company bifurcates its lease paymentuput to the Fan Pier Leases into (i) a portiohithallocated to the Buildings and (ii) a portion
that is allocated to the land on which the Buildimgere constructed. The portion of the lease ofitiga allocated to the land is treated as an oiperat
lease that commenced in 2011. In 2014 , the Compaoorded $60.2 million in interest expense, $I8illon in depreciation expense and $6.5
million in rent expense related to the Buildings.

Property and equipment, net, included $515.0 nnilhod $503.4 million as of December 31, 2014 ariB20espectively, related to construction
costs for the Buildings. The carrying value of Geastruction financing lease obligation relatethi® Buildings, which excludes interest that will be
imputed over the course of the Company’s leaseeageet for the Buildings, was $473.4 million and @®million , as of December 31, 2014 and
2013, respectively.

Term Loan

On July 9, 2014, the Company entered into a ceglitement with the lenders party thereto, and MadgWws Trading LLC (“Macquarie”), as
administrative agent. The credit agreement providea $300.0 million senior secured term loan ¢fiid.oan”). The credit agreement also provides
that, subject to satisfaction of certain conditiche Company may request that the lenders edtedoisSncremental senior secured term loan faditity
an aggregate amount not to exceed $200.0 million .

The Term Loan initially bears interest at a rat& @% per annum but shall be reduced to 6.2% pauraron the later to occur of (i) FDA approval
in the United States of a product with a labelrolér treating patients with cystic fibrosis 12 yeaf age and older who are homozygous with the
F508del mutation (“FDA Approval”), and (ii) the ogear anniversary of the closing, in each case| tinet second anniversary of the closing. On and
after the second anniversary of the closing, thenTleoan will bear interest at a rate per annum EguBbIBOR plus 5.0% to 7.5% depending on the
receipt of FDA Approval.

The maturity date of all loans under the faciliieduly 9, 2017. Interest is payable quarterly andhe maturity date. The Company is required to
repay principal on the Term Loan in installment$5.0 million per quarter from October 1, 201%5tigh July 1, 2016 and in installments of $60.0
million per quarter from October 1, 2016 through the migtaiate. The Company may prepay the Term Loanhalevor in part, at any time; provid:
that prepayments prior to the second anniversatiyeo€losing are subject to a make-whole premiuengure Macquarie receives approximately the
present value of two years of interest payments theelife of the loan.

The Company’s obligations under the Term Loan aednoditionally guaranteed by certain of its donmeestibsidiaries. All obligations under the
Term Loan, and the guarantees of those obligatemessecured, subject to certain exceptions, bgtanbally all of the Compang’assets and the as:
of all guarantors, including the pledge of all gvation of the equity interests of certain ofsteosidiaries.

The credit agreement requires that the Companytaiajron a quarterly basis, a minimum level of KARECO net revenues. Further, the credit
agreement includes negative covenants, subjesicepéons, restricting or limiting the Company’slép and the ability of its subsidiaries to, among
other things, incur additional indebtedness, gliant, engage in certain investment, acquisitiosh @gsposition transactions, pay dividends, repuseha
capital stock and enter into transactions withliafés. The credit agreement also contains custpnegresentations and warranties, affirmative
covenants and events of default, including payrdefdults, breach of representations and warrardtegnant defaults and cross defaults. If an event
of default occurs, the administrative agent woldcehtitled to take various actions, including theederation of amounts due under outstanding loans.
There have been no events of default as of or duhie period ended December 31, 2014 .

Based on the Company'’s evaluation of the Term LdaCompany determined that the Term Loan contsusral embedded derivatives. These
embedded derivatives are clearly and closely réletehe host instrument because they relate t€tmepany’s credit risk; therefore, they do not
require bifurcation from the host instrument, tregf Loan.
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The Company incurred $5.3 million in fees paid tadquarie that were recorded as a discount on thra Tean and that are being recorded as
additional interest expense using the effectiverggt method over the term of the loan in the Campgaconsolidated statements of operations. As of
December 31, 2014, the unamortized discount agsdowith the Term Loan that was embedded in th@ssecured term loan caption on the
Company'’s consolidated balance sheet was $5.2omilli

Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes

In September 2010, the Company completed an offexii$400.0 million in aggregate principal amouhB8®5% convertible senior subordinated
notes due 2015 Notes (the “2015 Notes”). This afferesulted in $391.6 million of net proceedsite Company. The underwriting discount and other
expenses of $8.4 million were recorded as debaisseicosts and were included in other assets dDdhrpany’s consolidated balance sheets. The
2015 Notes bore interest at the rate of 3.35% peum, and the Company was required to make semighimmterest payments on the outstanding
principal balance of the 2015 Notes on April 1 &wtober 1 of each year.

The 2015 Notes were convertible at any time, abgiten of the holder, into common stock at a pageal to approximately $48.83 per share, or
20.4794 shares of common stock per $1,000 prineipalunt of the 2015 Notes, subject to adjustméttel closing price of the Company’s common
stock exceeded 130% of the conversion price fteagt 20 trading days within a period of 30 contigeurading days, the Company had the right to
redeem the 2015 Notes at its option at a redemptime equal to 100% of the principal amount of 2045 Notes to be redeemed.

In the second quarter of 2013, the Company’s comstock exceeded 130% of the conversion price oR@ib Notes for at least 20 trading days
within a period of 3@onsecutive trading days, and the Company notifiecholders of the 2015 Notes that it would redéee2015 Notes on June :
2013. In response to the Company’s call of the 20ates for redemption, in accordance with the miovis of the 2015 Notes, the holders of $399.8
million in aggregate principal amount of 2015 Notéscted to convert their 2015 Notes into the Camgfsacommon stock at the conversion price of
approximately $48.83 per share. As a result ofeloegversions, the Company issued 8,188,448 shaoesnmon stock. The remaining $0.2 million
aggregate principal amount of 2015 Notes was reddesn June 17, 2013.

Pursuant to the terms of the 2015 Notes, the Coynpeatle an additional payment of $16.75 per $1,00®ipal amount, payable in shares of the
Company’s common stock, to the holders of the 20ates that converted or redeemed their 2015 Ndtestae Company called the 2015 Notes for
redemption. These payments resulted in the issuairme additional 87,109 shares of the Companysroon stock. In the second quarter of 2013, the
Company recognized an aggregate of $6.7 millidintierest expense related to the 2015 Notes. Unamadrtiebt issuance costs for the 2015 Notes of
$4.2 million were recorded as an offset to addéigraid-in capital.

M. Common Stock, Preferred Stock and Equity Plan

The Company is authorized to issue 300,000,00Csharcommon stock. Holders of common stock ariédlemto one vote per share. Holders of
common stock are entitled to receive dividendani when declared by the Company’s Board of Dirsctand to share ratably in the Company’s
assets legally available for distribution to then@pany’s shareholders in the event of liquidationlddrs of common stock have no preemptive,
subscription, redemption or conversion rights. ibklers of common stock do not have cumulativengptights.

The Company is authorized to issue 1,000,000 sldineeferred stock in one or more series anddohié powers, designations, preferences and
relative participating, option or other rights tbef, including dividend rights, conversion rightsting rights, redemption terms, liquidation prefiece:
and the number of shares constituting any serigsput any further vote or action by the Comparsfisreholders. As of December 31, 2014 and
2013, the Company had no shares of preferred ssakd or outstanding.

Sock and Option Plans

The purpose of each of the Company'’s stock andotians is to attract, retain and motivate its leyges, consultants and directors. Awards
granted under these plans can be incentive staidnsp(“ISOs”), nonstatutory stock options
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("NSOs"), restricted stock (“RSs”), restricted dtamits (“RSUs”) or other equity-based awards, @ecfied in the individual plans.

Shares issued under all of the Company’s planfuaded through the issuance of new shares. Thewolg table contains information about the
Company'’s equity plans:

As of December 31, 2014
Additional Awards

Type of Award Awards Authorized for
Title of Plan Group Eligible Granted Outstanding Grant
2013 Stock and Option Plan Employees, Non-employee Directors and NSO,
Consultants RS and RSU 2,857,27! 9,362,89:
2006 Stock and Option Plan Employees, Non-employee Directors and NSO,
Consultants RS and RSU 11,428,74 1,189,47.
1996 Stock and Option Plan Employees, Non-employee Directors, NSO, ISO and RS 623,78¢ —
Advisors and Consultants
Total 14,909,80 10,552,37

All options granted under the Company’s 2013 Staoét Option Plan (“2013 Plan”), 2006 Stock and Qpftan (“2006 Plan”) and 1996 Stock
and Option Plan were granted with an exercise mipeal to the fair value of the underlying commtotk on the date of grant. As of December 31,
2014 , the stock and option plans under which the@any makes new equity awards are the Compan@8 Ptan and 2013 Plan. Under the 2006
Plan and the 2013 Plan, no stock options can bedagavith an exercise price less than the fair miavklue on the date of grant. The Company’s
shareholders (i) approved an increase in the nuoflgrares authorized for issuance pursuant t@@i8 Plan of 9,500,000 shares in 2014, (i)
authorized 3,300,000 shares for issuance pursaahet2013 Plan in 2013 and (iii) approved an iasecin the number of shares authorized for
issuance pursuant to the 2006 Plan of 3,000,00@s!@2012.

During the three years ended December 31, 2@tdnts to current employees and directors prignhed a grant date that was the same as the
the award was approved by the Company’s Board dbirs. During the three years ended Decembe2®Y , for grants to new employees and
directors, the date of grant for awards was theleyep'’s first day of employment or the date theclior was elected to the Company’s Board of
Directors. All options awarded under the Comparsytek and option plans expire not more than 10s/fam the grant date.

During the three years ended December 31, 2014hales of outstanding restricted stock and sttistock units have been granted at a price
equal to $0.01 , the par value of the Company’srnomstock. Vesting of options, restricted stock egxtricted stock units generally is ratable over
specified periods, usually four years, and is deiteed by the Company’s Board of Directors.

The following table summarizes information relatedhe outstanding and exercisable options dutiegyear ended December 31, 2014 :

Weighted-average Aggregate Intrinsic

Weighted-average Remaining
Stock Options Exercise Price Contractual Life Value
(in thousands) (per share) (in years) (in thousands)
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 1572¢  $ 44.4(
Granted 361z % 84.3¢
Exercised (6,159 $ 41.5¢
Forfeited 1179 $ 55.2¢
Expired 14 $ 66.4:
Outstanding at December 31, 2014 12,000 % 56.81 6.94 $ 761,27:
Exercisable at December 31, 2014 555¢ $ 45.61 543 $ 414,34"
11,38 % 55.9¢ 6.85 $ 731,67

Exercisable and Expected to Vest at December 34 20
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The aggregate intrinsic value in the table abopeagents the total pre-tax amount, net of exepniee, that would have been received by option
holders if all option holders had exercised ali@ms with an exercise price lower than the markigepon December 31, 2014 , which was $120.23
based on the average of the high and low pricee@flompany’s common stock on that date.

The total intrinsic value (the amount by which fai market value exceeded the exercise price)auksoptions exercised during 2014 , 2013 and
2012 was $316.5 million , $291.6 million and $14&hillion , respectively. The total cash received by the Canyas a result of employee stock op
exercises during 2014 , 2013 and 2012 was $253li&mj $246.8 million and $172.8 million , respeety.

The following table summarizes information abowic&toptions outstanding and exercisable at Dece®be2014 :

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted-average
Range of Exercise Number Remaining Weighted-average Number Weighted-average
Prices Outstanding Contractual Life Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price
(in thousands) (in years) (per share) (in thousands) (per share)
$10.41-%$20.00 214 225 $ 17.6¢€ 214 % 17.6¢€
$20.01-%$40.00 3,70z 440 $ 35.07 298¢ $ 34.7:
$40.01-$60.00 3,69( 7.46 $ 48.5: 143t $ 50.4¢
$60.01-$80.00 1,98( 8.85 $ 76.1: 44z  $ 74.7¢
$80.01-$100.00 2,401 8.87 $ 90.2: 47 $ 84.€
$100.01-$112.48 16 9.83 $ 110.5¢ —  $ —
Total 12,00:¢ 6.94 $ 56.81 555 $ 45.61

The following table summarizes the restricted stactvity of the Company during the year ended Deloer 31, 2014 :

Weighted-average

Restricted Grant-date

Stock Fair Value

(in thousands) (per share)
Unvested at December 31, 2013 2,04t $ 52.6¢€
Granted 1,897 $ 92.0(
Vested (59%) $ 50.6¢
Cancelled (441 3 56.3¢
Unvested at December 31, 2014 2,900 $ 78.1¢

The total fair value of restricted stock that vesteiring 2014 , 2013 and 2012 (measured on theafatesting) was $54.5 million , $50.9 million
and $41.1 million , respectively.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company has an employee stock purchase plafiEBPP”). The ESPP permits eligible employeesitolein a twelve -month offering
period comprising two six-month purchase periodsti€ipants may purchase shares of the Companysram stock, through payroll deductions, at a
price equal to 85% of the fair market value of ¢benmon stock on the first day of the applicablel@emonth offering period, or the last day of the
applicable six-month purchase period, whichevéowser. Purchase dates under the ESPP occur oroat May 14 and November 14 of each year. As
of December 31, 2014 , there were 1,396,227 sludresmmon stock authorized for issuance pursuatite EESPP.
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In 2014 , the following shares were issued to eyg®s under the ESPP:

Year Ended December 31, 2014

(in thousands,
except per share amount)

Number of shares 357
Average price paid per share $ 53.6¢

N. Stock-based Compensation Expen:

The Company recognizes share-based payments togeaglas compensation expense using the fair wadtieod. The fair value of stock options
and shares purchased pursuant to the ESPP isateltwising the Black-Scholes option pricing modke fair value of restricted stock and restricted
stock units typically is based on the intrinsicugabn the date of grant. Stock-based compensatieasured at the grant date based on the fair eélue
the award, is typically recognized as expense hatater the service period. The expense recognized the service period includes an estimate of
awards that will be forfeited.

The effect of stock-based compensation expensagdltiie three years ended December 31, 2014 wad@sd:

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)

Stock-based compensation expense by line item:

Research and development expenses $ 116,99¢ $ 81,18: $ 71,24
Sales, general and administrative expenses 60,54 45,65: 42,56.
Total stock-based compensation expense includedsts and expenses $ 17754: $ 126,83 % 113,80«

The stock-based compensation expense by type ofladuaing the three years ended December 31, 2@&aw follows:

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)

Stock-based compensation expense by type of award:

Stock options $ 99,96. $ 84,59¢ % 78,56¢
Restricted stock and restricted stock units 70,67¢ 36,47¢ 29,19¢
ESPP share issuances 8,32¢ 6,80t 7,29¢
Less: stock-based compensation expense capitatizaedentories (1,429 (1,049 (1,259
Total stock-based compensation expense includedsts and expenses $ 17754: $ 126,83 % 113,80«

In 2013 and 2012, the Company also recognized diaskd compensation expense recorded to noncomgraiierest (Alios), which is reflected
the Company’s consolidated statements of sharefsétpiity and noncontrolling interest on the coiasdéd balance sheet and in discontinued
operations attributable to noncontrolling interastof December 31, 2014.

The Company capitalizes stock-based compensatipense to inventories, all of which is attributatleemployees who supported the Company’s
manufacturing operations for the Company’s products
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The following table sets forth the Company’s unigriaed stock-based compensation expense, netiofatst forfeitures, as of December 31,
2014 , by type of award and the weighted-averagegever which that expense is expected to begriced:

As of December 31, 2014

Unrecognized Expense Weighted-average
Net of Recognition
Estimated Forfeitures Period
(in thousands) (in years)
Type of award:

Stock options $ 156,96 2.13
Restricted stock and restricted stock units $ 148,03 2.79
ESPP share issuances $ 4,26 0.61

Sock Options

The Company issues stock options with service ¢mmdi, which are generally the vesting periodshefawards. The Company uses the Black-
Scholes option pricing model to estimate the faiue of stock options at the grant date. The Blackeles option pricing model uses the option
exercise price as well as estimates and assumpttated to the expected price volatility of then@many’s stock, the rate of return on risk-free
investments, the expected period during which fiteons will be outstanding, and the expected divdlgield for the Company’s stock to estimate the
fair value of a stock option on the grant date. ®pgons granted during 2014 , 2013 and 2012 hadighted-average gradite fair value per share
$39.95, $25.79 and $19.72 , respectively.

The fair value of each option granted during 202013 and 2012 was estimated on the date of geamg the Black-Scholes option pricing model
with the following weighted-average assumptions:

2014 2013 2012
Expected stock price volatility 50.86% 46.2(% 47.92%
Risk-free interest rate 1.77% 1.2504 0.95%
Expected term of options (in years) 5.47 5.81 5.7¢
Expected annual dividends — — —
The weighted-average valuation assumptions weerméted as follows:
. Expected stock price volatility: Options to purchase the Company’s stock with remgiterms of greater than one year are regularly

traded in the market. Expected stock price votgtii calculated using the trailing one month ageraf daily implied volatilities
prior to grant date.

. Risk-free interest rate: The Company bases the risk-free interest rate @interest rate payable on U.S. Treasury secuiitieffect
at the time of grant for a period that is commeatwith the assumed expected option term.

. Expected term of options: The expected term of options represents the pefitiche options are expected to be outstanding. The
Company uses historical data to estimate employeise and postest termination behavior. The Company believesdaharoups
of employees exhibit similar exercise and post-t&shination behavior and therefore does not §jratnployees into multiple
groups in determining the expected term of options.

. Expected annual dividends: The estimate for annual dividends is $0.00 becthes€ompany has not historically paid, and does not
intend for the foreseeable future to pay, a divitlen
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Restricted Sock and Restricted Sock Units

The Company issues restricted stock and restrgttezk units with service conditions, which are gahg the vesting periods of the awards. The
Company also issues, to certain members of seraoagement, on an annual basis restricted stockestritted stock units that vest upon the earlier
of the satisfaction of (i) a performance conditar(ii) a service condition. In addition, in 204e Company issued pursuant to a retention program
restricted stock awards to certain members of senamagement that will vest upon the satisfactiblpoth (i) a performance condition and (ii) a
service condition.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The weighted-average fair value of each purchage granted during 2014 , 2013 and 2012 was $2%29.08 and $12.90 , respectively. The
following table reflects the weighted-average agstions used in the Black-Scholes option pricing giddr 2014 , 2013 and 2012 :

2014 2013 2012
Expected stock price volatility 60.32% 54.6%% 46.9(%
Risk-free interest rate 0.0%% 0.0e% 0.1€%
Expected term (in years) 0.7t 0.74 0.74

Expected annual dividends — — —

The expected stock price volatility for ESPP offigs is based on implied volatility. The Companydsathe risk-free interest rate on the interest
rate payable on U.S. Treasury securities in efiethe time of grant for a period that is commeawwith the assumed expected term. The expected
term represents purchases and purchase periodakbatlace within the offering period. The expdaeanual dividends estimate is $0.00 because the
Company has not historically paid, and does notHerforeseeable future intend to pay, a dividend.

O. Other Arrangements
Sale of HIV Protease Inhibitor Royalty Sream

In 2008, the Company sold to a third party its tégio receive royalty payments from GlaxoSmithKlpie, net of royalty amounts to be earned by
and due to a third party, for a one-time cash payro£$160.0 million . These royalty payments reltt net sales of HIV protease inhibitors, which
had been developed pursuant to a collaboratioreagget between the Company and GlaxoSmithKlineAdmf December 31, 2014 , the Company
had $43.2 million in deferred revenues relatech&odne-time cash payment, which it is recogniziner ¢he life of the collaboration agreement with
GlaxoSmithKline plc based on the units-of-revenwehnd. In addition, the Company continues to reczegroyalty revenues equal to the amount of
the third-party subroyalty and an offsetting royakpense for the third-party subroyalty payment.

Other income (expense), net

In April 2014, the Company received a one-time gaeyment of $36.7 million from its landlord purstitmthe Fan Pier Leases. This payment
related to bonds issued pursuant to an Infrastreddevelopment Assistance Agreement between Then@mwealth of Massachusetts and the
Company'’s landlord. The bonds were issued in cctimre with the landlord’s contribution to infrastture improvements and also were dependent
upon employment levels at the Company through tmellissuance date. The Company accounted forategayment as a government grant as i
provided in part related to the Company’s employntevel in Massachusetts. Such grants are recogjizecome in the period in which the
conditions of the grant are met and there is regtderassurance that the grant will be receivedjigeal it is not subject to refund. In the secondrtgr
of 2014, the Company recorded $36.7 million aseditto other income (expense), net in its constéid statements of operations because the
Company’s employment obligations related to thesel$ were satisfied as of the date of issuanceedbonds and the payment received is not subject
to refund.
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P. Income Taxe:

The components of loss from continuing operaticgfeite provision for (benefit from) income taxesidgrthe three years ended December 31,
2014 consisted of the following:

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)
United States $ (645,46 $ (10,639 $ 231,54.
Foreign (89,410 (615,401 (199,544
(Loss) income from continuing operations beforevfgion for (benefit from) income taxes $ (734,87) $ (626,049 $ 31,99¢

The components of the provision for (benefit frangome taxes from continuing operations duringttivee years ended December 31, 2014 consistec
of the following:

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)

Current taxes:

United States $ 285: % — % —

Foreign 2,457 1,08t (1,865)

State 1,36¢ 4,08( 1,59(
Total current taxes $ 6,67¢ $ 516 $ (275)
Deferred taxes:

United States $ 244  $ — % =

Foreign — (127,58 —

State 38 — =
Total deferred taxes $ 28z % (127,58) $ —
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes $ 6,95¢ $ (122,42) $ (27%)

The difference between the Company’s “expected’pravision (benefit), as computed by applying th& Jederal corporate tax rate of 35% to
(loss) income from continuing operations beforevggion for (benefit from) income taxes, and actiaal is reconciled as follows:

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)
(Loss) income from continuing operations beforevigion for (benefit from) income taxes $ (734,87 $ (626,049 $ 31,99¢
Expected tax provision (benefit) (257,206 (219,119 11,19¢
State taxes, net of federal benefit 1,12¢ 3,84« 1,69:¢
Foreign rate differential 39,33¢ 79,79¢ 46,16¢
Tax credits (33,789 (16,775 (1,79
Unbenefitted operating losses 241,03 (29,900 (63,189
Non-deductible expenses 18,75¢ 9,614 3,08¢
Rate change (1,826 50,07¢ 3,27¢
Other (479 35 (714
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes $ 6,95¢ $ (122,42) $ (275)

The foreign rate differential in the tax rate recitiation table reflects the effect of operationgurisdictions with tax rates that are differemrh
the United States. As set forth in the componehlsss before provision for (benefit from) inconaxeés, the Company had losses in foreign
jurisdictions in each year presented. Due to |Idiwegign tax rates, particularly in the Cayman Iglgnreland and Switzerland, the Comg’s tax
benefit in foreign loss jurisdictions is less thhe “expectedtax benefit that would have resulted from losseth@se jurisdictions at corporate tax r.
in the United
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States. The difference between the tax benefiraidn corporate tax rates and the “expected” ieba$ed on corporate tax rates in the United State
is reflected in the tax reconciliation table unttex caption “foreign rate differential.”

The unbenefitted operating losses in the tax etenciliation table primarily reflect a changelie tvaluation allowance on deferred tax assets
related to the United States, Canada, Ireland antz&land. In 2014, the valuation allowance inseghprimarily due to an increase in the net
operating loss in the United States with no bemkfé to the uncertainty in the Company’s abilityig® them in future periods. In 2013 and 2012 gther
was a favorable effect on the tax provision (beahéfithe tax rate reconciliation table due to @ueion of the valuation allowance in the UnitedtSs
resulting from the utilization of U.S. federal rgterating losses. In Canada, Ireland and Switzeélasses have been incurred that cannot be betkefitt
due to uncertainty in the Company’s ability to tisem in future periods resulting in an unfavoradffect on the tax provision.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determbeesd on the difference between financial statearshtax bases using enacted tax rates in effect
for the year in which the differences are expetbvaeverse. The components of the deferred taxes agefollows:

As of December 31,
2014 2013
(in thousands)

Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss $ 996,17 $ 850,94¢
Tax credit carryforwards 265,33¢ 180,38(
Intangible assets 3,17¢ 26,10¢
Deferred revenues 15,77! 25,15¢
Stock-based compensation 61,527 63,52
Inventories 13,39¢ 26,27¢
Accrued expenses 37,69¢ 52,47(
Currency translation adjustment — 217
Construction financing lease obligation 175,85! 152,68¢
Gross deferred tax assets 1,568,93! 1,377,76.
Valuation allowance (1,409,93) (1,243,669
Total deferred tax assets 158,99 134,09¢
Deferred tax liabilities:
Property and equipment (158,99 (134,099
Acquired intangibles (11,549 —
Net deferred tax liabilities $ (11,549 $ =

The Company presents its deferred tax assets dedetttax liabilities gross on its consolidatedabae sheets. As of December 31, 2014, the
Company recorded $3.5 million of deferred tax asaet $15.0 million of deferred tax liabilities,ita prepaid expenses and other current assets and
other liabilities, excluding current portion balengheet accounts, respectively. As of Decembe2@®14 , $11.5 million of the deferred tax liabilgie
are attributable to the Company’s collaboratiorhvidioAxone

For federal income tax purposes, as of Decembe2@®14 , the Company has net operating loss camgats of approximately $3.6 billicend ta»
credits of $172.4 million , which may be used ttsef future federal income and tax liability, resipeely. Approximately $908.5 million of the fedéra
net operating loss carryforward will result in acriease to additional paid-in capital if and wheese carryforwards are used to reduce income taxes
payable.

For state income tax purposes, the Company haspeeating loss carryforwards of approximately $85@illion and tax credits of $95.9 million ,
which may be used to offset future state incometardiability, respectively. Approximately $98.4illion of the state net operating loss carryforward
will result in an increase to additional paid-irpital if and when these carryforwards are usecetluce state income taxes payable.
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These federal and state operating loss carryforsvand tax credits expire at various dates thro@4 2After consideration of all the evidence,
both positive and negative, the Company continaesdintain a valuation allowance for the full ambahthe 2014 deferred tax asset because it is
more likely than not that the deferred tax assétnet be realized. In future periods, if managetrdgtermines that it is more likely than not theg t
deferred tax asset will be realized, (i) the vabraallowance would be decreased, (ii) a portioalbof the deferred tax asset would be reflectedhe
Company'’s consolidated balance sheet and (iii@bepany would record non-cash benefits in its clidated statements of operations related to the
reflection of the deferred tax asset on its codsidéid balance sheets.

The valuation allowance increased by $166.3 milfram December 31, 2013 to December 31, 2014 pifyndwe to an increase in net operating
losses and credits.

Unrecognized tax benefits during the two years dridlecember 31, 2014 consisted of the following:

2014 2013
(in thousands)

Unrecognized tax benefits beginning of year $ 2,022 $ 4,10¢
Gross change for current year positions — 1,32¢
Decrease for prior period positions 27) (290
Decrease due to settlements and payments (1,119 —
Decrease due to statute limitations — (18%)
Deconsolidation of Alios — (2,939

Unrecognized tax benefits end of year $ 88C $ 2,02¢

The Company had gross unrecognized tax beneftt®.8f million and $2.0 million , respectively, asl@cember 31, 2014 and 2013 . At
December 31, 2014 , $0.9 million represented theumnof unrecognized tax benefits that, if recogdiavould result in a reduction of the Company’s
effective tax rate. The Company recognizes inteardtpenalties related to income taxes as a compoh@écome tax expense. As of December 31,
2014 , no interest and penalties have been accu@@15, it is reasonably possible that the Corgpaiti reduce the balance of its unrecognized tax
benefits by approximately $0.5 million due to tipplcation of statute of limitations and settlensewith taxing authorities, all of which would reduc
the Company'’s effective tax rate.

The Company files United States federal incomeétxrns and income tax returns in various statslland foreign jurisdictions. The Compan!
no longer subject to any tax assessment from anriedax examination in the United States beforé2@lany other major taxing jurisdiction for ye
before 2009, except where the Company has nettipgetasses or tax credit carryforwards that orgenbefore 2009. The Company is currently under
examination by Revenue Quebec for the year endedriger 31, 2013 and the Internal Revenue Serviesshthusetts and Pennsylvania for the year
ended December 31, 2011. No adjustments have beerted. The Company is not under examination lyyodimer jurisdictions for any tax year. The
Company concluded audits with the Canada Revenea@ygand Revenue Quebec during 2014 with no masetjastments.

At December 31, 2014 , foreign earnings, which weresignificant, have been retained indefinitejyftreign subsidiary companies for
reinvestment; therefore, no provision has been Madacome taxes that would be payable upon teg&illution of such earnings, and it would not be
practicable to determine the amount of the relate@cognized deferred income tax liability. Upopatiation of those earnings, in the form of
dividends or otherwise, the Company would be sulifet).S. federal income taxes (subject to an adjest for foreign tax credits) and withholding
taxes payable to the various foreign countries.

Q. Restructuring Expense:
Facility Lease Obligations

The Company has adopted several plans to resteuitsufiacility operations for which it has incurresbtructuring expenses in the three years €
December 31, 2014. The Company’s initial estimétésdiabilities for net ongoing costs associateth these facility obligations are recorded at fai
value on the cease use date. In estimating thenegpeand
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liabilities related to these facilities, the Companilizes a probability-weighted discounted cakiwk of the Company’s ongoing lease obligations. In
estimating the expense and liability under itsdealsligations, the Company estimated (i) the ctwst® incurred to satisfy rental and build-out
commitments under the lease (including operatirgjsjo(ii) the lead-time necessary to subleassitlaee, (iii) the projected sublease rental rates an
(iv) the anticipated durations of subleases. Thegany uses a credit-adjusted risk-free rate toodiscthe estimated cash flows.

The Company reviews its estimates and assumptio=s least a quarterly basis, intends to contimed seviews until the termination of these
facility lease obligations, and will make whateweodifications the Company believes necessary, baselde Company’s best judgment, to reflect any
changed circumstances. The Company’s estimatesdmaveged in the past, and may change in the futeselting in additional adjustments to the
estimate of these liabilities. Changes to the Caomijseestimate of these liabilities are recordeddditional restructuring expenses (credits). In
addition, because the Company'’s estimate of thabagities includes the application of a discouatterto reflect the time-value of money, the Company
records imputed interest costs related to thebditias each quarter. These costs are includedstructuring expenses on the Company’s consotidate
statements of operations.

2003 Kendall Restructuring

In 2003, the Company adopted a plan to restrudtsigperations (the “2003 Kendall Restructuringycbincide with its increasing internal
emphasis on advancing drug candidates througtcalidevelopment to commercialization. The restmictuwas designed to re-balance the
Company'’s relative investments in research andldpwgent to better support the Company’s long-temategy. At that time, the restructuring plan
included a workforce reduction, write-offs of cémtassets and a decision not to occupy approxima@0,000square feet of specialized laboratory
office space in Cambridge, Massachusetts undee keagertex (the “Kendall Square Lease”). The KéhBguare Lease commenced in January 2003
and has a 15 -year term. In 2005, the Companyeé\ts assessment of its real estate requiremaedtdecided to use approximately 120,000 square
feet of the facility subject to the Kendall Squasase (the “Kendall Square Facility”) for its op@vas, beginning in 2006. The rentable square fgota
of the Kendall Square Facility related to the 28@%dall Restructuring currently is subleased todtiparties.

The restructuring expense incurred from the secmraditer of 2003 through the end of the first quasfe2005 (i.e., immediately prior to the
Company'’s decision to use a portion of the Kenfiglhare Facility for its operations) relates toesBmated incremental net ongoing lease obligations
associated with the entire Kendall Square Faciliigether with imputed interest costs relatingh® restructuring liability. The restructuring expen
incurred in the period beginning in the second tgraf 2005 relates only to the portion of the Kalh@quare Facility that the Company was not
occupying and did not intend to occupy for its @piens. The Company uses a discount rate of 108teckto this restructuring activity.

The remaining lease obligations, which are assediafith the 120,000 square foot portion of the K#h8quare Facility that the Company
occupied and used for its operations, were recoada@ntal expense in the period incurred untilGbenpany incurred a cease use charge relateds
portion of the Kendall Square Facility in the thidarter of 2014 in connection with transitionitg Massachusetts operations to Fan Pier in Boston,
Massachusetts (the “Fan Pier Move Restructuring”).

The activity related to restructuring and othebility for 2003 was as follows:

Liability as of
Restructuring Cash Non-cash December 31,
Expense Payments Expense 2003
(in thousands)
Lease restructuring and other operating lease eegpen $ 84,72t $ (15,2000 $ — % 69,52¢
Employee severance, benefits and related costs 2,61¢ (2,616 — —
Leasehold improvements and asset impairments 4,48: — (4,482 —
Total $ 91,82: $ (17,816 $ (4,48 $ 69,52¢
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In 2003, the lease restructuring and other opegdtiase expense included $78.7 million of leaseueiring expense and $6.0 million of lease
operating expense incurred prior to the decisidrtmoccupy the Kendall Square Facility. The restiting accrual as of December 31, 2003 related
only to the lease restructuring expense.

The activities related to 2003 restructuring ligipifor 2004 through 2014 were as follows:

2014 2013 2012 2004-2014
(in thousands)

Liability, beginning of the period $ 19,11t $ 23,32¢ % 26,31 % 69,52¢
Cash payments (17,499 (15,25% (14,859 (196,44¢)
Cash received from subleases 12,91 10,67( 10,02 88,62(
Credit for portion of facility Vertex decided to @y in 2005 — — — (10,019
Restructuring expense (2,937 37z 1,84¢ 59,91«

Liability, end of the period $ 11,59¢ $ 19,11t $ 23,32¢ % 11,59¢

Fan Pier Move Restructuring

In connection with the relocation of its Massachisseperations to Fan Pier in Boston, Massachyselich commenced in 2013, the Company is
incurring restructuring charges related to its rieiing lease obligations at its facilities in Candyg, Massachusetts. The majority of these restingt
charges were recorded in the third quarter of 2fdeh decommissioning three facilities in Cambridfge Company discounted the estimated cash
flows related to the facilities at a discount rat®% . The Company will continue to incur chartf@®ugh April 2018 related to the difference betwee
the Company’s estimated future cash flows reladdtstlease obligations, which include an estinfiatesublease income to be received if applicable,
and its actual cash flows. The Fan Pier Move Restring included lease obligations related to tB8,000 square feet of the Kendall Square Facility
that the Company continued to use for its operatfofiowing its 2013 Kendall Restructuring. The @ning rentable square footage of the Kendall
Square Facility related to the Fan Pier Move Restining was subleased to a third party in Febr2éds.

The activities related to the Fan Pier relocatiestnucturing liability for the years ended Decenmtier2013 and 2014 were as follows:

2014 2013
(in thousands)

Liability, beginning of the period $ 797 % —
Cash payments (18,277 (401)
Restructuring expense 50,86+ 1,19¢

Liability, end of the period $ 33,39 % 797

Other Restructuring Activities

The Company has incurred several other restrugaativities that are unrelated to its 2003 KenBatructuring and the Fan Pier Move
Restructuring. The most significant activity comroeth in October 2013 when the Company adopted auo#sting plan that included (i) a workforce
reduction primarily related to the commercial supd INCIVEK following the continued and rapid dae in the number of patients being treated
with INCIVEK as new medicines for the treatmenHV infection neared approval and (ii) the writd-of certain assets. This action resulted from
the Company'’s decision to focus its investmentuinre opportunities in cystic fibrosis and othese@ch and development programs.
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The activities related to the Company'’s other rtestrring liabilities for the years ended Decembikr2013 and 2014 were as follows:

2014 2013
(in thousands)

Liability, beginning of the period $ 8,441 $ —
Cash payments (20,570) (22,91¢)
Asset impairments and other non-cash expense — (7,599
Restructuring expense 2,99¢ 38,95!

Liability, end of the period $ 86 $ 8,441

R. Employee Benefit:

The Company has a 401(k) retirement plan (the ‘®e#01(k) Plan”) in which substantially all of fgermanent U.S. employees are eligible to
participate. Participants may contribute up to Gif%heir annual compensation to the Vertex 401(&hPsubject to statutory limitations. The Comp
may declare discretionary matching contributionth®Vertex 401(k) Plan. Through mid-2013, the Camppaid matching contributions in Vertex
common stock in the form of fully-vested interesta Vertex common stock fund. Beginning in mid-3pthe Company began paying matching
contributions in the form of cash. For the yeardeshDecember 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , the Commartyibuted approximately $12.0 million ,
$12.6 million and $12.0 million to the plan, respegly. As of December 31, 2014 , 755,000 sharesoaimon stock remained available for grant
under the Vertex 401(k) Plan. In 2012 and 201& Gbmpany declared matching contributions paidiilyfvested interests in the Vertex common
stock fund to the Vertex 401(k) Plan as follows:

2013 2012
(in thousands)
Discretionary matching contributions during the yeaded December 31, $ 5,93C $ 10,26
Shares issued during the year ended December 31, 99 242
Shares issuable as of the year ended December 31, — 53

S. Commitments and Contingencie
Lease Obligations

The Company moved into its corporate headquantedanuary 2014. Please refer to Note L, “Long T@isligations,” for additional information
regarding this commitment. The leases for the Camsdormer headquarters expire in December 2015.

The Kendall Square Lease began in January 2008véirekpire in April 2018. The Company occupied amkd for its operations approximately
120,000 square feet of the Kendall Square Facilityl 2014 when it moved its operations to Fan Pi&le Company has sublease arrangements in
place for the remaining rentable square footagh®Kendall Square Facility, with terms that exmgioacurrently with the Kendall Square Lease.
Please refer to Note Q, “Restructuring Expenses, further information.
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As of December 31, 2014 , future minimum commitrsenider the Fan Pier Leases, facility operatingdeavith terms of more than one year and

contractual sublease income under the Companyleas#s for the Kendall Square Facility as adjuiied sublease executed in February 2015 were
as follows:

Total Lease
Other Commitments
Fan Pier Kendall Square Kendall Sublease Operating (Net of Sublease
Year Leases Lease Income Leases Income)
(in thousands)
2015 $ 67,206 $ 19,87¢ $ (11,409 $ 28,71 $ 104,39(
2016 67,20¢ 19,87¢ (15,35%) 12,95¢ 84,68
2017 67,20¢ 19,87¢ (15,35%) 12,79: 84,52:
2018 67,20¢ 6,62¢ (5,119 12,58 81,29¢
2019 72,58¢ — — 9,33( 81,91¢
Thereafter 680,20¢ — — 78,61: 758,82:
Total minimum lease payments $ 1,021,62; $ 66,26 $ (47,23) $ 154,97¢ % 1,195,63.

During 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , rental expense w893%8illion , $57.7 million and $57.1 million , y@actively. The majority of the Company’s
lease payments related to the Fan Pier Leases@rled as interest expense because the Compameammed for accounting purposes to be the
owner of the Buildings. Please refer to Note L, figoTerm Obligations,” for further information.

The Company has outstanding capital leases fopemiit, leasehold improvements and software licewgagerms through 2019. The leases
were accounted for as capital leases. The cdeéaés bear interest at rates ranging from lessi%a to 9% per year. The following table setshfo
the Company'’s future minimum payments due undeitaldpases as of December 31, 2014 :

Year (in thousands)
2015 $ 20,79:
2016 14,25¢
2017 13,12¢
2018 13,025
2019 3,047
Thereafter _
Total payments 64,24¢
Less: amount representing interest (7,150
Present value of payments $ 57,09¢

In addition, the Company has committed to makerg@tkfuture milestone and royalty payments purst@arcertain collaboration agreements.
Payments generally become due and payable upacttievement of certain developmental, regulatod/@commercial milestones. Please refer to
Note B,“Collaborative Arrangements,” for further informearti.

Financing Arrangements

The Company has outstanding $32.3 million in ineakle stand-by letters of credit issued in conoectiith property leases and other similar
agreements that currently are supported by an ursgcredit facility that expires in April 2015. @leredit facility provides the Comparsycreditor th
ability to subjectively cash collateralize the éett of credit at the conclusion of any month, whih contingency that the Company considers te la
remote possibility of occurring.

Litigation

On May 28, 2014, a purported shareholder classractical No. 8 IBEW Retirement Plan & Trust v. Vertex Pharmaceutical s Incorporated, et al.
was filed in the United States District Court fbetDistrict of Massachusetts, naming the Companycantain of the Company’s current and former
officers and directors as defendants. The lawdleiyed that
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the Company made material misrepresentations andi@sions of material fact in the Company’s disales during the period from May 7, 2012
through May 29, 2012, all in violation of Sectio@(th) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, asratad, and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder.
The purported class consists of all persons (ekafudefendants) who purchased the Company’s constomk between May 7, 2012 and May 29,
2012. The plaintiffs seek unspecified monetary dggsacosts and attorneys’ fees as well as disgageai the proceeds from certain individual
defendants’ sales of the Company’s stock. On Oct8p2014, the Court approved Local No. 8 IBEW Retient Fund as lead plaintiff, and Scott and
Scott LLP as lead counsel for the plaintiff and plative class. The Company filed a motion to dsnthe complaint on December 8, 2014 and the
plaintiffs filed their opposition to our motion thsmiss on January 22, 2015. The Company belidxeslaims to be without merit and intends to
vigorously defend the litigation. As of December 3014 , the Company has not recorded any resévésis purported class action.

Guaranties and Indemnifications

As permitted under Massachusetts law, the Compahyisles of Organization and Blaws provide that the Company will indemnify centaf its
officers and directors for certain claims assedgdinst them in connection with their service asffiner or director. The maximum potential amount
of future payments that the Company could be reguio make under these indemnification provisisnsnlimited. However, the Company has
purchased directors’ and officers’ liability insoce policies that could reduce its monetary expoaund enable it to recover a portion of any future
amounts paid. No indemnification claims currently autstanding, and the Company believes the egdrfair value of these indemnification
arrangements is minimal.

The Company customarily agrees in the ordinary s®of its business to indemnification provisionagneements with clinical trial investigators
and sites in its drug development programs, speds@search agreements with academic and not-&dit-prstitutions, various comparable
agreements involving parties performing servicesie Company, and its real estate leases. The @oyrgiso customarily agrees to certain
indemnification provisions in its drug discovergwlopment and commercialization collaboration egrents. With respect to the Company’s clinical
trials and sponsored research agreements, thesmification provisions typically apply to any ctaasserted against the investigator or the
investigator’s institution relating to personalunj or property damage, violations of law or certaieaches of the Company’s contractual obligations
arising out of the research or clinical testindief Company’s compounds or drug candidates. W#paet to lease agreements, the indemnification
provisions typically apply to claims asserted agithe landlord relating to personal injury or pedy damage caused by the Company, to violations of
law by the Company or to certain breaches of the@my’s contractual obligations. The indemnificatfirovisions appearing in the Company’s
collaboration agreements are similar to thosetferdather agreements discussed above, but in adgitavide some limited indemnification for its
collaborator in the event of third-party claimsegling infringement of intellectual property rightis.each of the cases above, the indemnification
obligation generally survives the termination o #igreement for some extended period, althougBdinepany believes the obligation typically has
most relevance during the contract term and fdraateriod of time thereafter. The maximum potdraimount of future payments that the Company
could be required to make under these provisiogengrally unlimited. The Company has purchasegramce policies covering personal injury,
property damage and general liability that redgeexposure for indemnification and would enabla inany cases to recover all or a portion of any
future amounts paid. The Company has never paidratgrial amounts to defend lawsuits or settlewsdaielated to these indemnification provisions.
Accordingly, the Company believes the estimatexdvaiue of these indemnification arrangements isimal.

Other Contingencies

The Company has certain contingent liabilities tirége in the ordinary course of its business #ss The Company accrues a reserve for
contingent liabilities when it is probable thatdtg expenditures will be made and such expenditaade reasonably estimated. There were no
material contingent liabilities accrued as of Deben31, 2014 or 2013 .
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T. Segment Informatior

The Company operates in one segment, pharmaceutitraterprise-wide disclosures about revenuesifignt customers, and property and
equipment, net by location are presented below.

Revenues by Product

Product revenues, net consisted of the following:

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)
KALYDECO $ 463,75( % 371,28¢ % 171,64!
INCIVEK 24,07 466,36( 1,161,81:
$ 487,82: $ 837,64! $ 1,333,45

Total product revenues, net

Revenues by Geographic Location

Total revenues from external customers and colktbes by geographic region consisted of the folimyiProduct revenues are attributed to
countries based on the location of the customeltaarative revenues are attributed to the opemataf the Company in the United States. Royalty

revenues are attributed to countries based orottaibn of the collaborator.

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)

United States $ 361,07: $ 896,95: $ 1,373,51
Outside of the United States

Europe 197,61: 279,55 129,78t

Other 21,73( 35,46¢ 23,74(

Total revenues outside of the United States 219,34: 315,02: 153,52t

Total revenues $ 580,41 $ 1,211,970 % 1,527,04.

In 2014, revenues attributable to the United Kingdeere the majority of the Company’s European reresn

Sgnificant Customers

Gross revenues and accounts receivable from edtie @ompany’s customers who individually accourited.0%or more of total gross revent
and/or 10% or more of total gross accounts recévetnsisted of the following:

Percent of Total Gross Revenues Percent of Gross Accounts Receivable
Year Ended December 31, As of December 31,
2014 2013 2012 2014 2013

Walgreen Co. 12% <1C% <1C% 11% <1C%
Bupa Home Healthcare Limited <1(% <1C% N/A 20% 14%
Janssen Inc. <1C% N/A N/A 12% N/A
Janssen NV <1C% 22% <1C% <1C(% 28%
AmerisourceBergen Drug Corporation <1C% 21% 32% <1C% <1C%
McKesson Corporation <1C% 21% 29% <1C% <1C%
Cardinal Health Incorporated <1C% <1C% 15% <1C% <1C%
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Property and Equipment, Net by Location
Property and equipment, net by location consistetieofollowing:

As of December 31,

2014 2013
(in thousands)

United States $ 676,96¢ $ 657,58
Outside of the United States

United Kingdom 33,62¢ 29,97(

Other 5,21¢ 9,35¢
Total property and equipment, net outside of théddinStates 38,84« 39,32«

Total property and equipment, net $ 71581 $ 696,91
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U. Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

The following table sets forth our quarterly final@ata for the two years ended December 31, 20it4have been revised to reflect discontinued
operations for quarterly periods prior to the thmeenths ended September 30, 2014.

Three Months Ended

March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,
2014 2014 2014 2014
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
Revenues:
Product revenues, net $ 103,46: $ 122,31¢  $ 137,09¢ $ 124,94;
Royalty revenues 10,73: 13,01t 8,38¢ 8,78t
Collaborative revenues (1) 4,257 3,081 33,50z 10,82¢
Total revenues 118,45: 138,42 178,98° 144,55¢
Costs and expenses:
Cost of product revenues 8,572 9,65t 10,20¢ 11,29(
Royalty expenses 6,90¢ 7,64t 3,97¢ 2,737
Research and development expenses 238,61 224,48 190,93¢ 201,46:
Sales, general and administrative expenses 74,21 77 ,44¢ 75,22+ 78,527
Restructuring expenses (2) 6,18¢ (270 40,84: 4,16¢
Total costs and expenses 334,49: 318,96 321,19( 298,18:
Loss from operations (216,04 (180,547 (142,209 (153,629
Interest expense, net (15,719 (15,58%) (20,389 (21,179
Other income (expense), net (3) 451 37,73 (3,990 (3,797)
Loss from continuing operations before provisionifwome taxes (231,309 (158,39¢) (166,57) (178,599
Provision for income taxes 803 692 3,41¢ 2,04
Loss from continuing operations (232,11) (159,089 (169,99¢) (180,63)
Loss from discontinued operations (4) (34¢) (299 (64) (209
Net loss (232,45) (159,38 (170,06() (180,844
Loss attributable to noncontrolling interest — — — 4,19(
Net loss attributable to Vertex $ (232,45) % (159,38) $ (170,060 $ (176,65¢)

Amounts attributable to Vertex:

Loss from continuing operations attributable to tégr $ (232,11) $ (159,089 $ (169,990 $ (176,44)
Loss from discontinued operations (4) (346) (299 (64) (209)
Net loss attributable to Vertex $ (232,45) $ (159,38) $ (170,060 $ (176,65¢)

Amounts per share attributable to Vertex commonetiaders:
Net loss from continuing operations:

Basic and diluted $ (100 $ (068 $ 072 $ (0.79)
Net loss from discontinued operations:

Basic and diluted $ — % — % — % —
Net loss:

Basic and diluted $ (2.00 $ (0.68) $ (0.72) $ (0.79)
Shares used in per share calculations:

Basic and diluted 232,88 233,80¢ 236,13 238,27.
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Three Months Ended

March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,
2013 2013 2013 2013
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
Revenues:
Product revenues, net $ 267,38, $ 254,78¢ $ 186,65: $ 128,82:
Royalty revenues 43,57: 49,12( 27,012 36,88
Collaborative revenues (5) 17,41« 6,841 8,03¢ 185,44¢
Total revenues 328,36¢ 310,75( 221,70( 351,15°
Costs and expenses:
Cost of product revenues 30,95¢ 24,69¢ 20,04¢ 13,28:
Royalty expenses 11,78¢ 13,23¢ 7,291 8,98:
Research and development expenses 210,20( 213,99: 219,44 238,46
Sales, general and administrative expenses 91,62¢ 105,08: 86,427 73,05
Restructuring expenses 39 77€ 12,04¢ 27,65¢
Intangible asset impairment charge (4) 412,90( — — —
Total costs and expenses 757,50 357,78: 345,25¢ 361,43¢
Loss from operations (429,139 (47,03 (123,556 (10,289
Interest expense, net (3,469) (6,727) (109 (12,62¢)
Other (expense) income, net (2,179 (39 4,76( 3,33¢
Loss from continuing operations before (benefitrfjgrovision for
income taxes (433,78) (53,799 (118,900 (29,56%)
(Benefit from) provision for income taxes (6) (126,88) 55¢ 2,55¢ 1,352
Loss from continuing operations (306,89¢) (54,35)) (121,45Y (20,920
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax bieij&f (5,73) (7,36)) (7,207 (163,629
Net loss (312,62) (61,717) (128,66:) (184,549
Loss from discontinued operations attributabledogontrolling interest
4 4,611 4,547 4,53( 228,83«
Net (loss) income attributable to Vertex $ (308,01 $ (57,165 $ (124,13) $ 44,28t
Amounts attributable to Vertex:
Loss from continuing operations attributable to teérr $ (306,89) $ (54,35) $ (121,45 $ (20,920
(Loss) income from discontinued operations (4) (1,120 (2,819 (2,677) 65,20¢
Net (loss) income attributable to Vertex $ (308,01 $ (57,165 $ (124,13) $ 44,28t
Amounts per share attributable to Vertex commonetiaders:
Net loss from continuing operations:
Basic and diluted $ (142 $ 0.25) 3 (059 % (0.09
Net (loss) income from discontinued operations:
Basic and diluted $ 0.0) $ 0.0) $ 0.0) $ 0.2¢
Net (loss) income:
Basic and diluted $ (143 $ (0.2¢) $ (059 $ 0.1¢
Shares used in per share calculations:
Basic and diluted 215,42: 222,05! 230,50! 231,26«

1. During the third quarter of 2014, the Compaggeived a non-refundable up-front payment of $8dilon from Janssen Inc., which was recorded d&borative

revenue in the third quarter. See Note B, “Collalioe Arrangements,” for further information.

Boston from Cambridge. See Note Q, “Restructurirgeises,” for further information.

During the third quarter of 2014, the Compaegorded $40.8 million of restructuring expensesprily related to the relocation of its corporagatiquarters to

During the second quarter of 2014, the Compeangived a one-time cash payment of $36.7 milllomfits landlord pursuant to the Fan Pier Leaséiciwwas
recorded as other income in the second quarterNS&eO, “Other Arrangements,” for further infornuet.
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VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contirad)

4. During the fourth quarter of 2013, the Company aectidated Alios, which included certain chargesiaitable to Vertex related to the deconsolidatiecorded il
other income (expense), net, and was precededbB$@6 million intangible asset impairment charglated to the HCV nucleotide analogue program indef
lived in-process research and development assetrinection with this impairment charge, a crefi®102.1 millionwas recorded to the provision for income te
attributable to Alios. As of September 30, 2014, @ompany concluded that it no longer had signific@ntinuing involvement with Alios due to itsémtt and
ability to terminate the Alios Agreement; therefaitee operations of Alios, including collaboratiexpenses reimbursed by Vertex are presented amdiiseed
operations for the periods presented in these tidased financial statements.

5. During the fourth quarter of 2013, the Compeegorded $182.4 million of collaborative revenulated to its Janssen collaboration, which was prilna
attributable to an amendment to its collaboratigreament with Janssen. See Note B, “Collaborativarfgements,” for further information.

6. During the first quarter of 2013, the Compaagarded a $412.9 million intangible asset impairnudiarge related to its VX-222 indefinite-lived pnecess research

and development asset. In connection with this impent charge, the Company recorded a credit o7 8lLaillion in its provision for income taxes. Seete J,
“Intangible Assets and Goodwill,” for further infoation.
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Exhibit 10.17

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
2013 STOCK AND OPTION PLAN

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Grant

This Agreement sets forth the terms and conditajren Option granted pursuant to the provisionhef2013 Stock and Option Plan (as
it may be amended or restated, the “ P)anf Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated (the ‘hff@any”) to the Participant whose name
appears below, covering the number of Shares ofrmmiStock of the Company set forth below, purstaiite provisions of the Plan
and on the following express terms and conditi@apitalized terms not otherwise defined hereinldiale the same meanings as set
forth in the Plan, and any Options evidenced heerbygranted subject to the terms of the Plan.

1. Name and address of Participant to whom this Optioris granted:
[INSERT NAME/ADDRESS]

2. Number of Shares of Common Stock subject to this Qn:

L1

3. Purchase price of Shares subject to this Option:

L1

4. Date of grant of this Option:

L1

5. Expiration date of this Option: This Option shall expire on | |, subject talieatermination in the event of any Termination
of Service or death of the Participant or otheniiseccordance with the provisions of the Plan.dft@s provided in Section 6.5(a)(ii)

this Agreement, this Option may not be exerciségt dhan (a) ninety (90) days after a Terminatib&ervice of the Participant or (b) if

the Participant dies while serving as an Emploim-Employee Director, consultant or advisor of @@mpany or an Affiliate, one (1)

year after the Participant’s death.

6. Vesting.

6.1 Vesting ScheduleThis Option shall vest and become exercisablegisg &s the Participant continues to serve as an
Employee, Non-Employee Director, consultant or selvbdf the Company or an Affiliate, [INSERT VESTINS&CHEDULE], except as
otherwise provided in Sections 6.2, 6.3, 6.4 ord.this Agreement. The vesting of this Option shahse immediately upon a
Termination of Service of Participant.

6.2 Absence.This Option shall not vest during any period ofgegerm disability or personal leave of absence oRh#icipan
from the Company or an Affiliate (as determined emapplicable Company policies). If the Participgggumes employment with the
Company after a personal leave of absence or lemy-disability in accordance with applicable Comppalicies, vesting shall resume
upon the resumption of eligibility, and the Optiwill continue vesting at the rate provided in Sext6.1 of this Agreement until fully
vested. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no evarall the term of the Option be extended beyondittie set forth in Section 5 of this
Agreement.

6.3 Death of the Participant.If the Participant dies while serving as an Empéygon-Employee Director, consultant or



advisor of the Company or an Affiliate, the vestofall unvested Shares subject to this Optionldfeahccelerated, and the
Option shall be exercisable as to such installmeogether with any previously vested but unexextigortion of the Option, effective as
of the date of death.

6.4 Termination for Cause.

(&) If the Participant’s employment or other servicéhie Company is terminated by the Company for Céase
defined below), the Company may, at its electienninate the Participant’s right to exercise thigi@n (including with respect to any
vested but unexercised Shares). If the Particiigambtified that the Company is investigating oalenating whether the Company will
terminate Participant’s employment or other serticthe Company for Cause, the Company may, atetsion, suspend Participant’s
right to exercise this Option by written noticetlhe Participant. If after such notification it istdrmined or otherwise agreed that
Participant’s service to the Company will not bertmated for Cause, vesting of the Shares shallnespursuant to the original schedule
and any Shares that would have vested during smehas vesting was suspended shall immediately vest

(b) “ Cause” shall mean (i) the Participant’s dishonesty @uf, or (ii) the willful misconduct by the Partiaipt or
willful failure by the Participant to perform his ber responsibilities to the Company (includingthaut limitation, any material breach
by the Participant of any provision of any Companlicy or any employment, consulting, advisory, disalosure, non-competition or
other similar agreement between the Participantl@dompany), in each case as determined in gotiddy the Company, which
determination shall be conclusive; provided, howegthat if there is a conflict between this defimit of Cause and either (1) the
definition of “Cause” contained in any employmegteement between the Company and the Participg) ¢cine definition of “Cause”
contained in any change-obntrol agreement between the Company and theckpanti, then such other definition shall be cotitrglfor
purposes of this Agreement.

[ 6.5 Career Employment Provision.

(a) If a Participant experiences a Termination of Senather than for Cause, and the Participant igaifizd
Participant (as defined below), then (i) an addiicnumber of Shares equal to (A) the sum of 5096 D% for each full year of service
as an Employee [and/or a Non-Employee DirectotheéoCompany or an Affiliate in excess of five (B) fyears of service multiplied by
(B) the number of unvested Shares subject to thiso® immediately prior to the Participant's Teration of Service, shall vest; and (ii)
all vested but unexercised Shares (including aayestthat vested pursuant to the preceding subedglj may be exercised until the
expiration date of this Option as set forth in 88tb of this Agreement.

(b) A *“Qualified Participant shall mean a Participant (i) who is at leastfifive (55) years old, (ii) who has
completed at least five (5) full years of serviseaa Employee [and/or a Non-Employee Directorh®@ompany or an Affiliate, (iii)
whose age plus full years of service [as an Em@@ral/or a Non-Employee Director] to the CompamyajoAffiliate] is 65 or greater
and (iv) who has completed a [mandatory] trans#igreriod of employment with the Company followingtice of the Termination of
Service, the duration of which will be J(Q)

7. Non-Qualified Option . This Option is a Non-Qualified Option that is mutended to qualify as an ISO within the meanifig o
Section 422(b) of the Code.

8. Plan. The Participant hereby acknowledges receipt ofpy ©f the Plan as presently in effect. The text alhdf the terms and
provisions of the Plan are incorporated hereindfgrence, and this Agreement is subject to thesgstand provisions in all respects.

9. Exercise.The Participant may exercise this Option in the mearset forth in Section 9 of the Plan.

10. Restrictions on Transfer.Except as provided in Section 10 of the Plan,@psion may not be sold, transferred, assigned,
hypothecated, pledged, encumbered or otherwiseskspof, whether voluntarily or by operation of ladmy such purported transfer
shall be null and void, and shall not be recognizgthe Company.

11. International Employees.This Option shall be subject to the additional teand provisions, if any, applicable to such Piguict



as are set forth on an Exhibit A to this Agreemaifiich terms and conditions are incorporated hdwgireference.

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED

By:

(1) Applicable to grants made on or after February08,4



Exhibit 10.18

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
2013 STOCK AND OPTION PLAN

Form of Restricted Stock Award

This Agreement sets forth the terms and conditajres Stock Grant granted pursuant to the provisadriee 2013 Stock and
Option Plan (as it may be amended or restated, Bt@n ") of Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated (the ‘hi@ny”) to the Participant
whose name appears below, for the number of Slehi@emmon Stock of the Company set forth belowspant to the provisions of the
Plan and on the following express terms and caobti Capitalized terms not otherwise defined heskall have the same meanings as
set forth in the Plan, and any Stock Grants evidéiereby are granted subject to the terms of ldre P

1. Name and address of Participant to whom the Sharesme granted:
[INSERT NAME/ADDRESS]

2. Number of Shares of Common Stock in Stock Grant (tb “Shares”):

L1

3. Purchase price of Shares:

L1

4. Date of grant of the Shares:

L1

5. Vesting and Company’s Repurchase Rights.

5.1 Vesting Schedule[INSERT VESTING SCHEDULE]. Except as provided incBen 5.5 of this Agreement, upon any
Termination of Service of the Participant, vestirighe Shares shall immediately cease, and the @oynghall have a right to repurchase
any unvested Shares from the Participant at a pec&hare equal to the purchase price per Shaferein Section 3 of this
Agreement.

5.2 Death of the Participant.If the Participant dies while an Employee, Non-Eoygle Director, consultant or advisor of the
Company or an Affiliate, the vesting of all unvest@hares subject to this Stock Grant shall be arateld and shall vest on the date of
death of the Participant.

5.3 Termination for Cause.

(a) If the Participant is notified that the Companynigestigating or evaluating whether the Company teiiminate
Participant’'s employment or other service to then@any for Cause, the Company may, at its eleciospend the vesting of any
unvested Shares by written notice to the Parti¢ifamd if the Participant’'s employment or othewvims to the Company is thereafter
terminated for Cause, the Company may, at itsielectepurchase any remaining unvested SharesthierRarticipant at a price per
Share equal to the purchase price per Share s$etifioBection 3 of this Agreement). If after sudtification it is determined or otherwi
agreed that Participant’s service to the Compairiynwi be terminated for Cause, vesting of the 8sahall resume pursuant to the
original schedule and any Shares that would hastededuring such suspension immediately shall vest.



(b) “ Cause” shall mean (i) the Participant’s dishonesty @uf, or (ii) the willful misconduct by the Partiaipt or
willful failure by the Participant to perform hisg ber responsibilities to the Company (includingthaut limitation, any material breach
by the Participant of any provision of any Companlicy or any employment, consulting, advisory, disalosure, non-competition or
other similar agreement between the Participantl@dompany), in each case as determined in gotiddy the Company, which
determination shall be conclusive; provided, howethat if there is a conflict between this defioit of Cause and either (1) the
definition of “Cause” contained in any employmegteement between the Company and the Participg) ¢cine definition of “Cause”
contained in any change-obntrol agreement between the Company and theckpanti, then such other definition shall be cotitrglfor
purposes of this Agreement.

5.4 Repurchase RightsThe Company’s rights to repurchase the Shares got$o Sections 5.1, 5.3 or 5.5 of this Agreement
shall be valid for a period of one year beginningfwe date of the Termination of Service of thetiBigant. Notwithstanding any other
provision hereof, if the Company is prohibited digrsuch one-year period from exercising its lapsapurchase right by applicable law,
then the time period during which such repurchag® may be exercised shall be extended untildker lof (a) the end of such one-year
period or (b) 30 days after the Company is firdtsmprohibited.

[5.5 Career Employment Provision.If a Participant experiences a Termination of Senather than for Cause, and the
Participant is a Qualified Participant (as defitedbw), then an additional number of Shares equéd)the sum of 50% plus 10% for
each full year of service as an Employee [andidoa-Employee Director] to the Company or an Aftéian excess of five (5) full years
of service multiplied by (b) the number of unvesBthres subject to this Stock Grant immediatelgrga the Participant’s Termination
of Service, shall vest. A* Qualified Participdrghall mean a Patrticipant (i) who is at leastyfifive (55) years old, (ii) who has
completed at least five (5) full years of serviseaa Employee [and/or a Non-Employee Directorhto@ompany or an Affiliate, (iii)
whose age plus full years of service [as an Emg@ral/or a Non-Employee Director] to the CompamyafoAffiliate] is 65 or greater
and (iv) who has completed a [mandatory] transétigreriod of employment with the Company followingtice of the Termination of
Service, the duration of which will be . The Company shall have the right to repurchagaemaining unvested Shares fr
the Participant at a price per Share equal to theh@ase price per Share set forth in Section RisfAgreement.](1)

6. Agreement with respect to Tax Payments, Withholdingand Sale of a Portion of Shareslhe Participant acknowledges and
agrees that any income or other taxes due frorR#ntcipant with respect to the Shares issued patdo this Agreement, including on
account of the vesting of the Shares, shall bé#réicipant’s responsibility. [In connection witietforegoing, the Participant agrees that
the Company shall authorize a registered broker‘{Broker”) to sell, on the next trading day after the lapSéhe Company’s lapsing
repurchase right, that number of Shares as the @oynipstructs the Broker to sell solely to satigfy Company’s tax withholding
obligations, after deduction of the Broker’s comsiog, and the Broker shall remit to the Companycideh necessary in order for the
Company to satisfy its withholding obligation, pided, however, that the Company shall not authorize any suahis#éthe Participant
shall have issued a binding instruction (the “Humstion™) to the Company, in form satisfactory to the Companlyich instruction may k
delivered at any time prior to the 3@ay after the date of grant of the Shares, thatiges that the Company shall not instruct the Broke
to sell such Shares. Any such Instruction shallishe an undertaking by the Participant to pay then@any the amount of any tax
withholding in accordance with the Company’s p@gthen in effect. The Participant agrees to pdlgddCompany as soon as
practicable, including through payroll, the amoahany tax withholding, that is for whatever reasoot satisfied by such Broker's sale.
The Participant acknowledges that this Sectionigtended to comply with Section 10b5-1(c)(1)(i){B)der the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended, and that the delivery of tlee&s shall be made by the Company after satisfaofithe tax withholding payments
as set forth in Section 8 of this Agreement. Thei€lpant agrees to hold the Company and the Brbkemless from all costs, damages
or expenses relating to any such sale, and ackdgesethat the Company and the Broker are undebligation to arrange for such sale
at any particular price. The Participant furthekramwledges that the grant of Shares made hereismdabject to Participant’s acceptance
of the terms of this Section 6, and other termspodisions of this Agreement.](2)

7. Restrictions on Transfer.Except as provided in Section 10 of the Plan, tha& may not be sold, transferred, assigned,
hypothecated, pledged, encumbered or otherwisestspof, whether voluntarily or by operation of Jawany time before they become
vested Shares pursuant to Section 5 of this Agreaemay such purported transfer shall be null anitlyand shall not be recognized by
the Company or recorded on its books.



8. Escrow.All Shares that have not vested pursuant to Seétiofthis Agreement, together with any securitlestributed in respect
thereof, such as through a stock split or otheapialization, shall be held by the Company in escuntil such Shares shall have vested
and the deposit required for tax withholding hasrbmade pursuant to Section 6 of this Agreemerg.démpany promptly shall release
vested Shares from escrow upon satisfaction oftlegjoing conditions.

9. Plan. The Participant hereby acknowledges receipt ofpy ©f the Plan as presently in effect and the Rrolss with respect
thereto. All of the terms and provisions of therPdae incorporated herein by reference, and thidriReed Stock Award is subject to
those terms and provisions in all respects.

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED

By:

(1) Applicable to grants made on or after February08,4

(2) For Section 16 Officers, replace bracketedlmye with the following: “By accepting this Agreem, the Participant agrees and acknowledges
that (i) the Company promptly will withhold fromehParticipant's pay the amount of taxes the Comjzargquired to withhold upon any vesting
of Shares pursuant to this Agreement, and (iiRtheicipant shall make immediate payment to the @y in the amount of any tax required to
be withheld by the Company in excess of the Paditi's pay available for such withholding.”



Exhibit 10.19

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
2013 STOCK AND OPTION PLAN

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award

This Agreement sets forth the terms and conditafres Restricted Stock Unit Award granted pursuarthe provisions of the
2013 Stock and Option Plan (as it may be amendeeisteited, the “ Plaf) of Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated (the ‘h@any”) to
the Participant whose name appears below, of angentt entitlement of the Participant to receive tlumber of Shares of Common
Stock of the Company set forth below, pursuanh&oprovisions of the Plan and on the following esgrterms and conditions.
Capitalized terms not otherwise defined hereinldtaile the same meanings as set forth in the Blahany Restricted Stock Units
evidenced hereby are granted subject to the tefine dlan.

1. Name and address of Participant to whom the Restried Stock Unit Award is granted:
[INSERT NAME/ADDRESS]

2. Number of Shares of Common Stock in the Restricte8tock Unit Award (the “Shares”):

L1

3. Purchase price of Shares upon Vesting:

L1

4. Date of grant of the Restricted Stock Unit Award:

L1

5. Vesting.

5.1 Vesting Schedule[INSERT VESTING SCHEDULE]. On each vesting dateatdsed in the preceding sentence, the
Participant shall be entitled to receive at thechase price, the applicable number of shares offtmmStock that shall thereafter be
delivered by the Company to the Participant in adance with this Agreement and the Plan withintyhilays of the applicable vesting
date. Except as provided in Section 5.4 of thise&gnent, upon any Termination of Service of thei€pent for any reason, vesting of
the Shares shall immediately cease, and the urvpstéion of the Restricted Stock Unit Award shiadinediately be forfeited.

5.2 Death of the Participant.If the Participant dies while an Employee, Non-Eoygle Director, consultant or advisor of the
Company or an Affiliate, the vesting of all unvebkthares subject to this Restricted Stock Unit Angdrall be accelerated and shall vest
on the date of death of the Participant.

5.3 Termination for Cause.

(a) If the Participant is notified that the Companynigestigating or evaluating whether the Company teiiminate
Participant’'s employment or other service to then@any for Cause, the Company may, at its electiospend the vesting of this
Restricted Stock Unit Award by written notice te@ tRarticipant. If after such notification it is dehined or otherwise agreed that
Participant’s service to the Company will not bertmated for Cause, vesting of the Shares shallmespursuant to the original schedule
and any Shares that would have vested during siggeasion immediately shall vest.



(b) “ Cause” shall mean (i) the Participant’s dishonesty @uf, or (ii) the willful misconduct by the Partiaipt or
willful failure by the Participant to perform hisg ber responsibilities to the Company (includingthaut limitation, any material breach
by the Participant of any provision of any Companolicy or any employment, consulting, advisory, disglosure, non-competition or
other similar agreement between the Participantl@dompany), in each case as determined in gotiddy the Company, which
determination shall be conclusive; provided, howethat if there is a conflict between this defioit of Cause and either (1) the
definition of “Cause” contained in any employmegteement between the Company and the Participg) ¢cine definition of “Cause”
contained in any change-obntrol agreement between the Company and theclami, then such other definition shall be cottitrglfor
purposes of this Agreement.

[5.4 Career Employment Provision.If a Participant experiences a Termination of Senather than for Cause, and the
Participant is a Qualified Participant (as defitedbw), then (a) an additional number of Sharesktu(i) the sum of 50% plus 10% for
each full year of service as an Employee [andfdoa-Employee Director] to the Company or an Affiéian excess of five (5) full years
of service multiplied by (ii) the number of unvastghares subject to this Restricted Stock Unit Alwarmediately prior to the
Participant’'s Termination of Service, shall vesttba date of the Termination of Service and (b) mmgaining unvested Shares shall be
forfeited. A “ Qualified Participartshall mean a Participant (i) who is at leastfifive (55) years old, (ii) who has completed atde
five (5) full years of service as an Employee [@and Non-Employee Director] to the Company or afiliafe, (iii) whose age plus full
years of service [as an Employee and/or a Non-Eyegl®irector] to the Company [or an Affiliate] iS 6r greater and (iv) who has
completed a [mandatory] transitional period of esgphent with the Company following notice of the mémation of Service, the

duration of which will be | [.](1)

6. Agreement with respect to Tax Payments, Withholdingand Sale of a Portion of Shareslhe Participant acknowledges and
agrees that any income or other taxes, fees oalss®turity or comparable contributions due from Barticipant with respect to the
vesting of the Restricted Stock Unit Award or theuiance of Shares pursuant to this Agreementlshdile Participant’s responsibility.
In connection with the foregoing, the Participagtteges that the Company shall authorize a registan@der (the “ Broket) to sell, on th
next trading day after the date of vesting of aastipn of the Restricted Stock Unit Award, that raenof Shares as the Company
instructs the Broker to sell solely to satisfy @@mpany’s tax withholding obligations, after dedoictof the Broker’'s commission, and
the Broker shall remit to the Company the cash s&ary in order for the Company to satisfy its witlfing obligation,_provided
however, that the Company shall not authorize any suah i$éthe Participant shall have issued a bindirgfrirction (the “_Instructiof)

to the Company, in form satisfactory to the Compaviyich instruction may be delivered at any tim@pto the 30"day after the date of
grant of the Restricted Stock Unit Award, that pdes that the Company shall not instruct the Brakesell such Shares. Any such
Instruction shall include an undertaking by thetiegrant to pay the Company the amount of any takhwelding in accordance with the
Company’s policies then in effect. The Participagtees to pay to the Company as soon as practi¢ablieding through payroll, the
amount of any tax withholding, that is for whatevesison, not satisfied by such Broker’s sale. Tdréi¢tpant acknowledges that this
Section 6 is intended to comply with Section 100&H1)(i)(B) under the Securities Exchange Act 884, as amended, and that the
delivery of the Shares shall be made by the Compétey satisfaction of the tax withholding paymesitsset forth herein. The Particip
agrees to hold the Company and the Broker harrfilessall costs, damages or expenses relating teaoly sale, and acknowledges that
the Company and the Broker are under no obligatiarrange for such sale at any particular pridee FParticipant further acknowledges
that the Restricted Stock Unit Award made hereuigleubject to Participant’s acceptance of the seoifrthis Section 6, and other terms
and provisions of this Agreement.

7. Restrictions on Transfer.Except as provided in Section 10 of the Plan, Restricted Stock Unit Award may not be sold,
transferred, assigned, hypothecated, pledged, dvenamh or otherwise disposed of, whether voluntamilpy operation of law, at any tir
before the Participant receives Shares. Any sugbapted transfer shall be null and void, and shatlbe recognized by the Company or
recorded on its books.

8. No Rights as a Shareholder Until ExerciseThe Participant shall have no rights as a sharehpidcluding voting and dividend
rights, with respect to the Restricted Stock Unitakd subject to this Agreement.

9. No Obligation to Maintain Relationship. The Participant acknowledges that: (i) the Compampot by the Plan or this Restricted
Stock Unit Award obligated to continue the Pariigipas an Employee, Ndfmployee Director, consultant or advisor of the @any or



an Affiliate; (ii) the Plan is discretionary in mgie and may be modified, suspended or terminatdddoZompany at any time; (iii) the
grant of the Restricted Stock Unit Award is a oimeetbenefit that does not create any contractuattzer right to receive future grants of
equity, or benefits in lieu thereof; (iv) all dat@nations with respect to any such future gramslpiding, but not limited to, the times
when awards shall be granted, the number of slsaitgect to each restricted stock unit award, aedithe or times when each award
shall vest, will be at the sole discretion of thentpany; (v) the Participant’s participation in fAkan is voluntary; (vi) the value of the
Restricted Stock Unit Award is an extraordinaryritef compensation which is outside the scope oPicipant’s employment or
consulting contract, if any; and (vii) the ReseitiStock Unit Award is not part of normal or exgectompensation for purposes of
calculating any severance, resignation, redundasmay of service payments, bonuses, long-servicedsypension or retirement benefits
or similar payments.

10. Plan. The Participant hereby acknowledges receipt ofpy ©f the Plan as presently in effect and the Rrogs with respect
thereto. All of the terms and provisions of therPdae incorporated herein by reference, and thidriReed Stock Unit Award is subject
those terms and provisions in all respects.

11. Data Privacy. By entering into this Agreement, the Participaitcénsents to the collection, use and disclostipesonal
information (which may include name, home and bessncontact information, personal identifiers sactate of birth and the social
insurance number for tax reporting purposes, enmpéy, position and compensation) by the Companth®purpose of administering
the Plan, providing Plan recordkeeping servicesfaaititating the grant of options; (ii) consentsthe disclosure of this information by
the Company to any Affiliate of the Company forlsyurposes; and (iii) authorizes the Company atl édfiliate to store and transmit
such information in electronic form. Some of théé#liates are located in, and the Plan will be adistered (in whole or in part) in, the
United States and some or all of the personal in&ion may become subject to the laws of, and aiddedo, the authorities of the
United States. The file containing the Participsupersonal information will be kept at the officdthe Company or on its servers or
those of its Affiliates and service providers, amidly employees of the Company, its Affiliates onéee providers who require it for the
purposes of their duties will have access to thes The Participant may request access to thesdfild the correction of inaccurate
information, to the extent provided by law, by @miing ..

12. International Employees.This Restricted Stock Unit Award shall be subjedthe additional terms and provisions, if any,
applicable to the Participant as are set forthroBxhibit Ato this Agreement, which terms and conditions aoeliporated herein by
reference.

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED

By:

(1) Applicable to grants made on or after February08,4



Exhibit 10.20

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
AMENDED AND RESTATED 2006 STOCK AND OPTION PLAN

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Grant

This Agreement sets forth the terms and conditajren Option granted pursuant to the provisionthefAmended and Restated 2006
Stock and Option Plan (as it may be amended caitezktthe “ Plar) of Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated (the ‘h@any”) to the
Participant whose name appears below, coveringuh#er of Shares of Common Stock of the Companfosit below, pursuant to the
provisions of the Plan and on the following expriesms and conditions. Capitalized terms not otlisrwlefined herein shall have the
same meanings as set forth in the Plan, and angr@mvidenced hereby are granted subject to thestef the Plan.

1. Name and address of Participant to whom this Optioris granted:
[INSERT NAME/ADDRESS]

2. Number of Shares of Common Stock subject to this Qn:

L1

3. Purchase price of Shares subject to this Option:

L1

4. Date of grant of this Option:

L1

5. Expiration date of this Option: This Option shall expire on | |, subject talieatermination in the event of any Termination
of Service or death of the Participant or otheniiseccordance with the provisions of the Plan.dft@s provided in Section 6.5(a)(ii)

this Agreement, this Option may not be exerciségt dhan (a) three (3) months after a Terminatib8ervice of the Participant or (b) if

the Participant dies while serving as an Emploim-Employee Director, consultant or advisor of @@mpany or an Affiliate, one (1)

year after the Participant’s death.

6. Vesting.

6.1 Vesting ScheduleThis Option shall vest and become exercisablegisg &s the Participant continues to serve as an
Employee, Non-Employee Director, consultant or selvbdf the Company or an Affiliate, [INSERT VESTINS&CHEDULE], except as
otherwise provided in Sections 6.2, 6.3, 6.4 ord.this Agreement. The vesting of this Option shahse immediately upon a
Termination of Service of Participant.

6.2 Absence.This Option shall not vest during any period ofgegerm disability or personal leave of absence oRh#icipan
from the Company or an Affiliate (as determined emapplicable Company policies). If the Participgggumes employment with the
Company after a personal leave of absence or lemy-disability in accordance with applicable Comppalicies, vesting shall resume
upon the resumption of eligibility, and the Optiwill continue vesting at the rate provided in Sext6.1 of this Agreement until fully
vested. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no evarall the term of the Option be extended beyondittie set forth in Section 5 of this
Agreement.

6.3 Death of the Participant.If the Participant dies while serving as an Empéygon-Employee Director, consultant or



advisor of the Company or an Affiliate, the vestofall unvested Shares subject to this Optionldfeahccelerated, and the
Option shall be exercisable as to such installmeogether with any previously vested but unexextigortion of the Option, effective as
of the date of death.

6.4 Termination for Cause.

(&) If the Participant’s employment or other servicéhie Company is terminated by the Company for Céase
defined below), the Company may, at its electienninate the Participant’s right to exercise thigi@n (including with respect to any
vested but unexercised Shares). If the Particiigambtified that the Company is investigating oalenating whether the Company will
terminate Participant’s employment or other serticthe Company for Cause, the Company may, atetsion, suspend Participant’s
right to exercise this Option by written noticetlhe Participant. If after such notification it istdrmined or otherwise agreed that
Participant’s service to the Company will not bertmated for Cause, vesting of the Shares shallnespursuant to the original schedule
and any Shares that would have vested during smehas vesting was suspended shall immediately vest

(b) “ Cause” shall mean (i) the Participant’s dishonesty @uf, or (ii) the willful misconduct by the Partiaipt or
willful failure by the Participant to perform his ber responsibilities to the Company (includingthaut limitation, any material breach
by the Participant of any provision of any Companlicy or any employment, consulting, advisory, disalosure, non-competition or
other similar agreement between the Participantl@dompany), in each case as determined in gotiddy the Company, which
determination shall be conclusive; provided, howegthat if there is a conflict between this defimit of Cause and either (1) the
definition of “Cause” contained in any employmegteement between the Company and the Participg) ¢cine definition of “Cause”
contained in any change-obntrol agreement between the Company and theckpanti, then such other definition shall be cotitrglfor
purposes of this Agreement.

[ 6.5 Career Employment Provision.

(a) If a Participant experiences a Termination of Senather than for Cause, and the Participant igaifizd
Participant (as defined below), then (i) an addiicnumber of Shares equal to (A) the sum of 5096 D% for each full year of service
as an Employee [and/or a Non-Employee DirectotheéoCompany or an Affiliate in excess of five (B) fyears of service multiplied by
(B) the number of unvested Shares subject to thiso® immediately prior to the Participant's Teration of Service, shall vest; and (ii)
all vested but unexercised Shares (including aayestthat vested pursuant to the preceding subedglj may be exercised until the
expiration date of this Option as set forth in 88tb of this Agreement.

(b) A *“Qualified Participant shall mean a Participant (i) who is at leastfifive (55) years old, (ii) who has
completed at least five (5) full years of serviseaa Employee [and/or a Non-Employee Directorh®@ompany or an Affiliate, (iii)
whose age plus full years of service [as an Em@@ral/or a Non-Employee Director] to the CompamyajoAffiliate] is 65 or greater
and (iv) who has completed a [mandatory] trans#igreriod of employment with the Company followingtice of the Termination of
Service, the duration of which will be J(Q)

7. Non-Qualified Option . This Option is a Non-Qualified Option that is mutended to qualify as an ISO within the meanifig o
Section 422(b) of the Code.

8. Plan. The Participant hereby acknowledges receipt ofpy ©f the Plan as presently in effect. The text alhdf the terms and
provisions of the Plan are incorporated hereindfgrence, and this Agreement is subject to thesgstand provisions in all respects.

9. Exercise.The Participant may exercise this Option in the mearset forth in Section 9 of the Plan.

10. Restrictions on Transfer.Except as provided in Section 10 of the Plan,@psion may not be sold, transferred, assigned,
hypothecated, pledged, encumbered or otherwiseskspof, whether voluntarily or by operation of ladmy such purported transfer
shall be null and void, and shall not be recognizgthe Company.

11. International Employees.This Option shall be subject to the additional teand provisions, if any, applicable to such Piguict



as are set forth on an Exhibit A to this Agreemaifiich terms and conditions are incorporated hdwgireference.

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED

By:

(1) Applicable to grants made on or after February08,4



Exhibit 10.21

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
AMENDED AND RESTATED 2006 STOCK AND OPTION PLAN

Form of Restricted Stock Award

This Agreement sets forth the terms and conditajres Stock Grant granted pursuant to the provisadrise Amended and
Restated 2006 Stock and Option Plan (as it mayrimnded or restated, the * Plgrof Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated (the “
Company’) to the Participant whose name appears belowthi®number of Shares of Common Stock of the Companforth below,
pursuant to the provisions of the Plan and on ¢lleviing express terms and conditions. Capitalitezths not otherwise defined herein
shall have the same meanings as set forth in tirg Bhd any Stock Grants evidenced hereby areegtanbject to the terms of the Plan.

1. Name and address of Participant to whom the Sharesme granted:
[INSERT NAME/ADDRESS]

2. Number of Shares of Common Stock in Stock Grant (tb “Shares”):

L1

3. Purchase price of Shares:

L1

4. Date of grant of the Shares:

L1

5. Vesting and Company’s Repurchase Rights.

5.1 Vesting Schedule[INSERT VESTING SCHEDULE]. Except as provided incBen 5.5 of this Agreement, upon any
Termination of Service of the Participant, vestirighe Shares shall immediately cease, and the @oynghall have a right to repurchase
any unvested Shares from the Participant at a pec&hare equal to the purchase price per Shaferein Section 3 of this
Agreement.

5.2 Death of the Participant.If the Participant dies while an Employee, Non-Eoygle Director, consultant or advisor of the
Company or an Affiliate, the vesting of all unvest@hares subject to this Stock Grant shall be arateld and shall vest on the date of
death of the Participant.

5.3 Termination for Cause.

(a) If the Participant is notified that the Companynigestigating or evaluating whether the Company teiiminate
Participant’'s employment or other service to then@any for Cause, the Company may, at its eleciospend the vesting of any
unvested Shares by written notice to the Parti¢ifamd if the Participant’'s employment or othewvims to the Company is thereafter
terminated for Cause, the Company may, at itsielectepurchase any remaining unvested SharesthierRarticipant at a price per
Share equal to the purchase price per Share s$etifioBection 3 of this Agreement). If after sudtification it is determined or otherwi
agreed that Participant’s service to the Compairiynwi be terminated for Cause, vesting of the 8sahall resume pursuant to the
original schedule and any Shares that would hastededuring such suspension immediately shall vest.



(b) “ Cause” shall mean (i) the Participant’s dishonesty @uf, or (ii) the willful misconduct by the Partiaipt or
willful failure by the Participant to perform hisg ber responsibilities to the Company (includingthaut limitation, any material breach
by the Participant of any provision of any Companlicy or any employment, consulting, advisory, disalosure, non-competition or
other similar agreement between the Participantl@dompany), in each case as determined in gotiddy the Company, which
determination shall be conclusive; provided, howethat if there is a conflict between this defioit of Cause and either (1) the
definition of “Cause” contained in any employmegteement between the Company and the Participg) ¢cine definition of “Cause”
contained in any change-obntrol agreement between the Company and theckpanti, then such other definition shall be cotitrglfor
purposes of this Agreement.

5.4 Repurchase RightsThe Company’s rights to repurchase the Shares got$o Sections 5.1, 5.3 or 5.5 of this Agreement
shall be valid for a period of one year beginningfwe date of the Termination of Service of thetiBigant. Notwithstanding any other
provision hereof, if the Company is prohibited digrsuch one-year period from exercising its lapsapurchase right by applicable law,
then the time period during which such repurchag® may be exercised shall be extended untildker lof (a) the end of such one-year
period or (b) 30 days after the Company is firdtsmprohibited.

[5.5 Career Employment Provision.If a Participant experiences a Termination of Senather than for Cause, and the
Participant is a Qualified Participant (as defitedbw), then an additional number of Shares equéd)the sum of 50% plus 10% for
each full year of service as an Employee [andidoa-Employee Director] to the Company or an Aftéian excess of five (5) full years
of service multiplied by (b) the number of unvesBthres subject to this Stock Grant immediatelgrga the Participant’s Termination
of Service, shall vest. A* Qualified Participdrghall mean a Patrticipant (i) who is at leastyfifive (55) years old, (ii) who has
completed at least five (5) full years of serviseaa Employee [and/or a Non-Employee Directorhto@ompany or an Affiliate, (iii)
whose age plus full years of service [as an Emg@ral/or a Non-Employee Director] to the CompamyafoAffiliate] is 65 or greater
and (iv) who has completed a [mandatory] transétigreriod of employment with the Company followingtice of the Termination of
Service, the duration of which will be . The Company shall have the right to repurchagaemaining unvested Shares fr
the Participant at a price per Share equal to theh@ase price per Share set forth in Section RisfAgreement.](1)

6. Agreement with respect to Tax Payments, Withholdingand Sale of a Portion of Shareslhe Participant acknowledges and
agrees that any income or other taxes due frorRanticipant with respect to the Shares issued pntdo this Agreement, including on
account of the vesting of the Shares, shall bé#réicipant’s responsibility. [In connection witietforegoing, the Participant agrees that
the Company shall authorize a registered broker‘{Broker”) to sell, on the next trading day after the lapSéhe Company’s lapsing
repurchase right, that number of Shares as the @oynipstructs the Broker to sell solely to satigfy Company’s tax withholding
obligations, after deduction of the Broker's comsiog, and the Broker shall remit to the Companycideeh necessary in order for the
Company to satisfy its withholding obligation, pided, however, that the Company shall not authorize any suahi$éthe Participant
shall have issued a binding instruction (the “rastion”) to the Company, in form satisfactory to the Compamtyich instruction may t
delivered at any time prior to the 3@ay after the date of grant of the Shares, thatiges that the Company shall not instruct the Broke
to sell such Shares. Any such Instruction shallishe an undertaking by the Participant to pay then@any the amount of any tax
withholding in accordance with the Company’s p@gthen in effect. The Participant agrees to pdlgddCompany as soon as
practicable, including through payroll, the amoahany tax withholding, that is for whatever reasoot satisfied by such Broker's sale.
The Participant acknowledges that this Sectionigtended to comply with Section 10b5-1(c)(1)(i){B)der the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended, and that the delivery of tlee&s shall be made by the Company after satisfaofithe tax withholding payments
as set forth in Section 8 of this Agreement. Thei€lpant agrees to hold the Company and the Brokemless from all costs, damages
or expenses relating to any such sale, and ackdgesethat the Company and the Broker are undebligation to arrange for such sale
at any particular price. The Participant furthekramwledges that the grant of Shares made hereisdabject to Participant’s acceptance
of the terms of this Section 6, and other termsgogisions of this Agreement.](2)

7. Restrictions on Transfer.Except as provided in Section 10 of the Plan, tha& may not be sold, transferred, assigned,
hypothecated, pledged, encumbered or otherwiseskspof, whether voluntarily or by operation of Jawany time before they become
vested Shares pursuant to Section 5 of this Agraemay such purported transfer shall be null anilyand shall not be recognized by
the Company or recorded on its books.



8. Escrow.All Shares that have not vested pursuant to Seétiofthis Agreement, together with any securitlestributed in respect
thereof, such as through a stock split or otheapialization, shall be held by the Company in escuntil such Shares shall have vested
and the deposit required for tax withholding hasrbmade pursuant to Section 6 of this Agreemerg.ddmpany promptly shall release
vested Shares from escrow upon satisfaction ofotiegyoing conditions.

9. Plan. The Participant hereby acknowledges receipt ofpy ©f the Plan as presently in effect and the Rross with respect
thereto. All of the terms and provisions of therPdae incorporated herein by reference, and thidriReed Stock Award is subject to
those terms and provisions in all respects.

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED

By:

(1) Applicable to grants made on or after February08.4

(2) For Section 16 Officers, replace bracketedlmge with the following: “By accepting this Agreem, the Participant agrees and acknowledges
that (i) the Company promptly will withhold frometParticipant's pay the amount of taxes the Comgargquired to withhold upon any vesting
of Shares pursuant to this Agreement, and (iiRtheicipant shall make immediate payment to the @y in the amount of any tax required to
be withheld by the Company in excess of the Paditi's pay available for such withholding.”



Exhibit 10.22

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
AMENDED AND RESTATED 2006 STOCK AND OPTION PLAN

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award

This Agreement sets forth the terms and conditadres Restricted Stock Unit Award granted pursuarihe provisions of the
Amended and Restated 2006 Stock and Option Plathrtesy be amended or restated, the “ P)aof Vertex Pharmaceuticals
Incorporated (the * Compariy to the Participant whose name appears below, @intingent entittement of the Participant to hnez¢he
number of Shares of Common Stock of the Companfosit below, pursuant to the provisions of thenPdad on the following express
terms and conditions. Capitalized terms not otheswdiefined herein shall have the same meanings &t in the Plan, and any
Restricted Stock Units evidenced hereby are grasubgect to the terms of the Plan.

1. Name and address of Participant to whom the Restried Stock Unit Award is granted:
[INSERT NAME/ADDRESS]

2. Number of Shares of Common Stock in the Restricte8tock Unit Award (the “Shares”):

L1

3. Purchase price of Shares upon Vesting:

L1

4. Date of grant of the Restricted Stock Unit Award:

L1

5. Vesting.

5.1 Vesting Schedule[INSERT VESTING SCHEDULE]. On each vesting dateatised in the preceding sentence, the
Participant shall be entitled to receive at thechase price, the applicable number of shares offtmmStock that shall thereafter be
delivered by the Company to the Participant in adance with this Agreement and the Plan withintyhilays of the applicable vesting
date. Except as provided in Section 5.4 of thise&gnent, upon any Termination of Service of thei€pént for any reason, vesting of
the Shares shall immediately cease, and the urivpstéion of the Restricted Stock Unit Award shiadinediately be forfeited.

5.2 Death of the Participant.If the Participant dies while an Employee, Non-Eoygle Director, consultant or advisor of the
Company or an Affiliate, the vesting of all unvesthares subject to this Restricted Stock Unit Alnsdrall be accelerated and shall vest
on the date of death of the Participant.

5.3 Termination for Cause.

(a) If the Participant is notified that the Companynigestigating or evaluating whether the Company teiiminate
Participant’'s employment or other service to thenpany for Cause, the Company may, at its electiospend the vesting of this
Restricted Stock Unit Award by written notice te tRarticipant. If after such notification it is dehined or otherwise agreed that
Participant’s service to the Company will not bertmated for Cause, vesting of the Shares shallmespursuant to the original schedule
and any Shares that would have vested during siggeasion immediately shall vest.



(b) “ Cause” shall mean (i) the Participant’s dishonesty @uf, or (ii) the willful misconduct by the Partiaipt or
willful failure by the Participant to perform hisg ber responsibilities to the Company (includingthaut limitation, any material breach
by the Participant of any provision of any Companlicy or any employment, consulting, advisory, disalosure, non-competition or
other similar agreement between the Participantl@dompany), in each case as determined in gotiddy the Company, which
determination shall be conclusive; provided, howethat if there is a conflict between this defioit of Cause and either (1) the
definition of “Cause” contained in any employmegteement between the Company and the Participg) ¢cine definition of “Cause”
contained in any change-obntrol agreement between the Company and theckpanti, then such other definition shall be cotitrglfor
purposes of this Agreement.

[5.4 Career Employment Provision.If a Participant experiences a Termination of Senather than for Cause, and the
Participant is a Qualified Participant (as defitedbw), then (a) an additional number of Sharesktu(i) the sum of 50% plus 10% for
each full year of service as an Employee [andidoa-Employee Director] to the Company or an Aftéian excess of five (5) full years
of service multiplied by (ii) the number of unvastghares subject to this Restricted Stock Unit Alwarmediately prior to the
Participant’'s Termination of Service, shall vesttba date of the Termination of Service and (b) mmgaining unvested Shares shall be
forfeited. A “ Qualified Participaritshall mean a Participant (i) who is at leastyfifiive (55) years old, (ii) who has completed atde
five (5) full years of service as an Employee [@ndl Non-Employee Director] to the Company or afiliate, (iii) whose age plus full
years of service [as an Employee and/or a Non-Eyegl®irector] to the Company [or an Affiliate] iS 6r greater and (iv) who has
completed a [mandatory] transitional period of esgphent with the Company following notice of the mémation of Service, the

duration of which will be | [.1(1)

6. Agreement with respect to Tax Payments, Withholdingand Sale of a Portion of Shareslhe Participant acknowledges and
agrees that any income or other taxes, fees oalssmturity or comparable contributions due fromBarticipant with respect to the
vesting of the Restricted Stock Unit Award or theuiance of Shares pursuant to this Agreementlshdile Participant’s responsibility.
In connection with the foregoing, the Participagteses that the Company shall authorize a registan@der (the “ Brokel) to sell, on th
next trading day after the date of vesting of aostipn of the Restricted Stock Unit Award, that rhenof Shares as the Company
instructs the Broker to sell solely to satisfy @@mpany’s tax withholding obligations, after dedoictof the Broker’'s commission, and
the Broker shall remit to the Company the cash s&ary in order for the Company to satisfy its witlfing obligation, provided
however, that the Company shall not authorize any suah igéthe Participant shall have issued a bindirggrirction (the “_Instructiof)

to the Company, in form satisfactory to the Compavtyich instruction may be delivered at any tim@pto the 30"day after the date of
grant of the Restricted Stock Unit Award, that pdes that the Company shall not instruct the Brakesell such Shares. Any such
Instruction shall include an undertaking by thetiegrant to pay the Company the amount of any tdakhwelding in accordance with the
Company’s policies then in effect. The Participagtees to pay to the Company as soon as practi¢ablieding through payroll, the
amount of any tax withholding, that is for whatevesison, not satisfied by such Broker’s sale. Tdréiddpant acknowledges that this
Section 6 is intended to comply with Section 106&K1)(i)(B) under the Securities Exchange Act 884, as amended, and that the
delivery of the Shares shall be made by the Compétey satisfaction of the tax withholding paymesitsset forth herein. The Particip
agrees to hold the Company and the Broker harrfilessall costs, damages or expenses relating teaoly sale, and acknowledges that
the Company and the Broker are under no obligatiarrange for such sale at any particular pride2 FParticipant further acknowledges
that the Restricted Stock Unit Award made hereumgisubject to Participant’s acceptance of the sevfithis Section 6, and other terms
and provisions of this Agreement.

7. Restrictions on Transfer.Except as provided in Section 10 of the Plan, Restricted Stock Unit Award may not be sold,
transferred, assigned, hypothecated, pledged, dvenamh or otherwise disposed of, whether voluntamilpy operation of law, at any tir
before the Participant receives Shares. Any sugbopied transfer shall be null and void, and shatlbe recognized by the Company or
recorded on its books.

8. No Rights as a Shareholder Until ExerciseThe Participant shall have no rights as a sharehpidcluding voting and dividend
rights, with respect to the Restricted Stock Unitakd subject to this Agreement.

9. No Obligation to Maintain Relationship. The Participant acknowledges that: (i) the Compampot by the Plan or this Restricted
Stock Unit Award obligated to continue the Pariigipas an Employee, Ndimployee Director, consultant or advisor of the @any or



an Affiliate; (ii) the Plan is discretionary in mgie and may be modified, suspended or terminatdddoZompany at any time; (iii) the
grant of the Restricted Stock Unit Award is a oimeetbenefit that does not create any contractuattzer right to receive future grants of
equity, or benefits in lieu thereof; (iv) all dat@nations with respect to any such future gramslpiding, but not limited to, the times
when awards shall be granted, the number of slsaitgect to each restricted stock unit award, aedithe or times when each award
shall vest, will be at the sole discretion of thentpany; (v) the Participant’s participation in fAkan is voluntary; (vi) the value of the
Restricted Stock Unit Award is an extraordinaryritef compensation which is outside the scope oPicipant’s employment or
consulting contract, if any; and (vii) the ReseitiStock Unit Award is not part of normal or exgectompensation for purposes of
calculating any severance, resignation, redundasmay of service payments, bonuses, long-servicedsypension or retirement benefits
or similar payments.

10. Plan. The Participant hereby acknowledges receipt ofpy ©f the Plan as presently in effect and the Rrogs with respect
thereto. All of the terms and provisions of therPdae incorporated herein by reference, and thidriReed Stock Unit Award is subject
those terms and provisions in all respects.

11. Data Privacy. By entering into this Agreement, the Participaitcénsents to the collection, use and disclostipesonal
information (which may include name, home and bessncontact information, personal identifiers sactate of birth and the social
insurance number for tax reporting purposes, enmpéy, position and compensation) by the Companth®purpose of administering
the Plan, providing Plan recordkeeping servicesfaaititating the grant of options; (ii) consentsthe disclosure of this information by
the Company to any Affiliate of the Company forlsyurposes; and (iii) authorizes the Company atl édfiliate to store and transmit
such information in electronic form. Some of théé#liates are located in, and the Plan will be adistered (in whole or in part) in, the
United States and some or all of the personal in&ion may become subject to the laws of, and aiddedo, the authorities of the
United States. The file containing the Participsupersonal information will be kept at the officdthe Company or on its servers or
those of its Affiliates and service providers, amidly employees of the Company, its Affiliates onéee providers who require it for the
purposes of their duties will have access to thes The Participant may request access to thesdfild the correction of inaccurate
information, to the extent provided by law, by @miing ..

12. International Employees.This Restricted Stock Unit Award shall be subjedthe additional terms and provisions, if any,
applicable to the Participant as are set forthroBxhibit Ato this Agreement, which terms and conditions aoeliporated herein by
reference.

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED

By:

(1) Applicable to grants made on or after February08.4



Exhibit 10.34
Vertex Employee Compensation Plan

On an annual basis in the first quarter of thealigear the Management Development and Compensatammittee of our Board of Directors adopts an eyg
compensation plan for our officers and other emgdsy including our named executive officers, togethith performance goals for that fiscal year. Plen addresses
three components of employee compensation—baseg spéaformance bonuses which serve as short-tecentives and equity grants which serve as long-ter
incentives—that are designed to motivate, rewaddratain employees by aligning compensation withabhievement of strategic corporate goals.

Upon completion of each performance period (usumitglendar year), our Board of Directors assigpesréormance rating on the basis of achievemegbafs for
the company set by the Board, in consultation withchief executive officer, early in the perforroarperiod. The amount available for payment ofgrerfince
bonuses is established on the basis of this pediocsrating, and is allocated to employees on ékesiof salary tier and individual performancengtiThe base
salaries of the executive officers are set basemianket and other competitive factors. Merit insesato base salaries for other employees are nmatie dasis of
individual performance rating. Annual equity gramtgde in the form of stock options, restricteatktgrants or units, or a combination of both arelenan the basis of
salary tier and individual performance.

The Board of Directors retains broad discretiodetermine the appropriate form and level of compgos, particularly for our executives, on the basiits
assessment of our executives, the demand for talenperformance and other factors. Key corpgoatéormance factors generally include, among dtfiegs,
achievement of regulatory and commercializationgaasearch and development productivity, enhaeoésrof organizational capabilities, maintenancénaincial
stability and other aspects of our performance.r@gerve the right to modify the plan, and the kesporate performance factors and criteria undeptam, at any time

On February 3, 2015, the Board of Directors deteealithe cash bonus awards related to the fiscaleyeted December 31, 2014 and annual salariedieéfec
February 2015.



Subsidiaries of Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (San Diego) LLC, a Delaviaried liability company
Vertex Securities Corporation, a Massachusettsozation
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Distribution) Incorporat@delaware corporation
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Cayman) Limited, a Caynséantls company (3)
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Cayman 509) Limited, a Gayislands company
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Cayman 765) Limited, a Gayislands company
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Cayman 787) Limited, a Gayislands company
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Delaware) LLC, a Delawengéd liability company
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Canada) Incorporated, adian company (1)
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Singapore) Pte. Ltd., g&iore company
Vertex Pharmaceuticals R&D (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (2)
Vertex Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Europe) Limited, a Unitedgdom company (5)
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Switzerland) Sarl, a Saisapany
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Ireland) Limited, an Iigtmpany (6)
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (U.K.) Limited, a United g@dom company (6)
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (France) SAS, a French coynpa
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Germany) GmbH, a Germarpaom
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Australia) Pty. Ltd., arsthalian company
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Spain), S.L., a Spanishpeomy
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Netherlands) B.V., a Datmimpany
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Italy) S.r.L., an Italiampany

Vertex (Brazil) ParticipagBes LTDA, a Brazilian cpamy (4)

(1) a subsidiary of Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Delayat.C

(2) a subsidiary of Vertex Pharmaceuticals (SingapBte. Ltd.
(3) a subsidiary of Vertex Holdings, Inc.

(4) a subsidiary of Vertex Pharmaceuticals (UK) itéd

(5) a subsidiary of Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Caynhamjted
(6) a subsidiary of Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Eurdpejited

Exhibit 21.1



Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing
We consent to the incorporation by reference irféHewing Registration Statements:

« Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 38%993) of Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorpor

* Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 3%Bk362) pertaining to the Vertex Pharmaceutica861Stock and Option Plan,
amended,

* Registration Statement (Form S-8 Nos. 333-1344883-150946, 333-160442, 333-166803 and B38787) pertaining to tl
Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated Amended andakes 2006 Stock and Option Plan (formerly knowntlaes Verte:
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated 2006 Stock and Ojtian),

* Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 3®784) pertaining to the Vertex Pharmaceuticaloimorated Employee Stc
Purchase Plan, and

* Registration Statement (Form S-8 Nos. 333-18878I73@3-197466) pertaining to the Vertex Pharmacalgimcorporate @012
Stock and Option Plan

of our reports dated February 13, 2015, with resfmethe consolidated financial statements of \leRbarmaceuticals Incorporated
the effectiveness of internal control over finaheigporting of Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporatiejuded in this Annual Repe
(Form 10-K) of Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorpordtatthe year ended December 31, 2014.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
February 13, 2015



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION

I, Jeffrey M. Leiden, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on FormKL6f Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporal

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ortémstate a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeer which such statements were made, not misigadth respect to the period covered
by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemamid other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegoks presented in this report;

4, The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) armdriat control over financial reporting (as definedExchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedareaused such disclosure controls and procedaortee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidh®ibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrithe period in which this report is being prepared

b) designed such internal control over finanogglarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramggerdang the reliability of financial reporting atfte preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

C) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentinisi report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proes) as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

d) disclosed in this report any change in thestegit's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrasmthos
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth dilsguarter in the case of an annual report) thathaterially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s inted control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committieth® registrant’s board of directors (or persoeggrming the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakges in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regigigability to record, process, summarize and refivancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a s@niifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date:  February 13, 2015 /sl Jeffrey M. Leiden

Jeffrey M. Leiden
Chief Executive Officer and President



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, lan F. Smith, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on FormKL6f Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporal

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ortémstate a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeer which such statements were made, not misigadth respect to the period covered
by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemamid other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegoks presented in this report;

4, The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) armairiat control over financial reporting (as definedxchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedareaused such disclosure controls and procedaortee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrife period in which this report is being prepared

b) designed such internal control over finanaogglarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgzgding the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

C) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentenisi report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and prores) as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

d) disclosed in this report any change in thegtegit’s internal control over financial reportithgit occurred during the registramthos
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth dilsguarter in the case of an annual report) thathaterially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s intedl control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committethe registrant’s board of directors (or persoegqgrming the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakges in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registeaability to record, process, summarize and refivancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inv@edvmanagement or other employees who have a s@nifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 13, 2015 /sl lan F. Smith
lan F. Smith

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office



Exhibit 32.1
SECTION 906 CEO/CFO CERTIFICATION

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002 (Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 135@pd#r 63 of Title 18, United States
Code) each of the undersigned officers of VertearPlaceuticals Incorporated, a Massachusetts cdipoighe “Company”), does hereby certify, to
such officer's knowledge, that:

The Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year endedénber 31, 2014 (the “Form 10-K”) of the Compauiyfcomplies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the SdearExchange Act of 1934, and the informationtagred in the Form 10-K fairly presents, in all
material respects, the financial condition and ltesaf operations of the Company.

Date: February 13, 2015
/sl Jeffrey M. Leiden

Jeffrey M. Leiden
Chief Executive Officer and President

Date: February 13, 2015
/s/ lan F. Smith

lan F. Smith
Executive Vice President and Chief FinanGiflcer

A signed original of this written statement requit®y Section 906 has been provided to the Compadyél be retained by the Company ¢
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commigsidts staff upon request.




